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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period from _____ to _____

Commission File Number:  000-03676

vselogonewa01.jpg

VSE CORPORATION
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 54-0649263

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

6348 Walker Lane    

Alexandria, Virginia 22310

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code:  (703) 960-4600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.05 per share VSEC The NASDAQ Global Select Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes ☒    No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).  Yes ☒    No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.
See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☒ Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐ Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transaction period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes ☐    No ☒

Number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of July 24, 2023October 27, 2023: 15,372,54415,747,289
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Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q (“Form 10-Q”) contains statements that, to the extent they are not recitations of historical fact, constitute "forward-looking statements" within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
All such statements are intended to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and
this statement is included for purposes of such safe harbor provisions.
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“Forward-looking” statements, as such term is defined by the Securities Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in its rules, regulations and releases, represent our expectations or
beliefs, including, but not limited to, statements concerning our operations, economic performance, financial condition, the impact of widespread health developments, the health
and economic impact thereof and the governmental, commercial, consumer and other responses thereto, such as growth, acquisition and acquisition disposition strategies,
investments and future operational plans. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “forecast,” “seek,”
“plan,” “predict,” “project,” “could,” “estimate,” “might,” “continue,” “seeking” or the negative or other variations thereof or comparable terminology are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. These statements, by their nature, involve substantial risks and uncertainties, certain of which are beyond our control, and actual results may differ
materially depending on a variety of important factors, including, but not limited to, those identified elsewhere in this document, including in Item 1A, Risk Factors, Item 2,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Item 3, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, as well as with
respect to the risks described in Item 1A, Risk Factors, to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on March 9, 2023 (“2022
Form 10-K").  and in Item 1A. Risk Factors of this report. All forward-looking statements made herein are qualified by these cautionary statements and risk factors and there can be
no assurance that the actual results, events or developments referenced herein will occur or be realized.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management's analysis only as of the date hereof. The Company undertakes
no obligation to publicly revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that occur or arise after the date hereof.

-3-

PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.    Financial Statements

VSE Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

June 30, December 31, September 30, December 31,

(in thousands except share and per share
amounts)

2023 2022

(in thousands, except
share and per share
amounts)

(in thousands, except
share and per share
amounts)

2023 2022

Assets Assets Assets

Current assets: Current assets: Current assets:

Cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents $ 4,163  $ 305 

Cash and cash
equivalents $ 20,667  $ 305 

Receivables (net of allowance of $2.5
million and $2.0 million, respectively) 114,154  90,599 

Receivables (net of
allowance of $3.5
million and $2.0
million, respectively)

Receivables (net of
allowance of $3.5
million and $2.0
million, respectively) 129,113  90,599 

Unbilled receivables Unbilled receivables 6,229  7,409  Unbilled receivables 6,257  7,409 

Inventories Inventories 427,822  380,438  Inventories 494,368  380,438 

Other current assets Other current assets 14,797  15,202  Other current assets 21,937  15,202 

Current assets held-
for-sale

Current assets held-
for-sale 107,059  54,925 

Current assets held-
for-sale 98,021  54,925 

Total current
assets

Total current
assets 674,224  548,878 

Total current
assets 770,363  548,878 

Property and equipment (net of
accumulated depreciation of $33.6 million
and $30.7 million, respectively) 43,992  40,501 

Intangible assets (net of accumulated
amortization of $128.8 million and $121.3
million, respectively) 82,818  86,558 
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Property and
equipment (net of
accumulated
depreciation of
$35.4 million and
$30.7 million,
respectively)

Property and
equipment (net of
accumulated
depreciation of
$35.4 million and
$30.7 million,
respectively) 53,269  40,501 

Intangible assets
(net of
accumulated
amortization of
$132.0 million and
$121.3 million,
respectively)

Intangible assets
(net of
accumulated
amortization of
$132.0 million and
$121.3 million,
respectively) 118,865  86,558 

Goodwill Goodwill 222,023  217,262  Goodwill 345,726  217,262 

Operating lease - right-of-use assets 20,194  21,558 

Operating lease
right-of-use assets

Operating lease
right-of-use assets 25,166  21,558 

Other assets Other assets 30,220  29,019  Other assets 29,591  29,019 

Non-current assets
held-for-sale

Non-current assets
held-for-sale —  56,013 

Non-current assets
held-for-sale —  56,013 

Total assets Total assets $ 1,073,471  $ 999,789  Total assets $ 1,342,980  $ 999,789 

Liabilities and
Stockholders' Equity

Liabilities and
Stockholders' Equity    

Liabilities and
Stockholders' Equity    

Current liabilities: Current liabilities:     Current liabilities:    

Current portion of
long-term debt

Current portion of
long-term debt $ 10,000  $ 10,000 

Current portion of
long-term debt $ 19,000  $ 10,000 

Accounts payable Accounts payable 104,566  128,504  Accounts payable 137,788  128,504 

Accrued expenses
and other current
liabilities

Accrued expenses
and other current
liabilities 30,295  31,889 

Accrued expenses
and other current
liabilities 33,387  31,889 

Dividends payable Dividends payable 1,290  1,282  Dividends payable 1,575  1,282 

Current liabilities
held-for-sale

Current liabilities
held-for-sale 64,070  52,929 

Current liabilities
held-for-sale 60,398  52,929 

Total current
liabilities

Total current
liabilities 210,221  224,604 

Total current
liabilities 252,148  224,604 

Long-term debt, less
current portion

Long-term debt, less
current portion 365,110  276,300 

Long-term debt, less
current portion 441,770  276,300 

Deferred
compensation

Deferred
compensation 7,651  7,398 

Deferred
compensation 7,470  7,398 

Long-term operating
lease obligations

Long-term operating
lease obligations 17,609  19,154 

Long-term operating
lease obligations 21,961  19,154 

Deferred tax
liabilities

Deferred tax
liabilities 3,743  4,986 

Deferred tax
liabilities 9,671  4,986 

Other long-term
liabilities

Other long-term
liabilities 440  — 

Non-current
liabilities held-for-
sale

Non-current
liabilities held-for-
sale —  17,821 

Non-current
liabilities held-for-
sale —  17,821 

Total liabilities Total liabilities 604,334  550,263  Total liabilities 733,460  550,263 

Commitments and
contingencies (Note
8)

Commitments and
contingencies (Note
8)

Commitments and
contingencies (Note
8)

Stockholders' equity: Stockholders' equity:    
Stockholders'
equity:    
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Common stock, par value $0.05 per share,
authorized 23,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 12,897,544 and 12,816,613,
respectively 645  641 

Common stock, par
value $0.05 per
share, authorized
23,000,000 shares;
issued and
outstanding
15,747,289 and
12,816,613,
respectively

Common stock, par
value $0.05 per
share, authorized
23,000,000 shares;
issued and
outstanding
15,747,289 and
12,816,613,
respectively 787  641 

Additional paid-in
capital

Additional paid-in
capital 96,471  92,620 

Additional paid-in
capital 227,083  92,620 

Retained earnings Retained earnings 366,690  351,297  Retained earnings 374,672  351,297 

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income 5,331  4,968 

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income 6,978  4,968 

Total
stockholders'
equity

Total
stockholders'
equity 469,137  449,526 

Total
stockholders'
equity 609,520  449,526 

Total liabilities and
stockholders'
equity

Total liabilities and
stockholders'
equity $ 1,073,471  $ 999,789 

Total liabilities
and stockholders'
equity $ 1,342,980  $ 999,789 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
-4-

VSE Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
(Unaudited)

For the three months ended
June 30,

For the six months ended
June 30,

For the three months ended
September 30,

For the nine months ended
September 30,

(in thousands except share and per
share amounts)

2023 2022 2023 2022

(in thousands,
except share and
per share
amounts)

(in thousands,
except share and
per share
amounts)

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues: Revenues: Revenues:

Products Products $ 165,997  $ 142,003  $ 320,443  $ 278,172  Products $ 184,691  $ 136,333  $ 505,135  $ 414,505 

Services Services 39,226  27,758  73,367  51,909  Services 46,662  31,046  120,028  82,955 

Total
revenues

Total
revenues 205,223  169,761  393,810  330,081 

Total
revenues 231,353  167,379  625,163  497,460 

Costs and
operating
expenses:

Costs and
operating
expenses:        

Costs and
operating
expenses:        

Products Products 147,139  129,617  282,388  250,714  Products 160,326  121,620  442,714  372,334 

Services Services 32,327  25,120  62,903  47,525  Services 40,004  26,243  102,908  73,768 

Selling, general
and
administrative
expenses

Selling, general
and
administrative
expenses 1,519  473  3,564  1,180 

Selling, general
and
administrative
expenses 2,556  594  6,121  1,772 
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Amortization
of intangible
assets

Amortization
of intangible
assets 3,601  4,016  7,540  8,110 

Amortization
of intangible
assets 3,203  3,813  10,743  11,923 

Total costs
and
operating
expenses

Total costs
and
operating
expenses 184,586  159,226  356,395  307,529 

Total costs
and
operating
expenses 206,089  152,270  562,486  459,797 

Operating income Operating
income 25,264  15,109  62,677  37,663 

Operating income 20,637  10,535  37,415  22,552 

Interest expense,
net

Interest expense,
net 7,366  3,872  13,346  7,482 

Interest expense,
net 8,459  4,821  21,805  12,305 

Income from
continuing
operations before
income taxes

Income from
continuing
operations
before income
taxes 13,271  6,663  24,069  15,070 

Income from
continuing
operations
before income
taxes 16,805  10,288  40,872  25,358 

Provision for
income taxes

Provision for
income taxes 3,182  1,908  5,860  4,026 

Provision for
income taxes 4,694  2,589  10,554  6,615 

Income from
continuing
operations

Income from
continuing
operations 10,089  4,755  18,209  11,044 

Income from
continuing
operations 12,111  7,699  30,318  18,743 

(Loss) income
from
discontinued
operations, net of
tax

(Loss) income
from
discontinued
operations, net of
tax (1,234) 2,793  (237) 2,748 

(Loss) income
from
discontinued
operations, net of
tax (2,554) 1,720  (2,789) 4,468 

Net income Net income $ 8,855  $ 7,548  $ 17,972  $ 13,792  Net income $ 9,557  $ 9,419  $ 27,529  $ 23,211 

Earnings (loss)
per share:

Earnings (loss)
per share:

Earnings (loss)
per share:

Basic Basic Basic

Continuing
operations

Continuing
operations $ 0.78  $ 0.37  $ 1.42  $ 0.87 

Continuing
operations $ 0.81  $ 0.61  $ 2.23  $ 1.47 

Discontinued
operations

Discontinued
operations (0.10) 0.22  (0.02) 0.21 

Discontinued
operations (0.17) 0.13  (0.20) 0.35 

$ 0.68  $ 0.59  $ 1.40  $ 1.08  $ 0.64  $ 0.74  $ 2.03  $ 1.82 

Diluted Diluted Diluted

Continuing
operations

Continuing
operations $ 0.78  $ 0.37  $ 1.42  $ 0.87 

Continuing
operations $ 0.80  $ 0.60  $ 2.22  $ 1.46 

Discontinued
operations

Discontinued
operations (0.10) 0.22  (0.02) 0.21 

Discontinued
operations (0.17) 0.13  (0.20) 0.35 

$ 0.68  $ 0.59  $ 1.40  $ 1.08  $ 0.63  $ 0.73  $ 2.02  $ 1.81 

Weighted average
shares
outstanding:

Weighted
average shares
outstanding:

Weighted
average shares
outstanding:

Basic Basic 12,886,100  12,778,355  12,865,394  12,760,026  Basic 15,001,908  12,797,727  13,585,391  12,772,731 

Diluted Diluted 12,916,998  12,811,078  12,921,826  12,807,249  Diluted 15,050,062  12,834,084  13,639,064  12,816,319 

Dividends
declared per
share

Dividends
declared per
share $ 0.10  $ 0.10  $ 0.20  $ 0.20 

Dividends
declared per
share $ 0.10  $ 0.10  $ 0.30  $ 0.30 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VSE Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Unaudited)

For the three months
ended June 30,

For the six months ended
June 30,

For the three months ended
September 30,

For the nine months ended
September 30,

(in thousands) (in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022 (in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022

Net income Net income $ 8,855  $ 7,548  $ 17,972  $ 13,792  Net income $ 9,557  $ 9,419  $ 27,529  $ 23,211 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax:

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax:

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax:

Change in fair
value of
interest rate
swap
agreements,
net of tax

Change in fair
value of
interest rate
swap
agreements,
net of tax 2,361  —  363  176 

Change in fair
value of
interest rate
swap
agreements,
net of tax 1,647  5,352  2,010  5,528 

Total other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Total other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax 2,361  —  363  176 

Total other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax 1,647  5,352  2,010  5,528 

Comprehensive
income

Comprehensive
income $ 11,216  $ 7,548  $ 18,335  $ 13,968 

Comprehensive
income $ 11,204  $ 14,771  $ 29,539  $ 28,739 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VSE Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023 Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

Total
Stockholders'


Equity

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Common Stock Common Stock

(in thousands except per share
data) Shares Amount

Balance at March 31, 2023 12,886  $ 644  $ 94,577  $359,124  $ 2,970  $ 457,315 

(in thousands,
except per
share data)

(in thousands,
except per
share data) Shares Amount

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Balance at June
30, 2023

Balance at June
30, 2023 12,898  $ 645 

Net income Net income —  —  —  8,855  —  8,855  Net income —  — 

Issuance of
common stock

Issuance of
common stock 2,846  142  128,968  —  —  1

Stock-based
compensation

Stock-based
compensation 12  1  1,894  —  —  1,895 

Stock-based
compensation 3  —  1,644  —  — 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  2,361  2,361 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  1,647 
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Dividends
declared ($0.10
per share)

Dividends
declared ($0.10
per share) —  —  —  (1,289) —  (1,289)

Dividends
declared ($0.10
per share) —  —  —  (1,575) — 

Balance at June 30, 2023 12,898  $ 645  $ 96,471  $366,690  $ 5,331  $ 469,137 

Balance at
September
30, 2023

Balance at
September
30, 2023 15,747  $ 787  $ 227,083  $374,672  $ 6,978  $ 6

Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

Total
Stockholders'


Equity

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Common Stock Common Stock

(in thousands except per share
data) Shares Amount

Balance at March 31, 2022 12,769  $ 638  $ 89,830  $333,324  $ —  $ 423,792 

(in thousands,
except per
share data)

(in thousands,
except per
share data) Shares Amount

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Balance at June
30, 2022

Balance at June
30, 2022 12,795  $ 640 

Net income Net income —  —  —  7,548  —  7,548  Net income —  — 

Stock-based
compensation

Stock-based
compensation 26 2 1,221  —  —  1,223 

Stock-based
compensation 5 —  655  —  — 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  5,352 

Dividends
declared ($0.10
per share)

Dividends
declared ($0.10
per share) —  —  —  (1,280) —  (1,280)

Dividends
declared ($0.10
per share) —  —  —  (1,281) — 

Balance at June 30, 2022 12,795  $ 640  $ 91,051  $339,592  $ —  $ 431,283 

Balance at
September
30, 2022

Balance at
September
30, 2022 12,800  $ 640  $ 91,706  $347,730  $ 5,352  $ 4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VSE Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (continued)
(Unaudited)

Six months ended June 30, 2023 Nine months ended September 30, 2023

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated


Other
Comprehensive


Income

Total
Stockholders'


Equity

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated


Other
Comprehensive


Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Common Stock Common Stock

(in thousands except per share
data) Shares Amount

(in thousands,
except per
share data)

(in thousands,
except per
share data) Shares Amount

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Balance at
December 31,
2022

Balance at
December 31,
2022 12,817  $ 641  $ 92,620  $351,297  $ 4,968  $ 449,526 

Balance at
December 31,
2022 12,817  $ 641 
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Net income Net income —  —  —  17,972  —  17,972  Net income —  —  —  27,529  — 

Issuance of
common stock

Issuance of
common stock 2,846  142  128,968  —  —  1

Stock-based
compensation

Stock-based
compensation 81  4  3,851  —  —  3,855 

Stock-based
compensation 84  4  5,495  —  — 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  363  363 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  2,010 

Dividends declared ($0.20 per
share) —  —  —  (2,579) —  (2,579)

Balance at June 30, 2023 12,898  $ 645  $ 96,471  $366,690  $ 5,331  $ 469,137 

Dividends
declared ($0.30
per share)

Dividends
declared ($0.30
per share) —  —  —  (4,154) — 

Balance at
September
30, 2023

Balance at
September
30, 2023 15,747  $ 787  $ 227,083  $374,672  $ 6,978  $ 6

Six months ended June 30, 2022 Nine months ended September 30, 2022

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Loss

Total
Stockholders'


Equity

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Common Stock Common Stock

(in thousands except per share
data) Shares Amount

(in thousands,
except per
share data)

(in thousands,
except per
share data) Shares Amount

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

To
Stockh

Eq

Balance at
December 31,
2021

Balance at
December 31,
2021 12,727  $ 636  $ 88,515  $328,358  $ (176) $ 417,333 

Balance at
December 31,
2021 12,727  $ 636 

Net income Net income —  —  —  13,792  —  13,792  Net income —  — 

Stock-based
compensation

Stock-based
compensation 68  4  2,536  —  —  2,540 

Stock-based
compensation 73  4  3,191  —  — 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  176  176 

Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax —  —  —  —  5,528 

Dividends declared ($0.20 per
share) —  —  —  (2,558) —  (2,558)

Balance at June 30, 2022 12,795  $ 640  $ 91,051  $339,592  $ —  $ 431,283 

Dividends
declared ($0.30
per share)

Dividends
declared ($0.30
per share) —  —  —  (3,839) — 

Balance at
September
30, 2022

Balance at
September
30, 2022 12,800  $ 640  $ 91,706  $347,730  $ 5,352  $ 4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VSE Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

For the six months ended June 30, For the nine months ended September 30,
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(in thousands) (in thousands) 2023 2022 (in thousands) 2023 2022
(a) (a) (a) (a)

Cash flows from
operating activities:

Cash flows from
operating activities:

Cash flows from
operating activities:

Net income Net income $ 17,972  $ 13,792  Net income $ 27,529  $ 23,211 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:    

Adjustments to
reconcile net income
to net cash used in
operating activities:

Adjustments to
reconcile net income
to net cash used in
operating activities:    

Depreciation and
amortization

Depreciation and
amortization 12,011  12,430 

Depreciation and
amortization 17,461  18,648 

Amortization of
debt issuance cost

Amortization of
debt issuance cost 420  420 

Amortization of
debt issuance cost 1,028  629 

Deferred taxes Deferred taxes (1,533) (790) Deferred taxes (1,179) (779)

Stock-based
compensation

Stock-based
compensation 3,894  2,675 

Stock-based
compensation 5,811  3,597 

Provision for
inventory

Provision for
inventory 742  1,094 

Provision for
inventory 742  1,094 

Changes in operating
assets and liabilities,
net of impact of
acquisitions:

Changes in operating
assets and liabilities,
net of impact of
acquisitions:    

Changes in operating
assets and liabilities,
net of impact of
acquisitions:    

Receivables, net Receivables, net (21,082) (25,607) Receivables, net (25,304) (14,506)

Unbilled
Receivables, net

Unbilled
Receivables, net (110) (9,428)

Unbilled
Receivables, net 5,409  (12,202)

Inventories, net Inventories, net (45,580) (16,145) Inventories, net (60,867) (28,309)

Other current
assets and other
assets

Other current
assets and other
assets (1,274) 6,036 

Other current
assets and other
assets 2,122  2,812 

Operating lease
assets and
liabilities, net

Operating lease
assets and
liabilities, net (67) (69)

Operating lease
assets and
liabilities, net (262) (844)

Accounts payable
and deferred
compensation

Accounts payable
and deferred
compensation (27,429) (4,848)

Accounts payable
and deferred
compensation (16,717) (171)

Accrued expenses
and other current
and noncurrent
liabilities

Accrued expenses
and other current
and noncurrent
liabilities (3,055) 302 

Accrued expenses
and other current
and noncurrent
liabilities (5,544) 2,614 

Net cash used in
operating
activities

Net cash used in
operating
activities (65,091) (20,138)

Net cash used in
operating activities (49,771) (4,206)

Cash flows from
investing activities:

Cash flows from
investing activities:    

Cash flows from
investing activities:    

Purchases of
property and
equipment

Purchases of
property and
equipment (6,137) (2,746)

Purchases of
property and
equipment (10,795) (7,416)

Proceeds from the
payment on notes
receivable

Proceeds from the
payment on notes
receivable 1,557  3,073 

Proceeds from the
payment on notes
receivable 1,557  4,235 

Cash paid for
acquisitions, net of
cash acquired

Cash paid for
acquisitions, net of
cash acquired (11,711) — 

Cash paid for
acquisitions, net of
cash acquired (218,674) — 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing
activities (16,291) 327 
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Net cash used in
investing activities

Net cash used in
investing activities (227,912) (3,181)

Cash flows from
financing activities:

Cash flows from
financing activities:    

Cash flows from
financing activities:    

Borrowings on loan agreement 322,813  236,194 

Repayments on loan agreement (234,423) (212,572)

Borrowings on bank
credit facilities

Borrowings on bank
credit facilities 610,188  358,051 

Repayments on bank
credit facilities

Repayments on bank
credit facilities (435,298) (345,554)

Proceeds from
issuance of common
stock

Proceeds from
issuance of common
stock 456  486 

Proceeds from
issuance of common
stock 129,566  486 

Earn-out obligation
payments

Earn-out obligation
payments —  (1,000)

Earn-out obligation
payments —  (1,250)

Payment of debt
financing costs

Payment of debt
financing costs (1,448) — 

Payment of taxes for
equity transactions

Payment of taxes for
equity transactions (1,031) (892)

Payment of taxes for
equity transactions (1,113) (942)

Dividends paid Dividends paid (2,571) (2,552) Dividends paid (3,861) (3,832)

Net cash provided
by financing
activities

Net cash provided
by financing
activities 85,244  19,664 

Net cash provided by
financing activities 298,034  6,959 

Net increase
(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Net increase
(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 3,862  (147)

Net increase
(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 20,351  (428)

Cash and cash
equivalents, beginning
of period

Cash and cash
equivalents, beginning
of period 478  518 

Cash and cash
equivalents, beginning
of period 478  518 

Cash and cash
equivalents, end of
period

Cash and cash
equivalents, end of
period $ 4,340  $ 371 

Cash and cash
equivalents, end of
period $ 20,829  $ 90 



(a) The cash flows related
to discontinued
operations and held-for-
sale assets and liabilities
have not been
segregated, and remain
included in the major
classes of assets and
liabilities. Accordingly, the
Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows include the
results of continuing and
discontinued operations.



(a) The cash flows related to discontinued operations and held-for-sale assets and
liabilities have not been segregated, and remain included in the major classes of assets
and liabilities. Accordingly, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows include the results
of continuing and discontinued operations.



(a) The cash flows related to discontinued operations and held-for-sale assets and

liabilities have not been segregated, and remain included in the major classes of
assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
include the results of continuing and discontinued operations.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
-9-

VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
June September 30, 2023

(1) Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Operations
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VSE Corporation (“VSE,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) is a diversified aftermarket products and services company providing maintenance, repair and overhaul ("MRO")
services, parts distribution, logistics, supply chain management and consulting services for transportation assets to commercial and government markets.

Basis of Presentation

Our accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principlesGenerally Accepted
Accounting Principles ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and in accordance with the instructions to SEC Form 10-Q and Article 10 of SEC Regulation S-X. Therefore, such
financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 ("2022 Form 10-K"). In our opinion, all
adjustments, including normal recurring items, considered necessary for a fair presentation of results for the interim periods have been included in the accompanying unaudited
consolidated financial statements. Operating results for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. 

On May 1, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement Due to our intent to sell our Federal and Defense segment. Thesegment, the consolidated financial statements present the
Federal and Defense segment's results of operations as discontinued operations, and the related assets and liabilities as held-for-sale for all periods presented. See Note (3)
"Discontinued Operations" for further discussion. Following the completion ofOnce the sale transaction, is complete, our operations arewill be conducted under two operating
segments: Aviation and Fleet.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial information to reflect discontinued operations classification. Unless otherwise noted, amounts and
disclosures throughout these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements relate solely to continuing operations and exclude all discontinued operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates affecting the financial statements include fair value measurements, inventory provisions, collectability of receivables,
estimated profitability of long-term contracts, valuation allowances on deferred tax assets, fair value of goodwill and other intangible assets and contingencies.

Underwritten Public Offering

In July 2023, we entered into an underwriting agreement with William Blair & Company, L.L.C and RBC Capital Markets, acting as representatives of several underwriters, relating to
the issuance and sale of up to 2,846,250 shares of the Company's common stock at a public offering price of $48.50 per share. The issuance and sale of shares pursuant to the
agreement was executed in two transactions, with the first transaction closing on July 24, 2023, and the second transaction, which represented shares issued and sold pursuant to
the underwriters' exercise of their option to purchase additional shares, closing on July 28, 2023. We received proceeds of $129.1 million in connection with the offerings, net of
issuance costs. We used substantially all of the proceeds of the public offering to repay outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility and for general corporate
purposes.

-10-

VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
September 30, 2023

(2) Acquisitions

Precision Fuel Components, LLC

On February 1, 2023, our Aviation segment acquired Precision Fuel Components, LLC ("Precision Fuel") for a purchase price of $11.7 million. Precision Fuel provides MRO services for
engine accessory and fuel systems supporting the business and general aviation ("B&GA") market. Our acquisition of Precision Fuel expanded our MRO capabilities and client base.
Precision Fuel operating results are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements beginning on the acquisition date. The acquisition was not material to our
consolidated financial statements.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase price resulted in net tangible assets of $3.1 million, goodwill of $4.8 million, and contract and customer-related intangible asset of $3.8
million, which is being amortized over a period of five years. During the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, we incurred $0.2 million of acquisition-related
expenses related to the acquisition of Precision Fuel, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
June 30, 2023
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(3) Discontinued OperationsDesser Aerospace

On May 1, 2023July 3, 2023, we entered into closed on, and completed, the acquisition of Desser Holding Company LLC ("Desser Aerospace"), a definitive agreement global
aftermarket solutions provider of specialty distribution and MRO services. The intent to sell our Federal and Defense business to Bernhard Capital Partners Management LP acquire
Desser Aerospace was announced on May 4, 2023. We purchased Desser Aerospace for totala preliminary cash consideration of up $133.8 million, which included $9.5 million as an
estimated net working capital adjustment (subject to $100.0 million, consisting of a $50.0 million cash payment at post-closing adjustments). Concurrent with the closing of the
transaction, and we immediately sold, in a separate transaction, Desser Aerospace’s propriety solutions businesses to Loar Group Inc. (“Loar”) for a cash consideration of
$31.8 million, which included $1.8 million as an earn-out payment of up to $50.0 million subject to the achievement of certain milestones. The transaction is expected to close in late
2023 to early 2024 and is subject to customary closing conditions and approvals.estimated net working capital adjustment (the “Loar Sale”).

The results of operations from discontinued operationspurchase price for Desser Aerospace was allocated on a preliminary basis, among assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, at
fair value based on the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, consist best available information on the acquisition date, with the excess purchase price recorded as
goodwill. The fair values of the following (in thousands):

For the three months ended June 30, For the six months ended June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues $ 67,039  $ 71,953  $ 133,885  $ 142,871 

(Loss) income from discontinued operations before income taxes $ (1,779) $ 3,616  $ (621) $ 3,514 

Provision for income taxes (545) 823  (384) 766 

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations $ (1,234) $ 2,793  $ (237) $ 2,748 

Thenon-financial assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, were determined based on preliminary estimates, assumptions, and other information compiled by management,
including independent valuations utilizing established industry valuation techniques. We have not yet finalized the determination of the fair values allocated to various assets and
liabilities, reported as held for sale consist including, but not limited to, working capital and income taxes. Therefore, the allocation of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2023 2022

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 178  $ 173 

Accounts receivable, net 12,385  14,340 

Unbilled receivables 32,188  30,898 

Inventories 453  270 

Other current assets 8,760  9,244 

Property and equipment, net 6,612  7,467 

Intangible assets, net 3,505  4,066 

Goodwill 31,575  31,575 

Operating lease right-of-use assets 11,369  12,854 

Other assets 34  51 

    Total assets held-for-sale(a) $ 107,059  $ 110,938 

Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 27,810  $ 31,096 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 20,609  21,833 

Long-term operating lease obligations 11,186  13,186 

Deferred tax liabilities 4,465  4,635 

    Total liabilities held-for-sale(a) $ 64,070  $ 70,750 

(a) Amounts have been classified as current for the current period consolidated balance sheet and as current and non-current in the consolidated balance sheet for the prior year period.

total consideration for the acquisition to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, is preliminary until we obtain final
information regarding their fair values, which could potentially result in changes to the Desser Aerospace opening balance sheet. Adjustments or changes
to goodwill, assets or liabilities remain possible.
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VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
June September 30, 2023

The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):

Receivables $ 11,630 

Inventories 39,090 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,299 

Property and equipment 2,527 

Intangibles - customer related 21,950 

Goodwill 50,718 

Operating lease right-of-use-assets 6,680 

      Total assets acquired 133,894 

Accounts payable (18,654)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (4,797)

Long-term operating lease obligations (5,937)

Deferred tax liabilities (4,900)

Other long-term liabilities (473)

      Total liabilities assumed (34,761)

Net assets acquired, excluding cash $ 99,133 

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 101,963 

Estimated post-close adjustment (2,830)

Total $ 99,133 

Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Desser Aerospace reflects the strategic advantage of expanding our specialty distribution and MRO services to new customers. The value
attributed to goodwill and customer relationships is not fully deductible for income tax purposes. The estimated value attributed to the customer relationship intangible assets is
being amortized on a straight-line basis using a weighted average useful life of 8.5 years.

We incurred $1.2 million and $3.0 million of acquisition-related expenses related to the Desser Aerospace acquisition during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023,
respectively, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

The operating results of Desser Aerospace were included in our consolidated results of operations from the date of acquisition. Our consolidated revenues and operating income
include $25.1  million and $3.2  million, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, from the acquisition of Desser Aerospace. Desser Aerospace's
operating income does not include the impact of acquisition-related expenses incurred by VSE Corporation.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations for Desser Aerospace and VSE Corporation for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The unaudited consolidated pro forma results of operations are as follows (in thousands):

For the three months ended
September 30,

For the nine months ended September
30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue $ 231,353  $ 190,710  $ 672,918  $ 558,250 

Income from continuing operations $ 12,111  $ 7,721  $ 31,377  $ 17,782 

-12-

VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
September 30, 2023
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The unaudited pro forma combined financial information presented above has been prepared from historical financial statements that have been adjusted to give effect to the
acquisition of Desser Aerospace as though it had occurred on January 1, 2022 and includes adjustments for intangible asset amortization; interest expense and debt issuance costs
on long-term debt; acquisition and other transaction costs; and certain costs allocated from the former parent. The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended to
reflect the actual results of operations that would have occurred if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2022, nor is it indicative of future operating results.

Honeywell Fuel Control Systems

On September 27, 2023, our Aviation segment entered into an Asset Purchase and License Agreement with Honeywell International Inc., for a purchase price of $105.0 million, to
exclusively manufacture, sell, market, distribute, and repair certain Honeywell fuel control systems (the "Honeywell FCS Acquisition"). The purchase price of this acquisition was
funded by borrowings under our revolving credit facility. This agreement expands existing distribution and MRO capabilities supporting certain Honeywell’s fuel control systems
and associated subcomponents.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination under ASC 805, Business Combinations. The preliminary allocation of the purchase price resulted in inventory of $12.0
million, property and equipment of $2.7 million, goodwill of $73.0 million, and contract and customer-related intangible asset of $17.3 million, which is being amortized over a period
of 10 years. We have not yet obtained all the information required to complete the purchase price allocation related to this acquisition. We are in the process of finalizing our
valuation and the allocation of the total consideration for the acquisition to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired is preliminary until we obtain final information
regarding their fair values, which could potentially result in changes in the fair values and an adjustment to goodwill.

We incurred $0.3 million of acquisition-related expenses related to the Honeywell FCS Acquisition during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, which are included
in selling, general and administrative expenses.

(3) Discontinued Operations

In May 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our Federal and Defense (“FDS”) business to an affiliate of Bernhard Capital Partners Management LP. On September 27,
2023, the parties mutually agreed to terminate the agreement. Neither party paid any termination fees. We still intend to pursue divestiture of the segment with an entity that can
support its growth plans. As a result of the May 2023 agreement, and because we still intend to divest the business, in accordance with ASC 205-20, Presentation of Financial
Statements - Discontinued Operations, results of operations for FDS are reported in income from discontinued operations within the consolidated statements of operations for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the carrying value of the related assets and liabilities are presented within assets and liabilities held-for-sale on the
consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

The results of operations from discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following (in thousands):

For the three months ended
September 30,

For the nine months ended September
30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues $ 61,622  $ 75,108  $ 195,507  $ 217,979 

(Loss) income from discontinued operations before income taxes (3,580) 2,166  (4,199) 5,680 

Provision for income taxes (1,026) 446  (1,410) 1,212 

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations $ (2,554) $ 1,720  $ (2,789) $ 4,468 
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The assets and liabilities reported as held-for-sale consist of the following (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,

2023 2022

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 162  $ 173 

Receivables, net 13,282  14,340 

Unbilled receivables 26,641  30,898 

Inventories 283  270 

Other current assets 5,210  9,244 

Property and equipment, net 6,493  7,467 
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Intangible assets, net 3,505  4,066 

Goodwill 31,575  31,575 

Operating lease right-of-use assets 10,870  12,854 

Other assets —  51 

    Total assets held-for-sale(a) $ 98,021  $ 110,938 

Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 25,641  $ 31,096 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 20,044  21,833 

Long-term operating lease obligations 10,373  13,186 

Deferred tax liabilities 4,340  4,635 

    Total liabilities held-for-sale(a) $ 60,398  $ 70,750 

(a) Amounts have been classified as current for the current period consolidated balance sheet and as current and non-current in the consolidated balance sheet for the prior year period.

Selected financial information related to cash flows from discontinued operations is as follows (in thousands):

For the six months ended June 30, For the nine months ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Depreciation and
amortization

Depreciation and
amortization $ 1,437  $ 1,917 

Depreciation and
amortization $ 1,849  $ 2,749 

Purchases of
property and
equipment

Purchases of
property and
equipment $ 92  $ 144 

Purchases of
property and
equipment $ 98  $ 293 

Stock-based
compensation

Stock-based
compensation $ 73  $ 20 

Stock-based
compensation $ 85  $ 41 
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(4) Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenues

Our revenues are derived from the delivery of products to our customers and from services performed for commercial and governmentalgovernment customers.

A summary of revenues by customer for each of our operating segments for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended June 30,
2023 Six months ended June 30, 2023

Three months ended September
30, 2023

Nine months ended September
30, 2023

Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total

Commercial Commercial $ 123,820  $ 38,037  $ 161,857  $ 235,880  $ 70,581  $ 306,461  Commercial $ 150,715  $ 37,430  $ 188,145  $ 386,595  $ 108,011  $ 494,606 

Other
government

Other
government 909  42,457  43,366  2,084  85,265  87,349 

Other
government 1,640  41,568  43,208  3,724  126,833  130,557 

Total Total $ 124,729  $ 80,494  $ 205,223  $ 237,964  $ 155,846  $ 393,810  Total $ 152,355  $ 78,998  $ 231,353  $ 390,319  $ 234,844  $ 625,163 

Three months ended June 30,
2022 Six months ended June 30, 2022

Three months ended September
30, 2022

Nine months ended September
30, 2022

Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total

Commercial Commercial $ 103,349  $ 26,007  $ 129,356  $ 195,261  $ 53,863  $ 249,124  Commercial $ 101,735  $ 25,394  $ 127,129  $ 296,996  $ 79,257  $ 376,253 

DoD DoD —  1,264  1,264  —  2,993  2,993  DoD —  183  183  —  3,176  3,176 
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Other
government

Other
government 1,670  37,471  39,141  3,048  74,916  77,964 

Other
government 890  39,177  40,067  3,938  114,093  118,031 

Total Total $ 105,019  $ 64,742  $ 169,761  $ 198,309  $ 131,772  $ 330,081  Total $ 102,625  $ 64,754  $ 167,379  $ 300,934  $ 196,526  $ 497,460 

A summary of revenues by type for each of our operating segments for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended June 30,
2023 Six months ended June 30, 2023

Three months ended September
30, 2023

Nine months ended September
30, 2023

Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total

Repair Repair $ 35,561  $ —  $ 35,561  $ 67,615  $ —  $ 67,615  Repair $ 44,713  $ —  $ 44,713  $ 112,328  $ —  $ 112,328 

Distribution Distribution 89,168  80,494  169,662  170,349  155,846  326,195  Distribution 107,642  78,998  186,640  277,991  234,844  512,835 

Total Total $ 124,729  $ 80,494  $ 205,223  $ 237,964  $ 155,846  $ 393,810  Total $ 152,355  $ 78,998  $ 231,353  $ 390,319  $ 234,844  $ 625,163 

Three months ended June 30,
2022 Six months ended June 30, 2022

Three months ended September
30, 2022

Nine months ended September
30, 2022

Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total Aviation Fleet Total

Repair Repair $ 25,966  $ —  $ 25,966  $ 48,329  $ —  $ 48,329  Repair $ 28,979  $ —  $ 28,979  $ 77,308  $ —  $ 77,308 

Distribution Distribution 79,053  64,742  143,795  149,980  131,772  281,752  Distribution 73,646  64,754  138,400  223,626  196,526  420,152 

Total Total $ 105,019  $ 64,742  $ 169,761  $ 198,309  $ 131,772  $ 330,081  Total $ 102,625  $ 64,754  $ 167,379  $ 300,934  $ 196,526  $ 497,460 
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Contract Balances

Contract balances were as follows (in thousands):

June 30, December 31, September 30, December 31,

Financial
Statement

Classification 2023 2022

Financial
Statement

Classification 2023 2022

Contract
assets

Contract
assets

Unbilled
receivables $ 6,229  $ 7,409 

Contract
assets

Unbilled
receivables $ 6,257  $ 7,409 

Contract
liabilities

Contract
liabilities

Accrued
expenses and
other current

liabilities $ 2,561  $ 963 
Contract
liabilities

Accrued
expenses and
other current

liabilities $ 2,333  $ 963 

For the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, we recognized revenue that was previously included in the beginning balance of contract liabilities of
$0.8 million $0.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
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(5) Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31, September 30, December 31,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Bank credit
facility - term
loan

Bank credit
facility - term
loan $ 95,000  $ 100,000 

Bank credit
facility - term
loan $ 182,500  $ 100,000 

Bank credit
facility -
revolving
facility

Bank credit
facility -
revolving
facility 282,000  188,610 

Bank credit
facility -
revolving facility 281,000  188,610 

Principal
amount of
long-term debt

Principal
amount of
long-term debt 377,000  288,610 

Principal
amount of
long-term
debt 463,500  288,610 

Less debt issuance costs (1,890) (2,310)

Less: debt
issuance costs

Less: debt
issuance costs (2,730) (2,310)

Total long-term
debt

Total long-term
debt 375,110  286,300 

Total long-
term debt 460,770  286,300 

Less current portion (10,000) (10,000)

Less: current
portion

Less: current
portion (19,000) (10,000)

Long-term
debt, less
current portion

Long-term
debt, less
current portion $ 365,110  $ 276,300 

Long-term debt,
less current
portion $ 441,770  $ 276,300 

Borrowings under our term loan and revolving facility mature in October 2025. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the interest rate on our outstanding term loan borrowings
and weighted average interest rate on our aggregate outstanding revolving facility was 7.51% 8.68% and 7.62%, respectively. Interest expense incurred on our term loan and
revolving facility was $7.9 million and $14.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $3.7 million and $7.1 million for the three and six months
ended June 30, 20229.46%, respectively. We had letters of credit outstanding of $0.7 million and $1.0 million as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively.

Future required term loan and revolving facility payments as of June 30, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending Term Loan Revolving Facility Total

Remainder of 2023 $ 5,000  $ —  $ 5,000 

2024 10,000  —  10,000 

2025 80,000  282,000  362,000 

     Total $ 95,000  $ 282,000  $ 377,000 

We were in compliance with required ratios and other terms and conditions under our credit agreement as of June 30, 2023.

In July 2023, we entered into a fifth amendment to our credit agreement. Refer to Note (13) "Subsequent Events" for further details. After the amendment, our scheduled term loan
payments are approximately $9.5 million for the remainder of 2023, $19.0 million in 2024, and $156.5 million in 2025.
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Our derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges as of June 30, 2023 were (in thousands):

Notional Amount Paid Fixed Rate Receive Variable Rate Settlement and Termination

Interest rate swaps $150,000 2.8% 1-month term SOFR Monthly through October 31, 2027

We are party to fixed interest rate swap instruments that are designated and accounted for as cash flow hedges to manage risks associated with interest rate fluctuations on a
portion of our floating rate debt. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we reclassified $0.8  million and $1.5  million, respectively, from accumulated other
comprehensive income to interest expense, net. We estimate that we will reclassify $3.6 million of unrealized gains from accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings in
the twelve months following June 30, 2023.

(7) Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period. Shares issued
during the period are weighted for the portion of the period that they were outstanding. Our calculation of diluted earnings per common share includes the dilutive effects for the
assumed vesting of outstanding stock-based awards. There were no antidilutive common stock equivalents excluded from the diluted per share calculation.

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute basic and diluted EPS were as follows:

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,

  2023 2022 2023 2022

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 12,886,100  12,778,355  12,865,394  12,760,026 

Effect of dilutive shares 30,898  32,723  56,432  47,223 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 12,916,998  12,811,078  12,921,826  12,807,249 

(8) Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

We may have certain claims in the normal course of business, including legal proceedings, against us and against other parties. In our opinion, the resolution of these claims will not
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Further, from time-to-time, government agencies audit or investigate whether our operations are being conducted in accordance with applicable contractual and regulatory
requirements. Government audits or investigations of us, whether relating to government contracts or conducted for other reasons, could result in administrative, civil or criminal
liabilities, including repayments, fines or penalties being imposed upon us, or could lead to suspension or debarment from future government contracting. Government
investigations often take years to complete and many result in no adverse action against us. We believe, based upon current information, that the outcome of any such
government disputes, audits and investigations will not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.
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(9) Business Segments

The sale of the Federal and Defense segment is intended to allow us to advance our focus on long-term strategic growth areas. Following the completion of the sale transaction,
management of our business operations is conducted under two reportable operating segments:

Aviation
Our Aviation segment provides aftermarket repair and distribution services to commercial, business and general aviation, cargo, military and defense, and rotorcraft customers
globally. Core services include parts distribution, engine accessory maintenance, MRO services, rotable exchange and supply chain services.

Fleet
Our Fleet segment provides parts, inventory management, e-commerce fulfillment, logistics, supply chain support and other services to support the commercial aftermarket
medium- and heavy-duty truck market, and the United States Postal Service ("USPS"). Core services include vehicle parts distribution, sourcing, IT solutions, customized fleet
logistics, warehousing, kitting, just-in-time supply chain management, alternative product sourcing, and engineering and technical support.
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We evaluate segment performance based on consolidated revenues and operating income. Net sales of our business segments exclude inter-segment sales as these activities are
eliminated in consolidation. Corporate expenses are primarily selling, general and administrative expenses not allocated to segments. Our segment information is as follows (in
thousands):

  Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,

  2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues:

Aviation $ 124,729  $ 105,019  $ 237,964  $ 198,309 

Fleet 80,494  64,742  155,846  131,772 

Total revenues $ 205,223  $ 169,761  $ 393,810  $ 330,081 

Operating income (loss):        

Aviation $ 15,783  $ 6,450  $ 31,447  $ 14,072 

Fleet 7,854  5,366  13,753  11,747 

Corporate/unallocated expenses(a) (3,000) (1,281) (7,785) (3,267)

Operating income $ 20,637  $ 10,535  $ 37,415  $ 22,552 

(a) Certain corporate costs previously allocated to the Federal and Defense business for segment reporting purposes did not qualify for classification within discontinued operations and have been

reallocated to continuing operations.

(10) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the six months ended June 30, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

  Aviation Fleet Total

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 154,072  $ 63,190  $ 217,262 

Acquisitions 4,761  —  4,761 

Balance as of June 30, 2023 $ 158,833  $ 63,190  $ 222,023 

Goodwill increased during the six months ended June 30, 2023 in connection with the acquisition during the period as discussed in Note (2) "Acquisitions."
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

  Gross carrying value Accumulated amortization Net carrying value

June 30, 2023

Contract and customer-related $ 202,940  $ (120,760) $ 82,180 

Trade names 8,670  (8,032) 638 

Total $ 211,610  $ (128,792) $ 82,818 

December 31, 2022      

Contract and customer-related $ 199,140  $ (113,796) $ 85,344 

Trade names 8,670  (7,456) 1,214 

Total $ 207,810  $ (121,252) $ 86,558 
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The gross carrying amount of contract and customer-related intangibles increased during the six months ended June 30, 2023 in connection with the acquisition during the period
as discussed in Note (2) "Acquisitions."

As of June 30, 2023, the estimated future annual amortization expense related to intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending

Remainder of 2023 $ 5,114 

2024 9,136 

2025 9,074 

2026 8,950 

2027 7,204 

Thereafter 43,340 

Total $ 82,818 

(11) Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and the level they fall within
the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

Amounts Recorded at Fair Value Financial Statement Classification Fair Value Hierarchy
Fair Value June 30,

2023
Fair Value December

31, 2022

Non-COLI assets held in Deferred Supplemental
Compensation Plan(a) Other assets Level 1 $ 576  $ 539 

Interest rate swaps Other assets Level 2 $ 7,103  $ 6,620 
(a) Non-Company Owned Life Insurance ("COLI") assets held in our deferred supplemental compensation plan consist of equity funds with fair value based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for
identical assets in active markets and changes in fair value are recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and amounts included in other current assets and accrued expenses and other current liabilities
that meet the definition of a financial instrument approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturity. The carrying value of our outstanding debt obligations approximates
its fair value. The fair value of long-term debt is calculated using Level 2 inputs based on interest rates available for debt with terms and maturities similar to our existing debt
arrangements.
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(12) Income Taxes

Income tax expense during interim periods is based on our estimated annual effective income tax rate plus any discrete items that are recorded in the period in which they occur.
Our tax rate is affected by discrete items that may occur in any given year but may not be consistent from year to year.

Our effective tax rate for continued operations was 24.0% and 24.3% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and 28.6% and 26.7% for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2022, respectively. The effective tax rate was lower for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the same period of prior year primarily
due to book income in connection with the fair market value increase in our COLI plan in the period ended June 30, 2023 that was reversed for tax purposes as opposed to book
expense in the same period in 2022.

(13) Subsequent Events

Desser Aerospace Acquisition

In July 2023, we completed our previously announced acquisition of Desser-Graham Partnership, L.P. ("Desser Aerospace"), pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement dated
May 3, 2023, for a preliminary purchase price of $124.0  million, subject to post-closing adjustments. Concurrent with the closing of the transaction, we sold, in a separate
transaction, Desser Aerospace’s propriety solutions businesses to Loar Group Inc. (“Loar”) for cash consideration of $30.0 million (the “Loar Sale”). During the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023, we incurred $0.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively, of acquisition-related expenses, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Credit Agreement Amendment

In July 2023, we entered into a fifth amendment to our credit agreement which, among other things, provided for the following: (i) the extension of a new term loan in the aggregate
principal amount of $90.0 million, which will mature on the same date as the existing term loan; (ii) a reduction in our capacity to incur incremental revolving or term loan credit
facilities from $100.0 million to $25.0 million; (iii) quarterly amortization payments for the new term loan in the amount of $2.25 million; (iv) an increase in the maximum Total
Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio from 4.50x to 5.00x, with such ratios decreasing thereafter; (v) the addition of a tier to the top of the pricing grid if the Total Funded Debt to EBITDA
ratio exceeds 4.50x; and (vi) expressly permitting the Desser Aerospace acquisition and the subsequent and simultaneous sale of the propriety solutions businesses to Loar Sale.
(the "Loar Sale"). The net proceeds received under the new term loan were used to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the Desser Aerospace acquisition.

Interest Rate Swap DerivativeFuture required term loan and revolving facility payments as of September 30, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending Term Loan Revolving Facility Total

Remainder of 2023 $ 4,750  $ —  $ 4,750 

2024 19,000  —  19,000 

2025 158,750  281,000  439,750 

     Total $ 182,500  $ 281,000  $ 463,500 

We were in compliance with required ratios and other terms and conditions under our credit agreement as of September 30, 2023.
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(6) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Our derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges as of September 30, 2023 were (in thousands):

Notional Amount Paid Fixed Rate Receive Variable Rate Settlement and Termination

Interest rate swaps $150,000 2.8% 1-month term SOFR Monthly through October 31, 2027

Interest rate swaps (a) $100,000 4.5% 1-month term SOFR Monthly through July 31, 2026

(a) In July 2023, we executed a fixed interest rate swap that hedges the variability in interest payments on $100.0 $100  million of floating rate debt. We have designated, and will account for, this fixed
interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge.

Underwritten Public OfferingWe are party to fixed interest rate swap instruments that are designated and accounted for as cash flow hedges to manage risks associated with
interest rate fluctuations on a portion of our floating rate debt. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, we reclassified $1.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively,
from accumulated other comprehensive income to interest expense, net. We estimate that we will reclassify $4.5  million of unrealized gains from accumulated other
comprehensive income into earnings in the twelve months following September 30, 2023.

In July 2023, we entered into an underwriting agreement with William Blair & Company, L.L.C and RBC Capital Markets, acting as representatives
(7) Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of several underwriters, relating to the issuance and sale of 2,475,000 shares
of the Company's common stock at a public offering price of $48.50 per share. Under the terms of the agreement, we granted the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to
purchase up to an additional 371,250 shares of common stock. stock outstanding during each period. Shares issued during the period are weighted for the portion of the period
that they were outstanding. Our calculation of diluted earnings per common share includes the dilutive effects for the assumed vesting of outstanding stock-based awards. There
were no antidilutive common stock equivalents excluded from the diluted per share calculation.

The offering closed weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute basic and diluted EPS were as follows:

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,

  2023 2022 2023 2022

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 15,001,908  12,797,727  13,585,391  12,772,731 

Effect of dilutive shares 48,154  36,357  53,673  43,588 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 15,050,062  12,834,084  13,639,064  12,816,319 
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(8) Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

We may have certain claims in the normal course of business, including legal proceedings, against us and against other parties. In our opinion, the resolution of these claims will not
have a material adverse effect on July 24, 2023our results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.

Further, from time-to-time, government agencies audit or investigate whether our operations are being conducted in accordance with applicable contractual and we received net
proceedsregulatory requirements. Government audits or investigations of $112.7 million us, whether relating to government contracts or conducted for other reasons, could result
in administrative, civil or criminal liabilities, including repayments, fines or penalties being imposed upon us, or could lead to suspension or debarment from future government
contracting. Government investigations often take years to complete and many result in no adverse action against us. We believe, based upon current information, that the
outcome of any such government disputes, audits and investigations will not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.
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VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
September 30, 2023

(9) Business Segments

The sale of the Federal and Defense segment is intended to allow us to focus on our long-term strategic growth areas. Following the completion of the sale transaction,
management of our business operations is conducted under two reportable operating segments:

Aviation
Our Aviation segment provides aftermarket MRO and distribution services to commercial, business and general aviation, cargo, military and defense, and rotorcraft customers
globally. Core services include parts distribution, MRO services including fuel controls, avionics, pneumatics, hydraulics, wheel and brake, and rotable exchange and supply chain
services.

Fleet
Our Fleet segment provides parts, inventory management, e-commerce fulfillment, logistics, supply chain support and other services to support the commercial aftermarket
medium- and heavy-duty truck market, and the United States Postal Service ("USPS"). Core services include vehicle parts distribution, sourcing, IT solutions, customized fleet
logistics, warehousing, kitting, just-in-time supply chain management, alternative product sourcing, and engineering and technical support.

We evaluate segment performance based on consolidated revenues and operating income. Net sales of our business segments exclude inter-segment sales as these activities are
eliminated in consolidation. Corporate expenses are primarily selling, general and administrative expenses not allocated to segments. Our segment information is as follows (in
thousands):

  Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues:

Aviation $ 152,355  $ 102,625  $ 390,319  $ 300,934 

Fleet 78,998  64,754  234,844  196,526 

Total revenues $ 231,353  $ 167,379  $ 625,163  $ 497,460 

Operating income (loss):        

Aviation $ 20,951  $ 10,017  $ 52,397  $ 24,089 

Fleet 8,531  6,539  22,284  18,286 

Corporate/unallocated expenses(a) (4,218) (1,447) (12,004) (4,712)

Operating income $ 25,264  $ 15,109  $ 62,677  $ 37,663 

(a) Certain corporate costs previously allocated to the Federal and Defense business for segment reporting purposes did not qualify for classification within discontinued operations and have been

reallocated to continuing operations.
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VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
September 30, 2023

(10) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Aviation Fleet Total

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 154,072  $ 63,190  $ 217,262 

Acquisitions 128,464  —  128,464 

Balance as of September 30, 2023 $ 282,536  $ 63,190  $ 345,726 

Goodwill increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 in connection with the offering, net acquisitions during the period as discussed in Note (2) "Acquisitions."

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of issuance costs. the following (in thousands):

Gross carrying value Accumulated amortization Net carrying value

September 30, 2023

Contract and customer-related $ 242,190  $ (123,675) $ 118,515 

Trade names 8,670  (8,320) 350 

Total $ 250,860  $ (131,995) $ 118,865 

December 31, 2022      

Contract and customer-related $ 199,140  $ (113,796) $ 85,344 

Trade names 8,670  (7,456) 1,214 

Total $ 207,810  $ (121,252) $ 86,558 

The gross carrying amount of contract and customer-related intangibles increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 in connection with the acquisitions during
the period as discussed in Note (2) "Acquisitions."

As of September 30, 2023, the estimated future annual amortization expense related to intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending Amount

Remainder of 2023 $ 3,654 

2024 13,450 

2025 13,388 

2026 13,264 

2027 11,517 

Thereafter 63,592 

Total $ 118,865 
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(11) Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and the level they fall
within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

Amounts Recorded at Fair Value Financial Statement Classification Fair Value Hierarchy
Fair Value September

30, 2023
Fair Value December

31, 2022

Non-COLI assets held in Deferred Supplemental
Compensation Plan(a) Other assets Level 1 $ 566  $ 539 

Interest rate swaps Other assets Level 2 $ 9,298  $ 6,620 
(a) Non-Company Owned Life Insurance ("COLI") assets held in our deferred supplemental compensation plan consist of equity funds with fair value based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for

identical assets in active markets and changes in fair value are recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and amounts included in other current assets and accrued expenses and other current liabilities
that meet the definition of a financial instrument approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturity. The carrying value of our outstanding debt obligations approximates
its fair value. The fair value of long-term debt is calculated using Level 2 inputs based on interest rates available for debt with terms and maturities similar to our existing debt
arrangements.

(12) Income Taxes

Income tax expense during interim periods is based on our estimated annual effective income tax rate plus any discrete items that are recorded in the period in which they occur.
Our tax rate is affected by discrete items that may occur in any given year but may not be consistent from year to year.

Our effective tax rate for continued operations was 27.9% and 25.8% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and 25.2% and 26.1% for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. The effective tax rate was higher for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the same period of prior year
primarily due to 2023 transaction costs incurred in connection with the Desser Aerospace acquisition that was disallowed for tax purposes. The lower effective tax rate for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the same period of prior year was attributable to higher pre-tax book income reported in the period ended September 30, 2023
compared to the same period in 2022.
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Item 2.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Business Overview

We are a diversified aftermarket products and services company providing maintenance, repair and overhaul ("MRO") services, parts distribution, logistics, supply chain
management and consulting services for transportation assets to commercial and government markets.

Recent Developments

Sale of Federal and Defense Segment

In May 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our Federal and Defense (“FDS”) business to an affiliate of Bernhard Capital Partners Management LP for a total
consideration of up LP. On September 27, 2023, the parties mutually agreed to $100.0 million, consisting of a $50.0 million cash payment at terminate the closingagreement. Neither
party paid any termination fees. We still intend to pursue divestiture of the transaction segment with an entity that can support its growth plans. As a result of the May 2023
agreement, and an earn-out payment of up because we still intend to $50.0 million, subject to divest the achievement of certain milestones. The transaction is expected to
closebusiness, in late 2023 or early 2024. In accordance with ASC 205-20, Presentation of Financial Statements - Discontinued Operations we determined that the criteria, results of
operations for discontinued operations presentation were met during the second quarter of 2023 and results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 for our
Federal and Defense segment FDS are reported in income from discontinued operations within the consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the carrying value of the related assets and liabilities are presented within assets and liabilities held for saleheld-for-sale on the consolidated
balance sheets as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022. See Note (3) "Discontinued Operations" to the consolidated financial statements for further
information.

Desser Aerospace Acquisition Acquisitions

In July 2023, we completed our previously announced acquisition of Desser-Graham Partnership, L.P.Desser Holding Company LLC ("Desser Aerospace"), pursuant a global
aftermarket solutions provider of specialty distribution and MRO services.
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In September 2023, we entered into an Asset Purchase and License Agreement with Honeywell International Inc. to exclusively manufacture, sell, market, distribute, and repair
certain Honeywell fuel control systems (the "Honeywell FCS Acquisition").

See Note (2) "Acquisitions" to the terms of the purchase agreement dated May 3, 2023, for a preliminary purchase price of $124.0 million, subject to post-closing adjustments.
Concurrent with the closing of the transaction, we sold, in a separate transaction, Desser Aerospace’s propriety solutions businesses to Loar Group Inc. (“Loar”) for cash
consideration of approximately $30.0  million (the “Loar Sale”). The acquisition was funded with proceeds from a new term loan (see Note (13) "Subsequent Events" - Credit
Agreement Amendmentconsolidated financial statements for further information), together with proceeds from the Loar Sale and additional borrowings under our revolving credit
facility.information.

Underwritten Public Offering

In July 2023, we initiated a public offering of the Company's common stock relating to the issuance and sale of 2,475,0002,846,250 shares at a public offering price of $48.50 per
share. The offering closed on July 24, 2023in two transactions, and we received net proceeds of $112.7 million in connection with $129.1 million was received by the offering, net of
issuance costs. We intend to use substantially all of the net proceeds from this offeringCompany, which were used to repay outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit
facility and any remaining amounts for general corporate purposes.  See Note (1) "Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation" to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

Business Trends

The following discussion provides a brief description of some of the key business factors impacting our results of operations detailed by segment.

Aviation Segment

During the second third quarter, our strong program execution on of new and existing distribution programsawards, an expansion of product offerings and increase in MRO
capabilities, increased market activity, and contributions from the Desser Aerospace acquisition produced positivestrong results, with quarterly revenue reaching $124.7
million $152.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, representing a 19% 48% increase year-over-year. Market growth and share gains have resulted
in a 37% 54% and 13% 46% year-over-year increase in repair and distribution revenue, respectively, during the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to
the same period for the prior year. Our growth has been driven by several strategic initiatives, including the introduction of new products and service capabilities to our portfolio,
further strengthening our position in the market. Additionally, expanding our partnerships with Original Equipment Manufacturers has provided us with a competitive edge,
allowing successful entry into new opportunities, including access to new markets with an established customer base. We believe ourthe July 2023 acquisition of Desser Aerospace
in July 2023 will increase our exposure to the high-growth, higher-margin aviation distribution and MRO markets. We believe that the combination of Desser Aerospace’s
distribution and repairMRO capabilities coupled with VSE Aviation’s aftermarket business capabilities and offerings creates a platform for geographic expansion into international
markets and provides opportunities to cross-sell products and services.

Furthermore, we believe that
-18- -21-

the Honeywell FCS Acquisition to exclusively manufacture, sell, market, distribute, and repair certain Honeywell fuel control systems expands our existing capabilities and provides
access to new customers and end markets while strengthening our partnership with Honeywell.

Fleet Segment

During the second third quarter, growth in our Fleet segment was driven by strong contributions from commercial fleet customers, e-commerce fulfillment volume, and the United
States Postal Service ("USPS"). The strongsolid performance in of our USPS program is supported by the expansion of ourthe installed base of USPS vehicles and continued support
of legacy vehicles. We have made significant progress in executing our revenue diversification strategy through the successful launch of our new e-commerce fulfillment and
distribution center, including the completion of initial inventory investments. These strategic initiatives have been instrumental in our ability to capture new customers and drive
revenue growth within e-commerce fulfillment. Our commercial revenues were 47% of total Fleet segment revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023,
compared to 40% 39% for the same period in the prior year, demonstrating the continued success of our diversification strategy.

Results of Operations

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our consolidated results of operations (in thousands):

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30, Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended Septem

2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)

Revenues Revenues $205,223  $169,761  $35,462  21  % $393,810  $330,081  $63,729  19  % Revenues $231,353  $167,379  $63,974  38  % $625,163  $497,460  $127,703
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Costs and
operating
expenses

Costs and
operating
expenses 184,586  159,226  25,360  16  % 356,395  307,529  48,866  16  %

Costs and
operating
expenses 206,089  152,270  53,819  35  % 562,486  459,797  102,689

Operating
income

Operating
income 20,637  10,535  10,102  96  % 37,415  22,552  14,863  66  %

Operating
income 25,264  15,109  10,155  67  % 62,677  37,663  25,014

Interest
expense,
net

Interest
expense,
net 7,366  3,872  3,494  90  % 13,346  7,482  5,864  78  %

Interest
expense,
net 8,459  4,821  3,638  75  % 21,805  12,305  9,500

Income
from
continuing
operations
before
income
taxes

Income
from
continuing
operations
before
income
taxes 13,271  6,663  6,608  99  % 24,069  15,070  8,999  60  %

Income
from
continuing
operations
before
income
taxes 16,805  10,288  6,517  63  % 40,872  25,358  15,514

Provision
for income
taxes

Provision
for income
taxes 3,182  1,908  1,274  67  % 5,860  4,026  1,834  46  %

Provision
for income
taxes 4,694  2,589  2,105  81  % 10,554  6,615  3,939

Net
income
from
continuing
operations

Net
income
from
continuing
operations $ 10,089  $ 4,755  $ 5,334  112  % $ 18,209  $ 11,044  $ 7,165  65  %

Net
income
from
continuing
operations $ 12,111  $ 7,699  $ 4,412  57  % $ 30,318  $ 18,743  $ 11,575

Revenues. Revenues increased for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to growth in our
Aviation segment of $19.7 million $49.7 million and our Fleet segment of $15.8 million $14.2 million. See "Segment Operating Results" section below for further discussion of
revenues by segment.

Revenues increased for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to growth in our Aviation
segment of $39.7 million $89.4 million and our Fleet segment of $24.1 million $38.3 million. See "Segment Operating Results" section below for further discussion of revenues by
segment.

Costs and Operating Expenses. Costs and operating expenses increased for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as compared to the same periods
in the prior year primarily due to increases in revenue. Costs and operating expenses for our operating segments increase and decrease in conjunction with the level of business
activity and revenues generated by each segment. See "Segment Operating Results" for discussion of cost and operating expenses by segment.

Operating Income. Operating income increased for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily due to an
increase of $9.3 million $10.9 million for our Aviation Aviation segment and $2.5 million $2.0 million for our Fleet segment. See "Segment Operating Results" for a discussion of
operating income by segment. The operating income increase attributable to our segments was partially offset by an increase in corporate costs, including acquisition and
integration costs incurred during the current period.

Operating income increased for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily due to an increase of $17.4
million $28.3 million for our Aviation segment and an increase of $2.0 million $4.0 million for our Fleet segment. See "Segment Operating Results" for a discussion of operating
income by segment. The operating income increase attributable to our
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segments was partially offset by an increase in corporate costs, including acquisition and integration costs incurred during the current period.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as compared to the same periods in the prior year primarily
due to an increase in our debt facility borrowings and a higher average interest rate on borrowings outstanding.
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Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate for continued operations was 24.0% 27.9% and 24.3% 25.8% for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30,
2023, respectively, and 28.6% 25.2% and 26.7% 26.1% for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022, respectively. Our tax rate is affected by discrete
items that may occur in any given year but may not be consistent from year to year. Permanent differences such as foreign derived intangible income deduction, Section 162(m)
limitation, capital gains tax treatment, state income taxes, certain federal and state tax credits and other items caused differences between our statutory U.S. Federal income tax
rate and our effective tax rate. The higher effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2023, primarily resulted from various transaction costs incurred in 2023 in
connection with the Desser Aerospace acquisition that was disallowed for tax purposes. The lower effective tax rate for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 primarily
resulted fromSeptember 30, 2023, was attributable to higher pre-tax book income in connection with the fair market value increase in our Company Owned Life Insurance
plan reported in the period ended June 30, 2023 that was reversed for tax purposes as opposed to book expense in the same period in 2022.current year.

Segment Operating Results

Aviation Segment Results

The results of operations for our Aviation segment segment were as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30, Three months ended September 30, Nine m

2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023

Revenues Revenues $ 124,729 $ 105,019 $19,710  19  % $ 237,964 $198,309  $39,655  20  % Revenues $ 152,355 $ 102,625 $49,730  48  % $ 390,31

Costs and
operating
expenses

Costs and
operating
expenses 108,946 98,569 10,377  11  % 206,517 184,237 22,280  12  %

Costs and
operating
expenses 131,404 92,608 38,796  42  % 337,92

Operating
income

Operating
income $ 15,783 $ 6,450 $ 9,333  145  % $ 31,447 $ 14,072 $17,375  123  %

Operating
income $ 20,951 $ 10,017 $10,934  109  % $ 52,39

Profit
percentage

Profit
percentage 12.7  % 6.1  % 13.2  % 7.1 %  

Profit
percentage 13.8  % 9.8  % 13.4 

Revenues. Revenues for our Aviation segment increased for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily
driven by contributions from our acquisition of Desser Aerospace, recently initiated distribution contract wins and improved demand for our commercial aerospace products and
services resulting from continued recovery strong end market activity in global commercial air travel. Aviation distribution revenue increased $10.1 million $34.0 million, or 13% 46%,
and repair revenue increased $9.6 million $15.7 million, or 37% 54%, for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period in the prior year.

Revenues for our Aviation segment increased for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily driven by
contributions from our acquisition of Desser Aerospace, recently initiated distribution contract wins and improved demand for our commercial aerospace products and services
resulting from continued recovery strong end market activity in global commercial air travel. Aviation distribution revenue increased $20.4 million $54.4 million, or 14% 24%, and
repair revenue increased $19.3 million $35.0 million, or 40% 45%, for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period in the prior year.

Costs and operating expenses. Costs and operating expenses increased for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior
year primarily due to increased revenues. Costs and operating expenses for this segment included expenses for amortization of intangible assets associated with acquisitions and
allocated corporate costs. Expense for amortization of intangible assets was $2.5 million $3.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to
$2.3 million for the same period in the prior year. Allocated corporate costs were $3.0 million $3.1 million for the six three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023,
compared to $2.8 million $3.3 million for the same period in the prior year.

Costs and operating expenses increased for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily due to increased
revenues. Costs and operating expenses for this segment included expenses for amortization of intangible assets associated with acquisitions and allocated corporate costs.
Expense for amortization of intangible assets was $5.0 million $8.1 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to $4.7 million $7.0 million for
the same period in the prior year. Allocated corporate costs were $6.2 million $9.3 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to $5.7
million $9.1 million for the same period in the prior year.
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Operating income. Operating income increased for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily
due to revenue growth and a favorable shift in sales mix and pricing.
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Fleet Segment Results

The results of operations for our Fleet segment segment were as follows (in thousands) thousands):

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30, Three months ended September 30, Nine month

2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023 2022
Change

($)
Change

(%) 2023

Revenues Revenues $ 80,494 $ 64,742 $15,752  24  % $ 155,846 $ 131,772 $24,074  18  % Revenues $ 78,998 $ 64,754 $14,244  22  % $ 234,844 $

Costs and
operating
expenses

Costs and
operating
expenses 72,640 59,376 13,264  22  % 142,093 120,025 22,068  18  %

Costs and
operating
expenses 70,467 58,215 12,252  21  % 212,560

Operating
income

Operating
income $ 7,854 $ 5,366 $ 2,488  46  % $ 13,753 $ 11,747 $ 2,006  17  %

Operating
income $ 8,531 $ 6,539 $ 1,992  30  % $ 22,284 $

Profit
percentage

Profit
percentage 9.8  % 8.3  % 8.8  % 8.9  %  

Profit
percentage 10.8  % 10.1  % 9.5  % 9.3

Revenues. Revenues for our Fleet segment increased for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily due to
increases from commercial customers of $12.0 million, or 46% 47%, and other government customers of $5.0 million $2.4 million, or 13%. These increases were partially offset by
decreased revenues from DoD customers of $1.3 million 6%. Commercial customer revenue growth was driven by our commercial fleet and e-commerce fulfillment business.
Revenues from other government customers increased primarily due to increased support of legacy USPS vehicle fleets.

Revenues for our Fleet segment increased for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily due to
increases from commercial customers of $16.7 million $28.8 million, or 31% 36%, and other government customers of $10.3 million $12.7 million, or 14% 11%. These increases were
partially offset by decreased revenues from DoD customers of $3.0 million $3.2 million. Commercial customer revenue growth was driven by our commercial fleet and e-commerce
fulfillment business. Revenues from other government customers increased primarily due to increased support of legacy USPS vehicle fleets.

Costs and operating expense. Costs and operating expenses increased for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year
primarily due to increased revenues. In addition, costs and operating expenses for this segment included expenses for amortization of intangible assets associated with
acquisitions and allocated corporate costs. Expense for amortization of intangible assets was $1.1 million immaterial for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023
compared to $1.7 million $1.5 million for the same period in the prior year. Expense for allocated corporate costs was $2.0 million for the three months ended June 30,
2023September 30, 2023 and $1.8 million for the same period in the prior year.2022.

Costs and operating expenses increased for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to the same period of the prior year primarily due to increased
revenues. In addition, costs and operating expenses for this segment included expenses for amortization of intangible assets associated with acquisitions and allocated corporate
costs. Expense for amortization of intangible assets was $2.6 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to $3.4 million $5.0 million for the
same period in the prior year. ExpenseExpenses for allocated corporate costs was $4.06.1 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, and $3.9
million $5.9 million for the same period in the prior year.

Operating income. Operating income increased for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, compared to the same period of the prior year primarily
driven by increased revenues.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

Our internal sources of liquidity are primarily from operating activities, specifically from changes in our level of revenues and associated inventory, accounts receivable and
accounts payable, and from profitability. Significant increases or decreases in revenues and inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable can affect our liquidity. Our
inventory and accounts payable levels can be affected by the timing of large opportunistic inventory purchases and by distributor agreement requirements. Our accounts
receivable and accounts payable levels can be affected by changes in the level of work we perform and by the timing of large purchases. In addition to operating cash flows, other
significant factors that affect our overall management of liquidity include capital expenditures;expenditures, and investments in the acquisition of businesses.

Our primary sourcesources of external financing isare the capital markets and our credit agreement. Our credit agreement is with a bank group and includes a term loan and a
revolving facility, with an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of our revolving facility
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of $350.0 million. Under the credit agreement we may elect to increase the maximum availability of the term loan, the revolving facility, or a combination of both, subject to
customary lender commitment approvals. The aggregate limit of increases is $100.0 million $25.0 million. Our outstanding borrowings under the credit
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agreement increased approximately $88.4 million $174.9 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, we had
borrowings outstanding under our term loan of $95.0 million $182.5 million, borrowings outstanding under our revolving facility of $282.0 million $281.0 million, outstanding letters
of credit of $0.7 million, and $67.3 million $68.3 million of unused commitments under the credit agreement.

In July 2023, we entered into a fifth amendment to our credit agreement which, among other things, provided for the following: (i) the extension of a new term loan in the aggregate
principal amount of $90.0 million, which will mature on the same date as the existing term loan; (ii) a reduction in our capacity to incur incremental revolving or term loan credit
facilities from $100.0 million to $25.0 million; (iii) quarterly amortization payments for the new term loan in the amount of $2.25 million; (iv) an increase in the maximum Total
Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio from 4.50x to 5.00x, with such ratios decreasing thereafter as indicated in the table below; (v) the addition of a tier to the top of the pricing grid if the
Total Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio exceeds 4.50x; and (vi) expressly permitting the Desser Aerospace acquisition and the Loar Sale. The net proceeds received under the new term
loan were used subsequent and simultaneous business sale to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the Desser acquisition.Loar.

Testing Period
Maximum Total Funded Debt to EBITDA

Ratio

June 30, 2023 through and including September 30, 2023 5.00 to 1.00

December 31, 2023 through and including June 30, 2024 4.75 to 1.00

September 30, 2024 4.50 to 1.00

December 31, 2024 through and including March 31, 2025 4.25 to 1.00

June 30, 2025 4.00 to 1.00

September 30, 2025 and thereafter 3.75 to 1.00

In July 2023, we entered into an underwriting agreement with William Blair & Company, L.L.C and RBC Capital Markets, acting as representatives of several underwriters, relating to
the issuance and sale of 2,475,0002,846,250 shares of the Company's common stock at a public offering price of $48.50 per share. Under the termsThe issuance and sale of shares
pursuant to the agreement we granted was executed in two transactions, with the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to an additional 371,250 shares
of common stock. The offering closed first transaction closing on July 24, 2023, and wethe second transaction closing on July 28, 2023. We received net proceeds of
$112.7$129.1 million in connection with the offering, offerings, net of issuance costs.

We believe our existing balances of cash and cash equivalents, along with our cash flows from operations and debt instruments under our credit agreement mentioned above, will
provide sufficient liquidity for our business operations as well as capital expenditures, dividends, and other capital requirements associated with our business operations over the
next twelve months and thereafter for the foreseeable future.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows (in thousands):

Six months ended June 30, Nine months ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Net cash used
in operating
activities

Net cash used
in operating
activities $ (65,091) $ (20,138)

Net cash used
in operating
activities $ (49,771) $ (4,206)

Net cash (used in) provided by
investing activities (16,291) 327 

Net cash used
in investing
activities

Net cash used
in investing
activities (227,912) (3,181)

Net cash
provided by
financing
activities

Net cash
provided by
financing
activities 85,244  19,664 

Net cash
provided by
financing
activities 298,034  6,959 
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Net increase
(decrease) in
cash and cash
equivalents

Net increase
(decrease) in
cash and cash
equivalents $ 3,862  $ (147)

Net increase
(decrease) in
cash and cash
equivalents $ 20,351  $ (428)

Cash used in operating activities increased $44.9 million $45.6 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as compared to the same period of the prior
year. The increase was primarily due to greater use of cash for inventory purchases.

Cash used in investing activities was $16.3 million increased $224.7 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 compared to cash provided by investing activities of $0.3
million for the same period of the prior year. The change was primarily due to cash paid for the acquisition of Precision Fuel in the current period.

Cash provided by financing activities increased $65.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, as compared to the same period of the prior year. The
increase was primarily due to cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired of $218.7 million related to acquisitions during the current year as discussed in Note (2) "Acquisitions"
to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash provided by financing activities increased $291.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, as compared to the same period of the prior year. The increase was
primarily due to the receipt of $129.1 million in proceeds related to our public
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underwritten offering of our common stock in July 2023 and overall higher proceeds from net borrowings of our debt during the current period.
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period due primarily to the increase in our term loan facility.

We paid cash dividends totaling $2.6 million $3.9 million or $0.20$0.30 per share during the six nine months ending June 30, 2023September 30, 2023. Pursuant to our bank
loan credit agreement, our payment of cash dividends is subject to annual restrictions. We have paid cash dividends each year since 1973.

Other Obligations and Commitments

There have not been any material changes to our other obligations and commitments that were included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2022.

Inflation and Pricing

There have not been any material changes to this disclosure from those discussed in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial
condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Our credit agreement provides available borrowing to us at variable interest rates. Our interest expense is impacted by the overall global economic and interest rate environment.
The inflationary environment has also resulted in central banks raising short-term interest rates. Accordingly, future interest rate changes could potentially put us at risk for a
material adverse impact on future earnings and cash flows. To mitigate the risks associated with future interest rate movements we have employed interest rate hedges to fix the
rate on a portion of our outstanding borrowings for various periods.

In July 2023, we executed a fixed interest rate swap that hedges the variability in interest payments on $100.0 million of floating rate debt.

For additional information related to our debt and interest rate swap agreements, see Note (5) and Note (6), respectively, to our Consolidated Financial Statements contained in
this report.

ThereOther than as discussed above, there have been no material changes to our market risks from those discussed in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgments

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principlesGenerally Accepted Accounting Principles ("U.S.
GAAP"), which require us to make estimates and assumptions. Certain critical accounting policies affect the more significant accounts, particularly those that involve judgments,
estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, including revenue recognition, inventory valuation, business combinations, goodwill
and intangible assets, and income taxes. If any of these estimates, assumptions or judgments prove to be incorrect, our reported results could be materially affected. Actual results
may differ significantly from our estimates under different assumptions or conditions. See "Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" and Note (1) "Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in our 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussions of our significant
accounting policies and estimates. There have been no significant changes in our critical accounting estimates during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023,
from those disclosed in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

-26-

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

For a description of recently announced accounting standards, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects, if any, on our consolidated financial statements,
see Note (1) "Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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— Recent Adopted Accounting Pronouncements” to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Item 3.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

See "Disclosures About Market Risk" in Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 4.    Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information we are required to
disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In connection with our acquisition of Desser Aerospace, certain areas of internal control over financial reporting changed. These areas are primarily related to integrating our
corporate functions such as entity level controls and certain financial reporting controls. Certain control structure items remain in operation at Desser Aerospace, primarily related
to information technology, inventory management, human resources, processing and billing of revenues, and collection of those revenues. The control structure at Desser
Aerospace has been modified to appropriately oversee and incorporate these activities into the overall control structure. We will continue to evaluate the need for additional
internal controls over financial reporting.

There have been no additional changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarterly period covered by this report that materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.   OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.    Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The risk factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 ("2022 Form 10-K”) should be considered together with information
included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, and under "Forward-Looking Statements" and "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." The risk factors set forth in our 2022 Form 10-K are updated by adding the following:

Circumstances associated with divestitures could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and financial condition.

We may periodically divest or seek to divest of certain businesses, including businesses or assets included in our Federal and Defense segment that are no longer a part of our
ongoing strategic plan. A decision to divest or discontinue a business or product line may result in asset impairments, including those related to goodwill and other intangible
assets, and losses upon disposition, both of which could have adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may encounter difficulty in finding
buyers or executing alternative exit strategies at acceptable prices and terms and in a timely manner and prospective buyers may have difficulty obtaining financing. These
divestitures may require significant investment of time and resources and may disrupt our business, distract management from other responsibilities, and may involve the
retention of certain current or future liabilities in order to induce a buyer to complete a divestiture or may otherwise result in losses on disposal or continued financial involvement
in the divested business, including through indemnification or other arrangements, for a period of time following the transaction, which could adversely affect our financial results.
We may not be successful in managing these or any other significant risks that we may encounter in divesting or discontinuing a business or product line, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Item 2.    Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, and Use of Proceeds and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our equity securities during the period covered by this report.

Item 5.    Other Information

During the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, no director or "officer," as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act, of the Company adopted, modified, or
terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or a "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as each term is defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.
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(a) Exhibits    

Exhibit 2.1 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2023, by and among VSE Corporation, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of VSE Corporation, and ASG Operations, LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 5, 2023)

Exhibit 2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among VSE Aviation, Inc., Diamond Merger Sub 1, LLC, Desser-Graham Partnership,
L.P. and Desser Holdings Partnership GP, LLC, as the Representative, dated as of May 3, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 5, 2023)



Exhibit 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of VSE Corporation dated as of March 4, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 10, 2023)

Exhibit 3.2 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of VSE Corporation dated as of May 2, 2006
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 1,
2006)

Exhibit 3.3 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of VSE Corporation dated as of May 4, 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 10,
2023)

Exhibit 3.4 By-Laws of VSE Corporation as amended through October 22, 2022 (filed herewith)



Exhibit 10.1 Fifth Amendment to the Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2023, by
and among the Company, as a borrower, various subsidiaries of the Company party thereto as borrowers or guarantors,
the lenders from time to time party thereto and Citizens Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on July 27, 2023)

Exhibit 10.2 Amendment and Termination to Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2023, by and
between VSE Corporation, Arena Solutions Group, LLC, ASG Operations, LLC and Bernhard Capital Partners Management,
LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September
28, 2023)

Exhibit 31.1   Section 302 CEO Certification

Exhibit 31.2   Section 302 CFO and PAO Certification

Exhibit 32.1   Section 906 CEO Certification

Exhibit 32.2   Section 906 CFO and PAO Certification

Exhibit 101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document

Exhibit 101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Exhibit 101.CAL   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Exhibit 101.DEF   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Exhibit 101.LAB   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Exhibit 101.PRE   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document

Exhibit 104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
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VSE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.
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    VSE CORPORATION

Date: July 27, November 2, 2023 By: /s/ John A. Cuomo

    John A. Cuomo

    Director, Chief Executive Officer and President

    (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: July 27, November 2, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen D. Griffin

    Stephen D. Griffin

    Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

    (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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BY-LAWS OF VSE CORPORATION
(as amended on May 3, 2023)

ARTICLE I OFFICES
Section 1. The registered office of the corporation shall be in the City of Wilmington, County of

New Castle, State of Delaware.

Section 2. The corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Delaware as the board of directors
may from time to time determine or the business of the corporation may require.

ARTICLE II MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
Section 1. All meetings of the stockholders for the election of directors shall be held in the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area, at such place as

may be fixed from time to time by the board of directors, or at such other place as shall be designated from time to time by the board of directors and
stated in the notice of the meeting. Meetings of stockholders for any other purpose may be held at such time and place, within or without the State of
Delaware, as shall be stated in the notice of the meeting or in a duly executed waiver of notice thereof.

Section 2. Annual meetings of stockholders, commencing with the year 1986, shall be held in the month of May each year at a date and at a
time to be fixed by the board of directors and stated in the notice of meeting, at which time they shall elect by a plurality vote a board of directors, and
transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

Section 3. Written notice of the annual meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each stockholder entitled to
vote thereat at least ten days before the date of the meeting.

Section 4. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make, at least ten days before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at said meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, showing the address of and the
number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane
to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city, town or village
where the meeting is to be held and which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not specified, at the place where said meeting is to
be held. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any
stockholder who is present.

By-Laws of VSE Corporation (amended May 3, 2023) Page 2
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Section 5. Special meetings of the stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by statute or by the certificate of
incorporation, may be called by the chairman and shall be called by the chairman or secretary at the request in writing of a majority of the board of
directors, or at the request in writing of stockholders owning twenty-five percent (25%) in amount of the entire capital stock of the corporation issued
and outstanding and entitled to vote. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting.

Section 6. Written notice of a special meeting of stockholders, stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the purpose or purposes for
which the meeting is called, shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote thereat, at least five days before the date fixed for the meeting.

Section 7. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice.

Section 8. The holders of a majority of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy,
shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by statute or by the certificate
of incorporation. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote
thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than
announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or
represented any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified. If the adjournment is for more
than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to
each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

Section 9. When a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of the holders of a majority of the stock having voting power present in person or
represented by proxy shall decide any question brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon which by express provision of the
statutes or of the certificate of incorporation, a different vote is required in which case such express provision shall govern and control the decision of
such question.

Section 10. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, each stockholder shall at every meeting of the stockholders be entitled
to one vote in person or by proxy for each share of the capital stock having voting power held by such stockholder, but no proxy shall be voted on after
three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period.

Section 11. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, any action required to be taken at any annual or special meeting of
stockholders of the corporation, or any action which may be taken at any annual or special meeting of such stockholders, may be taken without a
meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding
stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares
entitled to vote thereon were present and voted. Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written
consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing.
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ARTICLE III

DIRECTORS
Section 1. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole board shall be a minimum of six directors and a maximum of nine

directors. Within the limits above specified, the number of directors shall be determined by resolution of the board of directors or by the stockholders
at the annual meeting. The directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of the stockholders, except as provided in Section 2 of this Article, and each
director elected shall hold office until his successor is elected and qualified. Directors need not be stockholders.

Section 2. Vacancies and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a
majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and the directors so chosen shall hold office until
the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and shall qualify, unless sooner displaced. If there are no directors in office, then an
election of directors may be held in the manner provided by statute. If, at the time of filling any vacancy or any newly created directorship, the directors
then in office shall constitute less than a majority of the whole board (as constituted immediately prior to such increase), the Court of Chancery may,
upon application of any stockholder or stockholders holding at least ten percent of the total number of the shares at the time outstanding having a right
to vote for such directors, summarily order an election to be held to fill any such vacancies or newly created directorships, or to replace the directors
chosen by the directors then in office.

Section 3. The business of the corporation shall be managed by or shall be under the direction of its board of directors which may exercise all
such powers of the corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the certificate of incorporation or by these by-laws
directed or required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.
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Section 4. Stockholders of the corporation may recommend persons to be nominated for election as directors of the corporation at the annual
meeting of stockholders. To be considered for nomination, such recommendation must be received in writing by the secretary of the corporation no
later than ninety (90) days before the date which corresponds to the date on which the annual meeting of stockholders was held during the immediate
prior year. Such recommendation shall be accompanied by the name of the stockholder proposing the candidate, evidence that stockholder is a
beneficial owner of the outstanding stock of the corporation as of the record date established for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of
and to vote at the annual meeting of stockholders, the name of candidate being proposed for nomination, and the candidate’s biographical data and
qualifications.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Section 5. The board of directors of the corporation may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware.

Section 6. The first meeting of each newly elected board of directors shall be held at such time and place as shall be fixed by the vote of the
stockholders at the annual meeting and no notice of such meeting shall be necessary to the newly elected directors in order legally to constitute the
meeting, provided a quorum shall be present. In the event of the failure of the stockholders to fix the time or place of such first meeting of the newly
elected board of directors, or in the event such meeting is not held at the time and place so fixed by the stockholders, the meeting may be held at such
time and place




By-Laws of VSE Corporation (amended May 3, 2023) Page 4

as shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided for special meetings of the board of directors, or as shall be specified in a written waiver
signed by all of the directors.

Section 7. Regular meetings of the board of directors may be held on two days’ written notice at such time and at such place as shall from time
to time be determined by the board.

Section 8. Special meetings of the board may be called by the chairman on two days’ notice to each director; special meetings shall be called by
the chairman or secretary in like manner and on like notice on the written request of two directors unless the board consists of only one director; in
which case special meetings shall be called by the chairman or secretary in like manner and on like notice on the written request of the sole director.

Section 9. At all meetings of the board a majority of the directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a
majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the board of directors, except as may be otherwise
specifically provided by statute or by the certificate of incorporation. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the board of directors the
directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be
present.

Section 10. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these by-laws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any
meeting of the board of directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if a written consent thereto is signed by all members of
the board or of such committee as the case may be, and such written consent is filed with the minutes of proceedings of the board or committee.

Section 11. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these by-laws, members of the board of directors, or any
committee designated by the board of directors, may participate in a meeting of the board of directors, or any committee, by means of conference
telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation
in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS
Section 12. (a) The board of directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole board, designate one or more committees, each

committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation; however, except as required by applicable law or regulation, or as provided by
the committee charter or a resolution of the board approved by a majority of the independent directors, no committee shall be empowered by the
board to initiate or take any action without prior ratification of such proposed action by the majority of the board of directors then in office.



(b) No such committee or committees of the board of directors shall have the power or authority:

(i) to amend the certificate of incorporation (except that a committee may, to the extent authorized in the resolution or resolutions
providing for the issuance of shares of stock adopted by the board of directors as provided in Section 151(a), fix any of the preferences or rights
of such shares relating to dividends, redemption, distribution of assets of the corporation or the conversion into, or the exchange of such shares
for, shares of any other class or classes or any other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock of the corporation),
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(ii) to adopt an agreement of merger or consolidation,
(iii)

By-Laws of VSE Corporation (amended May 3, 2023) Page 5

(iv) to recommend to the stockholders the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation’s property and assets,
(v) to recommend to the stockholders a dissolution of the corporation or a revocation of a dissolution, or
(vi)to amend the by-laws of the corporation;

and, unless the resolution or certificate of incorporation expressly so provide, no such committee shall have the power or authority
(vii) to declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of stock or to adopt a certificate of ownership and merger.



(c) Such committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be determined from time to time by resolution adopted by the
board of directors.

Section 13. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the board of directors when required.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS
Section 14. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these by-laws, the board of directors shall have the authority to fix

the compensation of directors. The directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the board of directors and shall
receive such compensation for their services as directors as shall be determined by the board of directors. No such payment shall preclude any director
from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefore. Members of special or standing committees may be allowed
like compensation for attending committee meetings.

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
Section 15. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or by law, any director or the entire board of directors may be

removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of shares entitled to vote at an election of directors.

DIRECTORS EMERITUS
Section 16. Unless otherwise restricted by the corporation's certificate of incorporation or by law, the corporation may have and appoint such

directors emeritus as shall seem advisable to the board of directors. To qualify for appointment as a director emeritus, the nominee shall be a retired
director of the corporation. The term "director emeritus" is an honorary title entitling the holder thereof to all of the rights and privileges thereunto
pertaining. No compensation shall be paid by the corporation to a director emeritus for service as such; however, the board of directors shall have the
authority to award honoraria or to reimburse expenses, if any, under specified conditions set forth in a resolution of the board. The holder of the title
"director emeritus" shall not act as and shall not be considered a director, officer or otherwise as an employee or agent of the corporation.

ARTICLE IV NOTICES
Section 1. Whenever, under the provisions of the statutes or of the certificate of incorporation

or of these by-laws, notice is required to be given to any director or stockholder, it shall given in writing, by mail, addressed to such director or
stockholder, at his address as it appears on the records of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed to be given
at the time
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when the same shall be deposited in the United States mail. Notice to directors may also be given by electronic mail, telegram or telecopy. Notice to
directors shall be given by electronic mail with at least twenty-four hours’ notice for any meeting.

Section 2. Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the statutes or of the certificate of incorporation or of these by-
laws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be
deemed equivalent thereto.

ARTICLE V OFFICERS

Section 1. The offices of the corporation shall be a chief executive officer, a president, a chief
operating officer, a chief financial officer, one or more vice-presidents, a secretary, a treasurer, and a comptroller, and such other offices as shall seem
advisable to the board. Two or more offices may be held by the same person, unless the certificate of incorporation or these by-laws otherwise provide.
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The board of directors may designate the chairman of the board as an executive chairman, in which case such executive chairman shall be an officer of
the corporation.

Section 2. The board of directors at its first meeting after each annual meeting of stockholders shall choose a chairman from among the
directors, and shall choose a chief executive officer, a president, a chief operating officer, a chief financial officer, a one or more vice-presidents,
secretary, a treasurer, and a comptroller, none of whom need be a member of the board. The board may also choose such additional vice-presidents
and assistant secretaries, treasurers, and comptrollers as shall seem advisable to the board.

Section 3. The board of directors may appoint such other officers and agents as it shall deem necessary who shall hold their offices for such
terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the board.

Section 4. The salary of the chief executive officer and of the executive chairman, if one is designated, shall be reviewed annually, with changes
recommended by the Compensation Committee. The salaries of all officers of the corporation (other than the chief executive officer and the executive
chairman, if one is designated) shall be reviewed by the Compensation Committee, with changes recommended by the chief executive officer. The
chairman of the Compensation Committee will present the recommendations of the Compensation Committee to the board of directors for ratification
and approval.

Section 5. The officers of the corporation shall hold office until their successors are chosen and qualify. Any officer elected or appointed by the
board of directors may be removed at any time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the board of directors. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the
corporation shall be filled by the board of directors.

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Section 6. The chairman of the board shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and of the board of directors. He shall perform all such

other duties as are properly required of him by the board of directors.
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Section 7. The board of directors may designate the chairman of the board as an executive chairman, in which case such person shall be an
officer of the corporation. He shall advise and counsel with the chief executive officer and, in his absence, with other officers of the corporation, and he
shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him by the board of directors. A chairman of the board designated as an
executive chairman need not be an employee of the corporation.

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Section 8. The chief executive officer of the corporation shall have general and active management of the business of the corporation, shall see

that all orders and resolutions of the board of directors are carried into effect, and, unless otherwise provided by the board of directors, shall in the
absence of the chairman of the board preside at all meetings of the stockholders.

Section 9. He shall execute bonds, mortgages and other contracts requiring a seal, under the seal of the corporation, except where required or
permitted by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the board of
directors to some other officer or agent of the corporation.

Section 10. He shall, as chief executive officer, be vested with authority to perform, singly or together with other officers of the corporation, all
of the duties given or imposed by these by-laws or the board of directors on the other officers or employees of the corporation.

Section 11. In the absence or disability of the president, chief operating officer, or chief financial officer, the chief executive officer shall select
and recommend to the board of directors for approval a candidate to fill the office of president, chief operating officer, or chief financial officer.
Candidates may be selected from the board of directors, officers or employees of the corporation, or from sources outside of the corporation. The chief
executive officer will perform the duties of the president, chief operating officer, or chief financial officer until a candidate is chosen and approved by
the board of directors and has qualified to perform the duties of the office of president, chief operating officer, or chief financial officer.

In addition to the chief executive's above-referenced powers and authorities, the chief executive officer shall have the power and authority to
select and appoint, without the board of directors' prior approval, employees of the corporation as officers of a group, division or unit of the
corporation, with such powers and duties as determined, from time to time, by the chief executive officer, provided, however that no such appointed
officer of a group, division or unit shall be an officer of the corporation or otherwise have any authority to enter into any contract or agreement in the
corporation's name and behalf or otherwise to obligate the corporation to a third party unless the board of directors has appointed the employee as an
officer of the corporation.
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THE PRESIDENT
Section 12. The president shall be the chief administrative officer of the corporation and shall have such other powers as may be prescribed by

the board of directors or chief executive officer, under whose supervision he shall be.
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Section 13. In the absence or disability of the chief executive officer, or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the president shall perform
the duties and exercise the powers of the chief executive officer, and when so doing, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions on
the chief executive officer.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Section 14. The chief financial officer of the corporation shall have the financial management of the business and shall perform such other

duties as may be prescribed by the board of directors or chief executive officer, under whose supervision he shall be.

THE VICE-PRESIDENTS
Section 15. The vice-president, or if there shall be more than one, the vice presidents in the order determined by the board of directors (such as

executive vice president, senior vice president, vice president, and assistant vice president, or in the absence of any determination, then in the order of
their election), shall perform such duties and have such powers as prescribed by the chief executive officer under whose supervision they will be.

THE SECRETARY
Section 16. The secretary shall attend all meetings of the board of directors and all meetings of the stockholders and record all the proceedings

of the meetings of the corporation and of the board of directors in a book to be kept for that purpose and shall perform like duties for the standing
commit- tees when required. He shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the board of
directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the board of directors or chief executive officer, under whose supervision he
shall be. He shall keep in safe custody the seal of the corporation and he, or an assistant secretary, shall have authority to affix the same to any
instrument requiring it and, when so affixed, it may be attested by his signature or by the signature of such assistant secretary. The board of directors
may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the corporation and to attest the affixing by his signature.

ARTICLE VI CERTIFICATES OF STOCK
Section 1. Every holder of stock in the corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate, signed

by, or in the name of the corporation by, the chairman, the chief executive officer, the president, or a vice-president, and by the treasurer or an
assistant treasurer or the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation, bearing the corporate seal or a facsimile thereof certifying the number
of shares owned by him in the corporation.

Section 2. Where a certificate is signed (1) by a transfer agent or an assistant transfer agent or
(2) by a transfer clerk acting on behalf of the corporation and a registrar, the signature of any such chairman, chief executive officer, president, vice-
president, treasurer, assistant treasurer, secretary, or assistant secretary may be facsimile. In case any officer or officers who have signed, or whose
facsimile signature or signatures have been used on, any such certificate or certificates shall cease to be such officer or officers of the corporation,
whether because of death, resignation or otherwise, before such certificate or certificates have been delivered by the corporation, such certificate or
certificates may nevertheless be adopted by the corporation and be issued and delivered as though the person or
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persons who signed such certificate or certificates or whose facsimile signature or signatures have been used thereon had not ceased to be such officer
or officers of the corporation.

LOST CERTIFICATES
Section 3. The Secretary or Treasurer who has charge of the transfer and issuance of stock of the corporation shall issue a new certificate or

certificates in place of any certificate or certificates theretofore issued by the corporation allegedly lost, upon the submission by the owner of such lost
or destroyed certificate, or his legal representative, to the corporation of a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may
be made against the corporation with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost or destroyed.

TRANSFERS OF STOCK
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Section 4. Upon surrender to the corporation or the transfer agent of the corporation of a certificate for shares duly endorsed or accompanied
by proper evidence of succession, assignment or authority to transfer, it shall be the duty of the corporation to issue a new certificate to the person
entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate, and record the transaction upon its books.

FIXING RECORD DATE
Section 5. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any

adjournment thereof, or to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other
distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of
any other lawful action, the board of directors may fix, in advance, a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the
resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the board of directors, and which record date shall not be more than sixty nor less than ten days before
the date of such meeting, nor more than sixty days prior to any other action. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at
a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the board of directors may fix a new record date for
the adjourned meeting.

REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS
Section 6. The corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive

dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner of shares, and shall not
be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have
express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.

UNCERTIFICATED SHARES
Section 7. The board of directors of the corporation may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of its

stock shall be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the
corporation.
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ARTICLE VII GENERAL PROVISIONS

DIVIDENDS
Section 1. Dividends upon the capital stock of the corporation, subject to the provisions of the certificate of incorporation, if any, may be

declared by the board of directors at any regular or special meeting, pursuant to law. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the
capital stock, subject to the provisions of the certificate of incorporation.

Section 2. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the corporation available for dividends such sum or
sums as the directors from time to time, in their absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for equalizing
dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the corporation, or for such other purpose as the directors shall think conducive to the
interest of the corporation, and the directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.

ANNUAL STATEMENT
Section 3. The board of directors shall present at each annual meeting, and at any special meeting of the stockholders when called for by vote of

the stockholders, a full and clear statement of the business and condition of the corporation.

FORUM FOR ADJUDICATION OF DISPUTES
Section 4. Unless a corporation consents n writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall

be the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the corporation, (b) any action asserting a claim of
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the corporation to the corporation or the corporation’s stockholders, (c)
any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by
the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the corporation shall be
deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of the Section 4.

FISCAL YEAR
Section 5. The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the board of directors.

SEAL
Section 6. The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the corporation, the year of its organization and the words "Corporate

Seal, Delaware". The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.
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INDEMNIFICATION
Section 7. The corporation shall indemnify its officers, directors, employees and agents to the extent permitted by the General Corporation Law

of Delaware.
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INVALID PROVISIONS
Section 8. If any provision of these by-laws is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under any current or future law, and if the rights or

obligations of the stockholders would not be materially and adversely affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never
compromised a part hereof, the remaining provisions of these by-laws shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal,
invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance herefrom, and in lieu of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision, there shall be added
automatically as a part of these by- laws, a legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision
as may be possible.

ARTICLE VIII AMENDMENTS
Section 1. These by-laws may be altered, amended or repealed or new by-laws may be adopted

by the stockholders or by the board of directors, when such power is conferred upon the board of directors by the certificate of incorporation at any
regular meeting of the stockholders or of the board of directors or at any special meeting of the stockholders or of the board of directors if notice of
such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption be contained in the notice of such special meeting. If the power to adopt, amend or repeal by-laws is
conferred upon the board of directors by the certificate of incorporation it shall not divest or limit the power of the stockholders to adopt, amend or
repeal by- laws.

Exhibit 10.1

Execution Version

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BUSINESS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIRST AMENDMENT TO CONSENT

THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BUSINESS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIRST AMENDMENT TO
CONSENT (this “Fifth Amendment”), dated as of July 3, 2023, by and among VSE Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“VSE”; and together with each other
Borrower party hereto, collectively, the “Borrowers”), the Existing Lenders (as defined below) party hereto, the banks and other financial institutions or
entities identified on the signature pages hereto as the Incremental Lenders (collectively, the “Incremental Lenders” and together with the Existing Lenders,
collectively the “Lenders”) and Citizens Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (as successor by merger to Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania) (in
such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and each of the lenders party thereto immediately prior to the Fifth Amendment Effective Date
(as defined below) (the “Existing Lenders”) are parties to that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of
January 5, 2018 (as amended by that certain First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of
November 26, 2019, that certain Second Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2020,
that certain Third Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2021, that certain Fourth

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

44/142

Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2022 and as amended, restated, amended
and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified and in effect prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Credit Agreement”; the Existing Credit Agreement as
amended by this Fifth Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”; unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise defined
herein shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement);

WHEREAS, the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Existing Lenders are parties to that certain Consent, dated as of May 2, 2023 (the
“Project Diamond Consent”), pursuant to which the Administrative Agent and Existing Lenders (constituting the Required Lenders) consented to (i) the
Desser Acquisition, (ii) immediately following the consummation of the Desser Acquisition, the sale the equity interests of the subsidiaries of Desser-
Graham Partnership, L.P. (the “Target”) making up the proprietary solutions segment of the Target to Loar Group, Inc. (the “Props Solution Segment Sale”)
and (iii) the exclusion of the Props Solution Segment Sale as an Excess Cash Event; provided that the Desser Acquisition and the Props Solution Segment
Sale occur on or prior to June 30, 2023;

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have notified the Administrative Agent that they are requesting (a) a new term loan (the “Fifth Amendment Term Loans”)
in an aggregate principal amount equal to $90,000,000.00, the proceeds of which shall be used (i) to fund the Desser Acquisition and (ii) to pay fees and
expenses associated with the Fifth Amendment, (b) that the Lenders amend the Existing Credit Agreement to effect such amendments as may be necessary
or appropriate to effect the Fifth Amendment Term Loans, (c) that the Lenders amend certain other provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement and (d) that
the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders amend certain provisions of the Project Diamond Consent;

WHEREAS, (a) the Incremental Lenders, subject to the terms and conditions of this Fifth Amendment, are willing to provide the Fifth Amendment
Term Loans on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date up to the amount of such Lender’s Fifth Amendment Term Loan Commitment as set forth on Schedule
1 attached to Exhibit B hereto (each a “Fifth Amendment Term Loan Commitment”), (b) subject to the terms and conditions of this Fifth Amendment, the
Lenders constituting Required Lenders are willing to make such other amendments to the Existing Credit Agreement and (c) subject to the terms and
conditions of this Fifth Amendment, the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders are willing to make such amendments to the Project Diamond
Consent; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms of the Existing Credit Agreement and the Project Diamond Consent, the Administrative Agent, the
Borrowers and the Lenders agree that the Existing

46150283v14

Credit Agreement and the Project Diamond Consent are hereby, subject to the terms and conditions of this Fifth Amendment, amended as provided
below.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, provisions and covenants contained herein, the parties agree as follows:

1. Incremental Amendment. This Fifth Amendment is an amendment to incur additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreement. Subject
to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3 below, each Incremental Lender agrees, effective as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, to
provide the Fifth Amendment Term Loan to the Borrower up to the Term Loan Commitment Amount of such Lender set forth under the heading “Fifth
Amendment Term Loan Commitment” in Schedule 1 attached to Exhibit B hereto. From and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, (i) the Fifth
Amendment Term Loan Commitment of each Lender shall be a “Term Facility Commitment Amount” for all purposes under the Credit Agreement and
(ii) the Fifth Amendment Term Loans of the Lenders shall be “Loans” (and have the same terms (including with respect to Guaranty and Collateral and
rights to payment and prepayment) as the existing Loans), for all purposes under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

2. Amendments to the Existing Credit Agreement and other Loan Documents. From and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date:

1. the Existing Credit Agreement is amended pursuant to this Fifth Amendment to delete the stricken text (indicated textually in the same manner as
the following example: stricken text) and to add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example:
double-underlined text) as set forth in the pages of the Credit Agreement attached as Exhibit A to this Fifth Amendment;

2. Schedule 1, Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 7 to the Existing Credit Agreement are hereby amended and restated in their entirety to read as set forth on
Exhibit B attached hereto;

3. Except as set forth in clause (b), all other Exhibits and Schedules to the Existing Credit Agreement shall not be amended, modified, supplemented
or otherwise affected; and

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

45/142

4. The parties acknowledge that the references to a facility size of $450,000,000 appearing in each of the Loan Documents has been increased to
$535,000,000.

3. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness. This Fifth Amendment shall become effective (the “Fifth Amendment Effective Date”) upon satisfaction of the
following conditions:

1. Executed Fifth Amendment. The Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this Fifth Amendment, executed by a duly authorized
officer of each party hereto, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and Lenders party hereto.

2. Executed Notes. The Administrative Agent shall have received, for the account of each Lender requesting a promissory note, a duly executed Note.

3. Borrowing Notice. The Borrowers shall have provided to the Administrative Agent a customary borrowing request in form and substance
acceptable to the Administrative Agent at least three (3) Business Days (or such shorter period as may be agreed to by the Administrative Agent) in
advance of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date.

4. Solvency. The Administrative Agent shall have received a certification from the chief financial officer (or another officer with similar duties) of VSE
to the solvency of the Borrowers, on a combined basis (after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Fifth Amendment).

5. Patriot Act. The Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall have received, (x) at least three (3) Business Days prior to the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date (or such shorter period as may be

-2-

agreed to by the Administrative Agent), (x) all documentation and other information that the Lenders reasonably determine is required by
regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including, without limitation, the
Patriot Act and (y) at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, any Borrower that qualifies as a “legal entity
customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation shall deliver a Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to such Borrower.

6. Legal Opinions of Counsel. The Administrative Agent shall have received on behalf of the Lenders a written opinion of Jones Day, in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and dated as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date.

7. Borrowers’ Authority Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received the following (which may be in the form of customary bring-down
deliverables, including a certification as to there having been no changes to the relevant documents delivered to the Administrative Agent on the
Restatement Date):

(1) Articles of Incorporation/Charter Documents. Copies of the articles of incorporation or other charter documents of each Borrower
certified by an Officer of such Borrower as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date to be true and correct and in force and effect as of such
date.

(2) Resolutions. Copies of resolutions of the board of directors or comparable managing body of each Borrower approving and adopting this
Fifth Amendment and the transactions contemplated herein and therein and authorizing execution and delivery hereof and thereof,
certified by an officer of such Borrower as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date to be true and correct and in force and effect as of such
date.

(3) Bylaws/Operating Agreement. A copy of the bylaws, operating agreement or limited liability company agreement of each Borrower
certified by an Officer of such Borrower as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date to be true and correct and in force and effect as of such
date.

(iv)    Good Standing. Copies of certificates of good standing, existence or its equivalent with respect to each Borrower certified as of a
recent date by the appropriate governmental authorities of the state of incorporation.

8. Fifth Amendment Effective Date Certificate. The Borrowers shall have delivered a certificate of an Officer certifying that (i) no Event of Default
under the Credit Agreement has occurred and is continuing after giving effect to this Fifth Amendment and the Fifth Amendment Term Loans and
(ii) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4 hereof are true and correct as set forth therein.

9. Desser Acquisition. (i) Substantially concurrently with the funding of the Fifth Amendment Term Loans on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, (A)
the Desser Acquisition shall have been consummated in accordance with applicable law and the Desser Acquisition Documents, in each case in all
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material respects and (B) all conditions to the consummation of the Desser Acquisition set forth in the Desser Acquisition Documents shall have
been satisfied (or waived to the extent such waivers are not materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders) and (ii) the Administrative Agent
shall have received all of the material Desser Acquisition Documents, which shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, in its
reasonable discretion.

10. Props Solutions Segment Sale. (i) Substantially concurrently with the funding of the Fifth Amendment Term Loans on the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date, (A) the Props Solutions Segment Sale shall have been consummated in accordance with applicable law and the Props Solutions
Segment Sale Documents, in each case in all material respects and (B) all conditions to the consummation of the Props Solutions Segment Sale set
forth in the Props Solutions Segment Sale Documents shall have been satisfied (or waived to the extent such waivers are not

-3-

materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders) and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have received all material executed documentation
relating to the Props Solutions Segment Sale (the “Props Solutions Segment Sale Documents”), which shall be reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent, in its reasonable discretion.

11. Fees and Expenses.    

1. All fees and expenses required to be paid on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date pursuant to this Fifth Amendment shall have been paid, to
the extent, with respect to such expenses, documented in reasonable detail at least one (1) Business Day prior to the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date (or such shorter period as may be reasonably agreed to by the Borrowers), including, without limitation, the legal fees and
expenses of external counsel to the Administrative Agent.

2. The Borrowers will pay, or cause to be paid, the fees set forth in that certain Mandate Letter, dated as of March 17, 2023, (the “Fifth
Amendment Mandate Letter”), among the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers, as set forth in the Fifth Amendment Mandate Letter.

4. Representations and Warranties. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and each Lender as follows:

(i. the execution, delivery and performance by each of the Borrowers of this Fifth Amendment has been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate or limited liability company, as applicable, action, and do not and will not:

(1) violate any provision of the organizational documents of such Borrower or any other VSE Entity;

(2) violate any provision of any law or any governmental rule or regulation applicable to such Borrower or any other VSE Entity, or any
order, judgment, decree or order of any court or other Government Authority binding on such Borrower or any other VSE Entity
except for such violation which, considered in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; or

(3) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any Material Contract of
such Borrower or any other VSE Entity other than those that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect;

b.         each Borrower has all requisite corporate, partnership or limited liability company power and authority to enter into this Fifth
Amendment and to perform its respective obligations under this Fifth Amendment and the Credit Agreement;

c.     this Fifth Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by each Borrower that is a party hereto and is the legally valid and binding
obligation of such Borrower, enforceable against such Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability or the
availability of equitable remedies;

d.       the representations and warranties of such Borrower contained in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true and
correct in all material respects (without duplication of any materiality qualifier therein) as of the date of this Fifth Amendment, except to the extent such
representations and warranties relate to an earlier date in which case such representations and warranties are true and correct in all material respects
(without duplication of any materiality qualifier therein) as of such earlier date.

-4-
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5. Amendments to the Project Diamond Consent. From and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date:

1. Section 1(a) of the Project Diamond Consent is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

(a)    Notwithstanding the provisions of the Credit Agreement to the contrary, the Required Lenders hereby consent to (i) the Acquisition, (ii) the Sale
and (iii) the exclusion of the Sale as an Excess Cash Event; provided that the Acquisition and Sale occur on or prior to July 3, 2023 (the “Consent Expiration
Date”).

6. No Modification. Except as expressly set forth herein, nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of compliance with any term or
condition contained in the Credit Agreement, Project Diamond Consent, or any of the other Loan Documents or constitute a course of conduct or
dealing among the parties. Except as expressly stated herein, the Administrative Agent and Lenders reserve all rights, privileges and remedies under
the Loan Documents. Except as amended or consented to hereby, the Credit Agreement, the Project Diamond Consent and the other Loan Documents
remain unmodified and in full force and effect. All references in the Loan Documents to the Credit Agreement and Project Diamond Consent shall be
deemed to be references to the Credit Agreement and Project Diamond Consent, respectively, as modified hereby. This Fifth Amendment shall
constitute a Loan Document.

7. Counterparts. This Fifth Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties in separate counterparts, each of which
when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Signature pages may
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to a single counterpart. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Fifth Amendment
by facsimile transmission or electronic transmission shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.

8. Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Fifth Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their
respective successors and assigns; provided that, except as permitted by the Credit Agreement, none of the Borrowers may assign or transfer any of its
rights or obligations under this Fifth Amendment without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.

9. Governing Law. This Fifth Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York (without
regard to the conflicts of laws principles thereof).

10. Severability. The illegality or unenforceability of any provision of this Fifth Amendment or any instrument or agreement required hereunder shall not
in any way affect or impair the legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Fifth Amendment or any instrument or agreement required
hereunder.

11. Captions. The captions and headings of this Fifth Amendment are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Fifth
Amendment.

12. Reaffirmation. Each of the Borrowers as debtor, grantor, pledgor, guarantor, assignor, or in other any other similar capacity in which such Borrower
grants liens or security interests in its property or otherwise acts as accommodation party or guarantor, as the case may be, hereby (i) ratifies and
reaffirms all of its payment and performance obligations, contingent or otherwise, under each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party (after giving
effect hereto) and (ii) to the extent such Borrower granted liens on or security interests in any of its property pursuant to any such Loan Document as
security for or otherwise guaranteed the Borrowers’ Obligations under or with respect to the Loan Documents, ratifies and reaffirms such guarantee
and grant of security interests and liens and confirms and agrees that such security interests and liens hereafter secure all of the Obligations as
amended hereby. Each of the Borrowers hereby consents to this Fifth Amendment and acknowledges that each of the Loan Documents remains in full
force and effect and is hereby ratified and

-5-
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reaffirmed. The execution of this Fifth Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Administrative Agent or Lenders,
constitute a waiver of any provision of any of the Loan Documents or serve to effect a novation of the Obligations.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Fifth Amendment as of the date set forth above.

BORROWERS:

    VSE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation

    By: /s/ Farinaz S. Tehrani
Name: Farinaz S. Tehrani
Title: Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

ENERGETICS, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company

    By: /s/ Farinaz S. Tehrani
Name: Farinaz S. Tehrani
Title: Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

WHEELER FLEET SOLUTIONS, CO., a Pennsylvania corporation

    By: /s/ Farinaz S. Tehrani
Name: Farinaz S. Tehrani
Title: Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

VSE AVIATION SERVICES, INC., a Florida corporation

    By: /s/ Farinaz S. Tehrani
Name: Farinaz S. Tehrani
Title: Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

VSE AVIATION SERVICES, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company
    By: /s/ Benjamin E. Thomas

Name: Benjamin E. Thomas
Title: President

[Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement]

    VSE AVIATION, INC., a Delaware corporation
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    By: /s/ Benjamin E. Thomas
Name: Benjamin E. Thomas
Title: President

    VSE AVIATION, INC., a Florida corporation

    By: /s/ Benjamin E. Thomas
Name: Benjamin E. Thomas
Title: President

    GLOBAL PARTS GROUP, INC., a Kansas corporation

    By: /s/ Benjamin E. Thomas
Name: Benjamin E. Thomas
Title: President

VSE AVIATION SERVICES, CO., a Kansas corporation

    By: /s/ Benjamin E. Thomas
Name: Benjamin E. Thomas
Title: President

PRECISION FUEL COMPONENTS LLC, a Washington limited liability company

    By: /s/ Benjamin E. Thomas
Name: Benjamin E. Thomas
Title: President

ARENA SOLUTIONS GROUP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

    By: /s/ Sam Singh
Name: Sam Singh
Title: Treasurer

DIAMOND MERGER SUB 1, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

    By: /s/ Farinaz S. Tehrani
Name: Farinaz S. Tehrani
Title: Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

[Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement]

DIAMOND GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

    By: /s/ Farinaz S. Tehrani
Name: Farinaz S. Tehrani
Title: Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

[Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement]
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND LENDERS:

CITIZENS BANK, N.A. (as successor by merger to Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania),as Administrative Agent

By:    /s/ John Sidarous 
    Name: John Sidarous
    Title: Managing Director

CITIZENS BANK, N.A.,as an Existing Lender and Incremental Lender

By:    /s/ John Sidarous 
    Name: John Sidarous
    Title: Managing Director

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as an Existing Lender and Incremental Lender

By:    /s/ Eric H. Williams 
    Name: Eric H. Williams
    Title: Senior Vice President

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA, as an Existing Lender and Incremental Lender

By:    /s/ Sean Hakimi 
    Name: Sean Hakimi
    Title: Authorized Signatory

TD BANK, N.A., as an Existing Lender and Incremental Lender

By:    /s/ Lawrence C. Deihle 
    Name: Lawrence C. Deihle
    Title: Vice Presi

[Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement]

TRUIST BANK, as an Existing Lender and Incremental Lender
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By:    /s/ Anika Kirs 
    Name: Anika Kirs
    Title: Director

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., as an Existing Lender and Incremental Lender

By:    /s/ Timothy Favinger
    Name: Timothy Favinger
    Title: Director

CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as an Existing Lender

By:    /s/ Brian Keane 
    Name: Brian Keane
    Title: Authorized Signatory

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, as an Existing Lender

By:    /s/ Davis Clark 
    Name: Davis Clark
    Title: Vice President

FIRST-CITIZENS BANK & TRUST COMPANY, as an Existing Lender

By:    /s/ Li Fiorani 
    Name: Li Fiorani
    Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement]

Exhibit A

AMENDMENTS TO THE EXISTING CREDIT AGREEMENT

Exhibit A

EXECUTION VERSION
Conformed through the First Amendment dated as of November 26, 2019

the Second Amendment dated as of June 29, 2020
the Third Amendment dated as of July 23, 2021
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the Fourth Amendment dated as of October 7, 2022
and the Fifth Amendment dated as of July 3, 2023

FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED
BUSINESS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

dated as of January 5, 2018
(and amended pursuant to the amendments referenced above)

by and among

VSE CORPORATION and other
“Borrower” parties hereto from time to time, collectively as Borrowers,

CITIZENS BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
and certain other “Lender” parties hereto from time to time, collectively as Lenders,

CITIZENS BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent

CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
M&T BANK,

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA,

TD BANK, N.A.,
TRUIST BANK

and
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as Co-Syndication Agents

and

CITIZENS BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

M&T BANK,
PNC CAPITAL MARKETS LLC,

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS1,
TD BANK, N.A.,

TRUIST SECURITIES, INC.
and

WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC,
as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Running Managers

1 RBC Capital Markets is a brand name for the capital markets businesses of Royal Bank of Canada and its affiliates.
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Section 5.6Government Contracts/Government Subcontracts 50

Section 5.7No Defaults or Liabilities 50

Section 5.8No Violations of Law 50

Section 5.9Litigation and Proceedings 50

Section 5.10Security Interest in the Collateral 51

Section 5.11Principal Place of Business; Location of Books and Records 51

Section 5.12Fiscal Year 51

Section 5.13Pension Plans 51

Section 5.14O.S.H.A., ADA and Environmental Compliance 52

Section 5.15Intellectual Property 52

Section 5.16Existing or Pending Defaults; Material Contracts 52

Section 5.17Leases and Real Property 52

Section 5.18Labor Relations 53

Section 5.19Assignment of Contracts 53

Section 5.20Contribution Agreement 53

Section 5.21Registered Names 53

Section 5.22Ownership of the VSE Entities 53

Section 5.23Solvency 53

Section 5.24Foreign Assets Control Regulations, Etc. 53

Section 5.25Federal Reserve Regulations 54

Section 5.26Commercial Tort Claims 54

Section 5.27Letter of Credit Rights 54

Section 5.28Investment Company Act 54

Section 5.29[Reserved] 54

Section 5.30EEA Financial Institution. 54

Section 5.31Margin Stocks. 54

Section 5.32Survival of Representations and Warranties 54

Section 5.33Beneficial Ownership Certification 54

ARTICLE 6AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS OF THE BORROWERS 54

Section 6.1Payment of Loan Obligations 55

Section 6.2Payment of Taxes 55

Section 6.3Delivery of Financial and Other Statements 55

Section 6.4Maintenance of Records; Review by the Administrative Agent 56

Section 6.5Maintenance of Insurance Coverage 57

Section 6.6Maintenance of Property/Collateral; Performance of Contracts 57

Section 6.7Maintenance of Existence 57

Section 6.8Maintenance of Certain Deposit Accounts with the Administrative Agent 57

Section 6.9[Reserved] 57

Section 6.10Disclosure of Defaults, Etc. 57

Section 6.11Security Perfection; Assignment of Claims Act; Payment of Costs 58

Section 6.12Defense of Title to Collateral 59

Section 6.13Compliance with Law 59

Section 6.14Other Collateral Covenants 59

Section 6.15Financial Covenants of the Borrowers 61

Section 6.16Interest Rate Contracts 62
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Section 6.17Landlord Waivers; Subordination 62

Section 6.18Substitute Notes 62

Section 6.19Inventory 62

Section 6.20Insurance With Respect to Equipment and Inventory 63

Section 6.21Hazardous Substance; Hazardous Waste 63

Section 6.22Disaster Recovery and Contingency Program 63

Section 6.23Data Security 63

Section 6.24Further Assurances; Additional Requested Information 63

ARTICLE 7NEGATIVE COVENANTS OF THE BORROWERS 64

Section 7.1Change of Control; Disposition of Assets; Merger 64

Section 7.2Margin Stocks 66

Section 7.3Change of Operations 66

Section 7.4Judgments; Attachments 66

Section 7.5Further Assignments; Performance and Modification of Contracts; etc. 66

Section 7.6Affect Rights of the Administrative Agent or Lenders 66

Section 7.7Indebtedness; Granting of Security Interests 67

Section 7.8Dividends; Loans; Advances; Investments and Similar Events 68

Section 7.9Lease Obligations 69

Section 7.10Certain Agreements; Etc. 69

Section 7.11Lockbox Deposits 70

Section 7.12Sale and Leaseback Transactions; Other Agreements 70

Section 7.13Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliates 70

Section 7.14Anti-Terrorism Laws 70

ARTICLE 8COLLATERAL AND OTHER DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS 70

ARTICLE 9DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 71

Section 9.1Events of Default 71

Section 9.2Remedies 73

ARTICLE 10THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT; AGENCY 75

Section 10.1Appointment 75

Section 10.2General Nature of Administrative Agent’s Duties 75

Section 10.3Exercise of Powers 75

Section 10.4General Exculpatory Provisions 76

Section 10.5Administration by the Administrative Agent 77

Section 10.6Lenders Not Relying on the Administrative Agent or Other Lenders 78

Section 10.7Indemnification 78

Section 10.8Administrative Agent in its Individual Capacity 78

Section 10.9Holders of Notes 78

Section 10.10Successor Administrative Agent 79

Section 10.11Additional Agents 79

Section 10.12Calculations 79

Section 10.13Funding by the Administrative Agent 79

Section 10.14Benefit of Article 81

Section 10.15Field Audits and Examination Reports; Confidentiality; Disclaimers by Lenders; Other Reports and Information 81

Section 10.16Replacement of Lenders 82
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Section 10.17Defaulting Lender Provisions 83

Section 10.18Certain ERISA Matters 84

Section 10.19Erroneous Payments 85

ARTICLE 11CERTAIN ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS REGARDING THE COLLATERAL 87

Section 11.1Power of Attorney 87

Section 11.2Lockbox 88

Section 11.3Other Agreements 88

ARTICLE 12MISCELLANEOUS 88

Section 12.1Remedies Cumulative 88

Section 12.2Waiver 88

Section 12.3Notices 89

Section 12.4Entire Agreement; Amendment and Restatement; Severability 90

Section 12.5Relationship of the Parties 90

Section 12.6Waiver of Jury Trial and Certain Damages 90

Section 12.7Submission to Jurisdiction; Service of Process; Venue 91

Section 12.8Changes in Capital Requirements 91

Section 12.9Other Agents, Arrangers, Managers 91

Section 12.10Modification and Waiver 92

Section 12.11Transferability 92

Section 12.12Governing Law; Binding Effect 93

Section 12.13Announcements 93

Section 12.14Joint and Several Liability 94

Section 12.15Materiality 94

Section 12.16Allowed Delay 94

Section 12.17Reliance on the Administrative Agent 94

Section 12.18The Patriot Act 94

Section 12.19Counterparts 94

Section 12.20Taxes 94

Section 12.21Indemnity 95

Section 12.22Acknowledgement Regarding any Supported QFCs. 96

Section 12.23Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financial Institutions. 96
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Exhibit 1    Form of Request for Advance and Certification
Exhibit 1(a)     Form of Request for Swing Line Loan Advance
Exhibit 2     Interest Election Form and Certification
Exhibit 3     Interest Election Procedure and Requirements
Exhibit 4     [Reserved]
Exhibit 5     Form of Quarterly Covenant Compliance/Non-Default Certificate
Exhibit 6     Form of Joinder Agreement
Exhibit 7     Pricing Grid
Exhibit 8     Form of Assignment and Acceptance Agreement
Exhibit 9    Form of Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement
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Exhibit 10    Form of Authorization

SCHEDULES

Schedule A-1    Borrowers
Schedule A-2    Foreign Borrowers
Schedule A-3    Non-Borrower Affiliates
Schedule B    Permitted Foreign Bank Accounts
Schedule C    [Reserved]
Schedule D    [Reserved]
Schedule E    Healthcare and Dependent Care Accounts

Schedule 1    Lender Commitments/Percentages
Schedule 2    Principal Places of Business/Books and Records Location(s)
Schedule 5.1    Existence and Qualification
Schedule 5.2    Conflicts
Schedule 5.3    Financial Statements
Schedule 5.6(a)    Default under Government Contracts
Schedule 5.6(b)    Government Contracts Constituting Material Contracts
Schedule 5.9    Litigation and Proceedings
Schedule 5.11     Primary U.S. Business Locations
Schedule 5.13(a)    Under Funded Pension Plans
Schedule 5.13(b)    Non-Exempt ERISA Transactions
Schedule 5.13(c)    Terminated Pension Plans
Schedule 5.15 (a)    Intellectual Property
Schedule 5.15(b)    Intellectual Property Royalty Payments
Schedule 5.17    Interests in Real Estate
Schedule 5.18    Labor Agreements
Schedule 5.26    Commercial Tort Claims
Schedule 5.27    Letter of Credit Rights
Schedule 7.7(a)     Existing Indebtedness
Schedule 7.7(a)(vi)     Liens Securing Indebtedness
Schedule 7.8(c)     Existing Loans, Advances and/or Investments (to non-Borrowers)

FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BUSINESS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BUSINESS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT is executed as of January 5, 2018, and is by and among (a) CITIZENS BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO CITIZENS BANK OF PENNSYLVANIA, a Pennsylvania state chartered bank), together with its successors and assigns
(“Citizens Bank”), acting in the capacity of Lender, Swing Line Lender, and as Administrative Agent for the Lenders; (b) certain other “Lender” parties to this Fourth Amended and
Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement from time to time; (c) VSE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, and certain other “Borrower” parties to this Fourth Amended
and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement from time to time; and (d) CITIZENS BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as sole and exclusive lead arranger and sole and
exclusive book running manager.

WITNESSETHTHAT:

WHEREAS, pursuant to a certain Third Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 28, 2015 (as heretofore amended, modified or
restated from time to time, the “Existing Loan Agreement”) by and among certain of the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and certain of the Lenders, certain of the Borrowers
obtained loans and certain other financial accommodations (collectively, the “Existing Loan”) from certain of the Lenders in the original aggregate maximum principal amount of
Three Hundred Million and No/100 Dollars ($300,000,000.00);

WHEREAS, on the Restatement Date, the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agreed to further increase the aggregate maximum principal amount of
the Existing Loan from Three Hundred Million and No/100 Dollars ($300,000,000.00) to Four Hundred Million and No/100 Dollars ($400,000,000.00), subject to further increase (or
reduction) as specified herein, and amend and restate the Existing Loan Agreement, in its entirety, as hereinafter provided;
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WHEREAS, on the First Amendment Effective Date, the Borrowers have requested, and the Lenders have agreed, to provide to the Borrowers (i) a new term loan in an
aggregate principal amount equal to One Hundred Twenty-Three Million Three Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($123,300,000.00) that will be used, in part, refinance in full
the term loan as in effect immediately prior to the First Amendment Effective Date and (ii) additional revolving loan commitments in an aggregate principal amount equal to Fifty
Million and No/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00);

WHEREAS, on the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrowers have requested, and the Lenders have agreed, to provide to the Borrowers a new term loan in an
aggregate principal amount equal to One Hundred Million and No/100 Dollars ($100,000,000.00) that will be used, in part, to refinance in full the term loan as in effect immediately
prior to the Fourth Amendment Effective Date; and

WHEREAS, on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrowers have requested, and the Lenders have agreed, to provide to the Borrowers a new term loan in an
aggregate principal amount equal to Ninety Million and No/100 Dollars ($90,000,000.00) that will be used, together with other available funds, to finance the Desser Acquisition.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree, represent and warrant as follows:

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, the terms set forth below shall have the following definitions:

“Account Debtor” shall mean any Person who is indebted to one (1) or more of the Borrowers for the payment of any Receivable.

“Accounts” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing: (a) all
accounts receivable, other receivables, book debts and other forms of obligations (including any such obligations that may be characterized as an account or contract right

under the UCC, but excluding forms of obligations evidenced by Chattel Paper, or Instruments), (b) all rights in, to and under all purchase orders or receipts for goods or services, (c)
all rights to any goods represented by any of the foregoing (including unpaid sellers' rights of rescission, replevin, reclamation and stoppage in transit and rights to returned,
reclaimed or repossessed goods), (d) all rights to payment due for property sold, leased, licensed, assigned or otherwise disposed of, for a policy of insurance issued or to be issued,
for a secondary obligation incurred or to be incurred, for energy provided or to be provided, for the use or hire of a vessel under a charter or other contract, arising out of the use of
a credit card or charge card, or for services rendered or to be rendered in connection with any other transaction (whether or not yet earned by performance), (e) all “health care
insurance receivables”, as such term is defined in the UCC and (f) all collateral security of any kind, given by any Person with respect to any of the foregoing.

“ADA” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 5.14(a) of this Agreement.

“Additional Base Rate Interest Margin” shall be the percentage as calculated and determined pursuant to Section 1.4(b) of this Agreement and Exhibit 7 attached
hereto.

“Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin” shall be the percentage as calculated and determined pursuant to Section 1.4(b) of this Agreement and Exhibit 7
attached hereto.

“Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin” shall be the percentage as calculated and determined pursuant to Section 1.4(b) of this Agreement and Exhibit 7
attached hereto.

“Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin” shall be the percentage as calculated and determined pursuant to Section 1.4(b) of this Agreement and Exhibit 7 attached
hereto.

“Adjusted Daily Simple RFR”shall mean, for any day (an “RFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to, for any Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts
denominated in, or calculated with respect to Sterling, the greater of (a) the sum of (i) SONIA for the day (such day, a “Sterling RFR Determination Day”) that is five (5) RFR Business
Days prior to (A) if such RFR Rate Day is an RFR Business Day, such RFR Rate Day or (B) if such RFR Rate Day is not an RFR Business Day, the RFR Business Day immediately preceding
such RFR Rate Day, in each case, as such SONIA is published by the SONIA Administrator on the SONIA Administrator’s Website; provided that if by 5:00 p.m. (London time) on the
second (2nd) RFR Business Day immediately following any Sterling RFR Determination Day, SONIA in respect of such Sterling RFR Determination Day has not been published on the
SONIA Administrator’s Website and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Sterling has not occurred, then SONIA for such Sterling RFR
Determination Day will be SONIA as published in respect of the first preceding RFR Business Day for which such SONIA was published on the SONIA Administrator’s Website;
providedfurther that SONIA as determined pursuant to this proviso shall be utilized for purposes of calculation of Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for no more than three (3) consecutive
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RFR Rate Days and (ii) the SONIA Adjustment and (b) the Floor. Any change in Adjusted Daily Simple RFR due to a change in the applicable RFR shall be effective from and including
the effective date of such change in the RFR without notice to the Borrowers.

“Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate” shall mean, as to any Loan denominated in any applicable Alternative Currency not bearing interest based on an RFR (which, as of the
Fourth Amendment Effective Date, shall mean Euros) for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the Eurocurrency Rate for such Currency for such Interest
Period divided by (b) one minus the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage. The Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate for each outstanding Loan shall be adjusted automatically as of the
effective date of any change in the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage.

“Administrative Agent” shall mean Citizens Bank or any of its affiliates, acting in its capacity as agent for the Lenders, or any successor Administrative Agent
appointed pursuant to Section 10.10 of this Agreement.

“Affected Financial Institution” shall mean (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial Institution.

“Affiliate” shall mean, as to any Person, any other Person which, directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person, or
which owns, directly or indirectly, ten percent (10%) or more of the outstanding equity interests of any Person.

2

“Affirmative Covenant” shall mean any affirmative or similar obligation, agreement or covenant (other than a Negative Covenant) made by the Borrowers set forth
in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document.

“Agreement” or “Loan Agreement” shall mean this Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, together with the schedules and exhibits
attached hereto from time to time, and any and all amendments or modifications of this Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement or the schedules
and exhibits attached hereto from time to time.

“Aircraft Object” shall have the meaning provided for the term “aircraft object” in the Cape Town Treaty.

“All-In Yield” means, as to any Indebtedness, the yield thereof, whether in the form of interest rate, margin, original issue discount, upfront or commitment fees paid
to the lenders thereof, an interest rate floor (with such increased amount being equated to interest margins for purposes of determining any increase to the Applicable Interest
Rate), or otherwise; provided that original issue discount and upfront or commitment fees paid to lenders shall be equated to interest rate assuming a 4-year life to maturity (or, if
less, the stated life to maturity at the time of its incurrence of the applicable Indebtedness); and provided, further, that “All-In Yield” shall not include arrangement fees, structuring
fees or underwriting or similar fees paid solely to arrangers for or underwriters of such Indebtedness.

“Alternative Currency” means Euro, Sterling and, solely with respect to the issuances of Letters of Credit, each other currency (other than Dollars) that is approved in
accordance with The Interpretive Provisions Section of this Agreement.

“Alternative Currency Loan” means a revolving Loan made to a Borrower pursuant to this Agreement in an Alternative Currency.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means any and all laws, rules and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to any and all VSE Entities from time to time concerning or relating
to bribery or corruption.

“Applicable Indebtedness” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the definition of “Weighted Average Life to Maturity”.

“Applicable Interest Rate” shall mean, as applicable (based upon whether the Loan was advanced under the Term Facility, Fifth Amendment Term Facility, Revolving
Facility, or Swing Line Facility) and as of any particular date of determination, (a) the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, plus the applicable Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin,
(b) the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate, plus the applicable Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin, (c) Term SOFR plus the applicable Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin, (d) the
Base Rate, plus the applicable Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, or (e) the Swing Line Rate, plus the applicable Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, in each case, as more
particularly set forth in Section 1.4 of this Agreement and Exhibit 7 attached hereto. However, if at any time, the interest rate payable pursuant to this Loan Agreement shall exceed
the maximum rate of interest that may be charged under Applicable Laws, then the interest rate payable hereunder shall be reduced to the maximum percentage that may be
lawfully charged under Applicable Laws.

“Applicable Laws” shall mean any and all federal, state or local laws, ordinances, statutes, rules or regulations to which any VSE Entity or the property of any VSE Entity
is subject, whether domestic or international.

“Authorization” shall mean a written authorization in the form of Exhibit 10 attached hereto.
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“Available Tenor” shall mean, as of any date of determination and with respect to any then-current Benchmark for any Currency, as applicable, (a) if such Benchmark
is a term rate, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement or (b)
otherwise, any payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining any frequency of making
payments of interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, in each case, as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is
then-removed from the definition of “Interest Period” pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached hereto.

“Bail-In Action” shall mean the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected
Financial Institution.

3

“Bail-In Legislation” shall mean, (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the
Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation, rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In
Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or
rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through
liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Base Rate” shall mean the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, plus 1/2 of 1%, (b) the Prime Rate and (c) the
sum of Term SOFR for a one-month Interest Period, as of any applicable date of determination, plus the difference between the Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin for SOFR
Rate Loans and the Additional Base Rate Interest Margin for Base Rate Loans; provided, that if the Base Rate is less than 0.00%, it shall be deemed equal to 0.00%.  Any loan bearing
interest at the Base Rate is referred to herein as a “Base Rate Loan”.

“Base Rate Loan” has the meaning attributed to such term in the definition of “Base Rate”.

“Benchmark” shall mean, initially, with respect to any (a) Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts denominated in, or calculated with respect to,
Dollars, the Term SOFR Reference Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate or then-current Benchmark for
Dollars, then “Benchmark” means, with respect to such Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts, the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such
Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached hereto, (b) Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts
denominated in, or calculated with respect to, Sterling, Adjusted Daily Simple RFR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to such Adjusted Daily
Simple RFR or the then-current Benchmark for such Currency, then “Benchmark” means, with respect to such Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts, the
applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached hereto and (c)
Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts denominated in, or calculated with respect to Euros, EURIBOR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has
occurred with respect to EURIBOR, or the then-current Benchmark for such Currency, then “Benchmark” means, with respect to such Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or
other amounts, the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached
hereto.

“Benchmark Replacement”shall mean, with respect to any Benchmark Transition Event for any then-current Benchmark, the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark
rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers as the replacement for such Benchmark giving due consideration to (i) any selection or
recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing
market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for such Benchmark for syndicated credit facilities denominated in the applicable Currency at such time and
(b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; provided that, if such Benchmark Replacement as so determined would be less than the Floor, such Benchmark Replacement
will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment”shall mean, with respect to any replacement of any then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement
for any applicable Available Tenor, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero)
that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant
Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread
adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for syndicated credit facilities denominated in the applicable
Currency.

“Benchmark Replacement Date”shall mean the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark for any Currency:

(a)    in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced
therein and (ii) the date on which the
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4

administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such
Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(b)    in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the first date on which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation
thereof) has been determined and announced by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be non-representative; provided that such non-representativeness will be determined by reference to the most
recent statement or publication referenced in such clause (c) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such
date.

For the avoidance of doubt, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (a) or (b) with respect to any Benchmark upon the
occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Event”shall mean with respect to the then-current Benchmark for any Currency, the occurrence of one or more of the following events with
respect to such Benchmark:

(a)    a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof)
announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely; provided
that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component
thereof);

(b)    a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof), the FRB, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, the central bank for the Currency applicable to such Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an
entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or
such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of
such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(c)    a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof)
or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such
Benchmark (or such component thereof) are not, or as of a specified future date will not be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of
information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Start Date” shall mean, with respect to any Benchmark for any Currency, in the case of a Benchmark Transition Event, the earlier of (a) the
applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and (b) if such Benchmark Transition Event is a public statement or publication of information of a prospective event, the 90th day prior
to the expected date of such event as of such public statement or publication of information (or if the expected date of such prospective event is fewer than 90 days after such
statement or publication, the date of such statement or publication).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period”means, with respect to any then-current Benchmark for any Currency, the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a
Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to such Benchmark pursuant to clauses (a) or (b) of that definition has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has
replaced such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Exhibit 3 attached hereto and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark
Replacement has replaced such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Exhibit 3 attached hereto.

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” shall mean a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” shall mean 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.
5
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“Bid and Performance Bond Limit” shall mean Seven Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($7,500,000.00).

“Blocked Person” shall mean any Person described in Section 1 of the Anti-Terrorism Order (Executive Order No. 13224).

“Borrower” and “Borrowers” shall mean, individually or collectively, as the context may require, one or more of the following VSE Entities: the Primary Operating
Company, the Foreign Borrowers, the entities listed on Schedule A-1 attached hereto, and each other VSE Entity which, as of any date of determination, is a “Borrower” party to this
Agreement and/or, as applicable, the other Loan Documents.

“Business Day” shall mean any day which is neither a Saturday or Sunday nor a legal holiday or a day on which any commercial banks are authorized or required to be
closed in New York City or a day on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York is closed.

“Cape Town Treaty” means The Convention on International Interest in Mobile Equipment, concluded in Cape Town, South Africa on November 16, 2001 (utilizing the
English-language version thereof) together with The Protocol to the Convention on International Interests in Mobile Equipment on Matters Specific to Aircraft Equipment, concluded in
Cape Town, South Africa, on November 16, 2001 (utilizing the English-language version thereof).

“Capital Lease Obligations” of any Person shall mean all obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement
conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital or finance leases on a
balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP.

“CERCLA” shall mean the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 9601 et seq.).

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following: (i) with respect to the Primary Operating Company (a) any person or group of persons (within the
meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of forty-five percent (45%) or more of the issued and outstanding Voting Stock of the Primary Operating
Company, or (b) during any period of twenty-four (24) consecutive calendar months, individuals who, at the beginning of such period, constituted the board of directors of the
Primary Operating Company (together with any new directors whose election by the board of directors of the Primary Operating Company or whose nomination for election by
the stockholders of the Primary Operating Company was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of
such period or whose elections or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason (other than death or disability) to constitute a majority of the directors
then in office, and (ii) with respect to every other VSE Entity, the Primary Operating Company shall cease to beneficially own and control, directly or indirectly, one hundred percent
(100%), on a fully diluted basis, of the economic and voting interests in the capital stock of such VSE Entity, except in connection with a transaction not otherwise prohibited
hereunder.

“Chattel Paper” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include “electronic chattel paper” and “tangible chattel paper”, as such terms are
defined in the UCC, whether now or hereafter existing.

“Citizens Bank” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble of this Agreement.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and as in effect from time to time.

“Collateral” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 3.1 of this Agreement.

“Collateral Account” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Article 8 of this Agreement.

“Commercial Contract” shall mean any written contract to which a VSE Entity is a party (other than a Government Contract or Government Subcontract) which gives
rise or may give rise to Receivables.

6

“Commercial Tort Claims” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all claims now existing or hereafter arising in tort
with respect to which (a) the claimant is an organization, or (b) the claimant is an individual and the claim (i) arose in the course of the claimant’s business or profession, and (ii) does
not include damages arising out of personal injury to or death of any individual.

“Commitment Amount” shall mean Five Hundred Thirty-Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($535,000,000.00), on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date; provided,
however, that for purposes of making any calculation under this Agreement, the term “Commitment Amount” shall mean, as of any other date of determination, an amount equal
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to the sum of (a) the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount, plus (b) the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Term Facility owing to the applicable Lender(s), plus (c) the
aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Fifth Amendment Term Facility owing to the applicable Lender(s), and plus (d) the aggregate amount of all Incremental Revolving
Facility Commitments and/or Incremental Term Facility Commitments established prior to and remaining in effect as of such date of determination.

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.

“Conforming Changes” shall mean, with respect to the use or administration of an initial Benchmark or the use, administration, adoption or implementation of any
Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of “Base Rate”, the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of
“RFR Business Day,” the definition of “Interest Period” or any similar or analogous definition (or the addition of a concept of “interest period”), timing and frequency of determining
rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods, the
applicability of Exhibit 3 attached hereto and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent (in consultation with the Primary Operating
Company) decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of any such rate or to permit the use and administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in
a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible
or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of any such rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent
decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).

“Contribution Agreement” shall mean that certain Second Amended and Restated Contribution Agreement dated of even date herewith, by and among the
Borrowers, and delivered by the Borrowers to the Administrative Agent prior to or simultaneously with their execution and delivery of this Agreement or a Joinder Agreement (as
the case may be), together with any and all permitted amendments and modifications thereof.

“Currencies” means Dollars and each Alternative Currency, and “Currency” means any of such Currencies.

“Daily Simple RFR Loan” shall mean any Loan that bears interest at a rate based onAdjusted Daily Simple RFR.

“Data Breach” shall mean any unauthorized or unlawful access and/or use of Personal Information.

“Defaulting Lender” shall mean, subject to Section 10.16 of this Agreement, any Lender that, as determined by the Administrative Agent, (a) has failed to perform any
of its funding obligations hereunder, including in respect of its Loans or participations in respect of Letters of Credit or Swing Line Loans, within three (3) Business Days of the date
required to be funded by it hereunder, other than with respect to a good faith dispute; (b) has notified the Borrowers and the Administrative Agent that it does not intend or
expect to comply with its funding obligations or has made a public statement to that effect with respect to its funding obligations hereunder or under other agreements in which it
commits to extend credit, other than with respect to a good faith dispute; (c) has failed, within three (3) Business Days after request by the Administrative Agent, to confirm in a
manner satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that it will comply with its funding obligations, other than with respect to a good faith dispute; or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect
parent company that has, after the Restatement Date, (i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Applicable Law for the relief of debtors, (ii) had a receiver, conservator,
trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or a custodian appointed for it, (iii) taken any
action in furtherance of, or indicated its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender
solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a Government; or (iv) become the subject
of a Bail-in Action; provided, that, in each case upon
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the Administrative Agent having knowledge that any Lender is a Defaulting Lender, the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrowers in writing.

“Default Rate” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the sum of the Base Rate, plus the Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, plus two percent (2.00%) per
annum.

“Deposit Accounts” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all demand, time, savings, passbook or similar account(s)
from time to time established and maintained with a bank.

“Desser Acquisition” shall mean the acquisition by the Borrowers of 100% of the equity interests of Desser-Graham Partnership, L.P., pursuant to the Desser
Acquisition Documents.

“Desser Acquisition Documents” shall mean all of the material executed documentation relating to the Desser Acquisition.

“Documents” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all documents of any type and nature, whether now or hereafter
existing.
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“Dollar”,“Dollars” and “$” shall mean the lawful money of the United States, and as the context may require in accordance with this Agreement, shall also mean the
Dollar Equivalent of any Alternative Currency.

“Dollar Equivalent” means, at any time, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in U.S. Dollars, such amount, and (b) with respect to any amount denominated
in any Alternative Currency, the equivalent amount thereof in Dollars as determined by the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as the case may be, at such time on the basis of
the Spot Rates (determined in respect of the most recent Revaluation Date) for the purchase of Dollars with such Alternative Currency.

“e-mail” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 12.3 of this Agreement.

“EBITDA” shall mean, with respect to the VSE Entities for any period of determination, the sum of their (a) net profit (or loss) determined in accordance with GAAP
consistently applied, plus (b) net interest expense and income tax provisions for such period, to the extent deducted in the calculation of net profit (or loss), plus (c) depreciation
and amortization of assets for such period, to the extent deducted in the calculation of net profit (or loss), plus (d) non-cash stock compensation that does not represent a reserve
for future cash payments, to the extent deducted in the calculation of net profit (or loss), plus (e) non-cash charges that do not represent a reserve for future cash payments, as
approved in writing by the Administrative Agent prior to the next due date of the particular Compliance Certificate as required under Sections 6.3(c) of this Agreement, plus (f) any
fees, expenses or charges related to any issuance of equity interests, investment, acquisition, disposition, recapitalization or the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness
permitted to be incurred by this Agreement (in each case including a refinancing thereof) (whether or not successful), including such fees, expenses or charges related to this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, plus (g) solely for the testing periods ending March 31, 2023, June 30, 2023, and September 30, 2023, a one-time, non-recurring contract
loss not to exceed $4,100,000 in any such testing period, minus (h) any non-cash gains to the extent included in Net Income. EBITDA shall be determined on a rolling basis, based on
the four (4) consecutive Fiscal Quarters then ended. EBITDA from any Permitted Acquisitions will be included on a pro forma basis as such amounts may be deemed acceptable to
the Administrative Agent in its sole but reasonable discretion. EBITDA shall be calculated giving pro forma effect for any disposed, abandoned or discontinued operations
(excluding held-for-sale discontinued operations until actually disposed of).

“EEA Financial Institution” shall mean (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an
EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial
institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a Subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) and/or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated
supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” shall mean any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” shall mean any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country
(including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

8

“Eligible Assignee” shall mean any Lender who is not a Defaulting Lender, an Affiliate of any Lender who is not a Defaulting Lender, a Federal Reserve Bank or any
other “Qualified Institutional Buyer”, as such term is defined under Rule 144(A), promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, any national or state banking institution
or, with respect to the Term Loans, any other financial institution that purchases or makes loans in the ordinary course of business; provided that no natural Person, holding
company, investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of, a natural Person, nor the Borrowers nor any of the Borrowers’ Affiliates or Subsidiaries
may be an Eligible Assignee.

“Equalization Payments” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.13(a) of this Agreement.

“Equipment” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing: machinery
and equipment, including processing equipment, conveyors, machine tools, data processing and computer equipment, including embedded software and peripheral equipment
and all engineering, processing and manufacturing equipment, office machinery, furniture, materials handling equipment, tools, attachments, accessories, automotive equipment,
trailers, trucks, forklifts, molds, dies, stamps, motor vehicles, rolling stock and other equipment of every kind and nature, trade fixtures and fixtures not forming a part of real
property, together with all additions and accessions thereto, replacements therefor, all parts therefor, all substitutes for any of the foregoing, fuel therefor, and all manuals,
drawings, instructions, warranties and rights with respect thereto, and all products and proceeds thereof and condemnation awards and insurance proceeds with respect thereto.

“ERISA” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 5.13(a) of this Agreement.

“ERISA Affiliate” shall mean with respect to any Borrower, any Person which, together with such Borrower, is under common control, constitutes a member of such
Borrower’s controlled group, constitutes a member of such Borrower’s affiliated service group or is otherwise required to be treated as a single employer with such Borrower
pursuant to Sections 4001(a)(14) or (b) of ERISA and/or Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

65/142

“Erroneous Payment” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.19(a) of this Agreement.

“Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.19(d) of this Agreement.

“Erroneous Payment Impacted Class” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.19(d) of this Agreement.

“Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.19(d) of this Agreement.

“Erroneous Payment Subrogation Rights” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.19(d) of this Agreement.

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” shall mean the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect
from time to time.

“EURIBOR” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the definition of “Eurocurrency Rate”.

“Euro” means the lawful currency of the participating member states introduced in accordance with the legislative measures of the European Council for the
introduction of, changeover to or operation of a single or unified European currency.

“Eurocurrency Rate” shall mean, for any Eurocurrency Rate Loan for any Interest Period:

(a) denominated in Euros, the greater of (i)  the rate per annum equal to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) as administered by the European Money
Markets Institute (or any other Person that takes over

9

administration of such rate) for a period equal in length to such Interest Period, as displayed on the applicable Bloomberg page (or on any successor or substitute page or service
providing such quotations as determined by the Administrative Agent from time to time) at approximately 11:00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the applicable Rate Determination Date
and (ii) the Floor; and

(b) if applicable and approved by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to the Interpretive Provisions Section of this Agreement, denominated in any
other Currency (other than Euros or Sterling), the rate designated with respect to such Currency at the time such currency is approved by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders
pursuant to the Interpretive Provisions Section of this Agreement.

“Eurocurrency Rate Loan” shall mean any Loan bearing interest at a rate based on the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate.

“Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage” shall mean, for any day during any Interest Period, the reserve percentage in effect on such day, whether or not applicable to
any Lender, under regulations issued from time to time by the Federal Reserve Board for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including any emergency, special,
supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement) with respect to eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D) or any other reserve
ratio or analogous requirement of any central banking or financial regulatory authority imposed in respect of the maintenance of the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount or
the funding of the Loans.

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 9.1 of this Agreement.

“Excess Cash Event” shall mean (a) any sale or disposition of any of the assets of any VSE Entity which (i) is not in the ordinary course of business and results in Net
Cash proceeds, when combined with any and all other asset dispositions (other than Inventory sales in the ordinary course of business) that have occurred during the same Fiscal
Year, in excess of Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($500,000.00), in the aggregate; provided, that within 365 days of any such non-ordinary course sale or disposition, the
Borrowers shall be permitted to reinvest or commit to reinvest the net cash proceeds arising therefrom in assets used or useful in the business; provided, further that any such net
cash proceeds must be reinvested no later than 180 days after the end of such 365-day period or (ii) is prohibited by the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (b) the issuance by
any VSE Entity after the date of this Agreement of debt securities or other debt obligations (other than in connection with the Obligations and other Indebtedness permitted
pursuant to Section 7.7(a) of this Agreement); (c) the receipt by or on behalf of any VSE Entity of insurance proceeds (other than insurance recoveries for business interruption loss,
workers compensation or damage to tangible property, which, with respect to insurance recoveries for damage(s) to tangible property, are promptly applied toward repair or
replacement of the damaged property); and (d) the reversion of any pension plan assets.

“Excluded Swap Obligation” shall mean, with respect to any obligor, any Swap Obligation if, and to the extent that, all or a portion of the guaranty or liability of such
obligor of such Swap Obligation (or any guaranty thereof) is or becomes illegal under or otherwise violates the Commodity Exchange Act or any rule, regulation or order of the
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Commodity Futures Trading Commission (or the application or official interpretation of any thereof) by virtue of such obligor’s failure for any reason to constitute an “eligible
contract participant” as defined in the Commodity Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder at the time the guaranty or liability of such obligor becomes effective with respect
to such Swap Obligation. If a Swap Obligation arises under a master agreement governing more than one swap, such exclusion shall apply only to the portion of such Swap
Obligation that is attributable to swaps for which such guaranty or liability is or becomes illegal.

“Existing Loan” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

“Existing Loan Agreement” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

“Facility” or “Facilities” shall mean the Revolving Facility, the Term Facility, the Fifth Amendment Term Facility or the Swing Line Facility, individually or collectively, as
the context may require.

“FATCA” shall mean sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable
and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreements entered into pursuant to Section
1471(b)1) of the Code.
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“Federal Funds Rate” shall mean, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward to the nearest 1/8 of 1%) determined by the Administrative Agent to be the rate
per annum announced by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor) on such day as being the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal Funds
transactions on the previous trading day, as computed and announced by such Federal Reserve Bank (or any successor) in substantially the same manner as such Federal Reserve
Bank computes and announces the weighted average it refers to as the “Federal Funds Effective Rate” as of the date hereof; provided that if such Federal Reserve Bank (or its
successor) does not announce such rate on any day, the “Federal Funds Effective Rate” for such day shall be the Federal Funds Rate for the last day on which such rate was
announced.

“Fee Letter” shall mean that certain letter dated November 1, 2017 from the Administrative Agent to the Primary Operating Company relating to the Loan, which shall
specifically survive and not be superseded by the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

“Fifth Amendment” shall mean that certain Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement and First Amendment to
Consent, dated as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.

“Fifth Amendment Effective Date” shall mean July 3, 2023.

“Fifth Amendment Term Loans” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

“Fifth Amendment Term Facility” shall mean the term credit facility being extended pursuant to this Agreement in the original principal amount equal to the Fifth
Amendment Term Facility Commitment Amount.

“Fifth Amendment Term Facility Commitment Amount” shall mean Ninety Million Dollars ($90,000,000) as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, and Zero Dollars
($0) from and after the initial funding on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date.

“Financial Product Provider” shall mean any Lender party to this Agreement who, as of any applicable date of determination, is owed Permitted Financial Product
Obligations.

“First Amendment” shall mean that certain First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
the First Amendment Effective Date, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.

“First Amendment Effective Date” shall mean November 26, 2019.

“First Amendment Term Loans” shall mean the term loans originally made to the Borrowers on the First Amendment Effective Date in an initial aggregate amount of
$123,300,000.

“Fiscal Quarter” shall mean any quarterly period designated by the VSE Entities as a fiscal quarter for financial accounting purposes.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean any annual period designated by the VSE Entities as a fiscal year for financial accounting purposes.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

67/142

“Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 6.15(b) of this Agreement.

“Floor”shall mean 0.00% per annum.

“Foreign Borrower” and “Foreign Borrowers” shall mean, as of any date of determination and individually or collectively (as the context may require), any Borrower
not incorporated, formed or organized within the United States, and listed on Schedule A-2 attached hereto.

“Foreign Borrower Loan Request” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 1.3 of this Agreement.
11

“Foreign Subsidiary” and “Foreign Subsidiaries” shall mean, as of any date of determination and individually or collectively (as the context may require), each and
every Subsidiary of a VSE Entity that is not (a) incorporated, formed or organized within the United States, or (b) a Foreign Borrower.

“Fourth Amendment” shall mean that certain Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.

“Fourth Amendment Effective Date” shall mean October 7, 2022.

“Fourth Amendment Term Loans” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

“FRB” shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles.

“General Intangibles” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing: all
right, title and interest in, to or under any contract, all “payment intangibles”, as such term is defined by the UCC, customer lists, licenses, copyrights, trademarks, patents, and all
applications therefor and reissues, extensions or renewals thereof, rights in intellectual property, interests in partnerships, joint ventures and other business associations, licenses,
permits, copyrights, trade secrets, proprietary or confidential information, inventions (whether or not patented or patentable), technical information, procedures, designs,
knowledge, know how, software, data bases, data, skill, expertise, experience, processes, models, drawings, materials and records, goodwill (including the goodwill associated with
any trademark or trademark license), all rights and claims in, to or under insurance policies (including insurance for fire, damage, loss and casualty, whether covering personal
property, real property, tangible rights or intangible rights, all liability, life, key man and business interruption insurance, and all unearned premiums), uncertificated securities,
choses in action, deposit, checking and other bank accounts, rights to receive tax refunds and other payments, rights to receive dividends, distributions, cash, Instruments and
other property in respect of or in exchange for pledged stock and investment property, rights of indemnification, all books and records, correspondence, credit files, invoices and
other papers, including all tapes, cards, computer runs and other papers and documents.

“Goods” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all Goods whether now or hereafter existing.

“Governmental Authority” shall mean the government of the United States of America or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or
local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative
powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“Government” shall mean the United States government, any state government, any local government, any department, instrumentality or any agency of the United
States government, any state government or any local government.

“Government Contract Assignments” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 6.11 of this Agreement.

“Government Contract” and “Government Contracts” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context may require, (a) written contracts between any VSE
Entity and the Government and (b) written subcontracts between any VSE Entity and a Prime Contractor which is providing goods or services to the Government pursuant to a
written contract with the Government if the subcontract relates only to the scope of work being provided to the Government pursuant to the above-referenced written contract
with the Government (a “Government Subcontract”).

“Government Subcontract” shall have the meaning attributed to such term under the definition of “Government Contract”.

“Hazardous Substance” shall mean, without limitation, any flammable explosives, radon, radioactive materials, asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum and petroleum
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products, methane, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous or toxic substances, pollutants or contaminants as defined in CERCLA, HMTA, RCRA or any other applicable
environmental law, rule, order or regulation.

“Hazardous Wastes” shall mean, without limitation, all waste materials subject to regulation under CERCLA, RCRA or analogous state law, or any other applicable
federal and/or state law now in force or hereafter enacted relating to hazardous waste treatment or disposal.

“Healthcare and Dependent Care Accounts” shall mean those accounts listed on Schedule E attached hereto (and any future accounts meeting the following
criteria) which: (i) are used by the VSE Entities solely for purposes of deposits and distributions for healthcare and dependent care benefits payable to employees of such VSE
Entities in the ordinary course of business; and (ii) are not subject to any liens or encumbrances (other than Permitted Liens).

“Hedging Contracts” shall mean interest rate swap agreements (as defined in 11 U.S.C. Section 101), interest rate cap agreements and interest rate collar agreements,
or any other agreements or arrangements entered into between any Borrower and the Administrative Agent, a Lender or an Affiliate thereof from time to time and designed to
protect such Borrower against fluctuations in interest rates or currency exchange rates.

“Hedging Obligations” shall mean all present and future liabilities, repayment obligations and other obligations of any and all of the Borrowers to the Administrative
Agent, a Lender or an Affiliate thereof under Hedging Contracts.

“HMTA” shall mean the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 U.S.C. Sections 5101 et seq.).

“Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement” shall mean an Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement in the form and substance of Exhibit 9 attached hereto.

“Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment” shall mean the commitment of any Lender, established pursuant to Section 1.8 of this Agreement, to make
additional Revolving Loans available to the Borrowers after the Restatement Date.

“Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment Amount” shall mean, as of any date of determination, (a) with respect to any Incremental Revolving Facility Lender,
the aggregate maximum amount of all Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments of such Incremental Revolving Facility Lender then in effect, and (b) with respect to all
Incremental Revolving Facility Lenders, the aggregate maximum amount of all Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments of such Incremental Revolving Facility Lenders then in
effect.

“Incremental Revolving Facility Lender” shall mean, as of any date of determination, a Lender with an Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment then in effect.

“Incremental Revolving Facility Upfront Fee” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 1.7(a) of this Agreement.

“Incremental Term Facility Commitment” shall mean the commitment of any Lender, established pursuant to Section 1.9 of this Agreement, to make additional
Term Loans available to the Borrowers after the Restatement Date.

“Incremental Term Facility Commitment Amount” shall mean, as of any date of determination, (a) with respect to any Incremental Term Facility Lender, the
aggregate maximum amount of all Incremental Term Facility Commitments of such Incremental Term Facility Lender then in effect, and (b) with respect to all Incremental Term
Facility Lenders, the aggregate maximum amount of all Incremental Term Facility Commitments of such Incremental Term Facility Lenders then in effect. The Incremental Term
Facility Commitment Amount of each Incremental Term Facility Lender will be reduced to Zero Dollars ($0) and the Incremental Term Facility Commitment of any such Lender will
no longer be in effect from and after the funding of the additional Term Loans reflected by such outstanding Incremental Term Facility Commitments.

“Incremental Term Facility Lender” shall mean, as of any date of determination, a Lender with an Incremental Term Facility Commitment then in effect.
13
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“Incremental Term Facility Upfront Fee” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 1.7(a) of this Agreement.

“Indebtedness” shall mean, without duplication, and as of the date on which Indebtedness is to be determined, (a) Indebtedness for borrowed money or for the
deferred purchase price of property or services, (b) any obligations in respect of letters of credit, banker’s or other acceptances or similar obligations, (c) Lease Obligations with
respect to Capital Lease Obligations, (d) all liabilities secured by any lien on any property owned by a Person, to the extent attached to such Person’s interest in such property, even
though such Person has not assumed or become personally liable for the payment thereof (it being understood that, unless such Person shall have assumed or become liable for
the payment of such Indebtedness, the amount of such Indebtedness shall be the lesser of (i) the fair market value of the asset securing such Indebtedness and (ii) the stated
principal amount of such Indebtedness), (e) obligations of third parties which are being guarantied or indemnified against by a Person or which are secured by the property of a
Person, (f) any obligation under an employee stock ownership plan or other similar employee benefit plan, (g) any obligation to a multi-employer plan, and (h) any obligations,
liabilities or indebtedness, contingent or otherwise, under or in connection with, any Hedging Obligations; but excluding trade and other accounts payable in the ordinary course of
business in accordance with customary trade terms and which are not overdue (as determined in accordance with customary trade practices) or which are being disputed in good
faith and for which adequate reserves are being provided in accordance with GAAP.

“Instrument” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing: all
certificates of deposit, and all “promissory notes,” as such term is defined by the UCC, and other evidences of indebtedness (other than instruments that constitute, or are a part of
a group of writings that constitute, Chattel Paper).

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean, (a) as to any Loan other than a Base Rate Loan or Daily Simple RFR Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to such
Loan and the Maturity Date; provided, however, that if any Interest Period for a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or SOFR Rate Loan exceeds three months, the respective dates that fall
every three months after the beginning of such Interest Period shall also be Interest Payment Dates; and (b) as to any Base Rate Loan (including a Swing Line Loan) or Daily Simple
RFR Loan, the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December and the Maturity Date.

“Interest Period” shall mean, relative to any Eurocurrency Rate Loans or SOFR Rate Loans, (a) initially, the period beginning on (and including) the date on which such
Eurocurrency Rate Loan or SOFR Rate Loan is made or continued as, or converted into, a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or SOFR Rate Loan pursuant to this Agreement (including Exhibit
3 attached hereto) and the Notes and ending on (but excluding) the day which numerically corresponds to such date one (1), three (3) or six (6) months thereafter (or, if such
month has no numerically corresponding day, on the last Business Day of such month), in each case as the Borrowers may select in its notice pursuant to this Agreement (including
Exhibit 3 attached hereto) and the Notes; and (b) thereafter, each period commencing on the last day of the next preceding Interest Period applicable to such Eurocurrency Rate
Loan or SOFR Rate Loan and ending one (1), three (3) or six (6) months thereafter, as selected by the Borrowers by irrevocable notice to the Administrative Agent not less than
three (3) RFR Business Days prior to the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto. Any Interest Period that would otherwise end on a day that is not a
Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the
next preceding Business Day. No tenor that has been removed from this definition pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached hereto shall be available for specification in any Request for
Advance and Certification or Interest Rate Election Form and Certification.

“Interest Rate Election Form and Certification” shall mean the form of Exhibit 2 attached hereto.

“Inventory” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing: all inventory,
merchandise, goods and other personal property for sale or lease or are furnished or are to be furnished under a contract of service, or that constitute raw materials, work in
process, finished goods, returned goods, or materials or supplies of any kind, nature or description used or consumed or to be used or consumed or in the processing, production,
packaging, promotion, delivery or shipping of the same, including all supplies and embedded software.

“Investment Property” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing:
(a) all securities, whether certificated or uncertificated, including stocks, bonds, interests in limited liability companies, partnership interests, United States Treasury obligations,
certificates of deposit, and mutual fund shares; (b) all Security Entitlements, including the rights to any securities account and the financial assets held by a securities intermediary
in such securities account
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and any free credit balance or other money owing by any securities intermediary with respect to that account; (c) all securities accounts; (d) all commodity contracts; and (e) all
commodity accounts.

“Joinder Agreement” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 1.11 of this Agreement.

“LC Issuer” shall mean Citizens Bank or any additional or successor LC Issuer which has been appointed by Citizens Bank and has accepted such appointment. The LC
Issuer may resign at any time by giving thirty (30) days prior written notice thereof to the Administrative Agent, subject to appointment of a successor LC Issuer (and such
appointees acceptance of appointment) as above provided.
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“Lead Arranger” shall mean, collectively, Citizens Bank, National Association, Capital One, National Association, M&T Bank, PNC Capital Markets LLC, RBC Capital

Markets, TD Bank, N.A., Truist Securities, Inc. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as joint lead arrangers and joint book running managers.

“Lease Obligations” of any Person shall mean all obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the
right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof.

“Lender” and “Lenders” shall mean, respectively, each and all of the banking or financial institutions which, as of any date of determination, have (a) extended credit
or agreed to extend credit to the Borrowers pursuant to this Agreement, or (b) agreed in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement. With respect to any
security interest granted by any Borrower to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, the term “Lender” or “Lenders” shall also include any Affiliate of a Lender that
is, as of any particular date of determination, a counterparty with a Borrower under a Hedging Contract.

“Letter of Credit” and “Letters of Credit” shall mean, respectively, each and all of the commercial or standby letters of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Administration Fee” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 2.3 of this Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Application” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 2.1 of this Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Fee” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 2.3 of this Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Rights” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing:
any right to payment or performance under a letter of credit, whether or not the beneficiary has demanded or is at the time entitled to demand payment or performance, but
specifically excludes any right of a beneficiary to demand payment or performance under a letter of credit.

“Limited Condition Acquisition” shall mean any acquisition that (a) is not prohibited hereunder, (b) is not conditioned on the availability of, or on obtaining, third-
party financingand (c) is completed within six (6) months of the execution of the definitive purchase agreement for such acquisition.

“Loan” and “Loans” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context may require, the loan and loans made by the Lenders to the Borrowers (including any loans
made pursuant to an Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment and/or Incremental Term Facility Commitment) pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, that are represented by
the Facilities and are evidenced by, bear interest and are payable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes and this Agreement.

“Loan Document” and “Loan Documents” shall mean, respectively, each and all of this Agreement, the Notes, the Stock Security Agreement, the Membership
Interest Assignment, the Fee Letter, any intellectual property security agreement, any mortgage, any aircraft security agreements and each other document, instrument,
agreement or certificate heretofore, now or hereafter executed and delivered by any VSE Entity evidencing an Obligation or otherwise in connection with the Loan or this
Agreement.
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“Losses” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 12.21 of this Agreement.

“Mandatory Payment” and “Mandatory Payments” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context may require, any and all mandatory payments required to
be made on the Loan pursuant to Section 1.5 of this Agreement.

“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect upon, the financial condition, operations, assets, liabilities (actual
or contingent), business or properties of the VSE Entities taken as a whole, (b) a material impairment of the ability of the VSE Entities taken as a whole to perform their Obligations
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or (c) a material adverse effect upon the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s rights and remedies under this Agreement or
any other Loan Document or with respect to all or a substantial portion of the Collateral.

“Material Contract” and “Material Contracts” shall mean, as of any date of determination and individually or collectively as the context may require, any and all
contracts or agreements to which a VSE Entity is a party and pursuant to which such VSE Entity (a) is or may be entitled to receive payment(s) in excess of Two Million Five Hundred
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00), in the aggregate, per annum, or (b) is obligated to make payment(s) or have any other obligation or liability thereunder in excess of
Two Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00), in the aggregate, per annum.

“Material Foreign Subsidiary” shall mean, as of any date of determination, any Foreign Subsidiary which owns more than five percent (5%) of the consolidated assets
of the VSE Entities, taken as a whole, or generates more than five percent (5%) of the consolidated revenues of the VSE Entities, taken as a whole. Any Foreign Subsidiary which
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does not, as of the Restatement Date, meet either of the foregoing thresholds, but subsequently meets either of the foregoing thresholds after the Restatement Date shall be
deemed a “Material Foreign Subsidiary”.

“Maturity Date” shall mean (a) with respect to the Revolving Facility and the Swing Line Facility, the earlier of October 7, 2025, or the date that all Loans outstanding
under the Revolving Facility and/or the Swing Line Facility shall become due and payable in full hereunder, whether by acceleration or otherwise, (b) with respect to the Term
Facility, October 7, 2025, or the date that all Loans outstanding under the Term Facility shall become due and payable in full hereunder, whether by acceleration or otherwise, (c)
with respect to the Fifth Amendment Term Facility, October 7, 2025, or the date that all Loans outstanding under the Fifth Amendment Term Facility shall become due and payable
in full hereunder, whether by acceleration or otherwise or (d) such other date as may be agreed to by the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Borrowers in writing.

“Membership Interest Assignment” shall mean that certain Third Amended and Restated Assignment of Membership Interests as Collateral dated of even date
herewith, entered into by the Primary Operating Company and certain of the other VSE Entities in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, as the
same may be modified, amended or restated from time to time.

“Negative Covenants” shall mean any negative or similar restrictive covenant (including, without limitation, under Article 7) made by the Borrowers in this Agreement
or in any other Loan Document.

“Net Cash” shall mean the cash proceeds (net of cash taxes paid or payable and reasonable and customary costs paid or payable to unrelated and unaffiliated third
parties in connection with a particular transaction) arising from any Excess Cash Event.

“Net Income” shall mean with respect to the VSE Entities for any period of determination, the aggregate sum of all VSE Entities’ gross revenues minus total expenses,
as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Non-Borrower Affiliate” shall mean, as of any applicable date of determination and individually or collectively (as the context may require), any Foreign Subsidiary
that is not required to be joined as a Foreign Borrower hereto (as listed on Schedule A-3 attached hereto), and specifically excludes any Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliate.

“Non-Consenting Lender” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.16 of this Agreement.

“Non-Defaulting Lender” shall mean, at any time, a Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender.
16

“Note” and “Notes” shall mean, respectively, each and all of the Revolver Notes, the Term Facility Notes, the Swing Line Note and other promissory notes executed,
issued and delivered pursuant to this Agreement, together with all extensions, renewals, modifications, replacements, increases and substitutions thereof and therefor.

“Obligation” and “Obligations” shall mean, respectively, any and all obligations or liabilities of any VSE Entity to any Lender or the Administrative Agent in connection
with the Loan or this Agreement, whether now existing or hereafter created or arising, direct or indirect, matured or unmatured, and whether absolute or contingent, joint, several
or joint and several, and no matter how the same may be evidenced or shall arise (including any and all Hedging Obligations (other than Excluded Swap Obligations) and Hedging
Contracts (whether provided by a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender) to the extent they are intended to hedge interest rate or currency risk on the Loans, as well as any and all ACH
exposure and other liabilities arising from cash management services provided by the Administrative Agent and/or the Swing Line Lender hereunder). Without limiting the
foregoing, the term “Obligations” shall also include any and all Permitted Financial Product Obligations owing by any VSE Entity to any Financial Product Provider as of any
applicable date of determination and the Erroneous Payment Subrogation Rights.

“OFAC” has the meaning attributed to such term in Section 5.24 of this Agreement.

“Ordinary Course Payments” shall mean payments made directly by any VSE Entity to another VSE Entity; provided that such payments are made (a) in the ordinary
course of such VSE Entity’s business, (b) for products actually delivered or services actually performed, and (c) pursuant to an “arm’s length” transaction (i.e., a transaction that
would otherwise be made with an unrelated and unaffiliated third party); it being understood and agreed that payments in respect of normal and customary salary, compensation
and benefits, including reasonable severance amounts, for employees, officers and directors of a VSE Entity constitute “Ordinary Course Payments” except to the extent expressly
prohibited or limited pursuant to this Agreement.

“Participant” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 12.11(e) of this Agreement.

“Patriot Act” shall mean the U.S.A. Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law on October 26, 2001)), as amended.

“Payment Recipient” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.19(a) of this Agreement.
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“Pending Release Bonds” shall mean performance bonds related to bonded work that has been completed, but for which the bond has not yet been released by the
Government due to timing differences and not as a result of a claim with respect thereto.

“Pension Plan” or “Pension Plans” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 5.13(a) of this Agreement.

“Percentage” shall mean, as of any date of determination and with respect to each Lender, the percentage(s) corresponding to such Lender’s name on Schedule 1 in
respect of the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount and/or the Swing Line Commitment Amount (as the context may require), as the same may be modified or amended from
time to time, plus, for purposes of making any calculation under this Agreement, the percentage of the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Term Facility and Fifth
Amendment Term Facility owing to the applicable Lender(s), plus the percentage corresponding to such Lender of the aggregate amount of all Incremental Revolving Facility
Commitments and/or Incremental Term Facility Commitments or outstanding Incremental Revolving Loans or Incremental Term Loans established prior to and remaining in effect
as of such date of determination.

“Permitted Acquisition” shall mean any merger or acquisition that is (a) permitted pursuant to Section 7.1(e)(ii) of this Agreement, or (b) consummated in accordance
with all of the terms and conditions of any modification or amendment to this Agreement or consent letter specifically issued by the Administrative Agent, acting at the direction of
the Required Lenders, for such merger or acquisition.

“Permitted Earn-outs” shall mean any earn-outs to the extent such earn-outs are unsecured and may only be paid so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred
and is continuing, and both before and after giving effect to any such payment, the VSE Entities shall be and remain in pro forma compliance with the financial covenants set forth
in this Agreement (and no other default or Event of Default would result from the making of such payments).
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“Permitted Financial Product Obligations” shall mean, as of any applicable date of determination, any and all fees, charges, debts, liabilities and obligations owing
by any VSE Entity to any and all Financial Product Providers in connection with any cash management service, credit card facility or other bank product in an aggregate amount not
to exceed Fifty Million and No/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00) outstanding at any time; it being understood and agreed that the aggregate amount of any and all Hedging Obligations
and ACH exposure shall not be included in the foregoing calculation.

“Permitted Foreign Bank Accounts” shall mean any and all of the bank accounts described on Schedule B attached hereto, together with any and all other foreign
bank accounts from time to time designated by the Borrowers to the Administrative Agent in writing pursuant to Section 6.3(c) of this Agreement; provided that each such bank
account (a) has been established by and in the name of a Borrower, Foreign Borrower or Non-Borrower Affiliate, (b) is located outside of the United States of America, (c) is used
solely for the collection of Receivables, payment of Ordinary Course Payments and other general operating purposes, (d) is not subject to any lien, claim, charge or encumbrance
(other than (i) the security interests granted to the Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) normal and customary rights of set off or similar
rights (of the financial institution maintaining such account), but only if such rights may be exercised solely for past due fees, charges and expenses arising from the general
administration of such bank account), (e) if required by the Administrative Agent, is subject to a control agreement or blocked account agreement, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and (f) if not subject to a control agreement or blocked account agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent, does not, for thirty (30) or more consecutive days, contain funds and/or other items of value which, when aggregated with all such other bank accounts,
exceed the Dollar Equivalent of Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) as of any applicable date of determination.

“Permitted Investments” shall mean: (a) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United
States government (or by any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States government), in each case maturing within
one (1) year from the date of acquisition thereof; (b) commercial paper having the highest rating, at the time of acquisition thereof, of Standard and Poor’s or Moody’s Investors
Services and in either case maturing within six (6) months from the date of acquisition thereof; (c) certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances and time deposits maturing within
one hundred eighty (180) days of the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic
office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof which has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than
Five Hundred Million and No/100 Dollars ($500,000,000.00); (d) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than thirty (30) days for securities described in
clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (c) above; (e) mutual funds investing solely in any one or more of the
Permitted Investments described in clauses (a) through (d) above and (f) investments in other Persons (not triggering the joinder requirements set forth in Section 1.11 of this
Agreement), in an aggregate amount not to exceed the greater of (x) Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00) and (y) 10% of EBITDA (determined as of the most recently
ended four (4) fiscal quarter period for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 6.3), in each case, determined at the time of any such investment during
the term of this Agreement.

“Permitted Liens” shall mean with respect to any VSE Entity: (a) liens for taxes that are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings, which (i) such
VSE Entity has the financial ability to pay, including penalties and interest, and (ii) the non-payment thereof will not result in the execution of any such tax lien or otherwise
jeopardize the interests of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders in, on or to any Collateral; (b) deposits or pledges to secure obligations under workers’ compensation, social
security or similar laws, incurred in the ordinary course of business; (c) liens described on Schedule 7.7(a)(vi) attached hereto; (d) cash deposits pledged to secure the performance
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of bids, tenders, contracts (other than contracts for the payment of money), leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds and other obligations of like nature made in the
ordinary course of business; (e) mechanics’, workmen’s, repairmen’s, warehousemen’s, vendors’, lessors’ or carriers’ liens or other similar liens; provided that such liens arise in the
ordinary course of the VSE Entity’s business and secure sums that are not past due or are separately secured by cash deposits or pledges in an amount adequate to obtain the
release of such liens; (f) except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, statutory or contractual landlord’s liens on the VSE Entity’s tangible personal property located in such VSE
Entity’s demised premises; (g) zoning or other similar and customary land use restrictions, that do not materially impair the use or value of any Collateral or property of any VSE
Entity; (h) judgment liens that are not prohibited by Section 7.4 of this Agreement; (i) other liens expressly permitted by the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (j) capital
leases and liens to secure the purchase price of Equipment or Inventory in an aggregate amount not to exceed One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) at any time,
excluding all purchase money Indebtedness and liens referenced on Schedule 7.7(a)(vi); and (k) liens in favor of the Administrative Agent or any Lender with respect to the
Obligations.
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“Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, corporation, trust, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, unincorporated association or organization,
joint venture or any other entity.

“Personal Information” shall mean, with respect to any customer and/or any employee, agent or principal of a customer, such Person’s name, address, telephone
number, social security number, driver’s license number, state-issued identification card number, financial account numbers, credit card numbers, debit card numbers, or any
security code, access code, personal identification number or password that could permit access to a financial account of such Person.

“Primary Operating Company” shall mean VSE Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

“Prime Contractor” shall mean any Person (other than a VSE Entity) which is a party to any Government Subcontract.

“Prime Rate” shall mean the rate of interest from time to time established and publicly announced by Citizens Bank as its prime rate, in Citizens Bank’s sole discretion,
which rate of interest may be greater or less than other interest rates charged by Citizens Bank to other borrowers and which is a rate set based upon various factors, including
costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such
announced rate.

“Prior Increase” shall mean any increase to the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount and/or the Term Facility Commitment Amount pursuant to Sections 1.8
and/or 1.9 of this Agreement after the Fourth Amendment Effective Date and prior to the date of any subsequent increase of the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount and/or
the Term Facility Commitment Amount pursuant to Sections 1.8 and/or 1.9 of this Agreement.

“Proceeds” shall have the meaning attributed to that term by the UCC or under other Applicable Laws, and, in any event, shall include any and all of the following,
whether now owned or hereafter acquired: (a) any and all proceeds of, or amounts (in any form whatsoever, whether cash, securities, property or other assets) received under or
with respect to, any insurance, indemnity, warranty or guaranty payable from time to time, and claims for insurance, indemnity, warranty or guaranty effected or held with respect
to any of the Collateral, (b) any and all payments (in any form whatsoever, whether cash, securities, property or other assets) made or due and payable from time to time in
connection with any requisition, confiscation, condemnation, seizure or forfeiture of all or any part of the Collateral by any Government (or any Person acting under color of any
Government), (c) any claim against third parties (i) for past, present or future infringement of any patent or patent license, or (ii) for past, present or future infringement or dilution
of any copyright, copyright license, trademark or trademark license, or for injury to the goodwill associated with any trademark or trademark license, (d) any recoveries against
third parties with respect to any litigation or dispute concerning any of the Collateral including claims arising out of the loss or nonconformity of, interference with the use of,
defects in, or infringement of rights in, or damage to, Collateral, (e) all amounts collected on, or distributed on account of, other Collateral, including dividends, interest,
distributions and Instruments with respect to Investment Property and pledged stock, and (f) any and all other amounts (in any form whatsoever, whether cash, securities,
property or other assets) from time to time paid or payable under or in connection with any of the Collateral (whether or not in connection with the sale, lease, license, exchange or
other disposition of the Collateral).

“QFC” shall have the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

“QFC Credit Support” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.22.

“Qualified ECP Guarantor” means, in respect of any Swap Obligation, each guarantor or obligor that has total assets exceeding Ten Million and No/100 Dollars
($10,000,000.00) at the time the relevant guarantee or liability becomes effective with respect to such Swap Obligation or such other person as constitutes an “eligible contract
participant” under the Commodity Exchange Act or any regulations promulgated thereunder and can cause another person to qualify as an “eligible contract participant” at such
time by entering into a keepwell under Section 1a(18)(A)(v)(II) of the Commodity Exchange Act.
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“Qualifying Person” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.10 of this Agreement.

“Rate Determination Date” shall mean, with respect to any Interest Period, two (2) RFR Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period (or such
other day as is generally treated as the rate fixing day by market practice in the applicable interbank market, as determined by the Administrative Agent; provided that
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to the extent that such market practice is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, such other day as otherwise reasonably determined by the Administrative
Agent).

“RCRA” shall mean the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 6901 et.seq.).

“Receivable” and “Receivables” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context may require, any and all of the VSE Entities’ aggregate present and future
accounts, contracts, contract rights, Chattel Paper, General Intangibles, notes, drafts, acceptances, chattel mortgages, conditional sale contracts, bailment leases, security
agreements, contribution rights and other forms of obligations now or hereafter arising out of or acquired in the course of or in connection with any business the VSE Entities
conduct, together with all liens, guaranties, securities, rights, remedies and privileges pertaining to any of the foregoing, whether now existing or hereafter created or arising, and all
rights with respect to returned and repossessed items of Inventory.

“Register” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 12.11(d) of this Agreement.

“Relevant Governmental Body”shall mean (a) with respect to a Benchmark Replacement in respect of Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts
denominated in, or calculated with respect to, Dollars, the FRB or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the FRB or the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto and (b) with respect to a Benchmark Replacement in respect of Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts
denominated in, or calculated with respect to, any Alternative Currency, (i) the central bank for the Currency in which such Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other
amounts are denominated, or calculated with respect to, or any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either (A) such Benchmark Replacement or (B)
the administrator of such Benchmark Replacement or (ii) any working group or committee officially endorsed or convened by (A) the central bank for the Currency in which such
Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts are denominated, or calculated with respect to, (B) any central bank or other supervisor that is responsible for
supervising either (1) such Benchmark Replacement or (2) the administrator of such Benchmark Replacement, (C) a group of those central banks or other supervisors or (D) the
Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

“Report” and “Reports” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 10.15(a) of this Agreement.

“Request for Advance and Certification” shall mean any Request for Advance and Certification in the form of Exhibit 1.

“Required Lenders” shall mean all of the Lenders who, as of any applicable date of determination, are not Defaulting Lenders, and which hold Loans and unused
commitments representing, in the aggregate, at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the aggregate Commitment Amount (excluding the Swing Line Commitment Amount, but including
the aggregate Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment Amount and/or Incremental Term Facility Commitment Amount then in effect); provided, however, that “Required
Lenders” must include at least two (2) Lenders who, as of such date of determination, are not Defaulting Lenders and who collectively hold Loans and unused commitments
representing, in the aggregate, at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the aggregate Commitment Amount (excluding the Swing Line Commitment Amount, but including the aggregate
Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment Amount and/or Incremental Term Facility Commitment Amount then in effect).

“Resolution Authority” shall mean an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

“Restatement” shall mean the settlement of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Restatement Date” shall mean the date on which the Restatement shall occur, such date being also the date of initial funding under this Agreement.

“Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliates” shall mean each and all of (i) Integrated Concepts and Research Corporation, a District of Columbia corporation; and (ii) ICRC
Qualified Settlement Fund, neither of which shall be required to be joined as Borrowers hereunder.

“Revaluation Date” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in The Interpretive Provisions Section of this Agreement.
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“Revolver Notes” shall mean each and all of the promissory notes executed, issued and delivered pursuant to this Agreement in connection with the Revolving
Facility, together with all extensions, renewals, modifications, replacements and substitutions thereof and therefor.

“Revolving Facility” shall mean the revolving credit facility being extended pursuant to this Agreement, in the maximum principal amount of the Revolving Facility
Commitment Amount, with a sub-limit of Twenty-Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($25,000,000.00) for Letters of Credit, a sub-limit of Fifteen Million and No/100 Dollars
($15,000,000.00) for Swing Line Loans and a sub-limit of the Dollar Equivalent of Two Million and No/100 Dollars ($2,000,000.00) for Alternative Currency Loans; it being understood
and agreed that the maximum principal amount of the Revolving Facility shall be subject to increase pursuant to Section 1.8 of this Agreement.

“Revolving Facility Commitment Amount” shall mean an amount equal to the sum of Three Hundred Fifty Million and No/100 Dollars ($350,000,000.00), plus the
aggregate amount of any and all Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments existing as of such date of determination.

“Revolving Facility Commitment Fee” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 1.7(b) of this Agreement.

“Revolving Loan(s)” shall mean any and all Loans made available to the Borrowers pursuant to the Revolving Facility.

“RFR” shall mean, for any Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts denominated in, or calculated with respect to, (a) Dollars, Term SOFR and (b)
Sterling, SONIA.

“RFR Business Day” shall mean, for any Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts denominated in, or calculated with respect to, (a) Dollars, any day
except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its
members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities, (b) Euros, any day that is a TARGET Day and (c) Sterling, any day except for (i) a
Saturday, (ii) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which banks are closed for general business in London; provided, that for purposes of notice requirements in Sections 1.1, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 2.1,
in each case, such day is also a Business Day.

“RFR Loan” shall mean a Daily Simple RFR Loan or a SOFR Rate Loan, as the context may require.

“RFR Rate Day” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the definition of “Adjusted Daily Simple RFR”.

“Sanctions” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 5.24 of this Agreement.

“SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States of America.

“SEC Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. §78, as amended.

“Security Entitlements” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all Security Entitlements whether now or hereafter
existing.

“SOFR” shall mean a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as published by the SOFR Administrator on the website of the SOFR Administrator, currently at
http//www.newyorkfed.org (or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to time).

“SOFR Administrator” shall mean the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).

“SOFR Rate Loan” shall mean a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on Term SOFR (other than pursuant to clause (c) of the definition of “Base Rate); provided,that
SOFR Rate Loans may only be denominated in Dollars.

“SONIA” shall mean a rate equal to the Sterling Overnight Index Average as administered by the SONIA Administrator.
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“SONIA Adjustment” shall mean a percentage equal to 0.10000% per annum.
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“SONIA Administrator” shall mean the Bank of England (or any successor administrator of the Sterling Overnight Index Average).

“SONIA Administrator’s Website” shall mean the Bank of England’s website, currently at http://www.bankofengland.co.uk, or any successor source for the Sterling
Overnight Index Average identified as such by the SONIA Administrator from time to time.

“SpareParts” means all appliances, parts, components, instruments, appurtenances, accessories, furnishings, seats and other equipment of whatever nature that may
from time to time be installed or incorporated in or attached or appurtenant to any Aircraft Object or removed therefrom.

“Spot Rates” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in The Interpretive Provisions Section of this Agreement.

“Sterling” shall mean the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

“Stock Security Agreement” shall mean that certain Third Amended and Restated Stock Security Agreement dated of even date herewith, entered into by certain VSE
Entities party thereto in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, as the same may be modified, amended or restated from time to time.

“Subsidiary” and “Subsidiaries” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context may require, any company, partnership, corporation or other entity in which
any Person owns or controls, directly or indirectly, more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity thereof as of any date of determination.

“Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean, any Indebtedness incurred by any Borrower which by its terms is specifically subordinated in right of payment to the prior
payment of the Borrowers’ Obligations and contains subordination and other terms acceptable to the Administrative Agent.

“Supported QFC” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.22.

“Supporting Obligations” shall have the meaning attributed to such term by the UCC, and shall include any and all of the following, whether now or hereafter existing:
any and all letter of credit rights or secondary obligations that support the payment or performance of an Account, Chattel Paper, Document, General Intangible, Instrument or
Investment Property.

“Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Borrower or any guarantor or obligor, any obligation to pay or perform under any agreement, contract or transaction
that constitutes a “swap” within the meaning of section 1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act.

“Swing Line Commitment” shall mean the Swing Line Lender’s obligation to make Swing Line Loans to the Borrowers in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed
the Swing Line Commitment Amount.

“Swing Line Commitment Amount” shall mean Fifteen Million and No/100 Dollars ($15,000,000.00).

“Swing Line Commitment Period” shall mean the period commencing on the Restatement Date and ending on the Swing Line Termination Date.

“Swing Line Facility” shall mean the swing line credit facility being extended pursuant to this Agreement, in the maximum principal amount equal to the Swing Line
Commitment Amount.

“Swing Line Lender” shall mean Citizens Bank or any additional or successor Swing Line Lender which has been appointed by Citizens Bank and has accepted such
appointment.

“Swing Line Loan” or “Swing Line Loans” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 1.1(b) of this Agreement.
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“Swing Line Note” shall mean that certain Second Amended and Restated Swing Line Facility Promissory Note dated of even date herewith, made by the Borrowers
and payable to the order of the Swing Line Lender, in the maximum principal amount of the Swing Line Commitment Amount, or so much thereof as shall be advanced or
readvanced, together with all extensions, renewals, modifications, increases, replacements and substitutions thereof or therefor.

“Swing Line Outstandings” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal amount of all Swing Line Loans then outstanding.

“Swing Line Rate” shall mean with respect to the Swing Line Facility, the Base Rate.

“Swing Line Termination Date” shall mean the fifth (5th) Business Day prior to the Maturity Date, or such earlier date on which the Swing Line Lender shall have
elected, in its sole and absolute discretion, to terminate the Swing Line Facility.
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“Target” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 7.1(e)(ii) of this Agreement.

“TARGET Day” shall mean any day on which Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system, which utilizes a single shared
platform and which was launched on November 19, 2007, is open for the settlement of payments in Euros.

“Term Facility” shall mean the term credit facility being extended pursuant to this Agreement in the original principal amount equal to the Term Facility Commitment
Amount.

“Term Facility Commitment Amount” shall mean One Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) as of the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, and Zero Dollars ($0) from
and after the initial funding on the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, except as increased by the aggregate amount of all Incremental Term Facility Commitments in effect
outstanding (i.e., not yet funded) pursuant to Section 1.9 of this Agreement as of the date of determination.

“Term Facility Notes” shall mean each and all of the promissory notes executed, issued, and delivered pursuant to the Agreement in connection with the Term
Facility or the Fifth Amendment Term Facility, together with all extensions, renewals, amendments, modifications, replacements and substitutions thereof and therefor.

“Term Loans” shall mean the Fourth Amendment Term Loan and the Fifth Amendment Term Loan.

“Term SOFR”shall mean a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) the sum of (i) Term SOFR Reference Rate for a tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period
on the day (such day, the “Term SOFR Determination Day”) that is two (2) RFR Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period; provided, however, that if as of 5:00 p.m.
(New York City time) on any Term SOFR Determination Day the Term SOFR Reference Rate for the applicable tenor has not been published by the Term SOFR Administrator and a
Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate has not occurred, then Term SOFR will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor as published
by the Term SOFR Administrator on the first preceding RFR Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor was published by the Term SOFR Administrator
so long as such first preceding RFR Business Day is not more than three (3) RFR Business Days prior to such Term SOFR Determination Day plus (ii) the Term SOFR Adjustment, and
(b) the Floor.

“Term SOFR Adjustment” means (a) with respect to an Interest Period of one month, 0.10000%, (b) with respect to an Interest Period of three months, 0.15000% and
(c) with respect to an Interest Period of six months, 0.25000%.

“Term SOFR Administrator” shall mean CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited (CBA) (or a successor administrator of the Term SOFR Reference Rate selected
by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion).

“Term SOFR Determination Day” shall have the meaning specified in the definition of “Term SOFR”.
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“Term SOFR Reference Rate” shall mean the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR published by the Term SOFR Administrator and displayed on CME’s Market
Data Platform (or other commercially available source providing such quotations as may be selected by the Administrative Agent from time to time).

“Third Amendment Effective Date” shall mean July 23, 2021.

“Total Funded Debt” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) all Indebtedness for borrowed money of the VSE Entities (including all outstanding
advances under the Revolving Facility, if any), plus (b) any accrued Permitted Earn-outs reasonably required to be paid by the VSE Entities within the next twelve (12) months (net
of any cash reserves therefor) plus (c) the face amount of all issued and outstanding Letters of Credit.

“Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Section 6.15(a) of this Agreement.

“Transitional Deposit Account” shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Article 8 of this Agreement.

“UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as the same may, from time to time, be enacted and in effect in the State of New York; provided, that to the extent
that the UCC is used to define any term herein and such term is defined differently in different Articles or Divisions of the UCC, the definition of such term contained in Article or
Division 9 shall govern; provided further, that if, by reason of mandatory provisions of Applicable Laws, any or all of the attachment, perfection or priority of, or remedies with
respect to, the Administrative Agent’s lien on any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of New York,
the term “UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such
attachment, perfection, priority or remedies and for purposes of definitions related to such provisions.
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“UK Financial Institution” shall mean any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the
United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority) or any person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United
Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

“UK Resolution Authority” shall mean the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial
Institution

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement”shall mean the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“Uncommitted Incremental Increase Limit” shall mean an aggregate of Twenty-Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($25,000,000.00), which may be applied by the
Borrowers, in their sole discretion, to increase the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount and/or increase the Term Facility Commitment Amount, pursuant to Sections 1.8 and 1.9
of this Agreement, respectively.

“Voting Stock” shall mean the capital stock of any Person having ordinary power to vote in the election of members of the board of directors, managers, trustees or
other controlling Persons, of such Person (irrespective of whether, at the time, capital stock of any other class or classes of such entity shall have or might have voting power by
reason of the happening of any contingency).

“VSE Entity” and “VSE Entities” shall mean, as of any date of determination and individually or collectively (as the context may require), any and all of the Borrowers
and the Non-Borrower Affiliates.

“Walker Lane Lease” shall mean the Deed of Lease dated as of November 4, 2009 (as heretofore amended, modified or restated from time to time), by and between
MetroPark 7, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as the landlord, and the Primary Operating Company, as the tenant, with respect to the premises located at 6348 Walker
Lane, Springfield, Virginia.

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing: (a) the sum of the products
obtained by multiplying (i) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payments of principal, including payment at final
maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) that will elapse
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between such date and the making of such payment by (b) the then outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness; provided that for purposes of determining the Weighted
Average Life to Maturity of any refinanced Term Loan or any Indebtedness that is being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended (the “Applicable
Indebtedness”), the effects of any prepayments made on such Applicable Indebtedness prior to the date of the applicable modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal,
replacement or extension shall be disregarded.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” shall mean, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution
Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In
Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or
change the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities
or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any
obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

INTERPRETIVE PROVISIONS

(a) Certain Interpretive Provisions.

(i)     Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, (A) words of any gender include each other gender; (B) words using the singular or plural number also
include the plural or singular number, respectively; (C) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby” and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement and not to any particular
provision of this Agreement; and (D) the terms “Article,” “Section,” “Subsection,” “Schedule” and “Exhibit” without any reference to a specified document refer to the specified
Article, Section, Subsection, Schedule and Exhibit, respectively, of this Agreement.

(ii)     The words “including,” “include” and “includes” are not exclusive and shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; if exclusion is intended,
the word “comprising” is used instead.

(iii) Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, (i) references to agreements (including this Agreement) and other contractual instruments shall be deemed to
include all subsequent amendments and other modifications thereto, but only to the extent such amendments and other modifications are not prohibited by the terms and
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conditions of this Agreement, and (ii) references to any statute or regulation are to be construed as including all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending,
replacing, supplementing or interpreting the statute or regulation.

(iv) The word “or” shall be construed to mean “and/or” unless the context clearly prohibits that construction.

(v)     Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of days, such number shall refer to calendar days unless Business Days are specified.

(vi) All accounting terms used herein and not expressly defined herein shall have the meanings given to them under GAAP. If at any time any change in GAAP
would affect the computation of any financial ratio or requirement set forth in any Loan Document, and either the Borrowers or the Required Lenders shall so request, the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Borrowers shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change
in GAAP (subject to the approval of the Required Lenders); provided that, until so amended, (i) such ratio or requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP
prior to such change therein and (ii) the Borrowers shall provide to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders financial statements and other documents required under this
Agreement or as reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a reconciliation between calculations of such ratio or requirement made before and after giving effect to such
change in GAAP. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, any lease that is treated as an operating lease for purposes of GAAP as of the Restatement Date shall
continue to be treated as an operating lease (and any future lease, if it were in effect on the Restatement Date, that would be treated as an operating lease for purposes of GAAP as
of the Restatement Date shall be treated as an operating lease), in each case for purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding any change in GAAP after the Restatement Date.

(vii) The Article, Section and paragraph headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of
this Agreement or the intent of any provision hereof.
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(viii) This Agreement and the other Loan Documents are the result of negotiations among all parties hereto, and have been reviewed by counsel to the
Administrative Agent, the Borrowers and the Lenders, and are the products of all parties. Accordingly, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall not be construed
against the Administrative Agent or the Lenders merely because of the Administrative Agent’s or Lenders’ involvement in their preparation.

(ix) The word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” as used in this Agreement means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends and such phrase
does not simply mean “if.”

(x)     No provision of this Agreement is to be construed to require, directly or indirectly, any Person to take any action, or to omit to take any action, to the extent such
action or omission would violate Applicable Laws.

(b)Exchange Rates; Currency Equivalents.

(i) The Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as applicable, shall determine the Spot Rates as of each Revaluation Date to be used for calculating Dollar
Equivalent amounts of any outstanding Loans denominated in Alternative Currencies. Such Spot Rates shall become effective as of such Revaluation Date and shall be the Spot
Rates employed in converting any amounts between the applicable currencies until the next Revaluation Date to occur. Except for purposes of financial statements delivered by
the Borrowers hereunder or calculating financial covenants hereunder or except as otherwise provided herein, the applicable amount of any currency (other than Dollars) for
purposes of the Loan Documents shall be such Dollar Equivalent amount as so determined by the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as applicable. For purposes hereof, the
term "Spot Rates" means, for a currency, the rate determined by the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as applicable, to be the rate quoted by the Person acting in such
capacity as the spot rate for the purchase by such Person of such currency with another currency through its principal foreign exchange trading office at approximately 11:00 a.m.
on the date two (2) Business Days prior to the date as of which the foreign exchange computation is made; provided that the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as applicable,
may obtain such spot rate from another financial institution designated by the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as applicable, if the Person acting in such capacity does not
have as of the date of determination a spot buying rate for any such currency; and provided further that the LC Issuer may use such spot rate quoted on the date as of which the
foreign exchange computation is made in the case of any Letter of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency; it being understood and agreed that the Administrative Agent or
the LC Issuer, as applicable, shall endeavor to obtain the most favorable spot buying rate, but it shall have no obligation or liability for its failure to do so; and the term "Revaluation
Date" means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, each of the following: (a) each date of issuance of a Letter of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency, (b) each date of an
amendment of any such Letter of Credit having the effect of increasing the amount thereof (solely with respect to the increased amount), (c) each date of any payment by the LC
Issuer under any Letter of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency, (d)  in the case of the existing Letters of Credit, such additional dates as the existing LC Issuer shall
determine, and (e) such additional dates as the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer shall determine.

(ii) Wherever in this Agreement an amount is expressed in Dollars, but a calculation may require an Alternative Currency, such amount shall be the equivalent
amount thereof in the applicable Alternative Currency, as determined by the Administrative Agent or the LC Issuer, as the case may be, at such time on the basis of the Spot Rate
(determined in respect of the most recent Revaluation Date) for the purchase of such Alternative Currency with Dollars.
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(c)    Additional Alternative Currencies.

(i) The Borrowers may from time to time request that Letters of Credit be issued in a currency other than those specifically listed in the definition of “Alternative
Currency;” provided that such requested currency is a lawful currency (other than Dollars) that is readily available and freely transferable and convertible into Dollars. In the case of
any such request with respect to the issuance of Letters of Credit, such request shall be subject to the approval of the Administrative Agent and the LC Issuer (and any Lender
participating in such Letter of Credit, if applicable), in their sole discretion.

(ii)    Any such request shall be made to the Administrative Agent not later than 11:00 a.m., ten (10) Business Days prior to the date of the desired Letter of
Credit issuance (or such other time or date as may be agreed by the Administrative Agent and the LC Issuer, in their sole discretion). In each case, the Administrative Agent shall
promptly notify the LC Issuer which shall promptly, in turn, notify each Lender participating in such Letter of Credit thereof. The LC Issuer and each applicable Lender shall notify
the
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Administrative Agent, not later than 11:00 a.m., five (5) Business Days after receipt of such request whether it consents, in its sole discretion, to the issuance of Letters of Credit, as
the case may be, in such requested currency.

(iii)    Any failure by the LC Issuer and/or any participant Lender to respond to such request within the time period specified in the preceding sentence shall be
deemed to be a refusal by the LC Issuer to permit Letters of Credit to be issued in such requested currency. If the Administrative Agent and the LC Issuer (and the applicable
participant Lenders, as the case may be) consent to the issuance of Letters of Credit in such requested currency, the Administrative Agent shall so notify the Borrowers and such
currency shall thereupon be deemed for all purposes to be an Alternative Currency hereunder for purposes of any Letter of Credit issuances. If the Administrative Agent shall fail to
obtain consent to any request for an additional currency required hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall promptly so notify the Borrowers.

(d) Change of Currency.

(i)    Each obligation of the Borrowers to make a payment denominated in the national currency unit of any member state of the European Union that adopts
the Euro as its lawful currency after the date hereof shall be redenominated into Euro at the time of such adoption (in accordance with the legislative measures of the European
Council). If, in relation to the currency of any such member state, the basis of accrual of interest expressed in this Agreement in respect of that currency shall be inconsistent with
any convention or practice in the London interbank market for the basis of accrual of interest in respect of the Euro, such expressed basis shall be replaced by such convention or
practice with effect from the date on which such member state adopts the Euro as its lawful currency; provided that if any Letter of Credit in the currency of such member state is
outstanding immediately prior to such date, such replacement shall take effect, with respect to such Letter of Credit upon the earliest date on which each Letter of Credit is
renewed, extended or expired.

(ii)    Each provision of this Agreement shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Administrative Agent may from time to time specify to
be appropriate to reflect the adoption of the Euro by any member state of the European Union and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the Euro.

(iii)    Each provision of this Agreement also shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Administrative Agent may from time to time
specify to be appropriate to reflect a change in currency of any other country and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the change in currency.

(e)    Rates

(a) . The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, (a) the continuation of,
administration of, submission of, calculation of or any other matter related to the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR, any Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, the Eurocurrency Rate,
the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate or any other Benchmark, or any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, or with respect to any alternative,
successor or replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including whether the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or
replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement), as it may or may not be adjusted pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached hereto, will be similar to, or produce the same value or
economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR, any Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, the Eurocurrency Rate, the Adjusted
Eurocurrency Rate, such Benchmark or any other Benchmark prior to its discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or composition of any Conforming
Changes. The Administrative Agent and its Affiliates or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of a Benchmark, any alternative, successor or
replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) or any relevant adjustments thereto and such transactions may be adverse to the Borrowers. The Administrative Agent
may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain any Benchmark, any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof,
in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrowers, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including
direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any
error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

ARTICLE 1 

COMMITMENT
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1.1 Maximum Loan Amount.
27

(a) Term Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (i) each Lender funding a Fourth Amendment Term Loan severally agrees to make
available to the Borrowers on the Fourth Amendment Effective Date such Lender’s Percentage of a term loan in Dollars (the “Fourth Amendment Term Loan”) in the aggregate
principal equal to the Term Facility Commitment Amount for the purposes hereinafter set forth; (ii) each Lender funding a Fifth Amendment Term Loan severally agrees to make
available to the Borrowers on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date such Lender’s Percentage of a term loan in Dollars (the “Fifth Amendment Term Loan”) in the aggregate principal
equal to the Fifth Amendment Term Facility Commitment Amount for the purposes hereinafter set forth; (iii) as set forth more fully in Section 1.1(c), the Lenders will make the
Revolving Loans to the Borrowers and (iv) as set forth more fully in Section 1.1(b), the Swing Line Lender will make the Swing Line Loan to the Borrowers. Amounts repaid or
prepaid on the Term Loan may not be reborrowed. The proceeds of the Fourth Amendment Term Loan shall be used to prepay, in full, the aggregate principal amount of the First
Amendment Term Loan outstanding as of the Fourth Amendment Effective Date. From an after the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, the obligations with respect to the First
Amendment Term Loan shall be reduced to $0. It is understood and agreed that from and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, all references to the Term Loans shall mean
the term loans made to the Borrowers on the Fourth Amendment Effective Date and the Fifth Amendment Effective Date. The Loans, including the Swing Line Loan, shall bear
interest and be payable in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Notes. The Notes shall be executed and delivered to each respective Lender on the
date hereof and thereafter, from time to time, as and when requested by the Administrative Agent, acting at the direction of any Lender.

(b) Swing Line Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Swing Line Lender shall make swing line loans (each, a “Swing Line Loan” and
collectively, the “Swing Line Loans”) to the Borrowers from time to time during the Swing Line Commitment Period, in the aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding
not to exceed the Swing Line Commitment Amount; provided, however, that at no time may the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Swing Line Loans, plus the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Facility (including the aggregate face amount of all Letters of Credit outstanding and the outstanding principal balance of
any Alternative Currency Loans), exceed the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount. During the Swing Line Commitment Period, the Borrowers may use the Swing Line
Commitment by borrowing, repaying Swing Line Loans in whole or in part, and reborrowing, all in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. At the request of
the Swing Line Lender, the Administrative Agent may, at any time, on behalf of the Borrowers (which hereby irrevocably direct the Administrative Agent to act on their behalf)
request each Lender having a Percentage of the Revolving Facility, including the Lender then acting as the Swing Line Lender, to make, and each such Lender, including the Lender
then acting as the Swing Line Lender, shall make an advance under the Revolving Facility, in an amount equal to such Lender’s Percentage of the Revolving Facility, of the amount
of the Swing Line Outstandings as of the date such request is made. In such event, each such Lender shall make the requested proceeds available to the Administrative Agent for
the account of the Swing Line Lender in accordance with the funding provisions set forth in this Agreement. The proceeds of the Revolving Facility advanced pursuant to this
Section 1.1(b) shall be immediately applied to repay the Swing Line Outstandings.

(c) Revolving Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Lender severally agrees to make the Revolving Loans to the Borrowers, with
the maximum amount of each Lender’s obligation being equal to such Lender’s Percentage of the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount.

1.2 Use of Proceeds. The Loans shall be used by the Borrowers only for the following purposes: (a) to refinance certain existing Indebtedness of the Borrowers; (b) to
finance any Permitted Acquisitions (including the purchase price, together with customary transaction costs and expenses payable to unrelated and unaffiliated third parties
relating thereto); and (c) for working capital support, letters of credit, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes. Each Borrower agrees that it will not use or permit the
Loan proceeds to be used for any other purpose without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.

1.3 Alternative Currency Loans; Loans to Foreign Borrowers. Subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the Borrowers may at any time, and from
time to time, request and obtain Alternative Currency Loans of up to the Dollar Equivalent of Two Million and No/100 Dollars ($2,000,000.00), in the aggregate, outstanding at any
time, pursuant to this Agreement (it being understood and agreed that the amount of any outstanding Alternative Currency Loans will reduce availability under the Revolving
Facility); provided, however, that with respect to any Loan or Alternative Currency Loan requested to be funded directly to any Foreign Borrower which has not previously been
approved to receive a Loan or Alternative Currency Loan pursuant to this Section 1.3, the following conditions precedent shall have first been satisfied: (a) the Borrowers shall have
provided to the Administrative Agent written notice of their desire to have a Loan or Alternative Currency Loan made to such Foreign Borrower (each, a “Foreign Borrower Loan
Request”), (b) the Administrative Agent shall have promptly notified the Lenders of the Foreign Borrower Loan Request and requested the Lenders’ consent therefor, and (c) all of
the Lenders shall have consented to such Foreign Borrower Loan Request within ten (10) Business Days of the Lenders’ receipt of such Foreign Borrower Loan Request from the
Administrative Agent. Without limiting the
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conditions to obtain Loan advances set forth in Section 1.4 of this Agreement, neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender shall be obligated to honor any Foreign Borrower
Loan Request unless all of the Lenders shall have first consented to such Foreign Borrower receiving the Loan or Alternative Currency Loan pursuant to the applicable Foreign
Borrower Loan Request. From and after the date, if any, on which all Lender-consent shall have been issued for a Foreign Borrower to receive a Loan or an Alternative Currency
Loan, no further consent shall be necessary for such Foreign Borrower to receive any other Loan or Alternative Currency Loan. Any Lender may, with notice to the Administrative
Agent and the Borrowers, fulfill its Commitment hereunder by causing an Affiliate of such Lender to act as the Lender in respect of such Foreign Borrower (and such Lender shall, to
the extent of Loans and Alternative Currency Loans made to and participations in Letters of Credit issued for the account of such Foreign Borrower, be deemed for all purposes
hereof to have pro tanto assigned such Loans and participations to such Affiliate).

1.4 Advances; Payments.

(a) Agreement to Advance and Readvance; Procedure. So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, or would result therefrom, and
no act, event or condition shall have occurred and be continuing which with notice or the lapse of time, or both, shall constitute an Event of Default, and subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, the Lenders (and the Swing Line Lender, as the case may be) shall (i) advance and readvance the proceeds of the Revolving Facility and the proceeds
of the Swing Line Facility (as applicable) from time to time in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and (ii) advance all of the proceeds of the Term Facility on
the Restatement Date (with no further obligation to advance or readvance any proceeds of the Term Facility after the Restatement Date), each to the Borrowers upon the
Borrowers’ execution and delivery of this Agreement and all other documents, instruments and agreements required by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in connection
herewith. In addition to any and all other conditions to advances set forth in this Agreement, on the date of each request for an advance and as of the date of advance, the
Borrowers shall be deemed to have remade and redated each and all of the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement, and with respect to those representations
and warranties qualified by “materiality”, such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects, and with respect to those representations and warranties
not qualified by “materiality”, such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of such date, unless such representation or
warranty specifically refers to an earlier date or the Borrowers are unable to remake and redate any such representation or warranty, in which case the Borrowers shall have
previously disclosed the same to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in writing, and such inability does not constitute or give rise to an Event of Default. Except with respect
to advances made pursuant to Section 1.4(c)(iii) below, requests for advances with respect to the Revolving Facility shall be in the form of Exhibit 1 attached hereto, and requests
for advances with respect to the Swing Line Facility shall be in the form of Exhibit 1(a) attached hereto. Requests for advances of Loan proceeds with respect to the Revolving
Facility and the Swing Line Facility may be made via facsimile on any given Business Day if the Borrowers provide the Administrative Agent, in advance, with a written list of the
names of the specific officers authorized to request disbursements by facsimile. Upon request by the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers shall confirm, in an original writing, each
facsimile request for advance made by any Borrower. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) the Lenders shall have no obligation to make any advance with respect to the Revolving
Facility after the Maturity Date or any advance with respect to the Term Facility after the Restatement Date, other than pursuant to Section 1.9 of this Agreement (if applicable); and
(b) the Swing Line Lender shall have no obligation to make any advance with respect to the Swing Line Facility after the Swing Line Termination Date.

(b) Interest Rate Election; Certain Advance Procedures and Limits. Amounts advanced in connection with the Loans shall bear interest at the Applicable
Interest Rate, which shall either be on a Base Rate basis, an Adjusted Daily Simple RFR basis, an Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate basis or a Term SOFR basis, as more fully set forth
below, and in the Exhibits attached hereto, except that (i) Swing Line Loans shall only be made available to the Borrowers on a Base Rate basis, (ii) Alternative Currency Loans
denominated in Euros shall only be made available to the Borrowers on an Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate basis, (iii) Alternative Currency Loans denominated in Sterling shall only be
made available to the Borrowers on an Adjusted Daily Simple RFR basis and (iv) Loans denominated in Dollars shall only be made available on an Adjusted Base Rate or Term SOFR
basis. Advances bearing interest on a Base Rate basis shall be in minimum and incremental amounts of One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), and shall be
made available on a same-day basis, if requested by 12:00 Noon, New York, NY time, on any Business Day. Advances bearing interest on a Term SOFR basis, an Adjusted Daily
Simple RFR basis or an Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate basis shall also be in minimum and incremental amounts of One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), and shall
be made available not less than three (3) RFR Business Days, nor more than five (5) RFR Business Days, if requested by 10:00 a.m., New York, NY time. The Borrowers’ right to
request Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate orTerm SOFR based interest, as well as certain additional terms, conditions and requirements relating thereto, are
set forth below and in the Exhibits, and each Borrower expressly acknowledges and consents to such additional terms and conditions. During the period from the Fifth
Amendment Effective Date until the first day of the first full calendar month after no less than fifteen (15) days have elapsed since the Administrative Agent’s receipt of the
quarterly compliance
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certificate and quarterly financial statements for the calendar quarter ending June 30, 2023, the Additional Base Rate Interest Margin shall be 2.75% and the Additional Term SOFR
Interest Margin, the Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin and the Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin shall each be 3.75%. Thereafter, the applicable Additional Base
Rate Interest Margin, Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin, Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin and Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin shall be (i) based on the VSE
Entities’ Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio, calculated in accordance with Section 6.15 of this Agreement, and (ii) determined in accordance with Exhibit 7 attached hereto. Interest
rate adjustments shall be applicable hereunder on a prospective basis. The Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin, Additional
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Eurocurrency Interest Margin and Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin shall be calculated by and become effective on the first day of the first full calendar month after no less
than fifteen (15) days have elapsed since the Administrative Agent’s receipt of the quarterly compliance certificate and quarterly financial statements required by this Agreement; it
being understood, however, that in the event the quarterly compliance certificate and quarterly financial statements are not submitted when due, the Borrowers shall not be
entitled to any reduction in the Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin, Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin and/or Additional Term
SOFR Interest Margin for the ensuing period, and at the option of the Administrative Agent, all amounts outstanding shall bear interest on a Base Rate basis, an Adjusted Daily
Simple RFR basis, an Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate basis or a Term SOFR basis (as the case may be), plus the highest applicable Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, Additional Daily
Simple RFR Interest Margin, Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin or Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin (as applicable) set forth in Exhibit 7 attached hereto. The
Administrative Agent may also, at its option, impose the Default Rate in addition to (and not in lieu of) the increased margins.

(c) Repayment; Interest; Automatic Advances/Payments. All sums advanced in connection with the Loans shall be repaid in accordance with the terms and
conditions set forth below and in the other Loan Documents:

(i) Repayment of Loan.

A. Term Facility. The Borrowers shall repay the outstanding principal amount of the Term Facility in quarterly installments, each in an amount
equal to $2,500,000 (as such installments may hereafter be adjusted as a result of mandatory payments made pursuant to Section 1.5 of this Agreement or prepayments made
pursuant to Section 1.4(f) of this Agreement), with the remaining principal balance due on the Maturity Date, unless accelerated sooner pursuant to this Agreement. Each such
payment with respect to any fiscal quarter shall be made on the first Business Day following the end of such fiscal quarter (beginning with a payment due on January 2, 2023 in
connection with the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2022).

B. Revolving Facility. Unless sooner accelerated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Borrowers shall repay on the Maturity Date the
aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Facility outstanding on such date.

C. Swing Line Facility. Unless sooner accelerated pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Borrowers shall repay on the
Maturity Date the aggregate principal amount of the Swing Line Facility outstanding on such date.

D. Fifth Amendment Term Facility. The Borrowers shall repay the outstanding principal amount of the Fifth Amendment Term Facility in
quarterly installments, each in an amount equal to $2,250,000 (as such installments may hereafter be adjusted as a result of mandatory payments made pursuant to Section 1.5 of
this Agreement or prepayments made pursuant to Section 1.4(f) of this Agreement), with the remaining principal balance due on the Maturity Date, unless accelerated sooner
pursuant to this Agreement. Each such payment with respect to any fiscal quarter shall be made on the first Business Day following the end of such fiscal quarter (beginning with a
payment due on October 2, 2023 in connection with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2023).

(ii) Interest.

A. So long as no Event of Default or any act, event or condition which with notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of
Default, has occurred and is continuing, the Borrowers shall have the right to elect that specified amounts advanced under the Revolving Facility, the Fifth Amendment Term
Facility or the Term Facility (to the extent denominated in Dollars) bear interest at Term SOFR plus the applicable Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin in effect at the
commencement of the particular Interest Period. The Borrowers must elect a Term SOFR based interest rate in accordance with the specific procedures set forth in this Agreement,
and any amounts bearing interest on a Term SOFR basis shall be subject to the terms and
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conditions of the Loan Documents applicable to amounts bearing interest on such basis, including the prepayment limitations and provisions regarding the payment of associated
costs, as more fully set forth in Exhibit 3 attached hereto. The Borrowers may not revoke any Term SOFR election without the Administrative Agent’s written consent. Upon the
expiration of an applicable Interest Period, unless the Borrowers are then entitled to again elect a Term SOFR based rate and the Administrative Agent has received an Interest
Election Form and Certification from the Borrowers, the rate of interest applicable to any amounts for which a Term SOFR based rate is expiring shall, from and after the end of the
applicable Interest Period, bear interest at the Base Rate, plus the applicable Additional Base Rate Interest Margin; it being understood and agreed, however, that such amount
may, at any time thereafter, bear interest at the Term SOFR based rate, plus the applicable Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin, provided that (i) the Borrowers are then entitled
to elect a Term SOFR based rate, and (ii) the Administrative Agent has received an appropriate Interest Election Form and Certification from the Borrowers. Upon (i) the expiration
of any Interest Period therefor, the Borrower may continue any Eurocurrency Rate Loans as Eurocurrency Rate Loans and (ii) the occurrence of the Interest Payment Date therefor,
continue any Daily Simple RFR Loans as Daily Simple RFR Loans

B. Interest accrued on a Base Rate basis and Adjusted Daily Simple RFR basis shall be payable in quarterly installments, in arrears,
commencing on March 31, 2018, and continuing on the last Business Day of each and every calendar quarter thereafter and on the Maturity Date. Base Rate interest shall be
calculated on a 365/366-day year basis and the actual number of days elapsed.
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C. Interest accrued on a Term SOFR basis and a Eurocurrency basisshall be due and payable on the last Business Day of the applicable Interest
Period (whether such last day shall occur by reason of acceleration, declaration, extension or otherwise), and if such applicable Interest Period is longer than three (3) months, also
on each Business Day which is three (3) months, or a multiple thereof, after the first day of such applicable Interest Period and the last day of such applicable Interest Period. Term
SOFR, Adjusted Daily Simple RFR and Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate interest shall be calculated on a 365/366-day year basis and the actual number of days elapsed.

(iii) Automatic Advances/Payments. The Borrowers hereby authorize the Administrative Agent, on any Business Day, to transfer funds from the
Collateral Account or any other designated account of the Borrowers to pay down the Obligations and to make Loans or Swing Line Loans available to the Borrowers to cover
shortages or overdrafts in the Collateral Account or such other designated account of the Borrowers. All such transfers are subject to the availability of Loan proceeds under the
Revolving Facility (with respect to advances) and the availability of funds in the Collateral Account or such other designated account(s) of the Borrowers (with respect to paydowns).
The Administrative Agent may, in its discretion, make such transfers (or direct any Lender maintaining a Deposit Account of a Borrower to wire transfer to the Administrative Agent
any funds on deposit thereon to facilitate any such transfer by the Administrative Agent), but shall have no liability for its failure to do so. Subject to the terms of any cash
management agreement between the Borrowers and the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers may, at any time, terminate the authority granted by the Borrowers to the
Administrative Agent herein upon not less than two (2) Business Days prior written notice to the Administrative Agent.

(d) Application of Payments. All payments made or to be made upon any Obligations shall be payable in lawful currency of the United States (or, in the case of
Alternative Currency Loans, in the applicable currency) and in immediately available funds. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan
Document, if at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Administrative Agent to pay in full all amounts of principal, interest, fees and other amounts then
due pursuant to this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents (as the case may be), such funds shall be applied as follows:

(i) first, to expenses and costs of collection, if any, incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection with the Loans, including all court costs and the
reasonable fees and expenses of its agents and legal counsel, the repayment of all advances made by the Administrative Agent hereunder or under any other Loan Document on
behalf of the Borrowers and any other reasonable costs or expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection with the exercise of any right or remedy hereunder;

(ii) second, to fees and late charges owing by any Borrower to the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and
then to fees and late charges owing by any Borrower to the Lenders (ratably in accordance with their Percentage) pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document;
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(iii) third, to accrued and unpaid interest hereunder (applied first to the Swing Line Facility and then pro rata to the Revolving Facility, the Fifth
Amendment Term Facility, the Term Facility and scheduled payments that are part of the Hedging Obligations);

(iv) fourth, to the outstanding principal amount of the Obligations and termination payments under Hedging Contracts (applied first to Swing Line
Outstandings (if any), then pro rata to the unpaid and outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Facility, the Fifth Amendment Term Facility and the Term Facility and all
termination payments that are part of the Hedging Obligations, and then pro rata to Permitted Financial Product Obligations); and

(v) fifth, to any Person lawfully entitled thereto.

(e) Adjustments. If, as a result of any restatement of or other adjustment to the financial statements of the VSE Entities or for any other reason, the
Borrowers or the Administrative Agent shall determine that (i) the Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio, as calculated by the Borrowers as of any applicable date, was inaccurate and
(ii) a proper calculation of the Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio would have resulted in a higher Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin, Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest
Margin, Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin, Additional Base Rate Interest Margin, Revolving Facility Commitment Fee or Letter of Credit Fee for the applicable period, the
Borrowers shall immediately and retroactively be obligated to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender (or, after the occurrence of an actual or deemed entry
of an order for relief with respect to the Borrowers under the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, automatically and without further action by the Administrative Agent), an
amount equal to the excess of the amount of interest and fees that should have been paid for such period over the amount of interest and fees actually paid for such period. This
paragraph shall not otherwise limit the rights of the Administrative Agent or any Lender hereunder. The Borrowers’ obligations under this paragraph shall survive the termination
of this Agreement and the repayment of all Obligations hereunder.

(f) Prepayment. Amounts outstanding which bear interest on a Base Rate basis may be prepaid, in whole or in part, at any time, without penalty or premium;
provided such prepayment amounts are in amounts not less than One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00) and in increments of One Hundred Thousand and
No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), or, in each case, such lesser amount as may then be outstanding. Amounts outstanding which bear interest on a Term SOFR, Adjusted Daily Simple
RFR orAdjusted EurocurrencyRate basis may also be prepaid, in whole or in part, at any time, without penalty or premium, subject, however, to Exhibit 3 attached hereto. Partial
prepayments under this clause (f) shall be applied to amounts due under the Loans as the Borrowers shall direct.

(g) Preference Period. If, after receipt of any payment hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent or the Lenders are
compelled or reasonably agree, for settlement purposes, to surrender such payment to any Person for any reason (including, without limitation, a determination that such
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payment is void or voidable as a preference or fraudulent conveyance, an impermissible setoff, or a diversion of trust funds), then this Agreement and the other Loan Documents
shall continue in full force and effect or be reinstated, as the case may be, and the Borrowers shall be liable for, and shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders with respect to the full amount so surrendered. The provisions of this Section shall survive the cancellation or termination of this Agreement and shall
remain effective notwithstanding the payment of the Obligations, the release of any security interest, lien or encumbrance securing the Obligations or any other action which the
Administrative Agent or any Lender may have taken in reliance upon its receipt of such payment.

1.5 Additional Mandatory Payments; Reduction of Commitment. In addition to all other sums payable by the Borrowers pursuant to any of the Notes, this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, the Borrowers shall also make mandatory payments on the Notes (with such mandatory payments applied first to the Term Facility until
the Term Facility shall have been paid and satisfied in full, and then to the Fifth Amendment Term Facility until the Fifth Amendment Term Facility shall have been paid and satisfied
in full, and then to amounts outstanding under the Revolving Facility, as provided herein below; it being understood and agreed that such mandatory payments shall also be
subject to Section 1.4(d) of this Agreement as set forth below, upon the occurrence of any Excess Cash Event. The amount of such mandatory payment shall be equal to the Net
Cash arising from such Excess Cash Event(s). All such mandatory prepayments shall be applied to amounts due under the Loans as provided hereinabove in inverse order of
maturities and such mandatory prepayments shall not relieve the Borrowers of their obligation to pay periodic installments of principal and/or interest hereunder as and when the
same would otherwise be due hereunder. If any Mandatory Payment shall be applied to borrowings under the Revolving Facility in accordance with this Section 1.5(a) of this
Agreement (i.e., the Term Facility and the Fifth Amendment Term Facility shall have been paid and satisfied in full), the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount shall, unless waived
in writing by the Administrative Agent, be reduced by an amount equal to the amount of such Mandatory Payment, such reduction to become effective simultaneously with the
occurrence of the Excess Cash Event. Notwithstanding
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the foregoing, in the event any mandatory payment required to be paid pursuant to this Section 1.5(a) is not sufficient to pay in full all amounts of principal, interest, fees and other
amounts then due pursuant to this Agreement, such payment shall also be subject to the application of payment provisions pursuant to Section 1.4(d) of this Agreement.

1.6 Field Audits. The Administrative Agent has the right at any time and in its discretion upon reasonable prior notice and during normal business hours to conduct
field audits with respect to the Collateral and each VSE Entity’s Receivables, inventory, business and operations. All field audits shall be at the cost and expense of the
Administrative Agent; provided that, any and all field audits conducted following an Event of Default shall be at the Borrowers’ cost and expense.

1.7 Certain Fees. In addition to principal, interest and other sums payable under the Notes, the Borrowers shall pay the following fees:

(a) Upfront Fee. The Borrowers shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of each Lender party to this Agreement as of the Restatement Date, an
upfront fee in the amounts, and at the times, pursuant to the Fee Letter, and as may be further agreed upon in writing by the Primary Operating Company and the Administrative
Agent from time to time. Additionally, the Borrowers shall pay to the Administrative Agent (i) for the account of each Incremental Revolving Facility Lender, an upfront fee (an
“Incremental Revolving Facility Upfront Fee”), for the Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment made by such Incremental Revolving Facility Lender pursuant to this Agreement
in an amount to be determined at the time such Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment is accepted by the Borrowers and (ii) for the account of each Incremental Term Facility
Lender, an upfront fee (each, an “Incremental Term Facility Upfront Fee”) for the Incremental Term Facility Commitment made by such Incremental Term Facility Lender pursuant
to this Agreement in an amount to be determined at the time such Incremental Term Facility Commitment is accepted by the Borrowers. Any Incremental Revolving Facility
Upfront Fee and/or Incremental Term Facility Upfront Fee shall be due and payable in full on the effective date of the particular increase to the Revolving Facility Commitment
Amount and/or Term Facility Commitment Amount, as applicable.

(b) Commitment Fee. So long as any amounts remain outstanding in connection with the Revolving Facility, or the Lenders have any obligation to make any
advance in connection therewith, the Borrowers shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, a quarterly commitment fee (the “Revolving Facility
Commitment Fee”), at an annual rate corresponding to the Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio for the immediately preceding Fiscal Quarter, as set forth on Exhibit 7 attached
hereto, calculated on the difference between (i)  the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount (including any increases thereto pursuant to Section 1.8 of this Agreement), and
(ii) without duplication (i.e., with no consideration for the Swing Line Outstandings if such outstandings have already been included in the outstanding principal balance of the
Revolving Facility), the sum of the average daily outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Facility and Swing Line Outstandings during the applicable three (3)-month period,
plus the aggregate face amount of all Letters of Credit outstanding at any time during the applicable three (3)-month period. The Revolving Facility Commitment Fee shall be
calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a three hundred sixty (360)-day year, shall be due for any three (3)-month period during which the Lenders shall
have any obligation in connection with the Facility, and shall be payable in arrears, commencing on March 31, 2018, and continuing on the last Business Day of every third (3rd)
calendar month thereafter for so long as this Agreement remains in effect, and on the date on which the Obligations have been paid and satisfied in full.

(c) Other Fees. The Borrowers shall pay to the Administrative Agent such other fees in the amounts, and at the times, pursuant to the Fee Letter, and as may
be further agreed upon in writing by the Primary Operating Company and the Administrative Agent from time to time.

(d) Letter of Credit Fees. The Borrowers shall pay any and all Letter of Credit fees as and when such fees become due and payable pursuant to this
Agreement.
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(e) Out-of-Pocket Fees and Expenses. The Borrowers shall be liable for and shall timely pay all out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses of counsel for the Administrative Agent, and of other special and local counsel and other experts, if any, engaged by the Administrative Agent) from
time to time incurred by the Administrative Agent or the Lead Arranger in connection with (i) the syndication of the Loan or (ii) the drafting of, administration of, preservation of
rights in and enforcement of this Agreement, the other Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
the Borrowers shall be liable for all of the Administrative Agent’s out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses of counsel for the
Administrative Agent) associated with any and all amendments, waivers or consents prepared, negotiated, executed, issued or delivered in connection with
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this Agreement. Notwithstanding any judgment rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction related to the Loans, this section shall not be merged into such judgment, but shall
survive the same and shall be binding and conclusive on the parties for all time. Post-judgment attorneys’ fees and costs incurred related to the enforcement of such judgment
related to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be recoverable hereunder in the same or separate actions.

1.8 Increases to the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount.

(a) The Borrowers may, by written notice to the Administrative Agent from time to time after the Restatement Date, request Incremental Revolving Facility
Commitments in an amount not to exceed the Uncommitted Incremental Increase Limit (less the amount of any Prior Increases and Incremental Term Facility Commitments being
simultaneously requested) from one or more Incremental Revolving Facility Lenders, which, in the first instance, shall only include existing Lenders; provided that (i) no Lender shall
have any obligation to become an Incremental Revolving Facility Lender (and the Lenders shall have no obligation to increase the Revolving Facility Commitments by the amount
requested by the Borrowers), and (ii) if the full amount of the Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments being requested are not subscribed for by existing Lenders within ten
(10) Business Days of the delivery of such written notice, the Borrowers may offer such remaining Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments to other non-Lender financial
institutions; provided further that each Incremental Revolving Facility Lender, if not already a Lender hereunder, shall be subject to the approval of the Administrative Agent. Each
such notice shall set forth (i) the amount of the Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments being requested (which shall be in minimum increments of Five Million and No/100
Dollars ($5,000,000.00) and a minimum amount of Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00), or equal to the Uncommitted Incremental Increase Limit (less the amount of any
Prior Increases and Incremental Term Facility Commitments being simultaneously requested)) and (ii) the date on which such Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments are
requested to become effective (which shall not be less than ten (10) Business Days nor more than forty-five (45) days after the date of such notice). Any Loan made or to be made
pursuant to an Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment shall (A) constitute a Loan made pursuant to this Agreement, (B) be deemed advanced under the Revolving Facility,
(C) bear interest and be repaid in accordance with this Agreement applicable to advances made under the Revolving Facility, without preference or priority, (D) be secured by the
Collateral on a pari passu basis, and (E) be subject to all other terms and conditions of this Agreement applicable to Loans and advances thereof.

(b) The Borrowers and each Incremental Revolving Facility Lender shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Incremental Facility Assumption
Agreement and such other documentation as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably specify to evidence the Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment of such Incremental
Revolving Facility Lender. The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Lender as to the effectiveness of each Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement. Each of the
parties hereto hereby agrees that, upon the effectiveness of any Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement, this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent (but only to
the extent) necessary to reflect the existence and terms of the Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment evidenced thereby.

(c) The Administrative Agent may take any and all actions as may be reasonably necessary to ensure that, after giving effect to any Incremental Revolving
Facility Commitment pursuant to this Section 1.8, the outstanding Loans under the Revolving Facility (if any) are held by the Lenders in accordance with their new pro rata
Percentages. This may be accomplished at the discretion of the Administrative Agent (i) by requiring the outstanding Loans to be prepaid with the proceeds of a new Revolving
Facility borrowing, (ii) by causing the existing Lenders to assign portions of their outstanding Loans to Incremental Revolving Facility Lenders, (iii) by permitting the Revolving
Facility borrowings outstanding at the time of any increase in the Revolving Facility Commitment Amount pursuant to this Section 1.8 to remain outstanding until the last days of
the respective Interest Periods therefor, even though the Lenders would hold such Revolving Facility borrowings other than in accordance with their new pro rata Percentages, or
(iv) by any combination of the foregoing. Any prepayment or assignment described in this Subsection (c) shall be subject to indemnification by the Borrowers pursuant to this
Agreement, but otherwise be without premium or penalty.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment shall become effective, unless on the date of such effectiveness, (i) no
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, and no act, event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or the lapse of time, or both, would constitute
an Event of Default, and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have received (A) a certificate dated such date and executed by the Chief Financial Officer or other duly authorized officer
of the Borrowers, on behalf of the Borrowers, certifying that all of the representations and warranties set forth in Article 5 and in each of the other Loan Documents are true and
correct in all respects on and as of the date of the certificate with the same effect as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent that a representation and warranty
relates to an earlier date); (B) to the extent requested by any applicable Lender, a duly executed Note (or an Allonge to an existing Note, as the case may be), in form and substance
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, which shall evidence the Loans to be made pursuant to the Incremental Revolving Facility Commitment; (C) UCC, judgment, bankruptcy,
pending
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litigation and tax lien search results for the Borrowers, confirming that no intervening lien, claim or encumbrance (other than Permitted Liens) on any Collateral exists that would
affect the legality, validity or priority of the liens in favor of the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders with respect to such Collateral; (D) the applicable
Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement, duly executed by the parties thereto, together with such other documents, instruments and/or agreements reasonably requested by
the Administrative Agent, including, without limitation, an opinion of counsel, resolutions and secretary’s/officer’s certificates with respect to each Borrower, each in form and
substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent; and (E) the applicable Incremental Revolving Facility Upfront Fee payable by the Borrowers to and for the account of each
Incremental Revolving Facility Lender.

1.9 Increases to the Term Facility Commitment Amount.

(a) The Borrowers may, by written notice to the Administrative Agent from time to time after the Restatement Date, request Incremental Term Facility
Commitments in an amount not to exceed the Uncommitted Incremental Increase Limit (less the amount of any Prior Increases and Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments
being simultaneously requested) from one or more Incremental Term Facility Lenders, which, in the first instance, shall only include existing Lenders; provided that (i) no Lender
shall have any obligation to become an Incremental Term Facility Lender (and the Lenders shall have no obligation to increase the Term Facility Commitments by the amount
requested by the Borrowers), and (ii) if the full amount of the Incremental Term Facility Commitments being requested are not subscribed for by existing Lenders within ten (10)
Business Days of the delivery of such written notice, the Borrowers may offer such remaining Incremental Term Facility Commitments to other non-Lender financial institutions;
provided further that each Incremental Term Facility Lender, if not already a Lender hereunder, shall be subject to the approval of the Administrative Agent. Each such notice shall
set forth (i) the amount of the Incremental Term Facility Commitments being requested (which shall be in minimum increments of Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00)
and a minimum amount of Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00), or equal to the Uncommitted Incremental Increase Limit (less the amount of any Prior Increases and
Incremental Revolving Facility Commitments being simultaneously requested)) and (ii) the date on which such Incremental Term Facility Commitments are requested to become
effective (which shall not be less than ten (10) Business Days nor more than forty-five (45) days after the date of such notice). Any Loan made or to be made pursuant to an
Incremental Term Facility Commitment shall (A) constitute a Loan made pursuant to this Agreement, (B) be deemed advanced under the Term Facility, (C) bear interest and be
repaid in accordance with this Agreement applicable to advances made under the Term Facility, without preference or priority, (D) be secured by the Collateral on a pari passu basis,
and (E) be subject to all other terms and provisions of this Agreement applicable to Loans and advances thereof.

(b) The Borrowers and each Incremental Term Facility Lender shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Incremental Facility Assumption
Agreement and such other documentation as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably specify to evidence the Incremental Term Facility Commitment of such Incremental Term
Facility Lender. The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Lender as to the effectiveness of each Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement. Each of the parties hereto
hereby agrees that, upon the effectiveness of any Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement, this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent (but only to the extent)
necessary to reflect the existence and terms of the Incremental Term Facility Commitment evidenced thereby.

(c) The Term Loans funded by the Incremental Term Facility Lenders shall have a maturity date no earlier than the existing Maturity Date with respect to the
Term Facility, and shall have a Weighted Average Life to Maturity no shorter than the original Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Term Loans made pursuant to Section 1.4(a)
of this Agreement, without giving effect to any prepayments. The terms (other than maturity, amortization and pricing) of any Term Loans funded by the Incremental Term Facility
Lenders shall be identical to those of the Term Loans made pursuant to Section 1.4(a) of this Agreement, and if the All-In Yield applicable to any such Term Loans exceeds the All-In
Yield of the Term Loans existing at such time by more than fifty (50) basis points, then the interest rate margins for the Term Loans existing at such time shall be increased to the
extent necessary so that the All-In Yield of such Term Loans is equal to the All-In Yield of such Term Loans advanced by the Incremental Term Facility Lenders minus fifty (50) basis
points.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Incremental Term Facility Commitment shall become effective, unless on the date of such effectiveness, (i) no Event of
Default shall have occurred and be continuing, and no act, event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or the lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event
of Default, (ii) the Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio (on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the funding of such Incremental Term Facility Commitments) shall be (and the
Borrowers must provide written evidence thereof), no greater than the lesser of (A) 3.75 to 1.00 and (B) 0.25 less than the then applicable level set forth in Section 6.15(a) of this
Agreement, and (iii) the Administrative Agent shall have received (A) a certificate dated such date and executed by the Chief Financial Officer or other duly authorized officer of the
Borrowers, on behalf of the Borrowers, certifying that all of the representations and warranties set forth in Article 5 and in each of
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the other Loan Documents are true and correct in all respects on and as of the date of the certificate with the same effect as though made on and as of such date (except to the
extent that a representation and warranty relates to an earlier date); (B) to the extent requested by any applicable Lender, a duly executed Note (or an Allonge to an existing Note,
as the case may be), in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, which shall evidence the Loans to be made pursuant to the Incremental Term Facility
Commitment; (C) UCC, judgment, bankruptcy, pending litigation and tax lien search results for the Borrowers, confirming that no intervening lien, claim or encumbrance (other
than Permitted Liens) on any Collateral exists that would affect the legality, validity or priority of the liens in favor of the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders
with respect to such Collateral; (D) the applicable Incremental Facility Assumption Agreement, duly executed by the parties thereto, together with such other documents,
instruments and/or agreements reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, including, without limitation, an opinion of counsel, resolutions and secretary’s/officer’s
certificates with respect to each Borrower, each in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent; and (E) the applicable Incremental Term Facility Upfront Fee payable
by the Borrowers to and for the account of each Incremental Term Facility Lender. Additionally, the Administrative Agent and the Incremental Term Facility Lenders shall have
agreed with the Borrowers as to the amortization and funding mechanics of such additional Loans.

(e) Any Incremental Term Facility Commitment incurred solely to finance a substantially concurrent Limited Condition Acquisition shall be subject to Section
1.13.

1.10Appointment of the Primary Operating Company. Each Borrower acknowledges that (a) the Lenders have agreed to extend credit to each of the Borrowers on
an integrated basis for the purposes herein set forth; (b) it is receiving direct or indirect benefits from each such extension of credit; and (c) the obligations of the Borrower or
Borrowers under this Agreement are the joint and several obligations of each Borrower. To facilitate the administration of the Loan, each Borrower hereby irrevocably appointsthe
Primary Operating Company as its true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact with full power and authority to execute, deliver and acknowledge on such Borrower’s behalf, each
Request for Advance and Certification and all other Loan Documents or other materials provided or to be provided to the Administrative Agent or any Lender pursuant to this
Agreement or in connection with the Loan. This power-of-attorney is coupled with an interest and cannot be revoked, modified or amended without the prior written consent of
the Administrative Agent. Upon request of the Administrative Agent, each Borrower shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Administrative Agent a Power of Attorney, in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, confirming and restating the power-of-attorney granted herein.

1.11Joinder of New Subsidiaries and Affiliates.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 1.11(b) of this Agreement or unless waived in writing by the Administrative Agent, acting at the direction of the
Required Lenders, in their sole and absolute discretion, the Borrowers shall cause any present or future wholly-owned Affiliate of any VSE Entity (other than the Restricted Non-
Borrower Affiliates) to execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent (a) within forty-five (45) days of the date of formation or acquisition (as applicable) of any domestic entity,
and (b) ninety (90) days of the date of formation or acquisition (as applicable) of any foreign entity, or a Foreign Subsidiary exceeding the thresholds set forth in clause (b) below (i) a
Joinder Agreement in the form of Exhibit 6 attached hereto (a “Joinder Agreement”), pursuant to which such Affiliate shall (A) join in and become a party to this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents; (B) agree to comply with and be bound by this Agreement and all of the other Loan Documents; and (C) become a “Borrower” and thereafter be jointly and
severally liable for the performance of all the past, present and future obligations and liabilities of the Borrowers hereunder and under the Loan Documents; and (ii) such other
documents, instruments and agreements as may be reasonably required by the Administrative Agent in connection therewith (including an opinion of counsel and any information
required by any Lender (requested by and through the Administrative Agent) to comply with “Know Your Customer” and similar requirements to identify and verify new bank
customers), in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent in all respects. The Borrowers acknowledge and agree that the Administrative Agent shall have the right,
at the Borrowers’ cost and expense, to perform a field audit of the Receivables, inventory, business and operations of any present or future Affiliate proposed to be joined as a
“Borrower” hereunder.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in clause (a) above, no Foreign Subsidiary shall be required to become a “Borrower” party to this
Agreement and/or any of the other Loan Documents, unless such Foreign Subsidiary would be considered a Material Foreign Subsidiary (in which event such entity will be required
to be joined (within 90 days of the date of such determination) as a Foreign Borrower pursuant to the terms of clause (a) above). However, irrespective of whether or not any
Person is required to be joined as a “Borrower” party to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, the Borrowers shall undertake, and cause the Non-Borrower Affiliates to
undertake, any and all necessary and appropriate procedures to grant in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, a first priority perfected security
interest in and to sixty-five percent (65%) of the equity interests in each Foreign Subsidiary within sixty (60) days of such Person becoming
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a Foreign Subsidiary. It is expressly understood and agreed that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders have waived the requirement for VSE Aviation, Inc. to pledge sixty-five
percent (65%) of the equity interests in VSE Aviation Singapore PTE. LTD., a Singapore private limited liability company, which waiver shall be effective so long as (i) no default or
Event of Default is continuing hereunder; and/or (ii) VSE Aviation Singapore PTE. LTD., a Singapore private limited liability company is not a Material Foreign Subsidiary (in which
event it shall also be joined as a Foreign Borrower hereunder).

1.12Division/Series Transactions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or plan of division under Delaware law (or any
comparable event under a different jurisdiction’s laws): (a) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different Person,
then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be
deemed to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its equity interests at such time.
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1.13Limited Condition Acquisitions. In the event that the Borrowers notify the Administrative Agent in writing that any proposed acquisition is a Limited Condition
Acquisition and that the Borrowers wish to test the conditions to such acquisition and the Indebtedness that is to be used to finance such acquisition in accordance with this
Section 1.13, then, so long as agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the lenders providing such Indebtedness, the following provisions shall apply:

(a) any condition to such Limited Condition Acquisition or such Indebtedness that requires that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing
at the time of such Limited Condition Acquisition or the incurrence of such Indebtedness, shall be satisfied if (i) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing
at the time of the execution of the definitive purchase agreement, merger agreement or other acquisition agreement governing such Limited Condition Acquisition (the “LCA Test
Date”) and (ii) no Event of Default under any of Section 9.1(a), 9.1(g) or 9.1(l) shall have occurred and be continuing both immediately before and immediately after giving effect to
such Limited Condition Acquisition and any Indebtedness incurred in connection therewith (including any such additional Indebtedness);

(b) any condition to such Limited Condition Acquisition or such Indebtedness that the representations and warranties in this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents shall be true and correct at the time of consummation of such Limited Condition Acquisition or the incurrence of such Indebtedness shall be deemed satisfied if (i) all
representations and warranties in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects (except for any representation and warranty that is
qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect, which such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects) as of the LCA Test Date, or if such
representation speaks as of an earlier date, as of such earlier date and (ii) as of the date of consummation of such Limited Condition Acquisition, (A) the representations and
warranties under the relevant definitive agreement governing such Limited Condition Acquisition as are material to the lenders providing such Indebtedness shall be true and
correct, but only to the extent that the applicable Borrower or its applicable Subsidiary has the right to terminate its obligations under such agreement or otherwise decline to
close such Limited Condition Acquisition as a result of a breach of such representations and warranties or the failure of those representations and warranties to be true and correct
and (B) certain of the representations and warranties in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents which are customary for similar “funds certain” financings and required by
the lenders providing such Indebtedness shall be true and correct in all material respects (except for any representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to
Material Adverse Effect, which such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects);

(c) any financial ratio test or condition to be tested in connection with such Limited Condition Acquisition and the availability of such Indebtedness will be tested as of
the LCA Test Date, in each case, after giving effect to the relevant Limited Condition Acquisition and related incurrence of Indebtedness, on a pro forma basis where applicable, and,
for the avoidance of doubt, (i) such ratios and baskets shall not be tested at the time of consummation of such Limited Condition Acquisition and (ii) if any of such ratios are
exceeded or conditions are not met following the LCA Test Date, but prior to the closing of such Limited Condition Acquisition, as a result of fluctuations in such ratio or amount
(including due to fluctuations in Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrowers or the Person subject to such Limited Condition Acquisition), at or prior to the consummation of the
relevant transaction or action, such ratios will not be deemed to have been exceeded and such conditions will not be deemed unmet as a result of such fluctuations solely for
purposes of determining whether the relevant transaction or action is permitted to be consummated or taken;
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(d) except as provided in the next sentence, in connection with any subsequent calculation of any ratio or basket on or following the relevant LCA Test Date and prior
to the earlier of the date on which such Limited Condition Acquisition is consummated and the date that the definitive agreement for such Limited Condition Acquisition is
terminated or expires without consummation of such Limited Condition Acquisition, any such ratio or basket shall be calculated (i) on a pro forma basis assuming such Limited
Condition Acquisition and other transactions in connection therewith (including the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) have been consummated and (ii) assuming such
Limited Condition Acquisition and other transactions in connection therewith (including the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) have not been consummated.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any calculation of a ratio in connection with determining the Applicable Interest Rate and determining whether or not the Borrower is in
compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Section 6.15 shall, in each case be calculated assuming such Limited Condition Acquisition and other transactions in connection
therewith (including the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) have not been consummated.

(e) The foregoing provisions shall apply with similar effect during the pendency of multiple Limited Condition Acquisitions such that each of the possible scenarios is
separately tested

ARTICLE 2 

LETTERS OF CREDIT

2.1 Issuance. The Borrowers and the Lenders acknowledge that from time to time the Borrowers may request that the LC Issuer issue or amend Letter(s) of Credit.
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and any other requirements for letters of credit normally and customarily imposed by the LC Issuer, the LC Issuer agrees to
issue such requested letters of credit, provided that no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, and no act, event or condition has occurred or exists which with notice or
the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default. If any such Letter(s) of Credit are issued by the LC Issuer, each of the Revolving Facility Lenders shall purchase
from the LC Issuer a risk participation with respect to such Letter(s) of Credit in an amount equal to such Revolving Facility Lender’s Percentage of the Revolving Facility
Commitment Amount. The LC Issuer shall not have any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit that has an expiration date beyond the date which is three (3) Business Days prior to
the Maturity Date, unless the Borrowers shall have deposited with such LC Issuer, concurrent with the issuance or renewal of any such Letter of Credit, cash security therefor in an
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amount equal to the face amount of the Letter of Credit. Any request for a Letter of Credit shall be made by a Borrower submitting to the LC Issuer (with a copy to the
Administrative Agent) an Application and Agreement for Letter of Credit or Amendment to Letter of Credit (each being herein referred to as a “Letter of Credit Application”) on the
LC Issuer’s standard form, at least three (3) Business Days prior to the date on which the issuance or amendment of the Letter of Credit shall be required, which Letter of Credit
Application shall be executed by a duly authorized officer of a Borrower, and be accompanied by such other supporting documentation and information as the Administrative
Agent or the LC Issuer may from time to time reasonably request. Each Letter of Credit Application shall be deemed to govern the terms of issuance of the subject Letter of Credit,
except to the extent inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Letters of Credit shall not be issued for durations of longer than one (1) year. Any outstanding Letter of Credit
may be renewed from time to time; provided that (a) at least sixty (60) days’ prior written notice thereof shall have been given by the Borrowers to the Administrative Agent and
the LC Issuer; (b) no Event of Default exists under the terms and conditions of the particular Letter of Credit or this Agreement, and no act, event or condition has occurred or exists
which with notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default under the terms and conditions of the particular Letter of Credit or this Agreement; and (c) if
the renewal period would expire later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Maturity Date, the Borrowers shall have deposited with the LC Issuer, concurrent with the renewal of
such Letter of Credit, cash security therefor in an amount equal to the face amount of such Letter of Credit. It is expressly understood and agreed that the face amount of any
outstanding Letters of Credit will reduce availability under the Revolving Facility.

2.2 Amounts Advanced Pursuant to Letters of Credit. Upon the issuance of any Letter(s) of Credit (a) any amounts drawn pursuant thereto shall be deemed
advanced ratably under the Revolver Notes, shall bear interest and be payable in accordance with the terms of the Revolver Notes and shall be secured by the Collateral (in the
same manner as all other sums advanced under the Revolver Notes); and (b) each Revolving Facility Lender shall purchase from the LC Issuer such risk participations in the
Letter(s) of Credit as shall be necessary to cause each Revolving Facility Lender to share the funding obligations with respect thereto ratably in accordance with such Lender’s
Percentage. All obligations and liabilities of the Borrowers to the LC Issuer in connection with any such Letter(s) of Credit shall be deemed to be “Obligations,” and the
Administrative Agent shall not be required to release its security interest in the Collateral until (a) all sums due under the Notes and the other Obligations have been paid and
satisfied in full, (b) all Letters of Credit have been canceled or expired, and (c) no Lender or the LC Issuer has any further obligation or responsibility to make additional Loan
advances or issue additional Letters of Credit. Furthermore, in no event whatsoever shall the LC Issuer have any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit which would cause (a) the
face amount of all then outstanding Letters of Credit issued for the account of any or all
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Borrowers to exceed Twenty-Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($25,000,000.00), in the aggregate, or (b) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Facility
(including the aggregate face amount of all Letters of Credit outstanding, Swing Line Loans outstanding and Alternative Currency Loans outstanding), to exceed the Revolving
Facility Commitment Amount.

2.3 Letter of Credit Fees. The Borrowers shall be jointly and severally liable for the payment to: (a) the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, of
a quarterly fee (the “Letter of Credit Fee”) at the annual rate equal to the Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin corresponding to the Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio reported
as of the immediately preceding quarter, as set forth on Exhibit 7 attached hereto, which shall be calculated (i) on the face amount of each Letter of Credit as of the date of issuance
(or the anniversary or amendment date, as applicable), and (ii) on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a three hundred sixty (360)-day year; and (b) the LC Issuer, of
an issuance fee in an amount equal to the LC Issuer’s standard pricing for such fees, as amended from time to time, and the customary administrative charges (collectively, the
“Letter of Credit Administration Fee”). The Letter of Credit Fee shall be due and payable, in advance, on the date the Letter of Credit is issued, amended, extended or renewed and
on the same day of every third (3rd) month thereafter during which such Letter of Credit shall remain issued or outstanding. The Letter of Credit Administration Fee shall be due
and payable simultaneously with the LC Issuer’s issuance, amendment, extension or renewal of the particular Letter of Credit (as the case may be).

2.4 Documentation. Each Borrower agrees to be bound by the terms of the applicable Letter of Credit Application and the LC Issuer’s written regulations and
customary practices relating to letters of credit, though such interpretation may be different from such Borrower's own. In the event of a conflict between such Letter of Credit
Application and this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern subject to the terms of the International Standby Practices 1998, and any subsequent official revision thereof and the
terms of the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits (2007 Revision), International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 600, and any subsequent official revision
thereof. Except in the case of gross negligence or willful misconduct, as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, the LC Issuer shall not be liable for any error,
negligence or mistakes, whether of omission or commission, in following any Borrower's instructions or those contained in the Letters of Credit or any modifications, amendments
or supplements thereto. In determining whether to honor any request for drawing under any Letter of Credit by the beneficiary thereof, the LC Issuer shall be responsible only to
determine that the documents and certificates required to be delivered under such Letter of Credit have been delivered and that they comply on their face with the requirements
of such Letter of Credit.

2.5 Liability for Acts and Omissions. As between any VSE Entity and the LC Issuer, the Borrowers assume all risks of the acts and omissions of, or misuse of the
Letters of Credit by, the respective beneficiaries of such Letters of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the LC Issuer shall not be responsible for any of the
following, including any losses or damages to any VSE Entity or other Person or property relating therefrom: (a) the form, validity, sufficiency, accuracy, genuineness or legal effect
of any document submitted by any Person in connection with the particular Letter of Credit Application for such Letter of Credit, even if it should in fact prove to be in any or all
respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged (even if the LC Issuer shall have been notified thereof); (b) the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or
assigning or purporting to transfer or assign any such Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or
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ineffective for any reason; (c) the failure of the beneficiary of any such Letter of Credit, or any other Person to which such Letter of Credit may be transferred, to comply fully with
any conditions required in order to draw upon such Letter of Credit or any other claim of any VSE Entity against any beneficiary of such Letter of Credit, or any such transferee, or
any dispute between or among any VSE Entity and any beneficiary of any Letter of Credit or any such transferee; (d) errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or
delivery of any messages, by mail, cable, telegraph, telex or otherwise, whether or not they be in cipher; (e) errors in interpretation of technical terms; (f) any loss or delay in the
transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a drawing under any such Letter of Credit or of the proceeds thereof; (g) the misapplication of the proceeds
of any drawing under such Letter of Credit by the beneficiary of any such Letter of Credit; or (h) any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the LC Issuer,
including any act or omission of any Government, and none of the above shall affect or impair, or prevent the vesting of, any of the LC Issuer’s rights or powers hereunder. Nothing
in the preceding sentence shall relieve the LC Issuer from liability for the LC Issuer’s gross negligence or willful misconduct, as finally determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction, in connection with actions or omissions described in such clauses (a) through (h) of such sentence. In no event shall the LC Issuer be liable to any VSE Entity for any
indirect, consequential, incidental, punitive, exemplary or special damages or expenses (including attorneys’ fees), or for any damages resulting from any change in the value of any
property relating to a Letter of Credit. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the LC Issuer (i) may rely on any oral or other communication believed in good faith by the
LC Issuer to have been authorized or given by or on behalf of the applicant for a Letter of Credit, (ii) may honor any presentation if the documents presented appear on their face
to comply with the terms and conditions of the relevant Letter of Credit; (iii) may honor a previously dishonored presentation under a Letter of Credit, whether such dishonor was
pursuant to a court order, to settle or
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compromise any claim of wrongful dishonor, or otherwise, and shall be entitled to reimbursement to the same extent as if such presentation had initially been honored, together
with any interest paid by the LC Issuer; (iv) may honor any drawing that is payable upon presentation of a statement advising negotiation or payment, upon receipt of such
statement (even if such statement indicates that a draft or other document is being delivered separately), and shall not be liable for any failure of any such draft or other document
to arrive, or to conform in any way with the relevant Letter of Credit; (v) may pay any paying or negotiating bank claiming that it rightfully honored under the laws or practices of
the place where such bank is located; and (vi) may settle or adjust any claim or demand made on the LC Issuer in any way related to any order issued at the applicant's request to
an air carrier, a letter of guarantee or of indemnity issued to a carrier or any similar document and honor any drawing in connection with any Letter of Credit that is the subject to
such order, notwithstanding that any drafts or other documents presented in connection with such Letter of Credit fail to conform in any way with such Letter of Credit.

ARTICLE 3 

SECURITY

3.1 Security Generally. As collateral security for the Loan and all other Obligations, the Borrowers hereby grant and convey to the Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Lenders ratably, a security interest in all of the assets of each Borrower, including, without limitation, the following (collectively, the “Collateral”):

Receivables. All of each Borrower’s present and future right, title and interest in and to any and all Accounts, contracts, contract rights, Chattel Paper,
General Intangibles, notes, drafts, acceptances, chattel mortgages, conditional sale contracts, bailment leases, security agreements and other forms of
obligations now or hereafter arising out of or acquired in the course of or in connection with any business each Borrower conducts, together with all liens,
guaranties, securities, rights, remedies and privileges pertaining to any of the foregoing, whether now existing or hereafter created or arising, and all rights
with respect to returned and repossessed items of Inventory;

Inventory. All of each Borrower’s present and future right, title and interest in and to any and all Inventory and Goods, wherever located, and whether held
for sale or lease or furnished or to be furnished under contracts of service, and all raw materials, work in process and materials now or hereafter owned by
each Borrower, wherever located, and used or consumed in its business, including all returned and repossessed items; and all other property now or
hereafter constituting Inventory;

Other Collateral. All of each Borrower’s present and future right, title and interest in and to any and all cash, cash equivalents, Permitted Investments,
Deposit Accounts, Documents, Instruments, Investment Property, Letter of Credit Rights and Supporting Obligations, whether any of the foregoing shall be
now owned or hereafter acquired by such Borrower, together with all of each Borrower’s present and future furniture, fixtures, Equipment, leasehold
improvements, machinery, supplies and other assets (other than certain stock of Foreign Subsidiaries, as below provided) and personal property of every
type or nature whatsoever, including all of each Borrower’s present and future inventions, designs, patents, patent applications, patent licenses,
trademarks, trademark applications, trade names, trade secrets, goodwill, registrations, copyrights, licenses, franchises, customer lists, tax refunds, tax
refund claims, rights of claims against carriers and shippers, leases and rights to indemnification;

Stock or Other Ownership Interests. All of each Borrower’s present and future right, title and interest in and to any and all of the issued and outstanding
capital stock, membership interests or other ownership interests in any other Person, whether such interests are now or hereafter issued or outstanding
and whether now or hereafter acquired by such Borrower, together with all voting, economic and other rights thereof or appurtenant thereto, pursuant to
the Stock Security Agreement, Membership Interest Assignment or such other documents, instruments or agreements as may be reasonably required by
the Administrative Agent;
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Leases. All of each Borrower’s present and future right, title and interest in and to any and all leases, occupancy agreements, subleases, contracts, licenses,
agreements and other understandings of or relating to the use, enjoyment or occupancy of real property or any improvements thereon; provided,
however, that if the terms of any such lease or other contract require such Borrower to notify or obtain the prior written consent of a third

40

party for the grant of a security interest in such lease or other contract, the security interest granted hereby in such lease or other contract shall not be
effective until such notification is delivered or such consent is obtained;

Records. All of each Borrower’s present and future right, title and interest in and to any and all records, documents and files, in whatever form, pertaining to
the Collateral; and

Proceeds, Etc. Any and all Proceeds of the foregoing and all increases, substitutions, replacements or additions to any or all of the foregoing.

The foregoing grant and conveyance of a security interest in the Collateral is in confirmation of (and not replacement of) the grant and conveyance of a security interest
in the Collateral that was previously made pursuant to or in accordance with the Existing Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents; the liens created by such prior grant and
conveyance of a security interest in the Collateral remain in full force and effect; and the grant of and conveyance of a security interest in the Collateral pursuant hereto shall be
supplemental to such prior grant and conveyance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to applicable provisions of Article 9 of the UCC, the above described grant and conveyance shall not be deemed to include
the grant and conveyance of (a) any Government Contract, Government Subcontract or Commercial Contract, which by its terms or Applicable Laws may not be conveyed;
however, in any such situation(s), the Administrative Agent’s security interest shall include (i) the entirety of each Borrower’s right, title and interest in and to all Receivables and all
other Proceeds directly or indirectly arising from such Government Contract, Government Subcontract or Commercial Contract, and (ii) all other rights and interests which any
Borrower may lawfully convey to the Administrative Agent with respect to such Government Contract, Government Subcontract or Commercial Contract (including a conveyance
of the applicable Commercial Contract if such prohibition on conveyance is negated by Applicable Laws); (b) any stock or other ownership interests of a Foreign Subsidiary in excess
of sixty-five percent (65%) of all of the issued and outstanding stock or other ownership interests of such Foreign Subsidiary; (c) motor vehicles titled in the name of any Borrower;
(d) any property owned by any Borrower subject to a purchase money security interest, capital lease or similar arrangement, in each case, to the extent permitted under the Loan
Documents, to the extent that (i) the contract or other agreement in which such Lien is granted (or the documentation providing for such purchase money security interest, capital
lease or similar arrangement) prohibits the creation of any other Lien on such property, (ii) such terms have not been waived and (iii) such prohibition is not terminated or
rendered unenforceable or otherwise deemed ineffective by the applicable UCC, Bankruptcy Code or any other Requirement of Law and other than proceeds and receivables
thereof, the assignment of which is expressly deemed effective under the applicable anti-assignment provisions of the UCC or other Applicable Law notwithstanding such
prohibition; (e) any contract, agreement, permit, lease or license or any property subject to such agreements, permits, leases, or licenses, in each case to the extent the pledge
thereof or the grant of security interests in such contract, agreement, permit, lease or license is prohibited by the terms of such contract, agreement, permit, lease or license,
requires the consent, approval, license or other authorization of a Governmental Authority or any other third party (other than any Borrower or any Affiliate thereof), in each case,
that has not been obtained or violates Applicable Law and would (i) result in the termination such arrangement or (ii) create a right of termination or acceleration in favor of any
party thereto (other than any Borrower or any Affiliate thereof) or otherwise adversely alter such Borrower’s rights, title and interests thereunder, except to the extent that such
prohibition in such contract, agreement, permit, lease or license is ineffective under Section 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-409 of the UCC (or any successor provision or provisions) of any
relevant jurisdiction or any other Applicable Law or principles of equity; (f) any “intent to use” trademark applications for which a statement of use has not been filed (but only until
such statement is filed); and (g) assets in circumstances where the Administrative Agent and the Primary Operating Company agree the cost, burden or consequences of obtaining
or perfecting a security interest in such assets is excessive in relation to the practical benefit afforded thereby.

3.2 No Preference or Priority. It is expressly understood and agreed that all Obligations, including Hedging Obligations with a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender, are
and shall be cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted such that the Collateral securing any of the Obligations shall secure repayment of all Obligations, and subject to any applicable
notice and cure periods, a default under any Obligation shall be a default under all Obligations. Subject to Section 1.4(d) of this Agreement, each of the Obligations shall be secured
without preference or priority; it being the intention of the parties that the Obligations shall be co-equal and coordinate in right of payment of principal, interest, late charges and
other sums due under the Loan Documents.

ARTICLE 4 

CONDITIONS TO THE LENDERS’ OBLIGATIONS
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The initial performance of the Lenders’ obligations under this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

4.1 Compliance with Law and Agreements; Third-Party Consents. The Lenders shall be reasonably satisfied with the VSE Entities’ capital structure, and that (a)
the Loan shall be in full compliance with all legal requirements and bank regulations, (b) all regulatory and third-party consents and approvals required to be obtained have been
obtained, and (c) the VSE Entities shall have performed all agreements theretofore to be performed by the VSE Entities.

4.2 Financial Condition. There shall have been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the VSE Entities, taken as a whole, between the date of the
most recent financial statement(s) delivered to the Lenders and the Restatement Date.

4.3 Litigation/Bankruptcy. There shall be no pending or threatened litigation by any entity (private or governmental) with respect to the Loan or any
documentation executed in connection therewith, nor shall there be any litigation, bankruptcy or other proceedings against any VSE Entity which would reasonably be expected to
have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), business, operations, assets or prospects of any VSE Entity on a going forward basis, or that would
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on any VSE Entity’s ability to pay and perform the Obligations on a going forward basis.

4.4 Opinion of Counsel. The Administrative Agent shall have received an opinion of Borrowers’ counsel with respect to each Borrower in form and substance
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and its counsel in all respects.

4.5 No Default. There shall exist no Event of Default, and no act, event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or the lapse of time, or both, would
constitute an Event of Default.

4.6 Documentation. The Administrative Agent shall have received the following: (a) all of the Loan Documents executed by a duly elected officer of each VSE Entity
party thereto; (b) such financial statements, projections, certificates of good standing, corporate resolutions, limited liability company consents, UCC financing statements,
opinions, certifications, schedules to be attached to this Agreement and such other documents, instruments and agreements as may be reasonably required by the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders (including all documentation and other information required by bank regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money
laundering rules and regulations, including the Patriot Act); (c) an Authorization executed by each Lender; (d) evidence of the VSE Entities’ pro forma (calculating Fixed Charges
assuming debt service was paid for such period at the levels set forth herein for the first year of this Agreement) covenant compliance as of the Restatement Date; and (e) evidence
that the VSE Entities do not have any material Indebtedness except as otherwise permitted pursuant to this Agreement. All documentation relating to the Loan and all related
transactions must be satisfactory in all respects to the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and their respective counsel.

4.7 Restatement Costs and Expenses. The Borrowers shall have paid all fees payable to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, plus all Restatement costs and
expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including all filing fees, recording costs, out-of-pocket syndication costs
and expenses and the reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent.

4.8 Restatement Matters. On or before the Restatement Date:

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received (i) a certificate, dated the Restatement Date and signed by the chief financial officer or other duly authorized
officer of each Borrower, certifying (A) that attached thereto is a true, correct, and recently state certified certificate or articles of incorporation or formation (or similar document)
of such Borrower and that such certificate or articles have not been modified, rescinded, or amended and are in full force and effect as of the Restatement Date, (B) that attached
thereto is a true, correct, and complete copy of the by-laws or operating agreement (or similar document) of such Borrower and that such by-laws or operating agreement (or
similar document) has not been modified, rescinded or amended and are in full force and effect as of the Restatement Date, (C) that attached thereto is a true and complete copy
of resolutions duly adopted by the board of directors or other equivalent body of such Borrower, authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the
Notes and the other Loan Documents to which such Borrower is a party, the undertaking by such Borrower of the Obligations (if applicable), and that such resolutions have not
been modified, rescinded or amended and are in full force and effect as of the Restatement Date, and (D) as to the incumbency and specimen signature of each officer executing
this Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan Document or any other document delivered in connection therewith on behalf of such Borrower; and (ii) a certificate of another
officer as to
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the incumbency and specimen signature of the chief financial officer or other duly authorized officer executing the certificate pursuant to clause (i) above;

(b) This Agreement, the Notes and all other Loan Documents required to be executed and delivered by any Lender or any VSE Entity shall have been
executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, all such documents shall be in full force and effect, and each
such document (including each UCC financing statement) required by Applicable Laws or reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent to be filed, registered or recorded to
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create or continue in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, ratably a valid, legal and perfected first-priority (except to the extent otherwise provided
therein) security interest in and lien on the Collateral (subject to any Permitted Lien) described therein shall have been prepared and delivered to the Administrative Agent;

(c) All legal matters incident to this Agreement and the Restatement shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Lenders and the Administrative Agent;

(d) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall be reasonably satisfied with the condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations, assets, liabilities
and prospects of the VSE Entities up to and including the Restatement Date; and

(e) After giving effect to the Restatement, all representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents
shall be, with respect to such representations and warranties not qualified by “materiality,” true, accurate and complete in all material respects, and with respect to those
representations and warranties qualified by “materiality,” true, accurate and complete in all respects.

4.9 Security Interests. The Borrowers shall have executed and delivered all documentation that the Administrative Agent deems necessary or appropriate for the
perfection of any liens granted to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders as may be required pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

4.10Insurance. The Borrowers shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders evidence of compliance with the insurance
requirements set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

4.11Other Deliveries. The Borrowers shall have provided, and shall have caused each other VSE Entity to have provided, to the Administrative Agent all other
documents, instruments and agreements, and all UCC, judgment, tax lien, pending litigation and bankruptcy searches requested by the Administrative Agent on or prior to the
Restatement Date. Additionally, the Administrative Agent shall have received a landlord’s lien waiver from the landlord of each and every business premise at which any Borrower
(other than any Foreign Borrower) stores its books and records or where Borrower assets valued, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of One Million and No/100 Dollars
($1,000,000.00) are located.

4.12Government Contracts. Since June 30, 2006, no notice of suspension, debarment, unremedied cure notice, show cause notice or notice of termination for default
shall have been issued by the Government to any Borrower, and no Borrower shall have been a party to any pending, or to any Borrower’s knowledge threatened, suspension,
debarment, termination for default or show cause requirement by the Government or other material adverse Government action or proceeding in connection with any
Government Contract, except that for purposes hereof, normal and customary reviews and audits conducted by the Government in the ordinary course of business not involving
allegations of fraud, malfeasance, misappropriation, criminal activity or similar wrongdoing shall not be deemed to be adverse Government action(s) or proceeding(s).

ARTICLE 5 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

To induce the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to enter into this Agreement or make any advances to the Borrowers pursuant to this Agreement, each Borrower
jointly and severally represents, warrants, covenants and agrees as follows:

5.1 Existence and Qualification. Each Borrower is a corporation or limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent
applicable) under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization referenced in Schedule A-1 attached hereto, with all corporate or limited liability company power and
authority and all necessary licenses and permits to execute, deliver and perform under the Loan

43

Documents, and to own, operate and lease its properties and carry on its business as now being conducted, and as may in the future be conducted. Each Borrower has only one
jurisdiction of incorporation or organization (as the case may be). Except as set forth in Schedule 5.1 attached hereto, each Borrower is duly qualified and authorized to do business
and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its activities or the character of its properties makes qualification necessary.

5.2 Authority; Noncontravention. Except as set forth in Schedule 5.2 attached hereto, the execution, delivery and performance of the obligations of each Borrower
set forth in this Agreement, the Notes, the other Loan Documents, and the execution, delivery and performance of the obligations of each Non-Borrower Affiliate set forth in each
collateral document to which it is a party (a) have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, limited liability company, stockholder or member action (as applicable); (b) do
not require the consent of any Government; (c) will not violate or result in (and with notice or the lapse of time will not violate or result in) the breach of any provision of any
Borrower’s or Non-Borrower Affiliate’s Articles/Certificate of Incorporation, Articles/Certificate of Organization, By-laws, Operating Agreement, Material Contracts existing as of the
Restatement Date, or any order or regulation of any Government or arbitration board or tribunal; and (d) except as permitted by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, will
not result in the creation of a lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature upon any of the properties or assets of any Borrower or Non-Borrower Affiliate. When the Loan
Documents are executed and delivered, they will constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of each Borrower and, to the extent applicable, each Non-Borrower Affiliate,
enforceable against each Borrower, and, to the extent applicable, each Non-Borrower Affiliate, in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency,
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reorganization, moratorium and other laws of general application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and secured parties, and general principles of equity regardless of
whether applied in a proceeding in equity or at law.

5.3 Financial Position. The financial statements listed on Schedule 5.3 attached hereto, copies of which have been delivered to the Lenders (a) present fairly the
financial condition of the VSE Entities as of the date(s) thereof and the results of the VSE Entities’ operations for the periods indicated therein, (b) were prepared in accordance with
GAAP, (c) with respect to all historical data, are true and accurate in all material respects, (d) with respect to all projections, are reasonable, and (e) are not misleading in any material
respect. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.3 attached hereto, all material liabilities, fixed or contingent (including, without limitation, those fixed or contingent liabilities of Two
Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00) or more), are fully shown or provided for on the referenced financial statements or the notes thereto as of the
date(s) thereof. There has been no material adverse change in the business, property or condition (financial or otherwise) of the VSE Entities, taken as a whole, since the date of the
most recent balance sheet listed on Schedule 5.3 attached hereto. All filings by the Primary Operating Company required by the SEC or the SEC Act have been filed as and when
required (except to the extent appropriate extensions have been obtained and remain in effect), and no VSE Entity has received written notice of any violation of the SEC Act or any
other law, rule or regulation of the SEC that has not been disclosed to the Administrative Agent in writing. The Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliates have only nominal (or no) assets,
and will be dissolved by the VSE Entities as soon as is commercially feasible.

5.4 Payment of Taxes. Each VSE Entity has filed all federal and other material tax returns and reports required to be filed by it with the United States Government or
with any state or local governments, and has paid in full or made adequate provision on its books as required under GAAP for the payment of all taxes, interest, penalties,
assessments or deficiencies shown to be due or claimed to be due on or in respect of such tax returns and reports, except to the extent that the validity or amount thereof is being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the non-payment thereof pending such contest will not result in any lien other than Permitted Liens or otherwise
jeopardize the Administrative Agent’s or the Lenders’ interests in any Collateral, and adequate reserves therefor have been established as required under GAAP.

5.5 Accuracy of Submitted Information; Omissions. As of the date furnished, all documents, certificates, information, materials and financial statements furnished
or to be furnished to any Lender or the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise in connection with the Loan (a) are true and correct in all material respects;
(b) do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact; and (c) do not omit any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein or herein not misleading. No
VSE Entity is aware of any fact that has not been disclosed to the Administrative Agent in writing which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

5.6 Government Contracts/Government Subcontracts. Except for the matters set forth on Schedule 5.6(a) attached hereto, since June 30, 2010, no notice of
suspension, debarment, unremedied cure notice, show cause notice or notice of termination for default has been issued by the Government to any Borrower, and no Borrower is a
party to any pending, or to any Borrower’s knowledge threatened, suspension, debarment, termination for default or show cause requirement by the Government or other
material adverse Government action or proceeding in connection with any Government Contract; except that for purposes hereof, normal and customary
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reviews and audits conducted by the Government in the ordinary course of business shall not be deemed adverse Government action(s) or proceeding(s). All Government
Contracts existing as of the Restatement Date and having (a) a remaining contract value of One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) or more, and (b) a remaining term of
twelve (12) months or longer are listed on Schedule 5.6(b) attached hereto.

5.7 No Defaults or Liabilities. No VSE Entity is in default of any obligation, covenant or condition contained in any Material Contract that would reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Additionally, except for the matters disclosed on Schedule 5.9 attached hereto, there is no litigation, legal or administrative proceeding
or investigation pending against any VSE Entity, and, to the knowledge of any Borrower, no litigation, legal or administrative proceeding or investigation has been threatened
against any VSE Entity, that has not been disclosed on Schedule 5.9 attached hereto and which would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or which could
prejudice, in any material respect, the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s rights or remedies under any Loan Document, or the priority, perfection or enforceability of the
Administrative Agent’s security interest in or lien on any Collateral.

5.8 No Violations of Law. (i) No VSE Entity is in violation of any Applicable Laws; (ii) no VSE Entity has failed to obtain any license, permit, franchise or other
Government authorization necessary to the ownership of its properties or to the conduct of its business, and (iii) each VSE Entity has conducted its business and operations in
compliance with all Applicable Laws, except for, in the case of each of clauses (i) through (iii), such violation, failure to obtain or non-compliance which, considered in the aggregate,
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

5.9 Litigation and Proceedings. Except for the matters set forth on Schedule 5.9 attached hereto, as of the Restatement Date, no action, suit or proceeding against
or affecting any VSE Entity is presently pending, or to the knowledge of any Borrower, threatened, in any court, before any Government, or before any arbitration board or tribunal,
that involves the possibility of any judgment or liability not fully covered by insurance, which, if determined adversely to the interests of any VSE Entity, would reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No VSE Entity is in default with respect to any order, writ, injunction or decree of any court, Government or arbitration board or tribunal
which would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
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5.10Security Interest in the Collateral. Each VSE Entity is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Collateral owned or purported to be owned by it, free and clear of
all liens, claims and encumbrances of any nature, except for the Permitted Liens and other liens expressly permitted by the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Except as
expressly set forth in this Agreement, the security interests and liens granted by the VSE Entities to the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement constitute valid and
enforceable security interests in and liens on each item of the Collateral of the type or nature that may be made subject to a security interest under the UCC, subject to no other
liens other than Permitted Liens. Upon execution of this Agreement, and subject to (a) the filing of UCC-1 financing statements containing a description of the Collateral and
naming the applicable VSE Entities as debtors in the appropriate jurisdictions as determined by applicable law, or (b) the requirements of any applicable foreign law(s) that dictate
an alternative or additional method of perfecting the security interest in the Collateral pursuant to this Agreement, the security interests and liens granted by the VSE Entities to
the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, pursuant to this Agreement (i) constitute perfected security interests in all Collateral of the type or nature in which
a security interest may be perfected by filing, recording or registering a financing statement in the United States pursuant to the UCC, (ii) shall be superior to and prior to any other
lien on any of such Collateral (but excluding Collateral consisting of capital stock, membership interests or ownership interests in any Foreign Subsidiary), other than Permitted
Liens, and no further recordings or filings are or will be required in connection with the creation, perfection or enforcement of such security interests and liens, other than the filing
of continuation statements in accordance with Applicable Law, and (iii) in the case of Collateral consisting of capital stock, membership interest(s) or ownership interest(s) in any
Borrower or Foreign Subsidiary, subject to (A) having control thereof within the meaning of the UCC, and (B) satisfaction of any requirements of Applicable Laws of a foreign
jurisdiction that dictate an alternative or additional method of perfection, shall be superior to and prior to any other lien on any of such Collateral, other than Permitted Liens.

5.11Principal Place of Business; Location of Books and Records. As of the Restatement Date, each Borrower maintains its principal place of business and the office
where it keeps its books and records with respect to Receivables at the locations listed on Schedule 2 attached hereto. Schedule 5.11 attached hereto sets forth all primary
business locations of the Borrowers situated within the United States as of the Restatement Date and where Borrower assets valued, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of
One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) are located as of the Restatement Date.

5.12Fiscal Year. Each VSE Entity’s Fiscal Year ends on December 31st.
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5.13Pension Plans.

(a) Except for the matters set forth on Schedule 5.13(a) attached hereto, the present value of all benefits vested under all “employee pension benefit plans”,
as such term is defined in Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) that are subject to Title IV of ERISA, Section 302 of the Code or Section 412
of the Code, from time to time maintained by the Borrowers or any ERISA Affiliate (individually, a “Pension Plan” and collectively, the “Pension Plans”) did not, as of December 31,
2017, exceed the value of the assets of the Pension Plans allocable to such vested benefits;

(b) Except for the matters set forth on Schedule 5.13(b) attached hereto, no Pension Plan, trust created thereunder or other person dealing with any Pension
Plan has engaged in a non-exempt transaction proscribed by ERISA Section 406 or a non-exempt “prohibited transaction,” as such term is defined in Code Section 4975;

(c) Except for the matters set forth on Schedule 5.13(c) attached hereto, no Pension Plan or trust created thereunder has been terminated within the last
three (3) years, and there have been no “reportable events” (as such term is defined in ERISA Section 4043 and the ERISA regulations) with respect to any pension plan or trust
created thereunder after June 30, 1974;

(d) No Pension Plan or trust created thereunder has incurred any “accumulated funding deficiency” (as such term is defined in ERISA Section 302 or Code
Section 412) as of the end of any plan year, whether or not waived, since the effective date of ERISA; and

(e) None of the Borrowers, or any of their ERISA Affiliates (i) makes, or is obligated to make, contributions to a multiemployer plan (as defined in ERISA
Section 3(37)) or has ever contributed, or been obligated to contribute, to such a plan in the past; (ii) maintains or has ever maintained (A) any plan that has been subject to Title IV
of ERISA, or (B) a defined benefit plan (as defined in ERISA Section 3(35)); or (iii) has any liability or would reasonably be expected to have any liability with respect to any plan
identified in the immediately preceding clause (ii) above.

5.14O.S.H.A., ADA and Environmental Compliance.

(a) Each VSE Entity has duly complied in all material respects with, and its facilities, business assets, property, leaseholds and equipment are in compliance in
all material respects with, the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act (“O.S.H.A.”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), the Environmental Protection Act, RCRA and all
other environmental laws that non-compliance with would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and there have been no citations, notices, notifications or
orders of any such non-compliance issued to any VSE Entity or relating to its business, assets, property, leaseholds or equipment under any such laws;

(b) each VSE Entity has been issued all required federal, state and local licenses, certificates and permits required in the operation of its facilities, businesses,
assets, property, leaseholds and equipment, unless the failure to obtain any such license, certificate or permit would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
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and

(c) (i) there are no visible signs of releases, spills, discharges, leaks or disposals (collectively referred to herein as “Releases”) of Hazardous Substances at, upon,
under or within any real property owned, or to the actual knowledge of any Borrower any premises leased, by any VSE Entity; (ii) there are no underground storage tanks or
polychlorinated biphenyls on any real property owned, or to the actual knowledge of any Borrower any premises leased, by any VSE Entity; (iii) no real property owned, or to the
actual knowledge of any Borrower premises leased, by any VSE Entity has ever been used by any VSE Entity (and to the best of each Borrower’s knowledge, any other person) as a
treatment, storage or disposal facility for Hazardous Waste; and (iv) to the best of each Borrower’s knowledge, no Hazardous Substances are present on any real property owned,
or to the actual knowledge of any Borrower any premises leased, by any VSE Entity, except for such quantities of Hazardous Substances as are handled in all material respects in
accordance with all applicable manufacturer’s instructions and Government regulations, and as are necessary or appropriate for the operation of the business of the VSE Entities.

5.15Intellectual Property. All patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark applications, copyrights, copyright applications, trade names, trade secrets and
licenses necessary for the conduct of the business of each Borrower are (a) owned or utilized by such Borrower, and (b) valid and, except with respect to licenses, trade secrets and
certain copyrights, have been duly registered or filed with all appropriate Government offices.
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Schedule 5.15(a) attached hereto sets forth all patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark applications, copyrights, copyright applications, trade names, trade secrets and
licenses necessary for the conduct of the business of each Borrower as of the Restatement Date, and except as disclosed in Schedule 5.15(a) attached hereto, there is no objection
or pending challenge to the validity of any such patent, trademark, copyright, trade name, trade secret or license as of the Restatement Date; no Borrower is aware of any grounds
for any such challenge or objection thereto. Except as disclosed in Schedule 5.15(b) attached hereto, as of the Restatement Date, no Borrower pays any royalty to any Person in
connection with any patent, trademark, copyright, trade name, trade secret or license; and each Borrower has the right to bring legal action for the infringement of any such patent,
trademark, copyright, trade name, trade secret or license.

5.16Existing or Pending Defaults; Material Contracts. No Borrower is aware of any pending or threatened litigation, or any other legal or administrative proceeding
or investigation pending or threatened, against any VSE Entity arising from or related to any Material Contract, except for any of the foregoing that would not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

5.17Leases and Real Property. Except as disclosed on Schedule 5.17 attached hereto, as of the Restatement Date, no Borrower owns any real property other than
fixtures that may relate to various leaseholds. All leases and other agreements under which any Borrower occupies real property are in full force and effect and constitute legal,
valid and binding obligations of, and are legally enforceable against, the Borrower party thereto and, to the Borrowers’ best knowledge, are the binding obligations of and legally
enforceable against, the other parties thereto. To the Borrowers’ best knowledge, all necessary Government approvals, if any, have been obtained for each such lease or
agreement, and there have been no threatened cancellations thereof or outstanding disputes with respect thereto, except for any of the foregoing that would not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

5.18Labor Relations. Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, there are no strikes, work stoppages, material grievance
proceedings, union organization efforts or other controversies pending, or to any Borrower’s knowledge, threatened or reasonably anticipated, between any Borrower and (a) any
current or former employee of any Borrower or (b) any union or other collective bargaining unit representing any such employee. Each VSE Entity has complied and is in
compliance with all Applicable Laws relating to employment or the workplace, including provisions relating to wages, hours, collective bargaining, safety and health, work
authorization, equal employment opportunity, immigration, withholding, unemployment compensation, employee privacy and right to know, except for such non-compliance
which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.18 attached hereto, as of the Restatement Date, there are no
collective bargaining agreements, employment agreements between any Borrower and any of its employees, or professional service agreements not terminable at will relating to
the businesses or assets of any Borrower. Except for liabilities and obligations to the Lenders and the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement, the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby will not cause any VSE Entity to incur or suffer any liability relating to, or obligation to pay, severance, termination or other similar payments to
any Person.

5.19Assignment of Contracts. No existing Government Contract, Government Subcontract or other Material Contract (and no present or future interest of any VSE
Entity, in whole or in part, in, to or under any such Government Contract, Government Subcontract or other Material Contract) is currently assigned, pledged, hypothecated or
otherwise transferred to any Person by any VSE Entity (other than in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably).

5.20Contribution Agreement. The Contribution Agreement is in full force and effect, has not been modified, altered or amended in any respect whatsoever (other
than to add a new Borrower party thereto from time to time and in connection with this Agreement), and no Borrower is in default thereunder.

5.21Registered Names. The corporate or company name of each Borrower set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (including all of the UCC-1
financing statements) is accurate in all respects, and such corporate or company name is identical to the corporate or company name of record with such Borrower’s jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization (as applicable).
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5.22Ownership of the VSE Entities. All of the issued and outstanding capital stock or other ownership interests owned by each Borrower in any applicable VSE Entity
is owned, directly or indirectly, free and clear of any and all liens, claims and encumbrances of any type or nature (other than the security interests granted to the Administrative
Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, pursuant to this Agreement).
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5.23Solvency. Both prior to and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (a) the Borrowers’, taken as a
whole, owned and owns property (including the Borrower’s rights under the Contribution Agreement) whose fair saleable value is greater than the amount required to pay all of
the Borrowers’ Indebtedness, (b) the Borrowers, taken as a whole, were and are able to pay all of their Indebtedness as such Indebtedness matures, and (c) the Borrowers, taken as
a whole, had and have capital sufficient to carry on their business and transactions and all business and transactions in which they are about to engage.

5.24Foreign Assets Control Regulations, Etc. No VSE Entity is an “enemy” or an “ally of the enemy” within the meaning of Section 2 of the Trading with the Enemy
Act of the United States of America (50 U.S.C. App. §§1 et seq.), as amended. No VSE Entity is in violation of (a) the Trading with the Enemy Act, as amended, (b) any of the foreign
assets control regulations of the United States Treasury Department (31 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter V, as amended) or any enabling legislation or executive order relating thereto or (c)
the Patriot Act. No VSE Entity, any of their Subsidiaries, any director or officer, or any agent, Affiliate or to the knowledge of any VSE Entity, any employee, of the VSE Entities or any
of their Subsidiaries is a Person that is, or is owned or controlled by Persons that are, (i) the subject of any sanctions administered or enforced by the US Department of the
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC"), the US Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or His Majesty’s Treasury of the United
Kingdom (collectively, “Sanctions”), or (ii) located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is, or whose government is, the subject of Sanctions, including, without
limitation, currently, the Crimea Region, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan, Syria and the so-called Donetsk People’s Republic and so-called Luhansk People’s Republic regions of the
Ukraine. None of the VSE Entities (a) is a Blocked Person or (b) engages in any dealings or transactions or is otherwise associated, with any such Blocked Person. No VSE Entity is in
violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws.

5.25Federal Reserve Regulations. No director, executive officer or principal shareholder of any VSE Entity is a director, executive officer or principal shareholder of
any Lender. For the purposes hereof the terms “director” “executive officer” and “principal shareholder” (when used with reference to any Lender), have the respective meanings
assigned thereto in regulations issued by the FRB.

5.26Commercial Tort Claims. As of the Restatement Date, no Borrower is a party to any Commercial Tort Claims, except as shown on Schedule 5.26 attached hereto.

5.27Letter of Credit Rights. As of the Restatement Date, no Borrower has any Letter of Credit Rights, except as shown on Schedule 5.27 attached hereto.

5.28Investment Company Act. No Borrower is an investment company within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, nor is it, directly or
indirectly, controlled by or acting on behalf of any Person that is an investment company within the meaning of said Act.

5.29[Reserved].

5.30EEA Financial Institution. No VSE Entity is an EEA Financial Institution.

5.31Margin Stocks. No VSE Entity is engaged and no VSE Entity will engage, principally or as one of its important activities, in the business of purchasing or carrying
margin stock (within the meaning of Regulations U, T or X of the FRB), or extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock. Following the application of the
proceeds of each borrowing or drawing under each Letter of Credit, not more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the value of the assets (of any Borrower or of any Borrower
together with its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) subject to any restriction contained in this Agreement or subject to any restriction contained in any agreement or instrument
between any Borrower and any Lender or any Affiliate of any Lender relating to Indebtedness and within the scope of 9.1(j) will be margin stock.

5.32Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties made herein shall survive the making of the Loan, and shall be deemed
remade and redated as of the date of each request for an advance or readvance of any Loan proceeds, unless the Borrowers are unable to remake or redate any such
representation or warranty, disclose the same to the Lenders in writing, and such inability does not constitute or give rise to an Event of Default.

5.33Beneficial Ownership Certification. The information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification, if applicable, is true and correct in all respects.
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ARTICLE 6 

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS OF THE BORROWERS

So long as any Obligation remains outstanding or this Agreement remains in effect, each Borrower jointly and severally covenants and agrees with the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders that:

6.1 Intentionally Omitted .

6.2 Payment of Taxes. Each Borrower will, and will cause each other VSE Entity to, pay and discharge all federal, state, foreign and other Government taxes,
assessments, fees and charges imposed upon it, or upon any of its properties or assets, prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, except to the extent that the validity or
amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the non-payment thereof pending such contest will not result in any lien other than Permitted
Liens or otherwise jeopardize the Administrative Agent’s or the Lenders’ interests in any Collateral, and adequate reserves therefor have been established as required under GAAP.

6.3 Delivery of Financial and Other Statements. The Borrowers shall deliver to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (as applicable) financial and other
statements, each of which shall, unless otherwise expressly set forth below to the contrary, be prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, as follows:

(a) (i) on or before the one hundred twentieth (120th) day following the close of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2017),
the Borrowers will submit to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders annual audited and unqualified consolidated financial statements, which shall include income statements,
balance sheets and cash flow statements, and be accompanied by consolidating schedules and related footnotes and certified by an independent certified public accountant
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, and (ii) on or before the thirtieth (30th) day following their issuance, the Borrowers will submit to the Administrative Agent all management
letters (if issued, including any management letter stamped “draft” or stamped with similar language) issued as part of, related to, or in conjunction with, the preparation of any
financial statements of the VSE Entities;

(b) on or before the forty-fifth (45th) day following the close of each Fiscal Year, the Borrowers will submit to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders annual
consolidated and consolidating projections for the VSE Entities for the next Fiscal Year in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and certified by
the Chief Financial Officer or another duly authorized executive officer of the Primary Operating Company, on behalf of the Borrowers;

(c) on or before (i) the ninetieth (90th) day following the close of each Fiscal Quarter ending December 31 (commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ended
December 31, 2017, other than with respect to the Quarterly Covenant Compliance/Non-Default Certificate, which shall first be due for the Fiscal Quarter ended March 31, 2018),
and (ii) the forty-fifth (45th) day following the close of each Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, June 30 and September 30 (commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ended March 31, 2018),
the Borrowers will submit to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (A) an unaudited consolidated and consolidating balance sheet and income statement, reporting the VSE
Entities’ current financial position and the results of their operations for the Fiscal Quarter then ended and year-to-date, (B) internally prepared statements of cash flow and system
generated contract/status backlog reports, (C) a Quarterly Covenant Compliance/Non-Default Certificate in the form of Exhibit 5 attached hereto, (D) a detailed listing of all deposit
accounts designated by the Borrowers as Permitted Foreign Bank Accounts during the Fiscal Quarter then ended, and (E) a written report listing all office locations of the Borrowers
and denoting each office location where the Borrowers maintain their books and records, each of which shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in
all respects and certified by the Chief Financial Officer or another duly authorized executive officer of the Primary Operating Company, on behalf of the Borrowers;

(d) [reserved];

(e) [reserved];

(f) within ten (10) days of issuance, distribution or filing, as applicable, the Borrowers will submit to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders copies of all
public filings, disclosure statements or registration statements that any VSE Entity issues to, distributes to or files with the SEC or any state agency or department regulating
securities (or any other Person, pursuant to the rules or regulations of the SEC or any state agency or department regulating securities);
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(g) not less than thirty (30) days prior to any change of or addition to any of the locations within the United States where any Collateral (other than
Receivables) valued, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) is or will be located, or any change of or addition to the location(s)
of the books and records used to generate any Receivables, the Borrowers will submit to the Administrative Agent a written notice specifying the new address or location of such
Collateral or books and records (as the case may be), and if required pursuant to Section 6.17 of this Agreement, the written notice from the Borrowers shall be accompanied by the
landlord lien waiver required thereunder, executed by the landlord for such new location;
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(h) [reserved];

(i) promptly upon the request of the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers will provide to the Administrative Agent such other information and reports
relating to each VSE Entity’s business, operations, properties or prospects as the Administrative Agent may from time to time reasonably request (including all documentation and
other information required by bank regulatory authorities from time to time applicable to “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the
Patriot Act);

(j) to the extent any Borrower qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, an updated Beneficial Ownership Certification
promptly following any change in the information provided in the Beneficial Ownership Certification delivered to any Lender in relation to such Borrower that would result in a
change to the list of beneficial owners identified in such certification; and

(k) from time to time but no less than quarterly at all times while any Obligation remains outstanding or this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrowers will
submit to the Administrative Agent an updated Schedule 5.6(b) attached hereto to list the contract numbers, the contracting parties’ names and addresses, the contract dates, the
contracting officer’s and disbursing officer’s names and addressed, and a brief description of the scope of work for all Government Contracts of the Borrowers that (i) constitute
Material Contracts, and (ii) have a remaining term of twelve (12) months or longer.

The Borrower certifications required under this Section 6.3 shall (a) with respect to historical data, be true and accurate in all material respects, and (b) with respect to projections,
be reasonable.

Documents required to be delivered pursuant to this Section 6.3 (to the extent any such documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the SEC) may be delivered
electronically and if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date (i) on which the Primary Operating Company posts such documents, or provides a link
thereto, on the Primary Operating Company’s website(s) or (ii) on which such documents are posted on the Primary Operating Company’s behalf on an Internet or intranet
website, if any, to which each Lender and the Administrative Agent have access (whether a commercial or public third-party website or whether sponsored by the Administrative
Agent (including the website of the SEC at http://www.sec.gov)); provided that in each case, other than with respect to regular periodic reporting, the Primary Operating Company
shall notify the Administrative Agent of the posting of any such documents. Each Lender shall be solely responsible for timely accessing posted documents and maintaining its
copies of such documents.

6.4 Maintenance of Records; Review by the Administrative Agent. Each Borrower will, and will cause each other VSE Entity to, maintain at all times proper books
of record and account in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, and, subject to any applicable confidentiality and secrecy requirements imposed by any Government agency,
will permit the Administrative Agent’s officers or any of the Administrative Agent’s authorized representatives or accountants to visit and inspect each VSE Entity’s offices and
properties, examine its books of account and other records, and discuss its affairs, finances and accounts with the officers of any VSE Entity, all at such reasonable times
duringnormal business hours with reasonable prior notice, and as often as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request.

6.5 Maintenance of Insurance Coverage. Each Borrower will maintain in effect fire and extended coverage insurance, public liability insurance, worker’s
compensation insurance and insurance on the Collateral and each of its properties, with responsible insurance companies, in such amounts and against such risks as are
customary for similar businesses, required by the Government, if any, having jurisdiction over all or part of its operations, or otherwise reasonably required by the Administrative
Agent, and will furnish to the Administrative Agent certificates evidencing such continuing insurance. The Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, shall be
named as lender’s loss payee on all hazard and casualty insurance policies and as an additional insured on all liability insurance policies. All insurance policies shall also provide (a)
that the insurer shall endeavor to provide not less than thirty (30) days written notice to the Administrative Agent prior to expiration, cancellation or material change in any
coverage or otherwise, except where the expiration or cancellation of a policy results from
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non-payment of premium(s) or non-renewal of the policy (in which case the policy shall provide for not less than ten (10) days prior written notice); and (b) for waiver of
subrogation.

6.6 Maintenance of Property/Collateral; Performance of Contracts. Each Borrower will at all times maintain, and cause each other VSE Entity to at all times
maintain, the Collateral and its tangible property, both real and personal, in good order and repair (subject to ordinary wear and tear), and will permit the Administrative Agent’s
officers or authorized representatives to visit and inspect the Collateral and each VSE Entity’s tangible property at such reasonable times during normal business hours with
reasonable prior notice, as and when the Administrative Agent deems necessary or appropriate. Each Borrower shall perform, and shall cause each other VSE Entity to perform, all
obligations under all Material Contracts to which it is a party, including all exhibits and other attachments to such contracts, all modifications thereto and all documents and
instruments delivered pursuant thereto, and will comply with all laws, rules and regulations governing the execution, delivery and performance thereof, except for such non-
compliance that would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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6.7 Maintenance of Existence. Except in connection with a transaction not otherwise prohibited hereunder,each Borrower will maintain, and shall cause each other
VSE Entity to maintain, its corporate or company existence (as applicable) in its state of incorporation or organization as of the Restatement Date, and will provide the
Administrative Agent with evidence of the same from time to time upon the Administrative Agent’s request. Each Borrower will maintain its corporate or company registration or
qualification in each other jurisdiction where it is required to register or qualify to do business if the failure to do so in such other jurisdiction would reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect, and will provide the Administrative Agent with evidence of the same from time to time upon the Administrative Agent’s request.

6.8 Maintenance of Certain Deposit Accounts with the Administrative Agent. Except for the Transitional Deposit Accounts, the Healthcare and Dependent Care
Accounts and any Permitted Foreign Bank Accounts, each Borrower will at all times maintain its primary operating accounts, including all depository accounts (time and demand),
disbursement accounts and collection accounts, and all of its other bank accounts, with the Administrative Agent. Each Borrower and each Lender maintaining a Transitional
Deposit Account, and/or any Permitted Foreign Bank Account of any Borrower expressly acknowledges and agrees that (a) the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders
ratably, has been granted a first priority security interest in and to such bank account pursuant to this Agreement, (b) the Lender’s possession of such bank account constitutes
“control” for purposes of perfecting the Administrative Agent’s security interest in and to such bank account under the UCC or otherwise, (c) such Lender’s rights and remedies with
respect to such bank account (other than rights and remedies necessary to recoup normal and customary account fees and charges imposed from time to time for maintaining
and administering such bank account) shall be, and at all times remain, subject and subordinate to the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent granted pursuant to this
Agreement or available pursuant to Applicable Laws, and (d) at no time shall funds in any such bank accounts exceed the limits specified in this Agreement for such accounts.

6.9 [Reserved] .

6.10Disclosure of Defaults, Etc.

(a) Promptly upon the occurrence thereof, each Borrower will provide the Administrative Agent and the Lenders with written notice of any Event of Default,
or any act, event, condition or occurrence that upon the giving of any required notice or the lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default. In addition, each Borrower
will promptly advise the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in writing of any condition, act, event or occurrence which comes to such Borrower’s attention that would
reasonably be expected to prejudice the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s rights in connection with anyMaterial Contract, any Collateral, this Agreement, any Note, or any
other Loan Document, including the details of any pending or threatened suspension, debarment or other Government action or proceeding, any pending or threatened litigation,
and any other legal or administrative proceeding or investigation pending or threatened against any VSE Entity, including the entry of any judgment in excess of Two Hundred Fifty
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($250,000.00) or lien (other than a Permitted Lien) against any VSE Entity, its assets or property. Additionally, the Borrowers agree to provide written
notice to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders within five (5) Business Days of the date on which any obligation of a VSE Entity for the payment of borrowed money in excess
of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($250,000.00), whether now existing or hereafter created, incurred or arising, becomes or is declared to be due and payable
prior to the expressed maturity thereof.

(b) If, at any time after the Restatement Date, any Borrower shall receive any letter, notice, subpoena, court order, pleading or other document issued, given
or delivered by the Government, any Prime
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Contractor or by any Person acting for or on behalf of the Government or such Prime Contractor with respect to, or in any manner related to any alleged default, fraud, dishonesty,
malfeasance or other willful misconduct of a VSE Entity, such Borrower shall deliver a true, correct and complete copy of such letter, notice, subpoena, court order, pleading or
document to the Administrative Agent and each Lender within five (5) Business Days of such Borrower’s receipt thereof. Furthermore, if any VSE Entity shall issue, give or deliver to
the Government, any Prime Contractor or any Person acting for or on behalf of the Government or such Prime Contractor, any letter, notice, subpoena, court order, pleading or
other document with respect to, or in any manner related to, or otherwise in response to any alleged default, fraud, dishonesty, malfeasance or other willful misconduct of a VSE
Entity, such Borrower shall deliver a true, correct and complete copy of such letter, notice, subpoena, court order, pleading or other document to the Administrative Agent and
each Lender concurrent with the VSE Entity’s issuance or delivery thereof to the Government, such Prime Contractor or any Person acting for or on behalf of the Government or
such Prime Contractor. If any letter, notice, subpoena, court order, pleading or other document required to be delivered to the Administrative Agent and each Lender pursuant to
this Section 6.10 contains any information deemed “classified” by the Government or the dissemination of any such information to the Administrative Agent and each Lender
would result in any VSE Entity violating any Applicable Laws or Government Contract, then the Borrowers shall deliver to the Administrative Agent and each Lender a summary of
such letter, notice, subpoena, court order, pleading or other document containing a summary thereof, but including as much (but no more) detail as can be included therein
without violating such Applicable Laws or Government Contract.

6.11Security Perfection; Assignment of Claims Act; Payment of Costs. The Borrowers will execute and deliver and pay the costs of recording and filing financing
statements, continuation statements, termination statements, assignments and other documents, as the Administrative Agent may from time to time deem necessary or
appropriate for the perfection of any liens granted to the Administrative Agent or Lenders pursuant hereto or any other Loan Document. On or before the date which is ninety (90)
days from the date of any Government Contract hereafter entered into, extended or renewed by one or more Borrowers, such Borrower(s) shall execute all documents necessary
or appropriate to comply with the Assignment of Claims Act of 1940, as amended, 31 U.S.C. Section 3727 and 41 U.S.C. Section 15 (the “Government Contract Assignments”) in
connection with each such Government Contract; however, (a) no Borrower’s failure to execute and deliver any Government Contract Assignment shall constitute a default, breach
or violation of the Borrowers’ obligation(s) set forth in this Section 6.11, unless the Administrative Agent shall have made written demand upon the Borrowers to fully and faithfully
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comply with its obligation(s) with respect to Government Contract Assignments set forth in this Section 6.11 above; and (b) no Government Contract Assignment shall be required
for any Government Contract that (i) does not constitute a Material Contract (unless such demand shall be made after the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of
Default, in which case Government Contract Assignments can be required by the Administrative Agent for any Government Contract), or (ii) has a remaining term of less than
twelve (12) months (with no option to extend). The Borrowers acknowledge that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders will be irreparably harmed if any Borrower fails or
refuses to execute and deliver any Government Contract Assignment after the Administrative Agent’s demand therefor, as and when required pursuant to this Section 6.11, and
that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders have no adequate remedy at law. In such event, the Borrowers agree that the Administrative Agent shall be entitled, in addition to
all other rights and remedies available to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, to injunctive or other equitable relief to compel the Borrowers’ full compliance with the
requirements of this Section 6.11. All costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery and
administration of Government Contract Assignments shall be borne solely by the Borrowers. Additionally, the Borrowers will pay any and all costs incurred in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby, as well as any and all taxes (other than the Lenders’ income and franchise taxes), that may be payable as a result of the execution of this
Agreement or any agreement supplemental hereto, or as a result of the execution and/or delivery of any Note or other Loan Document.

6.12Defense of Title to Collateral. The Borrowers will at all times defend the Lenders’, the Administrative Agent’s and Borrowers’ rights in the Collateral, subject to the
Permitted Liens, against all Persons and all claims and demands whatsoever, and will, upon request of the Administrative Agent (a) furnish such further assurances of title as may
be required by the Administrative Agent, and (b) do any other acts necessary to effectuate the purposes and provisions of this Agreement, or as required by Applicable Laws or
otherwise to perfect, preserve, maintain or continue the interests of the Administrative Agent or Lenders in any Collateral.

6.13Compliance with Law. Each Borrower will, and will cause each other VSE Entity to, conduct its businesses and operations in compliancewith (a) all Applicable Laws
(including ERISA and environmental regulations) and requirements of all federal, state and local regulatory authorities having jurisdiction, (b) the provisions of its charter
documents and other corporate governance documents, (c) all agreements and instruments by which it or any of its properties may be bound, and (d) all applicable decrees, orders
and judgments; whenever the noncompliance with or the non-observance of which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No VSE Entity will, directly or
indirectly, use the proceeds of the Loans, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any Subsidiary, joint venture partner or other Person, (i) to fund any
activities or
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business of or with any Person, or in any country or territory, that, at the time of such funding, is, or whose government is, the subject of Sanctions or (ii) in any other manner that
would result in a violation of Sanctions by any Person (including any Person participating in the Loans, whether as underwriter, advisor, investor or otherwise).

6.14Other Collateral Covenants.

(a) The Borrowers will, at their own expense, make, execute, endorse, acknowledge, file and/or deliver to the Administrative Agent from time to time such
lists, descriptions and designations of Collateral, warehouse receipts, receipts in the nature of warehouse receipts, bills of lading, documents of title, vouchers, invoices, schedules,
confirmatory assignments, conveyances, financing statements, transfer endorsements, powers of attorney, certificates, reports and other assurances or instruments, and take
such further steps relating to the Collateral and other property or rights covered by the interests hereby granted which the Administrative Agent deems reasonably appropriate or
advisable to perfect, preserve or protect its and any Lender’s ownership or security interests in any Collateral.

(b) The Borrowers shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent in writing if, at any time, any issuer of uncertificated securities, securities intermediary or
commodities intermediary has issued or holds, or will issue or hold, any financial assets or commodities to or for the benefit of any Borrower, and the Borrowers shall obtain
authenticated control letters from such issuer or intermediary, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, within ten (10) days of the
Administrative Agent’s demand therefor.

(c) If any Borrower is or becomes the beneficiary of a letter of credit in excess of One Million Dollars and No/100 ($1,000,000.00), such Borrower shall
promptly, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after becoming a beneficiary, notify the Administrative Agent thereof and, following the Administrative Agent’s request,
enter into a tri-party agreement with the Administrative Agent and the issuer and/or confirmation bank with respect to all Letter of Credit Rights in connection with such letter of
credit, assigning such Letter of Credit Rights to the Administrative Agent and directing all payments thereunder to an account designated by the Administrative Agent, which tri-
party agreement shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(d) The Borrowers shall promptly take all action necessary to grant the Administrative Agent control of all electronic chattel paper with a value in excess of
One Million Dollars and No/100 ($1,000,000.00) in accordance with the UCC and all "transferable records" as defined in each of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act and the
Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act.

(e) The Borrowers hereby irrevocably authorize the Administrative Agent at any time and from time to time to file in any filing office in any Uniform
Commercial Code jurisdiction any initial financing statements and amendments thereto that (i) describe Collateral (A) as all assets of the Borrowers or words of similar effect (other
than assets expressly excluded from the description of Collateral herein), regardless of whether any particular asset comprised in the Collateral falls within the scope of Article 9 of
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the Uniform Commercial Code in such jurisdiction, or (B) as being of an equal or lesser scope or with greater detail, and (ii) contain any other information required by part 5 of
Article 9 of the UCC for the sufficiency or filing office acceptance of any financing statement or amendment, including (A) whether any Borrower is an organization, the type of
organization and any organization identification number issued to such Borrower, and (B) in the case of a financing statement filed as a fixture filing or indicating Collateral as as-
extracted collateral or timber to be cut, a sufficient description of real property to which the Collateral relates. The Borrowers shall furnish any such information to the
Administrative Agent promptly upon request. The Borrowers also ratify their authorization for the Administrative Agent to have filed in any Uniform Commercial Code jurisdiction
any initial financing statements or amendments thereto or continuations thereof, if filed prior to the Restatement Date.

(f) The Borrowers shall promptly, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after the same is acquired by any Borrower, notify the Administrative Agent
of any Commercial Tort Claim acquired by a Borrower in excess of One Million Dollars and No/100 ($1,000,000.00) and unless otherwise consented to by the Administrative Agent,
such Borrower shall enter into a supplement to this Agreement, granting to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, a perfected security interest in such
Commercial Tort Claim.

(g) If any Borrower retains possession of any Chattel Paper or Instruments with the Administrative Agent’s consent, such Chattel Paper and Instruments shall
be marked with the following legend: "This writing and the obligations evidenced or secured hereby are subject to the security interest of Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, as
Administrative Agent.”
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(h) No Borrower shall reincorporate or reorganize itself under the laws of any jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated as of the
Restatement Date without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.

(i) Each Borrower acknowledges that it is not authorized to file any financing statement or amendment or termination statement with respect to any
financing statement without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent and agrees that it will not do so without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent,
subject to such Borrower’s rights under UCC Section 9-509(d)(2).

(j) Each Borrower acknowledges that the Administrative Agent reserves the right to require the Borrowers to execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent,
in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and within thirty (30) days (as such period may be extended in the Administrative Agent’s sole discretion,
the “Initial Compliance Period”) of the Administrative Agent’s request, such documents, instruments and agreements (including, without limitation, a mortgage, deed of trust,
environmental assessment, title insurance, flood zone certificates, flood insurance (if applicable), surveys and/or other similar and customary real estate documentation) which the
Administrative Agent may reasonably request to confirm and/or perfect its security interest in and to all or any portion of any real property interest (other than a leasehold
interest) acquired by any Borrower after the Restatement Date with an individual, or with respect to contiguous parcels, an aggregate appraised value in excess of Four Million and
No/100 Dollars ($4,000,000.00). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Administrative Agent requires that flood insurance be obtained with respect to any real
property that is pledged by any VSE Entity to the Lenders, the Administrative Agent will not accept any mortgage or deed of trust with respect to such property if, prior to the
expiration of twenty (20) calendar days after notice to the Lenders of the Administrative Agent’s intent to accept such mortgage or deed of trust, a Lender provides written notice
to the Administrative Agent stating that such Lender’s due diligence has shown that the flood insurance provided does not meet such Lender’s standard requirements to such
Lender’s reasonable satisfaction and provides a detailed description of the reasons why the provided flood insurance does not meet such requirements. The Administrative Agent
will promptly provide a copy of such notice to the relevant VSE entity, and such entity will then have thirty (30) calendar days (the “Supplementary Compliance Period”) to provide
to the Administrative Agent (to be shared with each Lender) flood insurance that meets such requirements. The Administrative Agent shall not enter into the corresponding
mortgage or deed of trust unless and until the Administrative Agent receives written confirmation from the relevant Lender that all necessary flood due diligence has been
completed to its reasonable satisfaction; provided that in no event shall any VSE Entity be deemed to be in default of its obligation to provide a mortgage or related documentation
due to any delay caused by a Lender’s additional requirements with respect to flood insurance, as long as such VSE entity has met its obligations under the Initial Compliance
Period and the Supplementary Compliance Period.

6.15Financial Covenants of the Borrowers. The Borrowers will comply, and will cause the other VSE Entities to comply, with each of the financial covenants set forth
below:

(a) Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio. The VSE Entities will maintain as of the last day of each Fiscal Quarter occurring during the periods set forth below, on
a consolidated basis, a Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio of not more than the applicable ratio set forth in the table below:
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Testing Period Ending Maximum Total Funded Debt to
EBITDA Ratio

June 30, 2023 through and including September 30, 2023 5.00 to 1.00

December 31, 2023 through and including June 30, 2024 4.75 to 1.00

September 30, 2024 4.50 to 1.00

December 31, 2024 through and including March 31, 2025 4.25 to 1.00

June 30, 2025 through and including June 30, 2025 4.00 to 1.00

September 30, 2025 and thereafter 3.75 to 1.00

For purposes of the foregoing, the “Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio” shall mean, as of any date of determination, (A) the Total Funded Debt as of as of the last day of the most
recently ended four (4) fiscal quarter period divided by (B) the VSE Entities’ EBITDA for the four (4) fiscal quarter period most recently ended. The Total Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio
shall be measured on the last day of each Fiscal Quarter throughout the term of the Loan.
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(b) Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. The VSE Entities will maintain as of the last day of each Fiscal Quarter, on a consolidated basis, a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
of not less than 1.20 to 1.00. For purposes of the foregoing, “Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the sum of (A) (i) the VSE Entities’ EBITDA for
the four (4) fiscal quarter period most recently ended, plus (ii) operating lease payments (including rent) made during such period, minus (iii) cash taxes paid during such period,
minus (iv) cash dividends paid during such period, minus (v) share repurchases made during such period, minus (vi) maintenance capital expenditures made during such period,
divided by (B) Fixed Charges for such period. For purposes hereof, “Fixed Charges” shall mean, for any period of determination thereof on a consolidated basis, the sum of (i)
scheduled or required principal payments on all Indebtedness for borrowed money during such period (excluding the payment of the existing term loans occurring on the Fourth
Amendment effective Date), plus (ii) all operating lease payments (including rent) during such period, plus (iii) cash interest expense for such period, plus (iv) any cash payments of
Permitted Earn-outs payable during such period. The Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio shall be measured on the last day of each Fiscal Quarter throughout the term of the Loan.

Except as otherwise expressly provided above, the financial covenants referenced above shall be calculated and tested quarterly on a rolling four (4) Fiscal Quarter
basis, and shall include the results of any other Person acquired pursuant to a Permitted Acquisition and consolidated into the VSE Entities’ financial statements within the twelve
(12) month period immediately preceding the applicable covenant calculation date (with such calculation being on a pro forma basis assuming debt service for the test period equal
to the next year’s debt service, and including EBITDA on a pro forma basis). Unless otherwise defined, all financial terms used in this Section 6.15 shall have the meanings attributed
to such terms in accordance with GAAP.

6.16Interest Rate Contracts. The Borrowers shall have in effect, at all times for a minimum period of three (3) years, commencing not later than the sixtieth (60th) day
after the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, one or more interest rate swap agreements or hedging agreements reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent covering not
less than fifty percent (50%) of that portion of the Fourth Amendment Term Loan that was used to refinance the First Amendment Term Loan (applying ratably any amortization
payment of the Fourth Amendment Term Loan after the Fourth Amendment Effective Date).In order for any such interest rate swap agreement or hedging agreement to be
secured by any assets of the Borrowers, it must be purchased from and maintained with a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender, in which case the Borrowers’ obligations under any
Hedging Contract shall be secured by the Collateral on a pari passu basis, and any reference in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to a ratable allocation between the
Lenders and Affiliates of the Lenders shall be based on the Commitment Amount (and the respective Lender’s Percentage) and the amount due under all Hedging Contracts
(including all scheduled payments and hedged termination amounts) (and the respective Lender’s Affiliates interest therein), subject, however, to Section 1.4(d) of this Agreement.
The Administrative Agent shall be deemed the collateral agent of each Lender and Affiliate of a Lender that is a counterparty under a Hedging Contract. The Borrowers shall
determine to their own satisfaction whether each such interest rate swap agreement, hedging agreement or Hedging Contract is sufficient to meet the Borrowers’ needs for
interest rate protection, and neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender shall have any obligation or liability with respect thereto.

6.17Landlord Waivers; Subordination. If, at any time after the Restatement Date, any Borrower (other than any Foreign Borrower) shall move or relocate any of its
(a) books and records, or (b) primary business location(s) situated within the United States or locations where Borrower assets valued, individually or in the aggregate, in excess of
One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) are located, the Borrowers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide to the Administrative Agent, prior to any such move
or relocation, a landlord lien waiver if, in the Administrative Agent’s discretion, such landlord’s lien waiver is necessary or desirable. Each such landlord’s waiver, shall be, in form and
substance, reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, pursuant to which each landlord shall subordinate any statutory, contractual or other lien the landlord may have in
any of the Collateral to the lien, operation and effect of the lien granted to the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

6.18Substitute Notes. Upon request of the Administrative Agent, each Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent substitute promissory notes, in
form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in all respects, payable to the order of such Person as may be designated by the Administrative Agent; provided that
the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding promissory notes shall not exceed the Commitment Amount (plus the Swing Line Commitment Amount) as of the date such
substitute note(s) are issued.
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6.19Inventory. With respect to the Inventory, the VSE Entities will, during any continuing Event of Default: (a) maintain a perpetual inventory reporting system at all
times, (b) keep correct and accurate records itemizing and describing the kind, type, quality and quantity of Inventory, the VSE Entities’ cost therefor and the selling price thereof, all
of which records shall be available to the officers, employees or agents of the Administrative Agent upon demand for inspection and copying thereof; (c) not store any Inventory
with a bailee, warehouseman or similar Person without the Administrative Agent’s prior written consent, which consent may be
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conditioned on, among other things, delivery by the bailee, warehouseman or similar Person to the Administrative Agent of warehouse receipts or bailee letters, in form acceptable
to the Administrative Agent, in the name of the Administrative Agent evidencing the storage of Inventory and the interests of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders therein; (d)
permit the Administrative Agent and its agents or representatives to inspect and examine the Inventory and to check and test the same as to quality, quantity, value and condition
at any time or times hereafter during the VSE Entities’ usual business hours or at other reasonable times and (e) at the Administrative Agent’s request, designate the Administrative
Agent as the consignee on all bills of lading and other negotiable and non-negotiable documents. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the VSE Entities shall be
permitted to sell their Inventory in the ordinary course of business except while an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

6.20Insurance With Respect to Equipment and Inventory. The Borrowers will (a) maintain and cause each of their Subsidiaries to maintain hazard insurance with
fire and extended coverage on the Equipment and Inventory in an amount at least equal to the lesser amount of the outstanding principal amount of the Obligations or the fair
market value of the Equipment and Inventory (but in any event sufficient to avoid any co-insurance obligations) and with a specific endorsement to each such insurance policy
pursuant to which the insurer provides for lender’s loss payee and additional insured endorsements in favor of Administrative Agent in a form acceptable to Administrative Agent,
agrees to give the Administrative Agent at least thirty (30) days written notice before any alteration or cancellation of such insurance policy and that no act or default of any of the
Borrowers shall affect the right of the Administrative Agent to recover under such policy in the event of loss or damage; (b) file, and cause each of their Subsidiaries to file, with the
Administrative Agent, upon its request, a detailed list of the insurance then in effect and stating the names of the insurance companies, the amounts and rates of the insurance,
dates of the expiration thereof and the properties and risks covered thereby; and (c) within thirty (30) days after notice in writing from the Administrative Agent, obtain, and cause
each of their Subsidiaries to obtain, such additional insurance as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request.

6.21Hazardous Substance; Hazardous Waste. Each Borrower, for itself and its successors and assigns, hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold
harmless the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and each Affiliate of a Lender that is at any time a counterparty under any Hedging Contract, and their respective officers,
employees and agents, from and against any and all liabilities, losses, claims, damages, suits, penalties, costs and expenses of every kind or nature, including reasonable attorneys’
fees arising from or in connection with (i) the presence or alleged presence of any Hazardous Substance or Hazardous Waste on, under or about any property of any VSE Entity
(including any property or premises now or hereafter owned or leased by any VSE Entity), or which is caused by or results from, directly or indirectly, any act or omission to act by
any VSE Entity; and (ii) any VSE Entity’s violation of any environmental statute, ordinance, order, rule or regulation of any Government thereof (including any liability arising under
CERCLA, RCRA, HMTA or any other Applicable Laws).

6.22Disaster Recovery and Contingency Program. Each Borrower will, and will cause each other VSE Entity to, implement and maintain at all times (and at least
annually review the sufficiency of) a disaster recovery and contingency plan that addresses, in the reasonable business judgment of the VSE Entities, each VSE Entity’s plans for
continuing operations upon the occurrence of a natural disaster or other event that destroys or prevents the use of or access to such VSE Entity’s primary computer systems,
information databases, software applications, business records and operations facility. Such contingency plan at all times must be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to
the Administrative Agent. Upon request, each Borrower will, and will cause each other VSE Entity to, provide the Administrative Agent with a current copy of such plan.

6.23Data Security. Each Borrower will, and will cause each VSE Entity to, take in such VSE Entity’s reasonable business judgment all appropriate technical and
organizational measures to protect against a Data Breach and against accidental loss, alteration or damage or destruction of or damage to Personal Information. Each VSE Entity
shall at all times in such VSE Entity’s reasonable business judgment have appropriate policies and procedures in place that are designed to: (a) protect the security of Personal
Information; (b) protect against any anticipated threats to the security or integrity of Personal Information; (c) protect against Data Breaches; and (d) ensure the proper disposal of
such Personal Information. To the extent that a Data Breach occurs (irrespective of cause), each Borrower shall: (i) promptly inform the Administrative Agent in writing; (ii) promptly
inform any parties affected by the Data Breach; (iii) promptly comply with Applicable Laws, rules and regulations concerning such Data Breach; and (iv) use diligent efforts to
mitigate any damages that have occurred as a result of such Data Breach.

6.24Further Assurances; Additional Requested Information. Each of the Borrowers will provide to the Administrative Agent such further assurances and
additional documents regarding the Collateral and the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s security interest therein as the Administrative Agent may from time to time
reasonably request, and each of the Borrowers will promptly provide the Administrative Agent with such additional information, reports and statements respecting the business,
operations, properties and financial condition of each of the VSE Entities as the Administrative Agent may from time to time reasonably request. Furthermore, each of the
Borrowers agrees to execute, re-execute, use commercially reasonably efforts to cause third parties involved in the
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Loans to execute and/or re-execute and to deliver to the Administrative Agent or its legal counsel, as may be deemed appropriate, any document or instrument signed in
connection with the Loan(s) which was incorrectly drafted and/or signed, as well as any document or instrument which should have been signed at or prior to the Restatement
Date, but which was not so signed and delivered. The Borrowers agree to comply with any written request by the Administrative Agent within ten (10) Business Days (or if such
compliance requires more than ten (10) Business Days, within a reasonable period of time, not to exceed thirty (30) days (or such longer period of time as agreed in writing by the
Administrative Agent), so long as the Borrowers are diligently pursuing such compliance) after receipt by any Borrower of such request.

ARTICLE 7 

NEGATIVE COVENANTS OF THE BORROWERS

So long as any Obligation remains outstanding or this Agreement remains in effect, each Borrower jointly and severally covenants and agrees that, without the prior
written consent of the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers will not, and unless specified below, will not suffer or permit any other VSE Entity to:

7.1 Change of Control; Disposition of Assets; Merger.

(a) Suffer or permit majority ownership or effective control of any VSE Entity (other than the Primary Operating Company) to be sold, assigned or otherwise
transferred, legally or equitably, to any Person, except to another Borrower; or suffer or permit any Change of Control to occur; or

(b) suffer or permit the issuance of any capital stock of any VSE Entity (other than the Primary Operating Company), or alter or amend any VSE Entity’s capital
structure; or

(c) permit any VSE Entity to sell, assign, loan, deliver, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of property or assets (including stock, equity or any other type of
ownership interests of another VSE Entity), except for (i) transfers of assets between Borrowers in which the Administrative Agent continues to have a perfected first priority
security interest in and to all such assets constituting Collateral (after giving effect to such transfer), subject, however, to Permitted Liens; (ii) subleasing of any premises which are
not necessary for a VSE Entity’s business operations; (iii) dispositions of assets (other than Inventory and Permitted Investments) to non-Borrowers, provided that the fair market
value of any and all such asset dispositions, in the aggregate, do not exceed the greater of (x) Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00) and (y) 10% of EBITDA (determined as
of the most recently ended four (4) fiscal quarter period for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 6.3), in each case, determined at the time of such
disposition; or (iv) the sale of Inventory in the ordinary course of business, and the sale of unnecessary or obsolete assets; or

(d) permit any Borrower to become a party to any document, instrument or agreement (other than this Agreement and the other Loan Documents) that
prohibits, limits or restricts such Borrower from assigning, pledging, hypothecating or otherwise encumbering any of its assets, including any capital stock or other equity interests
of another Borrower; provided that, (i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by law, (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary restrictions and
conditions contained in agreements relating to the sale of a Subsidiary pending such sale, provided that such restrictions and conditions apply only to the Subsidiary that is sold
and such sale is permitted hereunder, (iii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement relating to secured Indebtedness permitted by
Section 7.7(a)(vii) if such restrictions and conditions apply only to the property or assets securing such Indebtedness and (iv) the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions
in leases restricting the assignment thereof; or

(e) permit any VSE Entity to merge or consolidate with any business, company or enterprise, or liquidate or dissolve, or acquire or purchase any business,
company or enterprise or acquire or purchase substantially all of the assets of any business, company or enterprise, except:

(i) any merger between Borrowers or by a Non-Borrower Affiliate with and into a Borrower (with such Borrower being the surviving entity) or with and
into another Non-Borrower Affiliate; provided that (A) the Borrowers shall have provided not less than fifteen (15) days prior written notice to the Administrative Agent of the
proposed merger, and such notice sets forth all of the material terms of such merger (including the purpose for consummating such merger), (B) after giving effect to any such
merger with or into a Borrower, the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, shall have a perfected first priority security interest in and to all of the assets of the
surviving Borrower constituting Collateral (subject to Permitted Liens), (C) within ten (10) days of the effective date of such merger, true, correct and complete state-certified copies
of the articles of merger, plan of merger and all other documents, instruments and agreements relating thereto shall have been provided by the Borrowers to the Administrative
Agent, and (D) promptly (but in all events within fifteen
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(15) days) following the Administrative Agent’s request, the Borrowers shall have executed, issued or delivered to the Administrative Agent and/or caused such Non-Borrower
Affiliate to have executed, issued and/or delivered to the Administrative Agent, such documents, instruments and agreements as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require
in connection with or as a result of such merger;

(ii) any other merger or acquisition by any Borrower with or of a Person or its assets which is not then a Borrower (a “Target”) that satisfies all of the
following conditions (which in the case of a Limited Condition Acquisition shall be subject to Section 1.13):

A. the merger or acquisition results in the acquisition by such Borrower of all or substantially all of the assets of the Target or at least eighty-
five percent (85%) of all of the issued and outstanding equity or ownership interests in the Target, in either case, free and clear of any and all liens, claims and encumbrances (other
than Permitted Liens);

B. the Target is in a substantially similar line or lines of business as that of one or more of the Borrowers;

C. the Target is a going concern, not involved in any material litigation that is not fully covered by reserves or insurance and shall have not
suffered any material adverse change in its business, operations, condition or assets at any time after the immediately preceding Fiscal Quarter end and prior to the effective date
of the merger or acquisition;

D. the subject transaction does not constitute a hostile acquisition or merger;

E. both prior to and after giving effect to the merger or acquisition, no Event of Default shall exist or have occurred, and no act, event or
condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default;

F. the Borrowers will be in compliance with all financial covenants set forth in Section 6.15 of this Agreement, and the pro forma Total Funded
Debt to EBITDA Ratio after giving effect to the merger or acquisition shall be no greater than the lesser of (i) one-quarter (0.25) less than the then applicable level set forth in Section
6.15(a) and (ii) 3.75 to 1.00;

G. the Target shall have had positive EBITDA for the immediately preceding twelve (12) month period prior to the merger or acquisition;

H. after giving effect to the merger or acquisition, there is at least Twenty Million and No/100 Dollars ($20,000,000.00) of excess availability
under the Revolving Facility;

I. [reserved];

J. [reserved];

K. the Borrowers shall have certified in writing, or concurrent with the consummation of the subject merger or acquisition shall certify in
writing, to the Administrative Agent that the subject merger or acquisition satisfies the conditions of a Permitted Acquisition as set forth above;

L. if it is a merger with a Borrower, such Borrower is the surviving Person, and if required pursuant to Section 1.11 of this Agreement, the
Target and its subsidiaries shall have been joined as a “Borrower” party to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents pursuant to Section 1.11 of this Agreement; and

M. neither the Target nor its Subsidiaries are foreign entities.

If the Administrative Agent issues its consent to a hostile acquisition, such consent shall be subject to, among other things, the Borrowers’ agreement to indemnify,
defend and hold the Administrative Agent and the Lenders harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses of every kind
and nature, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, related to, arising out of or in connection with such
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acquisition, pursuant to an indemnity agreement satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the affected Lender in all respects.

(iii) any liquidation or dissolution of a VSE Entity without any active business operations, so long as (A) the Borrowers shall have provided not less than
fifteen (15) days prior written notice to the Administrative Agent of the proposed liquidation or dissolution, (B) the assets of such entity to be liquidated or dissolved (if any) are
transferred (x) in the case of the liquidation or dissolution of a Non-Borrower Affiliate, to a Borrower or another Non-Borrower Affiliate or (y) in the case of the liquidation or
dissolution of a Borrower, to another Borrower, (C) after giving effect to any such liquidation or dissolution, if such assets are transferred to a Borrower, the Administrative Agent,
for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, shall have a perfected first priority security interest in and to all of the assets so transferred which constitute Collateral (subject to Permitted
Liens), (D) the Lenders’ rights in any Collateral, including, without limitation, the existence, perfection and priority of any Lien thereon, are not adversely affected by such
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dissolution or liquidation and (E) promptly (but in all events within fifteen (15) days) following the Administrative Agent’s request, the Borrowers shall have executed, issued or
delivered to the Administrative Agent and/or caused such VSE Entity to have executed, issued and/or delivered to the Administrative Agent, such documents, instruments and
agreements as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require in connection with or as a result of such liquidation or dissolution.

7.2 Margin Stocks. Use all or any part of the proceeds of any advance made hereunder to purchase or carry, or to reduce or retire any loan incurred to purchase or
carry, any margin stocks (within the meaning of Regulations U, T or X of the Board) or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any such margin stocks,
in each case in violation of Regulations U, T or X of the Board.

7.3 Change of Operations. Change in any material way the general character of any VSE Entity’s business (or fail to maintain the VSE Entities’ primary lines of
business) as conducted on the Restatement Date, or engage in any type of business not directly or reasonably related to or compatible with such business as currently and
normally conducted, or suffer or permit any change to the Fiscal Year or Fiscal Quarter of any VSE Entity or the accounting methods of any VSE Entity.

7.4 Intentionally Omitted .

7.5 Further Assignments; Performance and Modification of Contracts; etc. Except as may be permitted by the Loan Documents (a) make any further
assignment, pledge or disposition of the Collateral or any part thereof; (b) permit any set-off or reduction, delay the timing of any payment under, or otherwise modify any Material
Contract, if such set-off, reduction, delay or modification would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; (c) except for Permitted Liens, create, incur or permit to
exist any lien or encumbrance on any real property now or hereafter owned by any VSE Entity; or (d) do or permit to be done anything to impair the Administrative Agent’s security
interest in any Collateral or the payments due to any Borrower thereunder; provided that reasonable and customary compromises and settlements with Account Debtors in the
ordinary course of any Borrower’s business will not constitute a breach of this Section 7.5.

7.6 Affect Rights of the Administrative Agent or Lenders. At any time do or perform any act or permit any act to be performed which would reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

7.7 Indebtedness; Granting of Security Interests.

(a) Incur any Indebtedness, whether direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, except for:

(i) trade debt and operating leases incurred in the ordinary course of business or in a Permitted Acquisition;

(ii) Indebtedness outstanding on the Restatement Date and listed on Schedule 7.7(a) attached hereto, but any increase thereof would be subject to
Subsection (xiii) below;

(iii) intercompany Indebtedness (including inter-company guarantees) (A) by and among the Borrowers in which the Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Lenders ratably, has a perfected security interest in and to all of their assets constituting Collateral, (B) by and among Non-Borrower Affiliates, and (C) to the extent
expressly permitted pursuant to Section 7.8 of this Agreement, by and between VSE Entities;

(iv) performance guarantees issued by any VSE Entity for the benefit of another VSE Entity;
59

(v) [reserved];

(vi) Indebtedness secured by liens listed on Schedule 7.7(a)(vi) attached hereto, or other Indebtedness secured by Permitted Liens, but not any
increases thereof;

(vii)Indebtedness incurred to finance (by purchase or lease) Equipment constituting capital expenditures, provided that such Indebtedness does not
violate any other covenant set forth in this Agreement;

(viii) guarantees permitted by this Agreement;

(ix) Permitted Earn-outs;

(x) any Hedging Obligations;

(xi) any Permitted Financial Product Obligations;
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(xii)performance bonds and/or bid bonds issued on behalf of any and all VSE Entities that meet all of the following criteria: (A) the performance bond
and/or bid bond shall be issued in the ordinary course of the VSE Entities’ business, (B) before and after giving effect to the performance bond and/or bid bond, the net amount
(after subtracting the aggregate amount of any and all Pending Release Bonds) of any and all performance bonds outstanding at any time, together with any and all bid bonds
outstanding at any time shall not exceed the Bid and Performance Bond Limit (albeit calculated as of the last day of each Fiscal Quarter), (C) the obligations and liabilities of the VSE
Entities with respect to the performance bond and/or bid bond shall be and remain unsecured at all times, (D) the work for which the performance bond and/or bid bond has been
issued shall be (I) performed for and/or on behalf of the United States government or any foreign government which is not a Blocked Person, and (II) originally scheduled to be
completed within eighteen (18) months of work commencement; and (E) the performance bond and/or bid bond shall not have been issued for or on behalf of Integrated Concepts
and Research Corporation;

(xiii) any other unsecured Indebtedness (not specifically described or pre-approved in this Section 7.7(a)), provided that (A) the aggregate
amount of such Indebtedness remaining unpaid and outstanding at any time owing from all VSE Entities does not exceed Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00) and (B)
the aggregate amount of any and all such other unsecured Indebtedness remaining unpaid and outstanding at any time with respect to all Non-Borrower Affiliates does not
exceed Two Million and No/100 Dollars ($2,000,000.00).

(b) mortgage, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise encumber or permit any lien, security interest or other encumbrance, including (i) purchase money
liens, whether under conditional or installment sales arrangements or otherwise to affect the Collateral or any other assets, properties or Aircraft Objects of any VSE Entity and (ii)
any International Interests, Prospective International Interests and Prospective Assignments as each is defined in the Cape Town Treaty, unless any Borrower is the “Creditor” and
holds the “Right to Discharge” with respect thereto and any filings made with the Federal Aviation Administration to perfect an interest in any Aircraft Object or Spare Part, (except
for Permitted Liens and other liens, security interests or encumbrances expressly permitted herein);

(c) without limiting clause (b) above, mortgage, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise encumber or permit any lien, security interest or other
encumbrance (other than Permitted Liens) to exist, on any real property interest (i.e., leasehold, fee simple, license or otherwise) that the Borrowers may now have or may
hereafter acquire; or

(d) enter into any agreement or understanding with any Person pursuant to which any Borrower agrees to be bound by a covenant not to encumber all or
any part of the property or assets of such Borrower, unless such agreement or understanding is entered into in connection with the granting of purchase money security interests
permitted pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7.8 Dividends; Loans; Advances; Investments and Similar Events.

(a) (i) Declare or pay any dividends; (ii) purchase, redeem, retire, or otherwise acquire for value any of its capital stock now or hereafter outstanding; make any
distribution of assets to its stockholders whether
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in cash, assets or obligations of a VSE Entity; (iii) allocate or otherwise set apart any sum for the payment of any dividend or distribution on, or for the purchase, redemption, or
retirement of, any of its capital stock; (iv) alter or amend any VSE Entity’s capital structure; (v) declare or make any payment of principal or interest on, or acquire or anticipate any
sinking fund requirement of, any Subordinated Indebtedness; or (vi) make any other distribution by reduction of capital or otherwise in respect of any capital stock of a VSE Entity,
except that if there is no Event of Default at such time, no act, event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, would
constitute an Event of Default at such time, and no covenant breach calculated on a pro forma basis would occur after giving effect thereto (A) (1) the Primary Operating Company
may pay cash dividends that shall not exceed Six Million and No/100 Dollars ($6,000,000.00) in the aggregate per Fiscal Year so long as at the time of payment thereof, there is at
least Twenty Million and No/100 Dollars ($20,000,000.00) of excess availability under the Revolving Facility at the time of payment of any such dividend, and (2) except for the
Primary Operating Company, each VSE Entity may pay cash dividends to the Primary Operating Company or to another Borrower, (B) each VSE Entity may declare and deliver
dividends and make distributions payable solely in its common stock; (C) each VSE Entity may purchase or otherwise acquire its capital stock by exchange for or out of the
proceeds received from a substantially concurrent issue of new shares of its capital stock, (D) the Primary Operating Company, during each Fiscal Year, may repurchase its capital
stock in amounts not to exceed Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00), provided, that, at the time of each such repurchase, availability under the Revolving Facility (after
taking into account the aggregate face amount of all Letters of Credit outstanding, Swing Line Loans outstanding and Alternative Currency Loans outstanding), shall not be less
than Twenty Million and No/100 Dollars ($20,000,000.00) and (E) the VSE Entities may make payments of Subordinated Indebtedness to the extent permitted by the subordination
provisions applicable thereto;

(b) make any investments, or make any loans, salary advances, or other extensions of credit to (i) any equity owners of any VSE Entity, unless such equity
owner is also a Borrower party to this Agreement in which the Administrative Agent has a perfected security interest in and to all of its assets constituting Collateral at the time such
loan, salary advance or other payment is made; (ii) any Affiliate of any VSE Entity, unless such Affiliate is a Borrower party to this Agreement in which the Administrative Agent has a
perfected security interest in and to all of its assets constituting Collateral at the time such loan, salary advance or other payment is made; or (iii) any other Person; provided,
however, that the VSE Entities may make or continue to have outstanding any or all of the following:
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(i) loans or advances to individual officers, current employees or former employees of any VSE Entity, provided, that all such loans and advances to
such individuals may not exceed One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00), in the aggregate, at any time; it being understood that travel advances and employee retention
bonuses made in the ordinary course of business shall not be included in calculating the foregoing computation;

(ii) non-cash stock compensation to employees of the VSE Entities that does not represent a loan or advanceand loans, advances or payments from
one Borrower to another Borrower; provided that the Administrative Agent has a perfected security interest in and to all of each Borrower’s assets constituting Collateral;

(iii) loans, advances or payments in the amounts that are unpaid or outstanding as of the Restatement Date and listed on Schedule 7.8(c) attached
hereto;

(iv) trade credit extended to customers of the VSE Entities in the ordinary course of business;

(v) Ordinary Course Payments;

(vi) negotiable instruments endorsed for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of business;

(vii)securities or certificates of deposit with maturities of two (2) years or less; provided that, concurrent with such investment, any and all securities or
certificates of deposit (other than those acquired in connection with RABBI trusts and deferred compensation plans) shall have been pledged to the Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Lenders ratably, pursuant to documentation reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;

(viii) loans, advances or other payments by any Borrower to any and all Non-Borrower Affiliates in an aggregate amount not to exceed Two
Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00), in each case outstanding at any time, calculated on a net basis (i.e., any cash proceeds returned by a
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Non-Borrower Affiliate, whether through a dividend, distribution, share redemption, payment of principal on debt or otherwise, together with payments received from customers
of the Borrowers for work done by a Non-Borrower Affiliate under customer contracts of the Borrowers, to the extent such payments are received in the ordinary course of such
Non-Borrower Affiliate's business and the allocated amount thereof is commensurate with amounts ordinarily payable between two unrelated and unaffiliated third parties (i.e., on
market terms), shall be added back as availability for the aggregate investment limit; provided that such cash proceeds are not subject to revocation, rescission, disgorgement, set
off or other claim diminishing the full value thereof);

(ix) Permitted Investments; and

(x) Permitted Acquisitions.

7.9 Lease Obligations. Except in the ordinary course of business, (i) enter into any new lease of real or personal property, (ii) modify or amend in any material respect
any lease of real or personal property in effect as of the Restatement Date, or (iii) restate or renew any lease of real or personal property in effect as of the Restatement Date.
Additionally, except in the ordinary course of business, no VSE Entity shall lease any real or personal property owned by such VSE Entity to any Person (including, without
limitation, the Government).

7.10Certain Agreements; Etc.. Suffer or permit any modification or amendment to any VSE Entity’s corporate governance documents, to the extent such
modification or amendment could reasonably be expected to prejudice the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s rights or remedies under any Loan Document, or the priority,
perfection or enforceability of the Administrative Agent’s security interest in or lien on any Collateral.

7.11Lockbox Deposits. If a lockbox arrangement shall have been required by the Administrative Agent, permit or cause any and all payments required to be made
directly to the Administrative Agent, pursuant to Section 11.2 of this Agreement, to be made or directed to any other Person, without the prior approval of the Administrative
Agent.

7.12Sale and Leaseback Transactions; Other Agreements.

(a) Except in connection with the treatment of the Walker Lane Lease as a sale and leaseback transaction, for accounting purposes only, directly or indirectly,
enter into any arrangement with any Person providing for any VSE Entity to lease or rent property that such VSE Entity has sold or will sell or otherwise transfer to such Person; or

(b) directly or indirectly, enter into any Material Contract pursuant to which the execution, delivery or performance of the obligations of any Borrower under
this Agreement or under any other Loan Document would breach or constitute a default under such Material Contract.
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7.13Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliates. Suffer or permit any Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliate to (i) engage in any business other than the winding down and
dissolution of such entities; (ii) incur any indebtedness or obtain any material assets; (iii) modify its organizational documents; or (iv) obtain or use any Loan proceeds. Except for
customary costs to dissolve a Restricted non-Borrower Affiliate, no VSE Entity will pay, contribute, invest, lend or otherwise provide to a Restricted Non-Borrower Affiliate any cash,
property, assets or otherwise, for any purpose whatsoever, without the Administrative Agent’s prior written consent.

7.14Anti-Terrorism Laws.Suffer or permit any VSE Entity to (a) conduct any business or engage in anytransaction or dealing with a Blocked Person, including the
making or receiving of any contribution of funds, goods or services to or for the benefit of any Blocked Person; (b) deal in, or otherwise engage in any transaction relating to, any
property or interests in property blocked pursuant to Executive Order No. 13224; (c) engage in or conspire to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose
of evading or avoiding, or attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in Executive Order No. 13224 or the Patriot Act; or (d) violate any Anti-Corruption Law. Each
Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent any certification or other evidence reasonablyrequested from time to time by the Administrative Agent, confirming each VSE
Entity’s compliance with this Section 7.14.

ARTICLE 8 

COLLATERAL AND OTHER DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS

Except for any Borrower or Non-Borrower Affiliate utilizing Permitted Foreign Bank Accounts, the Borrowers will deposit or cause to be deposited into one or more
Deposit Accounts maintained by the
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Administrative Agent, and if required by the Administrative Agent after the Restatement Date, a collateral account designated by the Administrative Agent (the “Collateral
Account”), all checks, drafts, cash and other remittances received by the VSE Entities, and shall deposit such items for credit within three (3) Business Days of the receipt thereof and
in precisely the form received. Pending such deposit, the Borrowers will not commingle any such items of payment with any of their other funds or property, but will hold them
separate and apart. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the VSE Entities shall have the right to maintain certain other Deposit Accounts (each, a “Transitional Deposit Account”) in
connection with any Permitted Acquisition, but only for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days after such Permitted Acquisition, as applicable, and provided further that (i) a
wire transfer arrangement with the financial institution(s) maintaining such account(s) is in place on or prior to the effective date of such Permitted Acquisition, as applicable, and
such arrangement remains in place at all times thereafter for so long as the Transitional Deposit Account remains open; and (ii) each Transitional Deposit Account shall (a) be used
solely for the deposit/receipt of cash, checks and other remittances owing to the VSE Entities from time to time, and (b) be at all times, free and clear of any and all liens claims and
encumbrances (other than the security interest of the Administrative Agent granted hereby and the rights and remedies of the financial institution maintaining such account, but
only to the extent that the exercise of such rights and remedies by such financial institution can be based solely upon claims for reimbursement of normal and customary fees and
charges for account maintenance and account administration). Each wire transfer arrangement referenced above must be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent.

The above-referenced Deposit Accounts, the Collateral Account, the Transitional Deposit Account and the Permitted Foreign Bank Accounts shall secure the Obligations
and the Borrowers hereby grant, assign and transfer to or at the direction of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders ratably, a continuing security interest in all of
the Borrowers’ right, title and interest in and to such accounts, whenever created or established. Subject to this Agreement and any other Loan Document, the Administrative
Agent may apply funds in such accounts to any of the Obligations, including any principal, interest or other payment(s) not made when due, whether arising under this Agreement
or any other Loan Document, or any other Obligation of the Borrowers, without regard to the origin of the deposits in the account, the beneficial ownership of the funds therein or
whether such Obligations are owed jointly with another or severally; the order and method of such application to be in the sole discretion of the Administrative Agent. The
Administrative Agent’s right to deduct sums due under the Loan Documents from the Borrowers’ account(s) shall not relieve the Borrowers from their obligation to make all
payments required by the Loan Documents as and when required by the Loan Documents, and the Administrative Agent shall not have any obligation to make any such
deductions or any liability whatsoever for any failure to do so.

ARTICLE 9 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

9.1 Events of Default. Any one of the following events shall be considered an “Event of Default”:

(a) if any Borrower shall fail to pay any principal, interest or other sum owing on any of the Notes or any other Obligation (including regularly scheduled and
termination payments under Hedging Contracts) when the same shall become due and payable, whether by reason of acceleration or otherwise; or

(b) if any of the VSE Entities shall fail to pay and satisfy in full, within thirty (30) days of the rendering thereof, any judgment(s) against one or more of the VSE
Entities that individually or in the aggregate are in excess of One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00), which are not, to the reasonable satisfaction of the Administrative
Agent, fully bonded, stayed, covered by insurance or covered by appropriate reserves; or
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(c) if any warranty or representation of any Borrower not qualified by “materiality” set forth in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document shall be
misleading or untrue in any material respect when made or remade, or if any warranty or representation of any Borrower qualified by “materiality” set forth in this Agreement or in
any other Loan Document shall be misleading or untrue in any respect when made or remade; or

(d) if there shall be non-compliance with or a breach of any of the covenants contained in this Agreement (other than the financial covenants set forth in
Section 6.15 of this Agreement or any other covenant specifically addressed elsewhere in this Section 9.1), or of any covenant contained in any other Loan Document, and such
non-compliance or breach shall continue unremedied after thirty (30) days written notice from the Administrative Agent; or

(e) if there shall be non-compliance with or a breach of any of the Negative Covenants contained in this Agreement not otherwise specifically addressed
elsewhere in this Section 9.1; or
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(f) if there shall be non-compliance with or a breach of (i) any of the reporting requirements set forth in Section 6.3 of this Agreement, and such non-
compliance or breach shall continue unremedied for a period of five (5) Business Days after the date when due, (ii) any of the financial covenants set forth in Section 6.15 of this
Agreement, or (iii) any of the notification requirements set forth in Section 6.10 of this Agreement; or

(g) if (i) without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, any VSE Entity shall be liquidated or dissolved or shall discontinue its business; (ii) a
trustee or receiver is appointed for any VSE Entity or for all or a substantial part of its assets; (iii) any VSE Entity makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (iv) any VSE
Entity files or is the subject of any insolvency proceeding, petition in bankruptcy or similar proceeding (whether such petition or proceeding shall be pursued in a court of law or
equity), which in the case of an involuntary bankruptcy, remains undismissed for sixty (60) days; (v) any VSE Entity shall become insolvent or any VSE Entity shall at any time fail
generally to pay its debts as such debts become due; or (vi) any Government agency or bankruptcy court or other court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control
of the whole or any part of the assets of any VSE Entity; or

(h) if any VSE Entity’s property or assets, including any deposit accounts, are levied upon, attached or subject to any other enforcement proceeding and such
levy, attachment or enforcement proceeding (i) involves amounts in excess of One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00), and (ii) is not fully bonded or stayed; or

(i) if any VSE Entity shall change its registered name, state of incorporation or state of organization (as applicable), without the prior written consent of the
Administrative Agent; or

(j) if a default shall occur with respect to any obligation(s) of one or more VSE Entities for the payment of borrowed money, which involves amounts,
individually or in the aggregate, in excess of One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00), whether now existing or hereafter created, incurred or arising, and such default shall
(i) consist of the failure to pay such obligation(s) when due, whether by acceleration or otherwise, or (ii) accelerate the maturity of such obligation(s) or permit the holder or holders
thereof, or any trustee or agent for such holder or holders, to cause such obligation(s) to become due and payable (or require any VSE Entity to purchase or redeem such
obligation(s) or post cash collateral in respect thereof) prior to its expressed maturity; or

(k)  if (i) there shall be a default under any Material Contract that has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; or (ii) a cure
notice issued under any Material Contract shall remain uncured beyond (A) the expiration of the time period available to the VSE Entity pursuant to such Material Contract or such
cure notice (as the case may be), to cure the noticed default, or (B) the date on which the other contracting party is entitled to exercise its rights and remedies under such Material
Contract as a consequence of such default; or

(l)  if (i) any Borrower is debarred or suspended from contracting with any part of the Government; (ii) a notice of debarment or suspension shall have been
issued to any Borrower; or (iii) a notice of termination for default or the actual termination for default of any federal Government Contract that constitutes a Material Contract shall
have been issued to or received by any Borrower; or (iv) a Government investigation or inquiry relating to any VSE Entity and involving fraud, deception, dishonesty, willful
misconduct or any allegation thereof shall have been commenced in connection with any federal Government Contract or any VSE Entity’s activities; or

(m) if the Required Lenders or the Administrative Agent is not satisfied in its sole discretion with the results of any field audit conducted pursuant to this
Agreement; or

(n) if the capital stock of the Primary Operating Company is not listed (or is delisted) on NASDAQ or another national stock exchange for any reason
whatsoever;

(o) (i) the occurrence of (a) a reportable event (under Section 4043 of ERISA and regulations thereunder) with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) a withdrawal by
any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year in which it was a substantial employer (as defined in Section 4001(a)(2)
of ERISA) or a cessation of operations that is treated as such a withdrawal under Section 4062(e) of ERISA; (c) a complete or partial withdrawal by any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate
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from a multiemployer plan or notification that a multiemployer plan is in reorganization; (d) the filing of a notice of intent to terminate, the treatment of a plan amendment as a
termination under Sections 4041(c) or 4041A of ERISA, or the commencement of proceedings by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to terminate a Pension Plan or
multiemployer plan; (e) an event or condition which constitutes grounds under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any
Pension Plan or multiemployer plan; or (f) the imposition of any liability
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under Title IV of ERISA, other than for Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation premiums due but not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon any Borrower or any ERISA
Affiliate, which, in the case of each of (a) through (f), has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in actual liability of the Borrowers under Title IV of ERISA to the Pension
Plan, multiemployer plan or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, that the Borrowers would be required to pay, in an aggregate amount in excess of Two Hundred Fifty
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($250,000.00), or (ii) any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate fails to pay when due, after the expiration of any applicable grace period, any installment
payment with respect to its withdrawal liability under Section 4201 of ERISA under a multiemployer plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in actual
liability of the Borrowers that the Borrowers would be required to pay in an aggregate amount in excess of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($250,000.00); or

(p) any provision of this Agreement or any provision of any other Loan Document shall for any reason cease to be valid and binding on any VSE Entity party
thereto, or any VSE Entity shall so assert in writing or shall disavow any of its obligations thereunder.

9.2 Remedies. Upon the occurrence of the Event of Default set forth in Section 9.1(g) of this Agreement, all commitments of the Lenders hereunder shall automatically
(and without further notice, demand or other action) terminate, and all principal, accrued and unpaid interest and all other Obligations shall automatically (and without further
notice, demand or other action) become immediately due and payable in full, and bear interest at the Default Rate until paid in full. Without limiting the foregoing, or any other
right or remedy of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders set forth in this Agreement, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Administrative Agent, acting on behalf of
the Lenders and, as applicable, their Affiliates, may, and shall, subject to the terms of this Agreement, upon the direction of the Required Lenders, exercise any or all of the following
remedies:

(a) Withhold disbursement of all or any part of the Loan proceeds until such time that such Event of Default is cured to the satisfaction of the Administrative
Agent and no other Event of Default exists; it being expressly understood and agreed that, notwithstanding the foregoing, no Lender shall have any obligation to make any
advance or readvance of Loan proceeds, or issue, amend or renew any Letter of Credit, if any act, event or condition exists or has occurred which with notice or the lapse of time, or
both, would constitute an Event of Default (as more fully described in Section 1.4 of this Agreement);

(b) Terminate the Lenders’ obligation to make further disbursements of the Loan proceeds;

(c) Declare all principal, interest and other sums owing on the Obligations (including an amount equal to the face amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit)
to be immediately due and payable without demand, protest, notice of protest, notice of default, presentment for payment or further notice of any kind;

(d) Without notice, redirect any and all of the Borrowers’ deposits to the Collateral Account or any other account under the Administrative Agent’s or any
Lender’s exclusive control;

(e) Without notice, offset and apply against all or any part of the Obligations then owing by any Borrower to any Lender, any and all money, credits, stocks,
bonds or other securities or property of any VSE Entity of any kind or nature whatsoever on deposit with, held by or in the possession of Administrative Agent or any Lender in any
capacity whatsoever, including any deposits with Administrative Agent or any Lender or any of its Affiliates, to the credit of or for the account of any VSE Entity. The Administrative
Agent and the Lenders are authorized at any time to charge the Obligations against any Borrower’s account(s), without regard to the origin of deposits to the account or beneficial
ownership of the funds. Any and all amounts obtained by the Administrative Agent or any Lender pursuant to this Subsection (e) shall be shared by all of the Lenders (and each
Affiliate of a Lender that is then a counterparty under a Hedging Contract) ratably, in accordance with each Lender’s Percentage; and each Lender, as well as the Administrative
Agent, shall be entitled to exercise the rights of set-off provided in this Subsection (e);

(f) Exercise all rights, powers and remedies of a secured party under the UCC and/or any other Applicable Laws, including the right to (i) require the Borrowers
to assemble the Collateral (to the extent that it is movable) and make it available to the Administrative Agent at a place to be designated by the Administrative Agent, and (ii) enter
upon any Borrower’s premises, peaceably by the Administrative Agent’s own means or with legal process, and take possession of, render unusable or dispose of the Collateral on
such premises; each Borrower hereby agreeing not to resist or interfere with any such action. The Administrative Agent agrees to give the Borrowers written notice of the time and
place of any public sale of the Collateral or any part thereof, and the time after which any private sale or any other intended disposition of the Collateral is to be made, and such
notice will be mailed, postage prepaid, pursuant to Section 12.3 of this Agreement, at least ten (10) days before the time of any such
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sale or disposition. Each Borrower hereby authorizes and appoints the Administrative Agent and its successors and assigns to (i) sell the Collateral, and (ii) declare that each
Borrower assents to the passage of a decree by a court of proper jurisdiction for the sale of the Collateral. Any such sale pursuant to clauses (i) or (ii) above is to be made in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the laws and rules of procedure of the State of New York or other Applicable Laws;

(g) Proceed to enforce such other and additional rights and remedies as the Administrative Agent or Lenders may have hereunder and/or under any of the
other Loan Documents, or as may be provided by Applicable Laws; or

(h) Impose the Default Rate for the entire principal balance and other sums owing on the Obligations.

The Lenders and the Administrative Agent may exercise their respective rights under this Agreement or under any other Loan Document without exercising the rights
or affecting the security afforded by any other Loan Document, and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Administrative Agent may (or, at the direction of
the Required Lenders, shall) proceed against all or any portion of the Collateral in such order and at such times as the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion or at the direction
of the Required Lenders, sees fit; and each Borrower hereby expressly waives, to the extent permitted by law, all benefit of valuation, appraisement, marshaling of assets and all
exemptions under the laws of the State of New York or any other state, district or territory of the United States. Furthermore, if any Borrower shall default in the performance when
due of any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Administrative Agent, without notice to or demand upon the Borrowers (and without any grace or cure period) and without
waiving or releasing any of the Obligations or any default hereunder, under the Notes or under any other Loan Document, may (but shall be under no obligation to) perform the
same for each Borrower’s account, and any monies expended in so doing shall be chargeable to the Borrowers with interest, at the highest rate of interest payable under all of the
Notes, plus two percent (2%) per annum, and added to the Indebtedness secured by the Collateral.

All sums paid or advanced by the Administrative Agent (or any Lender to the extent incurred pursuant to this Agreement) in connection with the foregoing or
otherwise in connection with the Loan, and all court costs and expenses of collection, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses (and fees and expenses resulting from the
taking, holding or disposition of the Collateral) incurred in connection therewith shall be paid by the Borrowers upon demand and shall become a part of the Obligations secured
by the Collateral. The Borrowers agree to bear the expense of each lien search, property and judgment report or other form of Collateral ownership investigation as the
Administrative Agent, in its discretion, shall deem necessary or desirable to assure or further assure to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent their respective interests in the
Collateral.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, in the event that any Collateral proceeds shall have been received
by the Administrative Agent or any Lender to pay any of the Obligations, such proceeds shall be applied first to the Obligations relating to, arising from or incurred in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 1.4(d) of this
Agreement), and then to any other Obligations of the Borrowers. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, in no circumstances
shall proceeds of any Collateral constituting an asset of a guarantor or obligor hereunder which is not a Qualified ECP Guarantor be applied towards the payment of any
Obligations under Hedging Contracts.

All Hedging Contracts between any Borrower and any Lender or its Affiliates are independent agreements governed by the written provisions of said Hedging
Contracts, which will remain in full force and effect unaffected by any repayment, prepayment, acceleration, reduction, increase or change in the terms of the Loans, except as
otherwise expressly provided in said written Hedging Contracts, and any payoff statement from the Administrative Agent or any Lender relating to the Loans shall not apply to
said Hedging Contracts, except as otherwise expressly provided in such payoff statement.

ARTICLE 10 

THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT; AGENCY

10.1Appointment. Each Lender (on behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates that is or becomes a counterparty under a Hedging Contract) hereby affirms its irrevocable
appointment of Citizens Bank to act as the Administrative Agent for each such Person pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and affirms its
irrevocable authorization given to the Administrative Agent to take such action, and exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated to or required of the
Administrative Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, or are reasonably incidental thereto, including executing documents on behalf of the
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Lenders, as Administrative Agent. Citizens Bank affirms its agreement to act as the Administrative Agent on behalf of such Persons on the terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, subject to its right to resign as provided in Section 10.10 of this Agreement. Each Lender agrees that the rights and remedies granted to
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the Administrative Agent under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be exercised exclusively by the Administrative Agent, and that no Lender shall have the right
individually to exercise any such right or remedy, except to the extent expressly provided herein or therein.

10.2General Nature of Administrative Agent’s Duties. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary elsewhere in this Agreement or any other Loan Document:

(a) the Administrative Agent shall have no duties or responsibilities other than those expressly set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
and no implied duties or responsibilities on the part of the Administrative Agent shall be read into this Agreement or any other Loan Document or shall otherwise exist;

(b) the duties and responsibilities of the Administrative Agent under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be mechanical and administrative
in nature, and the Administrative Agent shall not have a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender;

(c) the Administrative Agent is and shall be solely the agent of the Lenders. The Administrative Agent does not assume, and shall not at any time be deemed
to have, any relationship of agency or trust with or for, or any other duty or responsibility to, any VSE Entity or any other Person (except only for its relationship as agent for, its
express duties and responsibilities as agent for, and its express duties and responsibilities to, the Lenders as provided in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents); and

(d) the Administrative Agent shall not have any obligation to take any action hereunder or under any other Loan Document if the Administrative Agent
believes in good faith that taking such action may (i) conflict with any Applicable Laws, or any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) may require the
Administrative Agent to qualify to do business in any jurisdiction where it is not then so qualified, or (iii) result in any liability of the Administrative Agent or any Lender not fully
covered by insurance.

10.3Exercise of Powers.

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have the authority to take any action of the type specified in this Agreement or any other Loan Document as being within
the Administrative Agent’s rights, powers or discretion, as it determines in its sole discretion, except as provided in Subsection (b) below, and except as provided herein or in any
other Loan Document, when such action expressly requires the direction or consent of (i) the Required Lenders, or (ii) all of the Lenders, in either of which circumstances the
Administrative Agent shall not take such action absent such direction or consent. Any action or inaction pursuant to such direction or consent shall be binding on all of the Lenders.

(b) Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement to the contrary, the Administrative Agent shall not amend, modify, grant consents or waive any
term or provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document (and such amendment, modification, consent or waiver shall not be effective) without the consent or approval of
the Required Lenders or all Lenders as applicable below in this paragraph, or declare an Event of Default, provide formal written notice of default to any Borrower or exercise any
rights or remedies against any VSE Entity without the prior consent of the Required Lenders or all Lenders, as applicable below in this paragraph. For the avoidance of doubt, any
waiver by the Administrative Agent of the Borrowers’ compliance with any Negative Covenant set forth in Article 7, or consent by the Administrative Agent to the Borrowers’ non-
compliance with any such Negative Covenant, shall require the prior written consent of the Required Lenders. Each Lender agrees that its decision to consent to or reject any
request by the Administrative Agent for permission to declare an Event of Default, provide formal notice thereof to any Borrower and/or exercise any rights or remedies arising by
virtue of such default, shall be made as soon as reasonably practicable after the Lender has received all relevant information with respect to such request (to the extent such
information shall be readily available), but in all events within ten (10) Business Days of the receipt of such information, at which time any Lender who shall have failed to respond
to the Administrative Agent with its decision to consent to or reject the particular request prior to the expiration of such ten (10) Business Day period shall be deemed to have
consented to the particular request; it being understood and agreed that, unless otherwise provided herein, the Administrative Agent shall exercise any and all rights and
responsibilities on behalf of the Lenders in connection with an Event of Default. Additionally, only with the consent or approval of all of the Lenders, the Administrative Agent may
(and the following amendments may be effectuated) (a) extend the final maturity of the Loan or any Note, reduce the amount of, or extend the time of payment for, any
installment of principal, interest or fees or other amounts payable to a Lender hereunder or under any other Loan Document or
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otherwise in connection with the Loan other than Mandatory Payments, or issue Letters of Credit (i) having an expiration date beyond the Maturity Date, except as otherwise
expressly provided in this Agreement, or (ii) causing the aggregate outstanding amount of all such Letters of Credit issued to exceed Twenty-Five Million and No/100 Dollars
($25,000,000.00), (b) increase the Percentage of the Commitment Amount of any Lender or increase the Commitment Amount of any Lender, other than pursuant to Section 1.8
and/or Section 1.9 of this Agreement, (c) release all or a substantial portion of the Collateral, except in accordance with the provisions of any applicable Loan Document; provided
that the Administrative Agent may release the lien of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders in any Collateral to the extent sold by any Borrower in a transaction
permitted by this Agreement, (d) amend the definition of “Required Lenders”, (e) consent to the release of any Borrower from, or the assignment or transfer by any Borrower of,
any of its rights or obligations hereunder, except in accordance with the provisions of any applicable Loan Document, (f) amend, modify or waive any of the provisions set forth in
this Section 10.3 or any other provision of this Agreement specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to amend, waive or otherwise modify any rights hereunder or
make any determination or grant any consent hereunder, (g) change the manner of application by the Administrative Agent of payments made under the Loan Documents or
otherwise change any provision governing pro rata payments among Lenders, (h) change the method of calculation used in connection with the computation of interest,
commissions or fees (which are payable for the ratable benefit of each Lender), (i) amend, modify or waive any condition precedent set forth in Article 4 of this Agreement or (j)
subordinate the lien on all or a substantial portion of the Collateral granted in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lender, or subordinate the right of payment
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of the Obligations to any other Indebtedness (except pursuant to a transaction in which participation in such other Indebtedness for borrowed money is offered to the Lenders on
a pro rata basis or in connection with a “debtor in possession” financing, on the same terms (including fees) as are offered to all other providers of such financing). Each Lender
agrees that its decision to approve or reject any request for an amendment or waiver with respect to this Agreement shall be made, except as otherwise expressly provided herein,
as soon as reasonably practicable after the Lender has received all relevant information with respect to such request. For the avoidance of doubt, a wholly-owned Affiliate that is a
Borrower which becomes a non-wholly owned Affiliate shall not be released from their obligations as a Borrower hereunder without the consent of the Lenders (other than in
connection with the sale of 100% of the equity interests of such Affiliate pursuant to a transaction permitted hereunder).

10.4General Exculpatory Provisions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary elsewhere in this Agreement or any other Loan Document:

(a) the Administrative Agent, in its capacity as Administrative Agent (but not as a Lender), shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it
in a manner consistent with the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, unless caused by its own gross negligence or willful misconduct, as finally determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction;

(b) the Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for (i) the execution, delivery, effectiveness, enforceability, genuineness, validity or adequacy of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) any recital, representation, warranty, document, certificate, report or statement in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (iii)
any failure of any VSE Entity or any Lender to perform any of their respective obligations under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (iv)  the existence, validity,
enforceability, perfection, recordation, priority, adequacy or value, now or hereafter, of any lien or encumbrance or other direct or indirect security afforded or purported to be
afforded by any of the Loan Documents, or otherwise from time to time, or (v) caring for, protecting, insuring or paying any taxes, charges or assessments with respect to any
Collateral;

(c) the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to ascertain, inquire or give any notice relating to (i) the performance or observance of any of the terms
or conditions of this Agreement or any other Loan Document on the part of any VSE Entity, (ii) the business, operations, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of any VSE
Entity, or (iii) except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, the occurrence or existence of any Event of Default; and

(d) the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender with any notices, reports or information
of any nature, whether in its possession presently or hereafter, except for such notices, reports and other information expressly required by this Agreement or any other Loan
Document to be furnished by the Administrative Agent to such Lender.

10.5Administration by the Administrative Agent.

(a) The Administrative Agent may rely upon any notice or other communication of any nature (written or oral, including telephone conversations, whether or
not such notice or other communication is made in a manner permitted or required by this Agreement or any other Loan Document) purportedly made by or on behalf
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of the proper party or parties, and the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to verify the identity or authority of any person giving such notice or other communication.

(b) The Administrative Agent may consult with legal counsel (including in-house counsel for the Administrative Agent), independent public accountants and
any other experts selected by the Administrative Agent from time to time, and the Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any action reasonably taken or omitted to be taken in
good faith by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts.

(c) The Administrative Agent may conclusively rely upon the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed in any certificates or
opinions furnished to the Administrative Agent in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement or any other Loan Document. Whenever the Administrative Agent shall
deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established with respect to any VSE Entity or any Lender, such matter may be established by a certificate of such
Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, and the Administrative Agent may conclusively rely upon such certificate.

(d) The Administrative Agent may fail or refuse to take any action unless it shall be indemnified to its satisfaction from time to time against any and all
amounts, liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses and disbursements of every kind and nature which may be imposed on,
incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action; provided that no Lender shall be obligated to indemnify the
Administrative Agent for any portion of such amounts, liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses and disbursements resulting
solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Administrative Agent, as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(e) The Administrative Agent may perform any of its duties under this Agreement or any other Loan Document by or through agents or attorneys-in-fact. The
Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any agents or attorneys-in-fact selected by it with reasonable care.
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(f) The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have any knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default (other than a default in the
payment of regularly scheduled principal or interest), unless the Administrative Agent has received from a Lender or a Borrower a written notice describing the Event of Default. If
the Administrative Agent receives such a notice, the Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to each Lender, unless such notice shall have been addressed and/or
issued to all of the Lenders.

10.6Lenders Not Relying on the Administrative Agent or Other Lenders. Each Lender acknowledges as follows:

(a) neither the Administrative Agent nor any other Lender has made any representations or warranties to it, and no act taken hereafter by the Administrative
Agent or any other Lender shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the Administrative Agent or such other Lender to it;

(b) it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and based upon such documents and information as it
has deemed appropriate, made its own credit and legal analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; and

(c) it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and based upon such documents and information as it
shall deem appropriate at the time, make its own decisions to take or not take action under or in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

10.7Indemnification. Each Lender agrees to reimburse and indemnify the Administrative Agent, the Lead Arranger (each solely in their capacity as such) and the
Administrative Agent’s and the Lead Arranger’s respective directors, officers, employees and agents (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrowers, and without limitation of the
obligation of the Borrowers to do so),ratably in accordance with each Lender’s Percentage, from and against any and all amounts, losses, liabilities, claims, damages, expenses,
obligations, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs and disbursements of every kind or nature (including the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the
Administrative Agent or such other Person in connection with any investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding commenced or threatened, whether or not the Administrative
Agent or such other Person shall be designated a party thereto) that may at any time be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent or such other
Person as a result of this Agreement, any other Loan Document, any transaction from time to time contemplated hereby or thereby, or any transaction financed in whole or in part
or directly or indirectly with the proceeds of the Loan; provided that no Lender shall be obligated to indemnify the Administrative Agent or such
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other Person for any portion of such amounts, losses, liabilities, claims, damages, expenses, obligations, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs or disbursements resulting solely
from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Person seeking indemnity, as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.

10.8Administrative Agent in its Individual Capacity. With respect to its commitment and the Obligations owing to it, Citizens Bank shall have the same rights and
powers under this Agreement and each other Loan Document as any other Lender, and may exercise the same as though it was not the Administrative Agent. The terms “Lender,”
“holders of Notes” and like terms shall include Citizens Bank in its individual capacity. Citizens Bank and its Affiliates may, without liability to account therefor, make loans to, accept
deposits from, acquire debt or equity interests in, act as trustee under indentures of and engage in any other business with any VSE Entity and any Affiliate of any VSE Entity, as
though Citizens Bank was not the Administrative Agent hereunder.

10.9Holders of Notes. Without limiting the requirements of Section 12.11 of this Agreement, the Administrative Agent may deem and treat any Lender which is the
payee of a Note as the owner and holder of such Note for all purposes hereof unless and until written notice evidencing such transfer shall have been filed with the Administrative
Agent. Any authority, direction or consent of any Person who at the time of giving such authority, direction or consent was a Lender shall be conclusive and binding on each
present and subsequent holder, transferee or assignee of any Note or Notes payable to such Lender or issued in exchange therefor.

10.10 Successor Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent may resign at any time by giving thirty (30) days prior written notice thereof to the Lenders
and Borrowers, subject to appointment of a successor Administrative Agent (and such appointees acceptance of appointment) as below provided in this Section 10.10. Additionally,
the Administrative Agent may be removed for cause by all of the Lenders (other than the Administrative Agent, if the Administrative Agent is then a Lender), if removal or
resignation, as applicable, is requested in writing (which wording must specifically identify the “cause” for removal), and ten (10) days’ prior written notice of removal or resignation
is provided to the Administrative Agent and Borrowers. Upon any such resignation or removal, the Required Lenders shall, on behalf of the Lenders, immediately appoint, as its
successor, another Lender; provided that such Lender is a commercial bank or trust company organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof and
has a combined capital and surplus of at least Five Hundred Million and No/100 Dollars ($500,000,000.00) (a “Qualifying Person”). In such event, the Administrative Agent’s
resignation or removal shall not be effective until the successor Administrative Agent shall have accepted its appointment, provided that if the Administrative Agent shall notify the
Borrowers that no Qualifying Person has accepted such appointment, then such resignation shall nonetheless become effective in accordance with such notice, and the retiring
Administrative Agent, as the case may be, shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under this Agreement. Upon the acceptance by a successor Administrative Agent of its
appointment as the Administrative Agent hereunder, such successor Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all of the properties, rights, powers,
privileges and duties of the former Administrative Agent, without further act, deed or conveyance. Upon the effective date of resignation or removal of the retiring Administrative
Agent and payment of all amounts then due and payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement, such Administrative Agent shall be discharged
from its duties under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. If for any reason, at any time, there is no Administrative Agent hereunder, then during such period, the
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Required Lenders shall have the right to exercise the Administrative Agent’s rights and perform its duties hereunder, except that (a) all notices or other communications required or
permitted to be given to the Administrative Agent shall be given to each Lender, and (b) all payments to be made to the Administrative Agent shall be made directly to the
Borrowers or the Lender for whose account such payment is made.

10.11 Additional Agents. If the Administrative Agent shall from time to time deem it necessary or advisable to engage other agents for its own protection in the
performance of its duties hereunder or in the interests of the Lenders, then the Administrative Agent and Borrowers shall execute and deliver a supplemental agreement and all
other instruments and agreements necessary or advisable, in the opinion of the Administrative Agent, to constitute another commercial bank or trust company, or one or more
other Persons approved by the Administrative Agent, to act as co-Administrative Agent or a separate agent with respect to any part of the Collateral, with such powers as may be
provided in such supplemental agreement, and with the power to vest in such bank, trust company or other Person (as such co-Administrative Agent or separate agent, as the case
may be), any properties, rights, powers, privileges and duties of the Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

10.12 Calculations. The Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any calculation, apportionment or distribution of payments made by it in good faith. If such
calculation, apportionment or distribution is subsequently determined to have been made in error, the sole recourse of any Lender to whom payment was due but not made shall
be to recover from the Lenders any payment in excess of the amount to which they are determined to be entitled, with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Rate, or, if the
amount due was not paid
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by any Borrower, to recover such amount from such Borrower (subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement), with interest thereon at the rate provided in the applicable
Note.

10.13 Funding by the Administrative Agent.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Administrative Agent alone shall be entitled to make all advances in connection with the Loan and
shall receive all payments and other receipts relating to the Loan; it being understood, however, that the Administrative Agent has reserved the right not to advance any amounts
to the Borrowers which the Administrative Agent has not received from the Lenders. The Administrative Agent will notify each Lender of the date and amount of any requested
advance, and if such notification is received by 1:00 p.m. New York, NY time on any given Business Day, the Lenders shall provide the required funds to the Administrative Agent no
later than the close of business (i) on such Business Day in the case of Base Rate Loans and (ii) on the date specified for payments, in the case of SOFR Rate Loans, Daily Simple RFR
Loans and Eurocurrency Rate Loans. At any time as may be requested by the Administrative Agent or the Swing Line Lender, the Administrative Agent and each Lender shall pay to
each other such amounts (the “Equalization Payments”) as may be necessary to cause each Lender to own its applicable Percentage of the Loan and otherwise implement the
terms and conditions of this Agreement; it being understood that each Lender shall be entitled to receive interest on amounts advanced by it only from the date of such Lender’s
advance of funds. The obligation of the Administrative Agent and each Lender to make Equalization Payments shall not be affected by a bankruptcy filing by any VSE Entity, the
occurrence of any Event of Default or any other act, occurrence or event whatsoever, whether the same occurs before, on or after the date on which an Equalization Payment is
required to be made. All Equalization Payments shall be made by 5:00 p.m. New York, NY time on the date such payment is required, provided that notice of such Equalization
Payment shall have been given to the party obligated to make such payment by 1:00 p.m. New York, NY time; otherwise such Equalization Payment shall be made on the next
Business Day.

(b) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have been notified in writing by any Lender no later than the close of business on the Business Day before the
Business Day on which an advance requested by the Borrowers is to be made, that such Lender will not make its ratable share of such advance, the Administrative Agent may
assume that such Lender will make its ratable share of the advance, and in reliance upon such assumption the Administrative Agent may (but in no circumstances shall be required
to) make available to the Borrowers a corresponding amount. If and to the extent that any Lender fails to make such payment to the Administrative Agent when required, such
Lender shall pay such amount on demand (or, if such Lender fails to pay such amount on demand, the Borrowers shall arrange for the repayment of such amount to the
Administrative Agent), together with interest for the Administrative Agent’s own account for each day from and including the date of the Administrative Agent’s payment, to and
including the date of repayment to the Administrative Agent (before and after judgment). Interest (i) if paid by such Lender (a) for each day from and including the date of the
Administrative Agent’s payment to and including the second Business Day thereafter, shall accrue at the Federal Funds Rate for such day, and (b) for each day thereafter, shall
accrue at the rate or rates per annum payable under the Notes; and (ii) if paid by the Borrowers, shall accrue at the rate or rates per annum payable under the Notes. All payments
to the Administrative Agent under this Section shall be made to the Administrative Agent at its office set forth in Section 12.3 of this Agreement (or as otherwise directed by the
Administrative Agent), in dollars, in immediately available funds, without set-off, withholding, counterclaim or other deduction of any nature.

(c) All borrowings under this Agreement shall be incurred from the Lenders pro rata on the basis of their respective Percentages (except to the extent
advanced (i) as a Swing Line Loan, or (ii) by the Administrative Agent on behalf of any Lender as provided in Subsection (a) or (b) above). No Lender shall be responsible for any
other Lender’s failure to meet its obligation to make advances hereunder, and each Lender shall be obligated to make advances required to be made by it hereunder regardless of
the failure of any other Lender to make its advances hereunder.
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(d) Subject to the payment or prepayment of all Hedging Obligations (including all applicable termination payments), each payment and prepayment
received by the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders shall be distributed first to the Swing Line Lender for application to any Swing Line Outstandings, and then to
each Lender entitled to share in such payment, ratably in accordance with each Lender’s Percentage. Notwithstanding Section 9.2(e) of this Agreement, any Lender who has failed
to fund its Percentage of any advance under the Loan shall not be entitled to share in any such payment(s) until such time as the funding deficiency caused thereby, together with
interest thereon (as provided in Subsection (b) above), has been paid to the Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Payments from
the Administrative Agent to the Lenders shall be made by wire transfer in accordance with written instructions provided to the Administrative Agent by the Lenders from time to
time. Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received written notice from the Borrowers prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Lenders hereunder that the
Borrowers will not make such payment in full, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrowers have made such payment in full on such date and the Administrative
Agent, in reliance upon such assumption, may cause to be
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distributed to each Lender on such due date an amount equal to the amount then due such Lender. If and to the extent the Borrowers shall not have made such payment in full to
the Administrative Agent, each Lender shall repay to the Administrative Agent upon its demand therefor such amount distributed to such Lender, together with interest thereon at
the overnight Federal Funds Rate for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such Lender until the date such Lender repays such amount to the Administrative
Agent.

(e) If any Lender shall obtain any payment (whether voluntary, involuntary, through the exercise of anyright of setoff, or otherwise) in excess of such
Lender’s Percentage of payments, such Lender shall forthwith purchase from the other Lender(s) such participations in the Loans made by them as shall be necessary to cause
such purchasing Lender to share the excess payment ratably with each of the other Lender(s); provided, however, if all or any portion of such excess payment is thereafter
recovered from such purchasing Lender, such purchase from the other Lender(s) shall be rescinded and each other Lender shall repay to the purchasing Lender the purchase price
to the extent of such recovery, together with an amount equal to such Lender’s ratable share (according to the proportion of (i) the amount of such Lender’s required repayment,
to (ii) the total amount so recovered from the purchasing Lender) of any interest or other amount paid or payable by the purchasing Lender in respect of the total amount
recovered. Each Borrower agrees that any Lender purchasing a participation from another Lender pursuant to this Section 10.13(e), to the fullest extent permitted by law, may
exercise all of its rights of payment with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were the direct creditor of the Borrowers in the amount of such participation.

(f) No Lender nor any Affiliate of any Lender shall collect any separate remuneration (i.e., in addition to any remuneration paid on a pro rata basis to all
Lenders) as an inducement for such Lender entering into any waiver or amendment to this Agreement.

10.14 Benefit of Article. The provisions of this Article 10 are solely for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders. Except as otherwise expressly
set forth in this Article 10, no VSE Entity shall have any rights under any of the provisions of this Article 10; it being understood that the provisions of this Article 10 are not in
limitation of any right, remedy, power, duty, obligation or liability which the Administrative Agent would have to or against any VSE Entity.

10.15 Field Audits and Examination Reports; Confidentiality; Disclaimers by Lenders; Other Reports and Information. By becoming a party to this
Agreement, each Lender:

(a) is deemed to have requested that the Administrative Agent furnish such Lender, promptly after it becomes available, a copy of each field audit or
examination report (each a “Report” and collectively, “Reports”) prepared by or at the request of the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall so furnish each
Lender with such Reports;

(b) expressly agrees and acknowledges that the Administrative Agent does not (i) make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any Report, and
(ii) shall not be liable for any information contained in any Report;

(c) expressly agrees and acknowledges that the Reports are not comprehensive audits or examinations, that the Administrative Agent or other party
performing any audit or examination will inspect only specific information regarding the VSE Entities and will rely significantly upon the VSE Entities’ books and records, as well as
on representations of the VSE Entities’ personnel;

(d) subject to any applicable reporting and/or disclosure requirements of the Government, agrees to take normal and reasonable precautions to maintain
the confidentiality of all Reports and other material, non-public information regarding the VSE Entities and their operations, assets, and existing and contemplated business plans;
it being understood and agreed that such information may be disclosed by any Lender (i) to its Affiliates, authorized representatives, accountants, legal counsel or other advisors
who are bound by comparable confidentiality provisions or have agreed to comply with the confidentiality requirements of this Section, (ii) to the extent requested by applicable
law, court order or decree or any regulatory agency or authority purporting to have jurisdiction over it (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners), (iii) to the extent such information becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section, or which is or becomes available to such
Lender on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the Borrowers, (iv) in connection with the exercise of any remedy hereunder or under any other Loan Document or
any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (v) subject to execution by such
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Person of an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (A) any assignee or prospective assignee of any of such Lender’s rights or
obligations under this Agreement, or (B) any actual or prospective party (or its Affiliates) to any swap or derivative or
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other transaction under which payments are to be made by reference to the Borrowers and their obligations, this Agreement or payments hereunder, (vi) to any rating agency that
requires access to information about a Lender’s investment or loan portfolio in connection with ratings issued with respect to such Lender, (vii) to the CUSIP Service Bureau or any
similar organization, or (viii) with the prior consent of the Borrowers.  Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of any information as provided for in this Section shall be
considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such information as such Person
would accord its own confidential information; and

(e) without limiting the generality of any other indemnification provision contained in this Agreement, agrees: (i) to hold the Administrative Agent and any
such other Lender preparing a Report harmless from any action the indemnifying Lender may take or fail to take or any conclusion the indemnifying Lender may reach or draw
from any Report in connection with any loans or other credit accommodations that the indemnifying Lender has made or may make to the Borrowers, or the indemnifying
Lender’s participation in, or the indemnifying Lender’s purchase of, a loan or loans of the Borrowers; and (ii) to pay and protect, and indemnify, defend and hold the Administrative
Agent, and any such other Lender preparing a Report harmless from and against, the claims, actions, proceedings, damages, costs, expenses, and other amounts (including,
attorneys fees and costs) incurred by the Administrative Agent and any such other Lender preparing a Report as the direct or indirect result of the sharing of such Report with any
third parties who might obtain all or part of any Report through the indemnifying Lender; provided that no Lender shall be obligated to indemnify the Administrative Agent or such
other Person for any portion of such amounts, losses, liabilities, claims, damages, expenses, obligations, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs or disbursements resulting solely
from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Person seeking indemnity, as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.

In addition to the foregoing: (i) any Lender may from time to time request of the Administrative Agent in writing that the Administrative Agent provide to such Lender a copy of any
report or document provided by the Borrowers to the Administrative Agent that has not been contemporaneously provided by the Borrowers to such Lender, and, upon receipt of
such request, the Administrative Agent promptly shall provide a copy of same to such Lender, it being understood and agreed that the items required to be delivered pursuant to
Sections 6.3(a) and 6.3(b) of this Agreement shall be posted to Syndtrak upon receipt by the Administrative Agent; and (ii) to the extent that the Administrative Agent is entitled,
under any provision of the Loan Documents, to request additional reports or information from the Borrowers, any Lender may, from time to time, reasonably request the
Administrative Agent to exercise such right as specified in such Lender’s notice to the Administrative Agent, whereupon the Administrative Agent promptly shall request of the
Borrowers the additional reports or information reasonably specified by such Lender, and, upon receipt thereof from the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent promptly shall
provide a copy of same to such Lender.

10.16 Replacement of Lenders. If (a) any Lender requests compensation under Section 12.8 of this Agreement and/or Exhibit 3 attached hereto (other than a
Loan Prepayment Fee), (b) the Borrowers are required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Government for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 12.20 of
this Agreement, (c) a Lender (a “Non-Consenting Lender”) does not consent to a proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination with respect to any Loan Document that has
been approved by the Required Lenders but requires unanimous consent of all Lenders or all Lenders directly affected thereby (as applicable) or (d) any Lender is a Defaulting
Lender, then the Borrowers may, at their sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without
recourse, all of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement and the related Loan Documents to an Eligible Assignee that shall assume such obligations (which Eligible
Assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment), provided that: (i) the Borrowers shall have paid, or caused to be paid, to the Administrative Agent the
assignment fee; (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to 100% of the outstanding principal of its Loans and Letters of Credit, accrued interest thereon,
accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder and under the other Loan Documents from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued
interest and fees) or the Borrowers (in the case of all other amounts); (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Exhibit 3 attached
hereto or payments required to be made pursuant to Exhibit 3 attached hereto, such assignment will result in a reduction in such compensation or payments thereafter; (iv) such
assignment does not conflict with Applicable Laws; and (v) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a Non-Consenting Lender’s failure to consent to a proposed change,
waiver, discharge or termination with respect to any Loan Document, the applicable assignee consents to the proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination; provided that the
failure by such Non-Consenting Lender to execute and deliver an assignment shall not impair the validity of the removal of such Non-Consenting Lender and the mandatory
assignment of such Non-Consenting Lender’s Commitments and outstanding Loans and participations in Letters of Credit and Swing Line Loans pursuant to this Section shall
nevertheless be effective without the execution by such Non-Consenting Lender of an assignment. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if,
prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrowers to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.
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10.17 Defaulting Lender Provisions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then, until such
time as such Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, to the extent permitted by applicable law,

(a) Any payment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts received by the Administrative Agent for the account of any Defaulting Lender under this
Agreement (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity or otherwise) from the Borrowers for the account of a Defaulting Lender under this Agreement will not be required to be
paid or distributed to such Defaulting Lender, but will instead be applied at such time or times as may be determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the payment of
any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent under this Agreement; second, to the funding of any Loan advance in respect of which such Defaulting
Lender has failed to fund its portion thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the Administrative Agent; and third, if so determined by the Administrative Agent and
the Borrowers, held in an account as cash collateral for future funding obligations of the Defaulting Lender in respect of any Loan advances under this Agreement. If such Lender is
still a Defaulting Lender and any amounts remain in such account on the date that the Loan commitments are terminated and all payment obligations of the Borrowers hereunder
are paid in full, then such amounts will be applied by the Administrative Agent to the making of payments in the following order of priority: first, to the payment of any amounts
owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent hereunder; second, with respect to the Revolving Facility, to the payment of any amounts owing by such Defaulting
Lender to the Swing Line Lender hereunder; third, to the funding of any Loan advance in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its portion thereof as required
by this Agreement, as determined by the Administrative Agent; fourth, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Lenders or the Swing Line Lender as a result of any judgment
of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender or the Swing Line Lender against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations
under this Agreement; fifth, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Borrowers as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borrowers
against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and sixth, to pay amounts owing under this Agreement to
such Defaulting Lender or as a court of competent jurisdiction may otherwise direct; provided that any amounts held as cash collateral for funding obligations of a Defaulting
Lender shall be returned to such Defaulting Lender upon the termination of this Agreement and the satisfaction of such Defaulting Lender’s obligations hereunder. Any payments,
prepayments or other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender or to post cash collateral pursuant to
this Section 10.17 shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto.

(b) No Commitment Amount of any Lender shall be increased or otherwise affected, and, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 10.17,
performance by the Borrowers of their obligations shall not be excused or otherwise modified as a result of the operation of this Section 10.17. The rights and remedies against a
Defaulting Lender under this Section 10.17 are in addition to any other rights and remedies which the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent or any Lender (including the Swing Line
Lender) may have against such Defaulting Lender.

(c) In the case of a Defaulting Lender that is a Revolving Facility Lender, all or any part of such Defaulting Lender’s participation in Swing Line Loan advances
shall be reallocated among the Non-Defaulting Lenders under the Revolving Facility in accordance with their respective Percentages (calculated without regard to such Defaulting
Lender’s Revolving Facility Commitment Amount) but only to the extent that (x) no default or Event of Default exists at the time of such reallocation (and, unless the Borrowers
shall have otherwise notified the Administrative Agent at such time, the Borrowers shall be deemed to have represented and warranted that such condition is satisfied at such
time), and (y) such reallocated participation does not, as to any Revolving Facility Lender, exceed such Lender’s unused Revolving Facility Commitment Amount. No reallocation
hereunder shall constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder against a Defaulting Lender arising from that Lender having become a Defaulting Lender,
including any claim of a Non-Defaulting Lender as a result of such Non-Defaulting Lender’s increased exposure following such reallocation.

(d) If the reallocation described in clause (c) above cannot, or can only partially, be effected, the Borrowers shall, without prejudice to any right or remedy
available to it hereunder or under law, prepay Swing Line Facility advances in an amount equal to the amount of the participation of the Defaulting Lenders.

If the Borrowers and the Administrative Agent agree in writing in their reasonable determination that a Defaulting Lender should no longer be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender,
the Administrative Agent will so notify the applicable parties hereto, whereupon as of the effective date specified in such notice and subject to any conditions set forth therein
(which may include arrangements with respect to any cash collateral), that Lender will, to the extent applicable, purchase that portion of outstanding advances of the other
Lenders or take such other actions as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary to cause the advances to be funded and held on a pro rata basis by the Lenders in
accordance with their Percentages of the applicable Facility or Facilities, whereupon such Lender
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will cease to be a Defaulting Lender; provided that no adjustments will be made retroactively with respect to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalf of the Borrowers while
that Lender was a Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting
Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from such Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender.

So long as any Revolving Facility Lender is a Defaulting Lender, no Swing Line Lender shall be required to fund any Swing Line Loan advances unless the participations of Defaulting
Lenders in such Swing Line Loan advances have been fully reallocated in accordance with Section 10.17(c).
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10.18 Certain ERISA Matters.

(a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became
a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lead Arranger and their respective Affiliates,
and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of any Borrower, that at least one of the following is and will be true:

(i) such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of 29 CFR § 2510.3-101, as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA) of one or more Benefit
Plans in connection with such Lender’s Loan advances or Loan commitments hereunder,

(ii) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent
qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain
transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-
23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of
and performance of such Lender’s Loan advances, Loan commitments and this Agreement,

(iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset Manager” (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such
Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform such Lender’s Loan advances,
Loan commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of such Lender’s Loan advances, Loan commitments and this
Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part
I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of such Lender’s Loan advances, Loan commitments and
this Agreement, or

(iv) such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such
Lender.

(b) In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or (2) a Lender has provided another
representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date
such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party
hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent, the Lead Arranger and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrowers,
that none of the Administrative Agent, the Lead Arranger and their respective Affiliates is a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender’s entrance
into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or
exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Loan Document or any documents related hereto or thereto).

(c) For purposes hereof, the term (i) “Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in ERISA) that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) a
“plan” as defined in Section 4975 of the Code or (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975
of the Code) the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or “plan” and (ii) “PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any
such exemption may be amended from time to time.

75

10.19 Erroneous Payments.

(a) If the Administrative Agent notifies a Lender or LC Issuer, or any Person who has received funds on behalf of a Lender or LC Issuer (any such Lender, LC
Issuer or other recipient, a “Payment Recipient”) that Administrative Agent has determined in its sole discretion (whether or not after receipt of any notice under Section 10.19(b) of
this Agreement) that any funds received by such Payment Recipient from the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates were erroneously transmitted to, or otherwise
erroneously or mistakenly received by, such Payment Recipient (whether or not known to such Lender, LC Issuer or other Payment Recipient on its behalf) (any such funds,
whether received as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees, distribution or otherwise, individually and collectively, an “Erroneous Payment”) and
demands the return of such Erroneous Payment (or a portion thereof), such Erroneous Payment shall at all times remain the property of the Administrative Agent and shall be
segregated by the Payment Recipient and held in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, and such Lender or LC Issuer shall (or, with respect to any Payment Recipient
who received such funds on its behalf, shall cause such Payment Recipient to) promptly, but in no event later than two (2) Business Days thereafter, return to the Administrative
Agent the amount of any such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made, in same day funds (in the currency so received), together with
interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Payment Recipient to the date such amount
is repaid to the Administrative Agent in same day funds at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking
industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect. A notice of the Administrative Agent to any Payment Recipient under this Section shall be conclusive, absent
manifest error.
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(b) Without limiting the provisions of Section 10.19 of this Agreement, each Payment Recipient hereby further agrees that if it receives a payment,
prepayment or repayment (whether received as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees, distribution or otherwise) from the Administrative Agent (or any
of its Affiliates) (x) that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of payment, prepayment or repayment sent by the Administrative Agent
(or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such payment, prepayment or repayment, (y) that was not preceded or accompanied by a notice of payment, prepayment or repayment
sent by the Administrative Agent (or any of its Affiliates), or (z) that such Payment Recipient otherwise becomes aware was transmitted, or received, in error or by mistake (in whole
or in part), in each case:

(i) (A) in the case of immediately preceding clauses (x) or (y), an error shall be presumed to have been made (absent written confirmation from the
Administrative Agent to the contrary) or (B) in the case of immediately preceding clause (z), an error has been made, in each case, with respect to such payment, prepayment or
repayment; and

(ii) such Lender or LC Issuer shall (and shall cause any other recipient that receives funds on its respective behalf to) promptly (and, in all events, within
one (1) Business Day of its knowledge of such error) notify the Administrative Agent of its receipt of such payment, prepayment or repayment, the details thereof (in reasonable
detail) and that it is so notifying the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Section.

(c) Each Lender or LC Issuer hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off, net and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender or LC
Issuer under any Loan Document, or otherwise payable or distributable by the Administrative Agent to such Lender or LC Issuer from any source, against any amount due to the
Administrative Agent under Section 10.19(a) of this Agreement or under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement.

(d) In the event that an Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered by the Administrative Agent for any reason, after demand therefor by the
Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 10.19(a) of this Agreement, from any Lender or LC Issuer that has received such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) (and/or
from any Payment Recipient who received such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) on its respective behalf) (such unrecovered amount, an “Erroneous Payment Return
Deficiency”), upon the Administrative Agent’s notice to such Lender or LC Issuer at any time, (i) such Lender or LC Issuer shall be deemed to have assigned its Loans (but not its
Commitments) with respect to which such Erroneous Payment was made (the “Erroneous Payment Impacted Class”) in an amount equal to the Erroneous Payment Return
Deficiency (or such lesser amount as the Administrative Agent may specify) (such assignment of the Loans (but not Commitments) of the Erroneous Payment Impacted Class, the
“Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment”) at par plus any accrued and unpaid interest (with the assignment fee to be waived by the Administrative Agent in such instance), and
is hereby (together with the Primary Operating Company) deemed to execute and deliver an Assignment and Acceptance with respect to such Erroneous Payment Deficiency
Assignment, and such Lender or LC Issuer shall deliver any Notes evidencing such Loans to the Primary Operating Company or the Administrative Agent, (ii) the Administrative
Agent as the assignee Lender shall be deemed to acquire the Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment, (iii) upon such
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deemed acquisition, the Administrative Agent as the assignee Lender shall become a Lender or LC Issuer, as applicable, hereunder with respect to such Erroneous Payment
Deficiency Assignment and the assigning Lender or assigning LC Issuer shall cease to be a Lender or LC Issuer, as applicable, hereunder with respect to such Erroneous Payment
Deficiency Assignment, excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, its obligations under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement and its applicable Commitments which shall
survive as to such assigning Lender or assigning LC Issuer and (iv) the Administrative Agent may reflect in the Register its ownership interest in the Loans subject to the Erroneous
Payment Deficiency Assignment. The Administrative Agent may, in its discretion, but subject to Section 12.11, sell any Loans acquired pursuant to an Erroneous Payment Deficiency
Assignment and upon receipt of the proceeds of such sale, the Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency owing by the applicable Lender or LC Issuer shall be reduced by the net
proceeds of the sale of such Loan (or portion thereof), and the Administrative Agent shall retain all other rights, remedies and claims against such Lender or LC Issuer (and/or
against any recipient that receives funds on its respective behalf). For the avoidance of doubt, no Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment will reduce the Commitments of any
Lender or LC Issuer and such Commitments shall remain available in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. In addition, each party hereto agrees that, except to the extent
that the Administrative Agent has sold a Loan (or portion thereof) acquired pursuant to an Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment, and irrespective of whether the
Administrative Agent may be equitably subrogated, the Administrative Agent shall be contractually subrogated to all the rights and interests of the applicable Lender or LC Issuer
under the Loan Documents with respect to each Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency (the “Erroneous Payment Subrogation Rights”).

(e) The parties hereto agree that an Erroneous Payment shall not pay, prepay, repay, discharge or otherwise satisfy any Obligations owed by any Borrower or
any other VSE Entity, except, in each case, to the extent such Erroneous Payment is, and solely with respect to the amount of such Erroneous Payment that is, comprised of funds
received by the Administrative Agent from any Borrower or any other VSE Entity for the purpose of making such Erroneous Payment.

(f) To the extent permitted by applicable law, no Payment Recipient shall assert any right or claim to an Erroneous Payment, and hereby waives, and is
deemed to waive, any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or recoupment with respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the Administrative Agent for the return
of any Erroneous Payment received, including without limitation waiver of any defense based on “discharge for value” or any similar doctrine.

Each party’s obligations, agreements and waivers under this Section 10.19 of this Agreement shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent, any transfer
of rights or obligations by, or the replacement of, a Lender or LC Issuer, the termination of the Commitments and/or the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all Obligations (or
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any portion thereof).

ARTICLE 11 

CERTAIN ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND

OBLIGATIONS REGARDING THE COLLATERAL

11.1Power of Attorney. Each Borrower hereby reaffirms its irrevocable appointment of the Administrative Agent, as its agent and attorney-in-fact, with power of
substitution, having full power and authority, in its own name, in the name of any Lender(s), in the name of any VSE Entity or otherwise (but at the cost and expense of the
Borrowers and without notice to any VSE Entity), to (a) upon an Event of Default, notify Account Debtors obligated on any of the Receivables to make payments thereon directly to
the lockbox referenced in Section 11.2 of this Agreement, and to take control of the cash and non-cash proceeds of any such Receivables, which right the Administrative Agent may
exercise at any time whether or not an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing hereunder or was theretofore making collections thereon; (b) upon an Event of
Default, compromise, extend or renew any of the Collateral constituting Receivables or deal with any of the Collateral as the Administrative Agent may deem advisable; (c) upon an
Event of Default, release its interest in, make exchanges or substitutions for and/or surrender, all or any part of any Borrower’s interest in all or any part of the Collateral; (d) upon
an Event of Default, remove from any VSE Entity’s place(s) of business all books, records, ledger sheets, correspondence, invoices and documents relating to or evidencing any of
the Collateral, or without cost or expense to the Administrative Agent, make such use of any VSE Entity’s place(s) of business as may be reasonably necessary to administer, control
and/or collect the Collateral; (e) upon an Event of Default, repair, alter or supply goods, if any, necessary to fulfill in whole or in part the purchase order of any Account Debtor; (f)
demand, collect receipt for and upon an Event of Default, give renewals, extensions, discharges and releases of all or any part of the Collateral; (g) upon an Event of Default, institute
and prosecute legal and equitable proceedings to enforce collection of, or realize upon, all or any part of the Collateral; (h) upon an Event of Default, settle, renew, extend,
compromise, compound, exchange or adjust claims with respect to all or any part of the Collateral or any legal proceedings brought with respect thereto; and (i) upon an Event of
Default, receive and open all mail addressed to any VSE Entity (other than mail sent to any lockbox established pursuant to Section 11.2 of this Agreement which may be
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received and opened in the ordinary course of such lockbox procedures irrespective of whether any Event of Default has occurred), and if an Event of Default exists hereunder,
notify the Post Office authorities to change the address for the delivery of mail to any VSE Entity to such address as the Administrative Agent may designate; it being understood
that the rights granted to the Administrative Agent in this clause (i), which are operative on the occurrence of an Event of Default, shall not in any way limit or impair the other
rights provided to the Administrative Agent or Lenders in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, including their rights with respect to the Collateral Account and the below-
referenced lockbox. Furthermore, each Borrower hereby reaffirms its irrevocable appointment of the Administrative Agent, as its agent and attorney-in-fact, with power of
substitution, having full power and authority, in its own name, in the name of any Lender(s), in the name of any Borrower or otherwise (but at the cost and expense of the
Borrowers and without notice to any Borrower) and regardless of whether an Event of Default has occurred or any act, event or condition which with notice or the lapse of time, or
both, would constitute an Event of Default has occurred, to (a) file financing statements and continuation statements covering the Collateral and execute the same on behalf of
any Borrower; (b) charge against any banking account of any VSE Entity any item of payment credited to any VSE Entity’s account which is dishonored by the drawee or maker
thereof; or (c) endorse the name of any VSE Entity upon any items of payment relating to the Collateral or upon any proof of claim in bankruptcy against any Account Debtor.

11.2Lockbox. Each Borrower hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to receive and collect any amount or amounts due or to become due on account of any
Receivables and, at its discretion, to apply the same to the repayment of the Notes, and each Borrower represents, warrants, acknowledges and agrees that, except where a
Permitted Foreign Bank Account or Transitional Deposit Account is being used, within five (5) Business Days of the Administration Agent’s request, it shall establish and shall
continually maintain on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in all respects, one or more lockboxes and one or more blocked accounts (if either or both
are required by the Administrative Agent) for the collection of Receivables. Except as otherwise may be approved by the Administrative Agent in writing, any checks or other
remittances received by any Borrower in payment of the Receivables shall be held in trust by each Borrower for the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.

11.3Other Agreements. Except as may otherwise be expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement, and without limiting any other restrictions or provisions of
this Agreement, each Borrower will (a) on demand, subject to any confidentiality and secrecy requirements imposed by any Government agency, make available in form reasonably
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, shipping documents and delivery receipts evidencing the shipment of goods which gave rise to the sale or lease of Inventory or of an
Account, contract right or Chattel Paper, completion certificates or other proof of the satisfactory performance of services which gave rise to the sale or lease of Inventory or of an
Account, contract right or Chattel Paper, and each Borrower’s copy of any written contract or order from which a sale or lease of Inventory, an Account, contract right or Chattel
Paper arose; and (b) when requested, advise the Administrative Agent when an Account Debtor returns or refuses to retain any goods, the sale or lease of which gave rise to an
Account, contract right or Chattel Paper, and of any delay in delivery or performance, or claims made in regard to any sale or lease of Inventory, an Account, contract right or
Chattel Paper. Upon reasonable notice, all such records will be available for examination by authorized agents of the Administrative Agent.

It is expressly understood and agreed, however, that the Administrative Agent shall not be required or obligated in any manner to make any inquiries as to the nature
or sufficiency of any payment received by it or to present or file any claims or take any other action to collect or enforce a payment of any amounts which may have been assigned
to the Administrative Agent or to which the Administrative Agent or the Lenders may be entitled hereunder at any time or times.

ARTICLE 12 

MISCELLANEOUS
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12.1Remedies Cumulative. Each right, power and remedy of the Administrative Agent or Lenders (or, as applicable, Affiliates of the Lenders) provided for in this
Agreement or in any other Loan Document or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, by statute or otherwise, shall be cumulative and concurrent and shall be in addition to
every other right, power or remedy provided for in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, by statute or otherwise, and the
exercise or beginning of the exercise by the Administrative Agent or any Lender of any one or more of such rights, powers or remedies shall not preclude the simultaneous or later
exercise by the Administrative Agent or any such Lender (or, as applicable, any Affiliate of a Lender) of any or all such other rights, powers or remedies.

12.2Waiver. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent to insist upon the strict performance of any term, condition,
covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or to exercise any right, power or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof, shall constitute a
waiver of such term, condition, covenant or agreement or of any such breach, or preclude the

78

Administrative Agent or any Lender from exercising any such right, power or remedy at any later time or times. By accepting payment after the due date of any of the Obligations,
neither the Lenders nor the Administrative Agent shall be deemed to have waived either the right to require prompt payment when due of all other Obligations, or the right to
declare a default for failure to make payment of any such other Obligations.

12.3Notices. Notices to either party shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or by first-class mail or nationally-recognized overnight delivery service or by
facsimile or email (as provided below) addressed to the parties at the addresses set forth below or otherwise designated in writing:

    If to the Borrowers:         c/o VSE Corporation
                    6348 Walker Lane
                    Alexandria, Virginia 22310

    Attention: Stephen D. Griffin, CFO
    Fax:     703-329-4687

    Email:    SDGriffin@vsecorp.com
                    and

                    VSE Corporation
                    6348 Walker Lane
                    Alexandria, Virginia 22310

    Attention: Tarang Sharma, Treasurer
    Fax:     703-960-2688
    Email:    TSharma@VSECORP.com with a copy of all notices

    to the Borrowers to (which
    does not constitute notice
    hereunder):            Jones Day
                    1420 Peachtree Street, N.E., Suite 800

Atlanta, Georgia 30309                    Attention: Todd Roach
                    Fax:    404-581-8274
                    Email:     troach@jonesday.com

    If to the Lenders:            To the address provided to the Borrowers or the Administrative                         Agent in writing

If to the Administrative Agent:    Citizens Bank, National Association
                    8614 Westwood Center Drive

Suite 250
                    Vienna, Virginia 22182
    Attention:    Mr. Dan Darnell, Jr
    Fax:     571-633-0105
    Email:    Daniel.Darnell@citizensbank.com with a copy of all notices to any Lender

or the Administrative Agent to:    
    (which does not constitute         King & Spalding LLP
    notice hereunder)            300 S. Tryon St, Suite 1700
                    Charlotte, NC 28202
    Attention:    Bill Fuller
    Email:    bfuller@kslaw.com
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Any notice or other communication hereunder will be deemed given and effective (a) when actually received, in the case of hand delivery or nationally recognized overnight
delivery service, (b) three (3) Business days after such notice or communication is deposited in the United States mail or with such courier, in the case of first class mail or overnight
delivery, or (c) when completely sent and received, as evidenced by a transmission report from sender’s facsimile machine, in the case of facsimile transmission.

Notices and other communications hereunder may also be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to
procedures approved by the Administrative Agent, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Articles 1 or 2. The Administrative
Agent, the Lenders or the Borrowers may, in their discretion, agree to accept notices and other
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communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular
notices or communications. The parties acknowledge and agree that no notice of the occurrence of a default or Event of Default shall be sent by e-mail.

Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise prescribes, (a) notices and other communications sent to an electronic mail (“e-mail”) address shall be deemed received upon the
sender’s receipt of an acknowledgment from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” function, as available, return e-mail or other written
acknowledgement), provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be
deemed to have been sent (and received, if the acknowledgment contemplated above has been obtained) at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient,
and (b) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as
described in the foregoing clause (a) of notification that such notice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

12.4Entire Agreement; Amendment and Restatement; Severability. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitute the entire agreement of the
parties with respect to the Loan and supersede all prior agreements and understandings; it being expressly understood and agreed that this Agreement is a complete amendment
and restatement of the Existing Loan Agreement, the terms and conditions of which have been superseded and replaced in their entirety by the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. The parties hereto agree that this Agreement is given as a continuation, modification and extension of the Existing Loan Agreement and shall not constitute a novation
of the Existing Loan Agreement. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect for so long as the Borrowers shall be indebted hereunder or
under the Notes (or any Lender has any outstanding commitments to lend hereunder), and thereafter until the Lenders shall have actually received written notice of the
termination hereof from the Borrowers and all Obligations incurred or contracted before receipt of such notice shall have been fully paid. In the event any one or more of the
provisions contained in any Loan Document shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not
affect any other provision of the Loan Documents, but the Loan Documents shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained
therein.

12.5Relationship of the Parties. This Agreement provides for the extension of financial accommodations by each Lender, in its capacity as lender, to the Borrowers,
in their capacity as borrowers, and for the payment of interest and repayment of the Obligations by the Borrowers. Certain provisions herein, such as those relating to compliance
with the financial covenants, delivery to the Administrative Agent of financial statements, and compliance with other affirmative and negative covenants are for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders to protect the Administrative Agent’s and the Lenders’ interests in assuring repayment of the Obligations. Nothing contained in this
Agreement shall be construed as permitting or obligating the Lenders or Administrative Agent to act as a financial or business advisor or consultant to any Borrower, as permitting
or obligating the Lenders or Administrative Agent to control any Borrower or to conduct any Borrower’s operations, as creating any fiduciary obligation on the part of any Lender
or the Administrative Agent to any Borrower, or as creating any joint venture, agency or other relationship between the parties other than as explicitly and specifically stated in this
Agreement. Each Borrower acknowledges that it has had the opportunity to obtain the advice of experienced counsel of its own choosing in connection with the negotiation and
execution of this Agreement and to obtain the advice of such counsel with respect to all matters contained herein, including the provision in this Agreement for waiver of trial by
jury. Each Borrower further acknowledges that it is experienced with respect to financial and credit matters and has made its own independent decision to request the Obligations
and execute and deliver this Agreement.

12.6Waiver of Jury Trial and Certain Damages. Each Borrower, the Administrative Agent and each Lender hereby (a) covenants and agrees not to elect a trial by jury
of any issue triable by a jury, and (b) waives any right to trial by jury and any right to claim consequential, punitive, incidental or special damages fully to the extent that any such
right shall now or hereafter exist. This waiver of right to trial by jury and right to claim consequential, punitive, incidental or special damages is separately given by each Borrower,
the Administrative Agent and each Lender, knowingly and voluntarily, and this waiver is intended to encompass individually each instance and each issue as to which the right to a
jury trial or the right to claim consequential, punitive, incidental or special damages would otherwise accrue. The Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders are hereby
authorized and requested to submit this Agreement to any court having jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties hereto, so as to serve as conclusive evidence of each
herein contained waiver of the right to jury trial and right to claim consequential, punitive, incidental or special damages. Further, each Borrower hereby certifies that no
representative or agent of the Administrative Agent or any Lender (including the Administrative Agent’s counsel) has represented, expressly or otherwise, to the undersigned that
the Administrative Agent or Lenders will not seek to enforce this provision waiving the right to a trial by jury or any right to claim consequential, punitive, incidental or special
damages.
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12.7Submission to Jurisdiction; Service of Process; Venue. Any judicial proceeding brought against any Borrower with respect to this Agreement or any other Loan
Document may be brought in the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the for the Southern District of New York and
any appellate court from any thereof, and by execution and delivery of this Agreement, each Borrower accepts for itself and in connection with its properties, generally and
unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid court, and irrevocably agrees to be bound by any judgment rendered by such court in connection with this Agreement.
Each Borrower irrevocably designates and appoints the General Counsel of the Primary Operating Company, whose address is c/o VSE Corporation, 6348 Walker Lane, Alexandria,
VA 22310, as its agent to receive on its behalf service of all process in any such proceeding in the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States
District Court of the for the Southern District of New York and any appellate court from any thereof, such service being hereby acknowledged by each Borrower to be effective and
binding on it in every respect. A copy of any such process so served shall be mailed by registered or certified mail to the Borrowers at the address to which notices are to be
addressed in accordance with this Agreement, except that any failure to mail such copy shall not affect the validity of service of process. The Borrowers shall at all times maintain an
agent for service of process pursuant to this provision. If any Borrower fails to appoint such an agent, or if such agent refuses to accept service, such Borrower hereby agrees that
service upon it by mail shall constitute sufficient notice. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law or shall limit the right of the
Administrative Agent or the Lenders to bring proceedings against any Borrower in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

12.8Changes in Capital Requirements. If any change in, or the introduction, adoption, effectiveness, interpretation, reinterpretation or phase-in of, the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act approved by the federal Government on June 30, 2010, Basel III adopted by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision or any
other law or regulation, directive, guideline, decision or request (whether or not having the force of law) of any court, central bank, regulator or other Government affects or would
affect the amount of capital or liquidity required or expected to be maintained by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, or person controlling the Administrative Agent or any
Lender, and the Administrative Agent determines (in its sole and absolute discretion) that the rate of return on its, such Lender’s or such controlling person’s capital as a
consequence of its commitments or the loans made by the Administrative Agent or such Lender is reduced to a level below that which the Administrative Agent, such Lender or
such controlling person could have achieved but for the occurrence of any such circumstance, then, in any such case upon notice from time to time by the Administrative Agent to
the Borrowers, the Borrowers shall immediately pay directly to the Administrative Agent, for its own account or for the account of such Lender (as the case may be), additional
amounts sufficient to compensate the Administrative Agent, such Lender or such controlling person for such reduction in rate of return. A statement of the Administrative Agent as
to any such additional amount or amounts (including calculations thereof in reasonable detail) shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the Borrowers.
In determining such amount, the Administrative Agent may use any method of averaging and attribution that it (in its sole and absolute discretion) shall deem applicable.

12.9Other Agents, Arrangers, Managers. None of the Lenders or other Persons identified on the facing page or signature pages of this Agreement as a “syndication
agent”, “documentation agent”, “co-agent”, “book manager”, “book running manager”, “lead manager”, “arranger”, “lead arranger” or “co-arranger” shall have any right, power,
obligation, liability, responsibility or duty under this Agreement other than, in the case of such Lenders, those applicable to all Lenders as such. Without limiting the foregoing, none
of the Lenders or other Persons so identified shall have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender. Each Lender acknowledges that it has not relied, and will
not rely, on any of the Lenders or other Persons so identified in deciding to enter into this Agreement or in taking or not taking action hereunder.

12.10 Modification and Waiver. Subject to Section 10.3 of this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any term, condition, covenant or agreement hereof may
be changed, waived, discharged or terminated orally, but that may be accomplished only by an instrument in writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of the change,
waiver, discharge or termination is sought.

12.11 Transferability.

(a) No Borrower shall assign any of its rights, interests or Obligations under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(b) No Lender shall assign its interests under this Agreement or any other Loan Document to any Person, without the prior written consent of both the
Administrative Agent and the Borrowers; provided that (i) the Borrowers’ consent shall not be required for assignments from one Lender to another Lender or to its affiliates or at
any time during which an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or a funded Term Loan to an Eligible Assignee; and (ii) the Borrowers’ consent and the
Administrative Agent’s consent shall not be unreasonably
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withheld or delayed. Subject to obtaining such consent (as required), any Lender may assign its interest at any time under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
provided that (a) the purchaser of any such interest is an Eligible Assignee, and if such assignment is an unfunded revolving commitment, whose total assets exceed Five Hundred
Million and No/100 Dollars ($500,000,000.00); (b) prior written notice of such sale or assignment, which notice must identify the name, address and contact person of the Eligible
Assignee, shall have been issued by such transferring Lender to the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers; (c) the dollar equivalent of the Percentage of the transferring Lender
being assigned equals or exceeds Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) or such lesser amount as may constitute such transferring Lender’s remaining Percentage; (d) the
Administrative Agent shall have received a duly executed Assignment and Acceptance Agreement, in the form of Exhibit 8 attached hereto (each, an “Assignment and Acceptance
Agreement”); and (e) if the proposed assignee of the transferring Lender is not an Affiliate of the transferring Lender or another Lender hereunder, an assignment fee in the amount
of Three Thousand Five Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($3,500.00) shall have been paid to the Administrative Agent to reimburse the Administrative Agent for costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the assignment. No Lender may assign its interests to a Borrower or an Affiliate of a Borrower or to a natural Person, holding company, investment
vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of, a natural Person.

(c) Subject to the acceptance and recording thereof by the Administrative Agent, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and
Acceptance Agreement, the Eligible Assignee thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance
Agreement, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment
and Acceptance Agreement, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance Agreement covering all of the assigning
Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections  12.20 and 12.21 of
this Agreement with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment). Upon request, and the surrender by the assigning Lender of its
Note, the Borrowers (at their expense) shall execute and deliver a Note to the assignee Lender. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this
Agreement that does not comply with this clause shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in
accordance with Subsection (e) below.

(d) The Administrative Agent, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrowers, shall maintain a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance
Agreement delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and their Percentage of, and principal amounts (and related interest
amounts) of the Loans, participations under Letters of Credit and other amounts due hereunder, or owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the
“Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name
is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. The Register shall be
available for inspection by any Lender (with respect to any entry relating to such Lender’s Loans or Percentage) or the Borrowers at any reasonable time and from time to time
upon reasonable prior notice.

(e) Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrowers or the Administrative Agent, sell participations to any Person (other than
a natural person) (each, a “Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Percentage of the Loans
(including such Lender’s participations in the Letters of Credit or Swing Line Loans) owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain
unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and
the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement or
instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the other Loan Documents
and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents provided that the participation agreement may permit
the participant to vote on issues requiring the consent of all Lenders.

(f) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment hereunder than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect
to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrowers’ prior written consent (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed).

(g) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement (including under its Note) to secure
obligations of such Lender, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release
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such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

(h) The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” and words of like import in any Assignment and Acceptance Agreement shall be deemed to include electronic
signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a
paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National
Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Record Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

129/142

12.12 Governing Law; Binding Effect. This Agreement, and any claim, controversy or dispute arising under or related to this Agreement, the relationship of the
Borrowers and the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders and/or the interpretation and enforcement of the rights and duties of the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and/or
the Lenders, shall be governed and construed by the laws of the State of New York (without regard to conflict of laws principles) and be binding upon each Borrower and inure to
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

12.13 Announcements. In consideration of the Administrative Agent’s and the Lenders’ agreements hereunder, each Borrower consents to the publication by
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of one or more tombstones or similar advertising material relating to the financing transactions contemplated by this Agreement so long
as no economic or financial details are contained therein (but permitting however, a description of the type and purpose of the Loans), and further consents to the reasonable use
by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of each VSE Entity’s name, trademark, logo and other identifying images to identify the Borrowers as customers of the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders and/or otherwise to reasonable use by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in each of their promotional and other marketing campaigns and
activities. The Administrative Agent and the Lenders reserve the right to provide to industry trade organizations information necessary and customary for inclusion in league table
measurements; provided, however, that none of the Administrative Agent nor the Lenders shall provide any information of any financial, confidential or proprietary nature to such
industry trade organizations without the prior written consent of the Borrowers.

12.14 Joint and Several Liability. Each Borrower shall be jointly and severally liable for the payment and performance of all obligations and liabilities hereunder.

12.15 Materiality. Unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, determinations regarding the materiality of any act, event, condition or circumstance
shall be in the reasonable judgment of the Administrative Agent.

12.16 Allowed Delay. The due date or end date of anything that would otherwise be due or end on a day that is not a Business Day shall be extended to the
next succeeding Business Day unless such Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case such due date or end date shall be on the next preceding Business Day.

12.17 Reliance on the Administrative Agent. Each Borrower shall be entitled to assume that any and all consents, approvals or notices issued or granted by
the Administrative Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement were, to the extent necessary, authorized by the Required Lenders or all of the Lenders, as
applicable.

12.18 The Patriot Act. The Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereby notify the Borrowers that pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, they are
required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the VSE Entities, which information includes the name and address of the VSE Entities and other information that
will allow the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to identify the VSE Entities in accordance with the Patriot Act.

12.19 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which together shall constitute one and the same document. Each
party hereto hereby agrees to be bound by its facsimile or PDF signature.

12.20 Taxes. All payments by the Borrowers of principal of, and interest on, the Loans and all other amounts payable hereunder shall be made free and clear of
and without deduction for any present or future income, excise, stamp or franchise taxes and other taxes, fees, duties, withholdings or other charges of any nature
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whatsoever imposed by any taxing authority, but excluding franchise taxes and taxes imposed on or measured by the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s Net Income or
receipts (such non-excluded items being called “Taxes”). If any withholding or deduction from any payment to be made by the Borrowers hereunder is required in respect of any
Taxes pursuant to any applicable law, rule or regulation, then the Borrowers will:

        (A)    pay directly to the relevant authority the full amount required to be so withheld or deducted;

        (B)        promptly forward to the Administrative Agent an official receipt or other documentation satisfactory to the Administrative Agent evidencing
such payment to such authority; and

        (C)        pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account or for the account of such Lender (as the case may be), such additional amount or amounts
as is necessary to ensure that the net amount actually received by the Administrative Agent, for its own account or for the account of such Lender (as the case may be), will equal
the full amount the Administrative Agent or such Lender (as applicable) would have received had no such withholding or deduction been required.

Moreover, if any Taxes are directly asserted against the Administrative Agent or any Lender with respect to any payment received by the Administrative Agent or any Lender
hereunder, the Administrative Agent or such Lender may pay such Taxes and the Borrowers will promptly pay such additional amount (including any penalties, interest or
expenses) as is necessary in order that the net amount received by the Administrative Agent or such Lender (as the case may be) after the payment of such Taxes (including any
Taxes on such additional amount) shall equal the amount the Administrative Agent or such Lender (as the case may be) would have received had such Taxes not been asserted.
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If the Borrowers fail to pay any Taxes when due to the appropriate taxing authority or fail to remit to the Administrative Agent the required receipts or other required documentary
evidence, the Borrowers shall indemnify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders for any incremental Taxes, interest or penalties that may become payable by the Administrative
Agent or any Lender as a result of any such failure.

If a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to US federal withholding tax imposed under FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the
applicable reporting requirements of FATCA, such Lender shall deliver to the Primary Operating Company and to the Administrative Agent, if applicable, at the time or times
prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Primary Operating Company or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable
law and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Primary Operating Company or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Primary Operating
Company or the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA
or to determine the amount, if any, to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this paragraph, "FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after
the date of this Agreement.

12.21 Indemnity.

(a) Each Borrower, on its own behalf, and on behalf of each other VSE Entity, releases and shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the
Administrative Agent, each Lender and each Affiliate of a Lender that is at any time a counterparty under a Hedging Contract, and their respective directors, officers, employees
and agents (each an “indemnified party”), of and from any claims, demands, liabilities, obligations, judgments, injuries, losses, penalties, damages and costs and expenses (including
reasonable legal fees) that may at any time be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent or any Lender or any other indemnified party (collectively,
“Losses”) (i) resulting from, under, pursuant or related to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, in breach or violation of any representation, warranty, covenant or
undertaking contained in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, or caused by acts or conduct of the VSE Entities (ii) resulting from any VSE Entity's failure to comply with
any or all laws, statutes, ordinances, Government rules, regulations or standards, whether federal, state or local, or court or administrative orders or decrees, (including, without
limitation, CERCLA, HMTA, RCRA or any other applicable environmental law, rule, order or regulation ), (iii) resulting from any claim by any other creditor of any VSE Entity against
the Administrative Agent or any Lender arising out of any
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transaction, whether hereunder or in any way related to the Loan Documents and all costs, expenses, fines, penalties or other damages resulting therefrom, and (iv) resulting from
or caused by any third party or any VSE Entity in connection with or as a result of this Agreement, any other Loan Document, any transaction from time to time contemplated
hereby or thereby, or any transaction financed in whole or in part, or directly or indirectly, with the proceeds of any Loan made hereunder; provided, however, that no indemnified
party hereto shall be entitled to indemnification for Losses to the extent such Losses arise out of such indemnified party’s gross negligence or willful misconduct, as finally
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(b) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under Subsection (a) above of notice of the commencement of any action by a third party, such
indemnified party shall, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the indemnifying party under such Subsection, notify the indemnifying party in writing of the
commencement thereof. The failure to so notify the indemnifying party shall relieve the indemnifying party from any liability which it may have to any indemnified party under
such Subsection only if the indemnifying party is unable to defend such actions as a result of such failure to so notify. In case any such action shall be brought against any
indemnified party and it shall notify the indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, the indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it
shall wish, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel satisfactory to such indemnified party (who shall not, except
with the consent of the indemnified party, be counsel to the indemnifying party), and, after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to
assume the defense thereof, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to such indemnified party under such Subsection for any legal expenses of other counsel, in each case
subsequently incurred by such indemnified party, in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation. The indemnifying party cannot settle any
action for which it has assumed the defense without the indemnified party’s express written consent.

12.22 Acknowledgment Regarding any Supported QFCs. To the extent that the Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for any
Hedging Contract or any other agreement or instrument that is a QFC (such support, “QFC Credit Support”, and each such QFC, a “Supported QFC”), the parties acknowledge and
agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the “U.S. Special Resolution Regimes”) in respect of such Supported QFC and
QFC Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated to be governed by the laws of
the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of the United States): In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a “Covered Party”)
becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported QFC and the benefit of such QFC Credit Support (and any interest and
obligation in or under such Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported QFC or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered
Party will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and any
such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of
a Covered Party becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan Documents that might otherwise apply to such Supported
QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised
under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. Without
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limitation of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that rights and remedies of the parties with respect to a Defaulting Lender shall in no event affect the rights of any Covered
Party with respect to a Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support.

As used in this Section 12.22, the following terms have the following meanings:

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a party means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

“Covered Entity” means any of the following:

(i) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b);

(ii) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or

85

(iii) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

12.23 Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in
any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any Affected Financial Institution arising under
any Loan Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to the write-down and conversion powers of the applicable Resolution Authority and agrees and
consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

    (a)    the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable
to it by any party hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and

    (b)    the effects of any Bail-in Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:

        (i)    a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

        (ii)        a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such Affected Financial Institution, its parent
undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any
rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

        (iii)        the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the write-down and conversion powers of any applicable Resolution
Authority.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Exhibit B

AMENDMENTS TO SCHEDULE 1, EXHIBIT 2 AND EXHIBIT 7 TO THE EXISTING CREDIT AGREEMENT
Exhibit B
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SCHEDULE 1

Lenders
Total Commitment Amount
Percentage/Commitment $

Revolving Facility
Percentage/Commitment $

Term Facility
Percentage /Commitment $

Fifth Amendment Term Facility
Percentage /Commitment $

Citizens Bank, N.A. $76,861,111.16 14.366562833% $50,555,555.58 14.444444444% $13,722,222.24 14.444444444% $12,583,333.34 13.981481487%

Truist Bank $65,916,666.66 12.320872273% $40,833,333.33 11.666666667% $11,083,333.33 11.666666667% $14,000,000.00 15.555555556%

PNC Bank, National Association $65,916,666.66 12.320872273% $40,833,333.33 11.666666667% $11,083,333.33 11.666666667% $14,000,000.00 15.555555556%

Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company $51,916,666.66 9.704049843% $40,833,333.33 11.666666667% $11,083,333.33 11.666666667% $0 0%

Capital One, National Association $51,916,666.66 9.704049843% $40,833,333.33 11.666666667% $11,083,333.33 11.666666667% $0 0%

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association $65,916,666.66 12.320872273% $40,833,333.33 11.666666667% $11,083,333.33 11.666666667% $14,000,000.00 15.555555556%

Royal Bank of Canada $65,916,666.66 12.320872273% $40,833,333.33 11.666666667% $11,083,333.33 11.666666667% $14,000,000.00 15.555555556%

TD Bank, N.A. $65,916,666.66 12.320872273% $35,000,000.00 10.000000000% $9,500,000.00 10.000000000% $21,416,666.66 23.796296289%

First-Citizens Bank & Trust Company $24,722,222.22 4.620976116% $19,444,444.44 5.555555554% $5,277,777.78 5.555555554% $0 0%

TOTALS: $535,000,000.00 100% $350,000,000.00 100% $95,000,000.00 100% $90,000,000.00 100%

EXHIBIT 1

VSE CORPORATION

REQUEST FOR ADVANCE AND CERTIFICATION

Citizens Bank, National Association, 8614 Westwood Center Drive, Suite 250, Vienna, Virginia 22182

REQUEST FOR ADVANCE

The undersigned, VSE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the “Primary Operating Company”), for itself and as attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of each Borrower
(hereinafter defined) under that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 5, 2018 (as the same may be amended, modified
or restated from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”) by and among (i) Citizens Bank, National Association (as successor by merger to Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, a Pennsylvania
state chartered bank (“Citizens Bank”)), acting in its individual capacity as the Swing Line Lender and as the administrative agent for the Lenders (the “Administrative Agent”), (ii)
Citizens Bank, acting in its individual capacity as a Lender, and other Lender parties thereto from time to time (collectively, the “Lenders”), (iii) the Primary Operating Company,
certain subsidiaries and affiliates of the Primary Operating Company and any Person who has become a Borrower party thereto pursuant to the Loan Agreement (each, a
“Borrower” and collectively, the “Borrowers”), and (iv) Citizens Bank, National Association, as lead arranger, hereby requests that a Loan advance under the Revolving Facility be
made to the Borrowers pursuant to Section 1.4(a) of the Loan Agreement in the amount of _______________________________________________________ and No/100 Dollars
($_____________.00). This Loan advance will be effective on __________________ and will bear interest on a _____ Base Rate basis / ____ Term SOFR basis / ____ Adjusted Daily Simple RFR
basis / Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate basis (check one2). If a Term SOFR or Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate based rate has been selected herein, it shall be effective for a ____ (select 1, 3 or
6 month period), commencing on ________________, 20__ (an RFR Business Day not less than three (3) RFR Business Days nor more than five (5) RFR Business Days from the date of
submission of this Request for Advance and Certification) and expiring on ___________, 20__ (not later than the Maturity Date). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall
have the meanings attributed to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned certifies to the Administrative Agent, on behalf of each of the Borrowers and for the benefit of the Lenders, that (a) all of the representations and
warranties of the Borrowers contained in the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, if qualified by “materiality”, are true and correct in all respects, and if not qualified by
“materiality”, are true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of the date hereof, unless such representation or warranty specifically refers to an earlier date or the
Borrowers are unable to remake and redate any such representation or warranty, in which case the Borrowers have previously disclosed the same to the Administrative Agent and
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the Lenders in writing, and such inability does not constitute or give rise to an Event of Default; and (b) no Event of Default exists under the Loan Agreement, and no act, event or
condition has occurred or exists which with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed and delivered this Request for Advance and Certification on this ___ day of __________, 20__.

              VSE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, acting on its own behalf and as attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of each Borrower

                        By: _________________________________
                        Name: ________________________________
                        Title: _________________________________

2 Adjusted Daily Simple RFR and Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate options only available for Alternative Currency loans.

EXHIBIT 2

VSE CORPORATION

INTEREST ELECTION FORM AND CERTIFICATION

Citizens Bank, National Association, 8614 Westwood Center Drive, Suite 250, Vienna, Virginia 22182

The undersigned, VSE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the “Primary Operating Company”), for itself and as attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of each Borrower
(hereinafter defined) under that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 5, 2018 (as the same may be amended, modified
or restated from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”) by and among (i) Citizens Bank, National Association (as successor by merger to Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, a Pennsylvania
state chartered bank (“Citizens Bank”)), acting in its individual capacity as the Swing Line Lender and as the administrative agent for the Lenders (the “Administrative Agent”), (ii)
Citizens Bank, acting in its individual capacity as a Lender, and other Lender parties thereto from time to time (collectively, the “Lenders”), (iii) the Primary Operating Company,
certain subsidiaries and affiliates of the Primary Operating Company and any Person who has become a Borrower party thereto pursuant to the Loan Agreement (each, a
“Borrower” and collectively, the “Borrowers”), and (iv) Citizens Bank, National Association, as lead arranger, hereby requests that the sum of
______________________________________________________ and No/100 Dollars ($______________.00), advanced and outstanding under the _____ Revolving Facility, _____ Term Facility or
_____ Fifth Amendment Term Facility (check one), bear interest on a ____ Term SOFR basis / Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate basis (check one3). This election shall be effective for a ____
(select 1, 3 or 6 month period), commencing on _____________, 20__ (an RFR Business Day not less than three (3) RFR Business Days nor more than five (5) RFR Business Days from
the date of submission of this Interest Election Form and Certification), and expiring on _______________, 20___ (not later than the Maturity Date). Capitalized terms used but not
defined herein shall have the meaning attributable to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned certifies to the Administrative Agent, on behalf of each of the Borrowers and for the benefit of the Lenders, that (a) all of the representations and
warranties of the Borrowers contained in the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, if qualified by “materiality”, are true and correct in all respects, and if not qualified by
“materiality”, are true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of the date hereof, unless such representation or warranty specifically refers to an earlier date or the
Borrowers are unable to remake and redate any such representation or warranty, in which case the Borrowers have previously disclosed the same to the Administrative Agent and
the Lenders in writing, and such inability does not constitute or give rise to an Event of Default; and (b) no Event of Default exists under the Loan Agreement, and no act, event or
condition has occurred or exists which with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed and delivered this Interest Election Form and Certification on this ___ day of ____________, 20___.





VSE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, acting on its own behalf and as attorney-in-fact for
and on behalf of each Borrower



By: ___________________________________________
Name: ________________________________________
Title: __________________________________________

3 Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate options only available for Euro denominated loans.
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EXHIBIT 3

VSE CORPORATION

INTEREST ELECTION PROCEDURE AND REQUIREMENTS
The Borrowers’ right to obtain RFR, Eurocurrency or Term SOFR based interest shall be subject to the following conditions:

(a) Continuation and Conversion Elections. By delivering an Interest Election Form and Certification to the Administrative Agent on or before 10:00 a.m.,
New York, NY time, on an RFR Business Day, the Borrowers may from time to time irrevocably elect, on not less than three (3) RFR Business Days nor more than five (5) RFR
Business Days notice, that all, or any portion in an aggregate minimum amount of One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00) and integral multiples of One Hundred
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), of (i) any Eurocurrency Rate Loan be converted on the last day of an Interest Period into a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a different
Interest Period, or continued on the last day of an Interest Period as a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a similar Interest Period or (ii) any SOFR Rate Loan be converted on the last day
of an Interest Period into a SOFR Rate Loan with a different Interest Period, or continued on the last day of an Interest Period as a SOFR Rate Loan with a similar Interest Period,
provided,however, that no portion of the outstanding principal amount of any SOFR Rate Loans may be converted to, or continued as, SOFR Rate Loan when any Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing or when any act, event or condition exists or has occurred which with notice or the lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default, and
no portion of the outstanding principal amount of any SOFR Rate Loans may be converted to, SOFR Rate Loans of a different duration if such SOFR Rate Loans relate to any
Hedging Obligations. In the absence of delivery of an Interest Election Form and Certification with respect to (i) any SOFR Rate Loan at least three (3) RFR Business Days before the
last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto, such SOFR Rate Loan shall, on such last day, automatically convert to a Loan that accrues interest on a Base Rate
basis or (ii) any Eurocurrency Rate Loan at least three (3) RFR Business Days before the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto, such Eurocurrency Rate
Loan shall, on such last day, automatically convert to a Loan that accrues interest at the Adjusted Eurocurrency rate for a one month Interest Period. No more than six (6) different
SOFR and Eurocurrency funding segments may be outstanding at any time.

(b) Repayments, Prepayments and Interest.

(i) Repayments, Continuations and Conversions. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in any Note, SOFR Rate Loans and Eurocurrency Rate Loans
shall mature and become payable in full on the last day of the Interest Period relating to such SOFR Rate Loan or and Eurocurrency Rate Loan. Upon maturity, a SOFR Rate Loan or
a Eurocurrency Rate Loan may be continued for an additional Interest Period, or a SOFR Rate Loan may be converted to a Loan that accrues interest on a Base Rate basis.

(ii) Voluntary Prepayment of SOFR Rate Loans and Eurocurrency Rate Loans. SOFR Rate Loans and Eurocurrency Rate Loans may be prepaid upon the
terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Notes. For SOFR Rate Loans in connection with which the Borrowers have or may incur Hedging Obligations, additional obligations
may be associated with prepayment, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable Hedging Contracts. The Borrowers shall give the Administrative Agent, no later
than 10:00 a.m., New York, NY time, at least three (3) RFR Business Days’ notice of any proposed prepayment of any SOFR Rate Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, specifying the
proposed date of payment of such Loans, and the principal amount to be paid. Each partial prepayment of the principal amount of SOFR Rate Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans
shall be in an integral multiple of One Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00) and be accompanied by the payment of all charges outstanding on such Loans and of all
accrued interest on the principal repaid to the date of payment. The Borrowers acknowledge that prepayment or acceleration of a SOFR Rate Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan
during an Interest Period shall result in the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders (as applicable) incurring additional costs, expenses and/or liabilities and that it is extremely
difficult and impractical to ascertain the extent of such costs, expenses and/or liabilities. Therefore, all full or partial prepayments of SOFR Rate Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans
shall be accompanied by, and the Borrowers hereby promise to pay, on each date a SOFR Rate Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan is prepaid or the date all sums payable hereunder
become due and payable, by acceleration or otherwise, in addition to all other sums then owing, an amount (“Loan Prepayment Fee”) determined by the Administrative Agent as
necessary to compensate each Lender for any loss, cost and expense attributable to such event, including any loss, cost or expense arising from the liquidation or redeployment of
funds.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

135/142

(iii) Interest Provisions. Interest on the outstanding principal amount of each (A) Term SOFR Rate Loan shall accrue during the Interest Period
applicable thereto at a rate equal to the sum of Term SOFR for such Interest Period plus the applicable Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin thereto and be payable on each
Interest Payment Date, (B) Eurocurrency Rate Loan shall accrue during the Interest Period applicable thereto at a rate equal to the sum of the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate for such
Interest Period plus the applicable Additional Eurocurrency Interest Margin thereto and be payable on each Interest Payment Date and (C) Daily Simple RFR Loan shall accrue at a
rate equal to the sum of Adjusted Daily Simple RFR plus the applicable Additional Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin thereto and be payable on each Interest Payment Date.

(c) Changed Circumstances.

(i) Circumstances Affecting Eurocurrency Rates and RFRs. Subject to clause (iii) below, in connection with any RFR Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan, a
request therefor, a conversion to or a continuation thereof or otherwise, if for any reason (A) the Administrative Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and
binding absent manifest error) that (x) if Adjusted Daily Simple RFR is utilized in any calculations hereunder or under any other Loan Document with respect to any Obligations,
interest, fees, commissions or other amounts, reasonable and adequate means do not exist for ascertaining Adjusted Daily Simple RFR pursuant to the definition thereof or (y) if
Term SOFR or a Eurocurrency Rate is utilized in any calculations hereunder or under any other Loan Document with respect to any Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other
amounts, reasonable and adequate means do not exist for ascertaining Term SOFR or such Eurocurrency Rate, as applicable, for the applicable Currency and the applicable Interest
Period with respect to a proposed SOFR Rate Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan, as applicable, on or prior to the first day of such Interest Period, (B) the Administrative Agent shall
determine (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that a fundamental change has occurred in the foreign exchange or interbank markets with
respect to an applicable Alternative Currency (including changes in national or international financial, political or economic conditions or currency exchange rates or exchange
controls), (C) with respect to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the Administrative Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error)
that deposits are not being offered in the applicable Currency to banks in the London or other applicable offshore interbank market for the applicable Currency, amount or
Interest Period of such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, or (D) the Required Lenders shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that (x) if
Adjusted Daily Simple RFR is utilized in any calculations hereunder or under any other Loan Document with respect to any Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other
amounts, Adjusted Daily Simple RFR does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining such Loans or (y) if Term SOFR or a Eurocurrency Rate
is utilized in any calculations hereunder or under any other Loan Document with respect to any Obligations, interest, fees, commissions or other amounts, Term SOFR or such
Eurocurrency Rate, as applicable, does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining such Loans during the applicable Interest Period and, in
the case of (x) or (y), the Required Lenders have provided notice of such determination to the Administrative Agent, then, in each case, the Administrative Agent shall promptly give
notice thereof to the Borrower. Upon notice thereof by the Administrative Agent to the Borrower, any obligation of the Lenders to make RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, as
applicable, in each such Currency, and any right of the Borrowers to convert any Loan in each such Currency (if applicable) to or continue any Loan as an RFR Loan or a
Eurocurrency Rate Loan, as applicable, in each such Currency, shall be suspended (to the extent of the affected RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans or, in the case of SOFR Rate
Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, the affected Interest Periods) until the Administrative Agent (with respect to clause (D), at the instruction of the Required Lenders) revokes such
notice. Upon receipt of such notice, (A) the Borrowers may revoke any pending request for a borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans
in each such affected Currency (to the extent of the affected RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans or, in the case of SOFR Rate Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, the affected
Interest Periods) or, failing that, (I) in the case of any request for a borrowing of an affected SOFR Rate Loan, the Borrowers will be deemed to have converted any such request into
a request for a borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate Loans in the amount specified therein and (II)  in the case of any request for a borrowing of an affected RFR Loan or
Eurocurrency Rate Loan in an Alternative Currency, then such request shall be ineffective and (B)(I) any outstanding affected SOFR Rate Loans will be deemed to have been
converted into Base Rate Loans at the end of the applicable Interest Period and (II) any outstanding affected Loans denominated in an Alternative Currency, at the Borrowers’
election, shall either be converted into Base Rate Loans denominated in Dollars (in an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent of such Alternative Currency) immediately or, in the
case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, at the end of the applicable Interest Period or be prepaid in full immediately or, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, at the end of the
applicable Interest Period; provided that if no election is made by the Borrowers by the date that is the earlier of (x) three (3) Business Days after receipt by the Borrowers of such
notice or (y) with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan the last day of the current Interest Period, the Borrowers shall be deemed to have elected clause (1) above. Upon any such
prepayment or conversion, the Borrowers shall also pay accrued interest (except with respect to any prepayment or conversion of a Daily Simple RFR Loan) on the amount so
prepaid or converted, together with any required Loan Prepayment Fee.

2

(ii) Laws Affecting Eurocurrency Rate or RFR Availability. If, after the date hereof, the introduction of, or any change in, any Applicable Law or any
change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration
thereof, or compliance by any of the Lenders (or any of their respective lending offices) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such
Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency, shall make it unlawful or impossible for any of the Lenders (or any of their respective lending offices) to honor its
obligations hereunder to make or maintain any Daily Simple RFR Loan, SOFR Rate Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan, or to determine or charge interest based upon any applicable
RFR, Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR, the Eurocurrency Rate or the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate, such Lender shall promptly give notice
thereof to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice to the Borrowers and the other Lenders (an “Illegality Notice”). Thereafter, until each
affected Lender notifies the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrowers that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist,
(i) any obligation of the Lenders to make RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, as applicable, in the affected Currency or Currencies, and any right of the Borrowers to convert any
Loan denominated in Dollars to a SOFR Rate Loan or continue any Loan as an RFR Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, as applicable, in the affected Currency or Currencies shall be
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suspended and (ii) if necessary to avoid such illegality, the Administrative Agent shall compute the Base Rate without reference to clause (c) of the definition of “Base Rate”. Upon
receipt of an Illegality Notice, the Borrowers shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, upon demand from any Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), prepay or, if
applicable, (A) convert all SOFR Rate Loans to Base Rate Loans or (B) convert all RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans denominated in an affected Alternative Currency to Base
Rate Loans denominated in Dollars (in an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent of such Alternative Currency) (in each case, if necessary to avoid such illegality, the Administrative
Agent shall compute the Base Rate without reference to clause (c) of the definition of “Base Rate”), (I) with respect to Daily Simple RFR Loans, on the Interest Payment Date
therefor, if all affected Lenders may lawfully continue to maintain such Daily Simple RFR Loans to such day, or immediately, if any Lender may not lawfully continue to maintain
such Daily Simple RFR Loans to such day or (II) with respect to Eurocurrency Rate Loans or SOFR Rate Loans, on the last day of the Interest Period therefor, if all affected Lenders
may lawfully continue to maintain such Eurocurrency Rate Loans or SOFR Rate Loans, as applicable, to such day, or immediately, if any Lender may not lawfully continue to
maintain such Eurocurrency Rate Loans or SOFR Rate Loans, as applicable, to such day. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, the Borrowers shall also pay accrued interest
(except with respect to any prepayment or conversion of a Daily Simple RFR Loan) on the amount so prepaid or converted, together with any additional Loan Prepayment Fee.

(iii) Benchmark Replacement Setting.

A. Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, upon the occurrence of a
Benchmark Transition Event with respect to any Benchmark, the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers may amend this Agreement to replace such Benchmark with a
Benchmark Replacement. Any such amendment with respect to a Benchmark Transition Event will become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the
Administrative Agent has posted such proposed amendment to all affected Lenders and the Borrowers so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written
notice of objection to such amendment from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. No replacement of a Benchmark with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to this clause
(A) will occur prior to the applicable Benchmark Transition Start Date. No Hedge Agreement shall be deemed to be a “Loan Document” for purposes of this clause (iii).

B. Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark
Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other
Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or
any other Loan Document.

C. Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrowers and the Lenders of (x)
the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement and (y) the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation
of a Benchmark Replacement. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrowers of the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (iii)(D)
below. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this clause (iii),
including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or
refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any
other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this clause (iii).

3

D. Unavailability of Tenor of Benchmark. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time
(including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (A)  if any then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including the Term SOFR Reference Rate or
EURIBOR) and either (1) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the
Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (2) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of
information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is not or will not be representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Period” (or
any similar or analogous definition) for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (B) if a tenor that was removed
pursuant to clause (A) above either (1) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (2) is not, or is no
longer, subject to an announcement that it is not or will not be representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify
the definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.

E. Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon the Borrowers’ receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period with
respect to a given Benchmark, (A) the Borrowers may revoke any pending request for a borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, in
each case, to be made, converted or continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period denominated in the applicable Currency and, failing that, (I) in the case of any request
for any affected SOFR Rate Loans, if applicable, the Borrowers will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate
Loans in the amount specified therein and (II) in the case of any request for any affected RFR Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan, in each case, in an Alternative Currency, if applicable,
then such request shall be ineffective and (B)(I) any outstanding affected SOFR Rate Loans, if applicable, will be deemed to have been converted into Base Rate Loans at the end of
the applicable Interest Period and (II) any outstanding affected RFR Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, in each case, denominated in an Alternative Currency, at the Borrowers’
election, shall either (1) be converted into Base Rate Loans denominated in Dollars (in an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent of such Alternative Currency) immediately or, in the
case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, at the end of the applicable Interest Period or (2) be prepaid in full immediately or, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, at the end of the
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applicable Interest Period; provided that, with respect to any Daily Simple RFR Loan, if no election is made by the Borrowers by the date that is three (3) Business Days after receipt
by the Borrowers of such notice, the Borrowers shall be deemed to have elected clause (1) above; provided,further that, with respect to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, if no election
is made by the Borrowers by the earlier of (x) the date that is three (3) Business Days after receipt by the Borrowers of such notice and (y) the last day of the current Interest Period
for the applicable Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the Borrowers shall be deemed to have elected clause (1) above. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, the Borrowers shall also pay
accrued interest (except with respect to any prepayment or conversion of a Daily Simple RFR Loan) on the amount so prepaid or converted, together with any additional amounts
required pursuant to clause (iv) below. During a Benchmark Unavailability Period with respect to any Benchmark or at any time that a tenor for any then-current Benchmark is not
an Available Tenor, the component of the Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark that is the subject of such Benchmark Unavailability Period or such tenor for such
Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination of Base Rate.

(iv) Indemnities. In addition to the Loan Prepayment Fee, the Borrowers hereby indemnify each of the Lenders against any loss, cost or expense
(including any loss, cost or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds or from any fees payable) which may arise, be attributable to or result due to or as a
consequence of (a) any failure by the Borrowers to make any payment when due of any amount due hereunder in connection with an RFR Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan,
(b) any failure of the Borrowers to borrow or continue an RFR Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or convert to an RFR Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan on a date specified
therefor in a Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Conversion/Continuation, (c) any failure of the Borrowers to prepay any RFR Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan on a date specified
therefor in any Notice of Prepayment, (d) any payment, prepayment or conversion of any Daily Simple RFR Loan on a date other than on the Interest Payment Date therefor
(including as a result of an Event of Default) or SOFR Rate Loan or Eurocurrency Rate Loan on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period therefor (including as a result of
an Event of Default) or (e) the assignment of any Daily Simple RFR Loan other than on the Interest Payment Date therefor or any Eurocurrency Rate Loan or SOFR Rate Loan other
than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto. In the case of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the amount of such loss or expense shall be determined, in the applicable
Lender’s sole discretion, based upon the assumption that such Lender funded its Commitment Percentage of the Eurocurrency Rate Loans in the London or other applicable
offshore interbank market for such Currency, whether or not such Eurocurrency Rate Loan was in fact so funded, and using any reasonable attribution or averaging methods
which such Lender deems appropriate and practical. A certificate of such Lender setting forth the basis for determining such amount or amounts necessary to compensate such
Lender shall be forwarded to the Borrowers through the Administrative Agent and shall be conclusively presumed to be correct save for manifest error.

4

(v) Increased Costs. Without limiting the provisions of Section 12.8 of this Agreement, if, on or after the date hereof, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act approved by the federal Government on June 30, 2010, Basel III adopted by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, or the adoption of
any amendment thereto or any other applicable law, rule or regulation or guideline (whether or not having the force of law), or any change therein, or any change in the
interpretation or administration thereof by any Government, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by the
Administrative Agent or any Lender with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency shall:

(A) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including pursuant to regulations issued from time to time by the FRB for determining the
maximum reserve requirement (including any emergency, special, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement) with respect to eurocurrency
funding (currently referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D of the FRB, as amended and in effect from time to time)), special deposit,
compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or advances, loans or other credit extended
or participated in by, any Lender (except any reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate) or any Issuing Lender;

(B) subject any Lender or LC Issuer to any taxes (except for the introduction of, or change in the rate of, tax on the overall net income of the
Administrative Agent or any Lender (as applicable) or franchise taxes, imposed by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof)
under the laws of which the Administrative Agent or such Lender is organized or in which the Administrative Agent’s or such Lender’s principal executive
office is located) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital
attributable thereto; or

(C) impose on any Lender or any LC Issuer or (with respect to Eurocurrency Rate Loans) the London or other applicable offshore interbank
market any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Loans made by such Lender or any Letter of Credit or
participation therein;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to the Administrative Agent or such Lender of making or maintaining any Loan, or to reduce the amount of any sum
received or receivable by the Administrative Agent or such Lender under this Agreement with respect thereto, by an amount deemed by the Administrative Agent to be material,
then, within fifteen (15) days after demand by the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account or for the account of such Lender
(as the case may be), such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Administrative Agent or such Lender for such increased cost or reduction.
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(vi) Certain Required Information. If a Request for Advance and Certification or Interest Election Form and Certification fails to specify an Applicable
Interest Rate and/or an Interest Period, or if, after having selected an Applicable Interest Rate and/or an Interest Period, the Borrowers fail or are otherwise not entitled under the
provisions of this Agreement to elect or continue any such selection (as applicable), the Borrowers shall be deemed to have selected a Base Rate based interest rate as the
Applicable Interest Rate until such time as the Borrowers are entitled to and have selected a different Applicable Interest Rate and specified Interest Period in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement. The Lenders shall not be obligated to act with respect to the provisions of this Exhibit unless the Administrative Agent shall have received a Request
for Advance and Certification or Interest Election Form and Certification, as applicable, from the Borrowers specifying the following information:

(A) the amount of the advance subject to the Applicable Interest Rate election;

(B) the length of the Interest Period; and
5

(C) the date on which such election is requested to be effective.

Each Request for Advance and Certification or Interest Election Form and Certification, as applicable, shall be made by the Borrowers in accordance with the provisions of this
Exhibit, the Notes and Section 1.4 of the Loan Agreement.

(vii)Alternative Currency Loans. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, (a) Alternative Currency Loans denominated in
(x) Euros shall at all times constitute Eurocurrency Rate Loans and (y) Sterling shall at all times constitute Daily Simple RFR Loans and (b) during the existence of an Event of Default,
the Required Lenders may demand that any or all of the then outstanding Alternative Currency Loans be prepaid, or redenominated into Dollars in the amount of the Dollar
Equivalent thereof, on the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto.

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this Exhibit 3 shall have the meanings attributed to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

6

EXHIBIT 7

VSE CORPORATION

PRICING GRID

Level Total Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio

Additional Term SOFR Interest Margin, Additional
Daily Simple RFR Interest Margin, Additional

Eurocurrency Interest Margin and Letter of Credit
Fee

Additional Base Rate
Interest Margin

Revolving Facility
Commitment Fee

VII ≥ 4.50:1 4.25% 3.25% 0.50%

VI ≥ 4.00:1 but < 4.50:1 3.75% 2.75% 0.50%

V ≥ 3.50:1 but < 4.00:1 3.25% 2.25% 0.50%

IV ≥ 3.00:1 but < 3.50:1 2.75% 1.75% 0.50%

III ≥ 2.25:1 but < 3.00:1 2.25% 1.25% 0.30%

II > 1.50:1 but
< 2.25:1

1.75% 0.75% 0.25%

I < 1.50:1 1.50% 0.50% 0.25%
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John A. Cuomo, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of VSE Corporation (the "Registrant");
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of

operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)

and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the  end of the period covered by this  report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this  report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of Registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation  of  internal  control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 27, 2023November 2, 2023 /s/ John A. Cuomo

  John A. Cuomo

  Chief Executive Officer and President

  (Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen D. Griffin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of VSE Corporation (the "Registrant");
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of

operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)

and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the Registrant and have:
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(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the  end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this  report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of Registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation  of  internal  control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 27, 2023November 2, 2023 /s/ Stephen D. Griffin

Stephen D. Griffin

  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

>
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, as President, Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of VSE Corporation (the "Company"), does hereby certify that to the best of the undersigned's knowledge:

1) the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 (the "Report"), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the Company's Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: July 27, 2023November 2, 2023 /s/ John A. Cuomo

  John A. Cuomo

  Chief Executive Officer and President

  (Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, as Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of VSE Corporation (the "Company"), does hereby certify that to the best of the undersigned's knowledge:
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1) the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 (the "Report"), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the Company's Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: July 27, 2023November 2, 2023 /s/ Stephen D. Griffin

  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS
PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE
COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME
ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY
INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW
THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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